# Obstetric Fistula in the DEVELOPING WORLD

By: Paul Abrams, Dirk de Ridder, Catherine deVries, Sohier Elneil, Gloria Esegbona, Sherif Mourad, Mulu Muleta



An International Consultation on Vesicovaginal Fistula

Marrakech, Morocco, October 13-16, 2010







# Obstetric Fistula in the DEVELOPING WORLD

By: Paul Abrams, Dirk de Ridder, Catherine deVries, Sohier Elneil, Gloria Esegbona, Sherif Mourad, Mulu Muleta



An International Consultation on Vesicovaginal Fistula

Marrakech, Morocco, October 13-16, 2010





#### **Obstetric Fistula in the Developing World**

An International Consultation on Vesicovaginal Fistula Marrakech, Morocco, October 13-16, 2010

Editor Paul Abrams, MD, FRCS

Published by the Société Internationale d'Urologie (SIU)

For information and orders: SIU Central Office 1155 University Street Suite 1155 Montréal (QC) Canada H3B 3A7 T: +1 514 875-5665 F: +1 514 875-0205 E-mail: communications@siu-urology.org Website: www.siu-urology.org

©2012 Société Internationale d'Urologie

Coordination: SIU Communications Office Medical Editing: Christine Albino, Montréal, Canada Layout and Design: SAM Design Montréal, Canada Printing: Felix Yang, Yinshantang Communication Services, Shanghai, China Cover Illustration: Gloria Esegbona, United Kingdom/Nigeria

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without prior permission from the publisher.

Accurate indications, adverse reactions, and dosage schedules for drugs are provided in this book, but it is possible that these may change after publication. The reader is urged to review the product information (i.e., product monograph, package insert or leaflet, prescribing information) published by the manufacturers of the medications mentioned.

The publishers have made every effort to trace the copyright holders for borrowed material. If they have inadvertently overlooked any, they will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements at the first opportunity.

Printed and bound in Shanghai, China

ISBN: 978-0-9877465-1-1



## Table of Contents

	Abbr	eviation	s Used in the Text	XI
	Fore	Foreword		
	Prefa	ace		XVII
	TICIC			7. 11
	Reco	ommend	ations of the International Scientific Committee	XXI
			sed Medicine Overview of the Main Steps for and Grading Guideline Recommendations	XXXVII
COMMITTEE 1	Epide	emiolog	y of Obstetric Fistula	1
	1.1	Introd	uction	5
	1.2	Gener	al Comments and Definitions	6
		1.2.1	Urinary tract	6
		1.2.2	Injuries to lower alimentary tract	7
	1.3	Global	Burden of Obstetric Fistula: Incidence,	
		Preval	ence and Distribution	8
		1.3.1	Incidence of obstetric fistula	8
		1.3.2	Prevalence of obstetric fistula	10
		1.3.3	Geographical and ethnic distribution	13
	1.4	Cause	s of and Potential Risk Factors for Obstetric Fistula	17
		1.4.1	Causes of obstetric fistula	17
		1.4.2	Potential risk factors	21
	1.5	Impac	t and Consequences of Obstetric Fistula	25
		1.5.1	Stigma, social rejection and psychological changes	26
		1.5.2	Marriage dissolution and partner rejection	27
		1.5.3	Economic aspect and impoverishment	28
		1.5.4	Post-surgical improvements in quality of life	28
	1.6	Acces	s to Care and Health Care-Seeking Behaviour of	
		Wome	en with Obstetric Fistula	29
	1.7	Conclu	usion and Recommendations	32
		1.7.1	Magnitude and distribution of obstetric fistula	32
		1.7.2	Causes and potential risk factors	33
	1.8	Refere	ences	35

COMMITTEE 2	Vesic	ovaginal Fistula Prevention	41
	2.1	Overview	43
	2.2	Why Prevention?	44
	2.3	Categories of Prevention	46
		2.3.1 Haddon Matrix Applied to Vesicovaginal Fistula	47
		2.3.2 The Three Phases of Delay	47
	2.4	Individual Risk	49
	2.5	Measuring Burden of Disease	51
	2.6	Tools for Designing and Implementing Preventative Strategies	52
	2.7	Best Practice Examples: Projects That Work	53
	2.8	Future Goals for Prevention	55
	2.9	Recommendations	56
	2.10	References	57
COMMITTEE 3	Unmo 3.1	et Needs in Fistula Management and Training Introduction	<mark>59</mark> 63
	3.2	An Overview of the Unmet Needs in Obstetric Fistula	63
		3.2.1 Current status	64
	3.3	The Current Global Health Strategy in Achieving Change	66
		3.3.1 Unifying education and training –a new way forward	67
	3.4	The Challenge of Obstetric Fistula in the Developing World: The View of the Medical Professional Bodies	67
		3.4.1 The future	69
	3.5	FIGO and Partners' Competency-Based Fistula Training Manual	69
	3.6	Curriculum and Education Development in Fistula Surgery	74
	3.7	Fistula Training Models, Principles and Approaches	75
	5.7	3.7.1 Key principles and premises in fistula training	75
		3.7.2 Fistula training models	76
		3.7.3 Community collaboration in fistula training	77
	3.8	Summary and Recommendations	78
		3.8.1 Recommendations	79
		3.8.2 Future research	79
	3.9	Conclusion	80
	3.10	References	81

COMMITTEE 4	Surgi	cal Treatr	ment of Obstetric Fistula	87
	4.1	Backgro	bund	91
	4.2	Literatu	re Searching Strategy	91
	4.3	Introduo	ction	92
		4.3.1	Main continence factors	93
	4.4	Pre-ope	erative Care	94
	4.5	Classifi	cation of Fistula	95
		4.5.1	The Waaldijk classification	96
		4.5.2	The Goh classification	99
		4.5.3	Classification systems and outcome	99
		4.5.4	Assessing bladder function	100
	4.6	Fistula <sup>-</sup>	Freatment	100
		4.6.1	The early fistula	100
		4.6.2	Surgical exposure and surgical approach	102
		4.6.3	Types of incisions	102
		4.6.4	Surgical closure	105
		4.6.5	Protecting the closure and achieving continence	107
		4.6.6	Anti-incontinence procedures	108
	4.7	Postope	erative Care	112
		4.7.1	Catheter drainage	112
		4.7.2	Infection	112
		4.7.3	Bladder training and pelvic floor rehabilitation	113
	4.8	Rectova	aginal Fistula (RVF)	113
	4.9	Quality	of Life	116
	4.10	Pregnar	ncy Post-fistula Repair	116
	4.11	Irrepara	ble Fistula	117
	4.12	Recom	mendations	118
		4.12.1	Assessment	118
		4.12.2	Treatment	118
		4.12.3	After care	119
	4.13	Researd	ch priorities	119
		4.13.1	Assessment	119
		4.13.2	Treatment	119
		4.13.3	After care	119
	4.14	Referer	ices	120

#### Committee 5

Com	plication	s of Fistula Repair Surgery	123
5.1	Introdu	iction	127
5.2	Publica	ition Searches	127
5.3	Recurre	ent Fistula (Persistent Incontinence)	129
5.4	Pathop	hysiology of Persistent Urinary Incontinence after Fistula Repair	130
5.5	Assess	sment of Fistula	13′
5.6	Manag	ement of Recurrent Fistula	132
	5.6.1	The simple fistula	133
	5.6.2	The complex fistula	134
	5.6.3	Advanced surgical techniques	137
	5.6.4	Combined abdominal and vaginal approach	137
	5.6.5	Urinary diversion	138
	5.6.6	Conclusions	138
	5.6.7	Recommendations	139
5.7	Overac	tive Bladder after Vaginal Fistula Repair	139
	5.7.1	Recommendations	14′
5.8	Contra	cted Bladder as a Complication of VVF Repair	14
	5.8.1	Recommendations	142
5.9	Urinary	r Tract Infection	142
	5.9.1	Literature review	142
	5.9.2	Discussion	144
	5.9.3	Conclusions	146
5.10	Contra	cted Vagina, Dyspareunia, and Sexual Dysfunction	146
	5.10.1	Literature review	147
	5.10.2	Discussion	15′
	5.10.3	Conclusions	152
5.11	Urethra	al Complications of Vaginal Fistula Repair	153
	5.11.1	Discussion	153
	5.11.2	Conclusion	156
	5.11.3	Recommendations	156
5.12	Ureteri	c Ligation/Injury due to VVF repair	157
	5.12.1	Introduction	157
	5.12.2	Classification	158
	5.12.3	Presentation of ureteric injury	159
	5.12.4	Diagnosis	160
	5.12.5	Prevention	160
	5.12.6	Management	160

	5.13	Neurological Complications of VVF	162
		5.13.1 Discussion	162
	5.14	Infertility as a Complication of VVF	163
	5.15	Psychological Complications	164
		5.15.1 Introduction	164
		5.15.2 Psychosocial impact	165
		5.15.3 Family relationship	165
		5.15.4 Spousal relationship	165
		5.15.5 Sexual health and consequences	166
		5.15.6 Management	166
		5.15.7 Conclusions	168
	5.16	References	169
COMMITTEE 6	Socia	I Reintegration of Obstetric Fistula Women	177
	6.1	Identification and Assessment of Evidence	181
	6.2	Why Social Reintegration?	182
	6.3	What Is Social Reintegration?	183
		6.3.1 Needs of women in the social reintegration process	185
	6.4	Social Reintegration in Practice	213
		6.4.1 FORWARD Nigeria	218
		6.4.2 Delta Survie, Mali	221
		6.4.3 Fistula Training and Rehabilitation Centre, Bangladesh	223
		6.4.4 Dimol, Niger	226
		6.4.5 Kissidougou Central Hospital, Guinea	227
		6.4.6 Fistula Pre-repair Centre Model in Amhara Region, Ethiopia	230
		6.4.7 Trampled Rose	232
	6.5	Challenges and Considerations in Social Reintegration	233
		6.5.1 Incurable women and unsuccessful operations	233
		6.5.2 Family planning	239
		6.5.3 Follow-up	240
		6.5.4 Resources and capacity	242
		6.5.5 Who to reintegrate	243
	6.6	Conclusions	244
	6.7	Recommendations	245
	6.8	References	247

5 **SISTER** IS( 5 MILE Þ٩ ieraction ductive **IN** R0 EDUCATION 5 home F JOY ) **R**( happiness 61 EE 6 6 5 Participation AGENTS OF CHANGE

# Abbreviations Used in the Text

AAFH	Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital		
Ach	acetylcholine		
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome		
AMREF	African Medical and Research Foundation		
ANC	antenatal care		
AUA	American Urological Association		
AUGS	American Urogynecologic Society		
BCC	Behaviour Change Communication		
BDHFH	Bahir Dar Hamlin Fistula Hospital		
BNO	bladder neck obstruction		
CCBRT	Comprehensive Community Based Rehabilitation Hospitals Fistula Ward		
CFA	community fistula advocates		
DALY	disability-adjusted life year		
DCP2	Disease Control Priorities-2		
DHS	Demographic Health Survey		
DMCH	Dhaka Medical College Hospital		
DO	detrusor overactivity		

EH	EngenderHealth
EL	Evidence Level
EmOC	Emergency Obstetric Care
EmONC	Emergency Obstetric and neonatal care
FFNIG	Fistula Foundation Nigeria
FGC	female genital cutting
FGDs	focus group discussions
FGM/C	female genital mutilation/cutting
FIGO	International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics
FORWARD	The Foundation for Women's Health, Research and Development
FRRC	Fistula Rehabilitation and Reintegration Center
GBD	Global Burden of Disease
GFMER	Geneva Foundation for Medical Education and Research
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
ICS	International Continence Society
IEC	Information, Education and Communication
IGA	income-generating activities
IOFWG	International Obstetric Fistula Working Group (IOFWG)
ISOFS	International Society of Obstetric Fistula Surgeons
IUGA	International Urogynecological Association

KDH	Kissidougou District Hospital
МСН	Maternal Child Health
MDG5	Millennium Development Goal 5
MISP	Minimum Initial Service Package
MSF	Médecins Sans Frontières/Doctors Without Borders
NGO	non-governmental organization
OAB	overactive bladder
PAUSA	Pan-African Urological Surgeons Association
PBA	performance-based assessment
PCN	percutaneous nephrostolithotomy
PQoL	perceived quality of life
PROM	premature rupture of membranes
QOL	quality of life
RAI	rural access index
RCOG	Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists
RCT	randomized controlled trial
REF	Réseau Pour l'Elimination de la Fistule Obstétricale
RVF	rectovaginal fistula
SBAs	skilled birth attendants
SGS	Society of Gynecologic Surgeons

SIU	Société Internationale d'Urologie
SMoWASD	The State Ministries of Women's Affairs and Social Development
SUI	stress urinary incontinence
ТВА	traditional birth attendant
UDC	The Urban Development Commune
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
USI	urinary stress incontinence
UTI	urinary tract infection
UVF	urethrovaginal fistula
VVF	vesicovaginal fistula
WAHA	Women and Health Alliance International
WHO	World Health Organization

### Foreword



Serigne Magueye Gueye, MD, FWACS Professor of Urology and Fistula Surgeon Cheikh Anta Diop University Head of Urology, Grand Yoff General Hospital

It is globally accepted that for each maternal death, 20 women experience serious complications related to pregnancy. Obstetric fistula secondary to obstructed and prolonged labour is one of the most devastating maternal morbidities.

Though there are only scant data on the global epidemiology of vesicovaginal fistula (VVF), it is thought that 80% of fistula patients live in sub-Saharan Africa. The holistic approach toward elimination of obstetric fistula includes prevention, repair of existing fistula cases, and social reintegration.

The first Société Internationale d'Urologie-International Consultation on Urological Diseases (SIU-ICUD) Consultation on VVF is timely, as it occurs at the moment when a group of fistula experts, organized around the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) and partners, releases the first-ever consensual Global Competency-Based Fistula Surgery Training Manual.

This first Consultation, consistent with the tradition of ICUD, gathered world experts to address key issues on VVF as regards epidemiology, prevention, treatment, complications, and social reintegration.

This book is an opportunity for fistula surgeons and fistula care providers worldwide to access evidence-based information on VVF that will benefit patients suffering from fistula.

I would like to express my deep gratitude to the ICUD for assigning us this exciting task, as well as to the SIU for supporting this great initiative. I wish to thank all the SIU-ICUD Consultation on VVF committee members for sharing their experience, and for the valuable time and effort donated to achieve our objective.

Special thanks to Professor Paul Abrams for ably coordinating this effort.

#### Serigne Magueye Gueye, MD, FWACS

Honorary Chair, First SIU-ICUD Consultation on Vesicovaginal Fistula President of PAUSA Member, SIU Nominating Committee Dakar, Senegal

mother normal healthy ) life self esteem Doignitudeter life 160 Children participation socialise Children relationships support Intiumph Employee Confident home productive Mife interaction

### Preface



**Paul Abrams, MD** Professor of Urology, University of Bristol, UK

#### International Consultation on Vesicovaginal Fistula 2010

The development of a fistula is a devastating event for any woman. However, if this occurs when there is little hope of effective treatment, then the results are even more horrendous with profound effects on all aspects of the woman's life.

Most fistulas occur in the developing world and result from obstructed labour and failure to provide the basic obstetric care, which is taken for granted in the developed world. A vesicovaginal fistula (VVF) is the most common form, but rectovaginal fistula and more complex fistula are also common. It is estimated that there are two million women suffering from untreated fistula in the developing world, mainly in sub-Saharan Africa, India and South East Asia.

The fistula surgeons gathered for the 1st International Consultation on Vesicovaginal Fistula, in Marrakech, in October 2010, under the joint auspices of the International Consultation on Urological Diseases (ICUD) and the Société Internationale d'Urologie (SIU). This book, entitled Obstetric Fistula in the Developing World, represents a milestone in the documentation of the evidence about VVF. By comprehensively reviewing the scientific literature, and assessing its quality, the Consultation has laid the foundations for future clinical and research work, aimed at reversing the terrible tide of this condition.

The six chapters provide a comprehensive picture of the situation. However, the efforts of the committees were limited by the quality of the evidence. There is no Level 1 evidence, as there are no randomized controlled trials. Almost all evidence comes in the form of case series and observational data. Nevertheless, the committees have summarized the data, highlighting those recommendations that they were able to make and emphasizing the importance of the need for high quality research to ensure that women who suffer VVF are treated in the optimal manner.

The surgical management of VVF must be optimized, and the techniques used should be developed by comparing the outcomes between procedures. However, no proper research can be performed without a common language to describe the woman's pre-operative fistula and the results of fistula surgery. Therefore, one of the most important decisions made by the Consultation was to recommend one system of classification for fistula. It was decided to recommend the Waaldijk Classification as this had been used to assess outcome from fistula surgery in the largest number of women.

Evidence is presented as to how the Waaldijk Classification predicts outcome following surgery. Inevitably there will be some disquiet that the Waaldijk Classification has been chosen, rather than one of the other 30 classifications that exist. However, the Consultation's decision is a wise and brave one, as it is vital that the various surgical developments can be compared one with another. Without a common way of describing the fistula, that is, a single agreed classification, it would be impossible to compare one technique with another, and consequently the speed of improvement in fistula surgery would be slowed. There will be the opportunity to review the recommended classifications and, should a superior classification (as shown by its proper validation and its relation to outcome) be developed, then that classification, after comparison with the Waaldijk Classification, would be adopted by the scientific community.

Although a lot of the available data refers to surgical results, the book emphasizes that a significant minority of VVF can be effectively treated by urethral catheterization, if the woman comes to the attention of trained nursing or medical staff at the time of obstructed labour or shortly after. Hence a protocol for urethral catheterization, on free urine drainage, is mandatory for women who present early. Adoption of such a simple measure would probably reduce the incidence of VVF by one-quarter

Sadly, the number of untreated VVFs is increasing because the surgical capacity to keep pace with new cases that develop each year is inadequate. Therefore, the long-term solution to the problem is prevention. Fortunately there is some descriptive evidence of relatively simple measures that can make a huge difference in reducing the occurrence of VVF. But, in the meantime, there must be continued efforts to treat those women who have established fistula.

There are important partners supporting fistula surgeons, namely the non-governmental organizations (NGOs) such as WHO, UNFPA and MSF. The cooperation between the NGOs and the surgeons is vital, as the NGOs bring much-needed financial and logistic support. Also important are the efforts of professional organizations. The International Society of Fistula Surgeons (ISOFS) was founded in 2007 and is therefore a relatively new society. However it enjoyed a most successful meeting in Dakar, Senegal, in December 2010, under the chairmanship of its President, Dr. Kees Waaldijk, and the President of the Pan-African Urological Surgeons Associations, Professor Serigne Gueye. The International Society of Fistula Surgeons has worked closely with the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO), who have produced a training handbook which aims to ensure that only properly trained surgeons operate on women with VVF. This is another essential piece in the jigsaw puzzle of the prevention and management of VVF. Also noteworthy is the recent announcement of joint funding by the American Urological Association, the European Association of Urology and the SIU to support the development of surgery, including fistula surgery in the developing world.

Finally, it was a huge personal privilege to have been able to organize this consultation for the fistula surgeons. They are a remarkable group of men and women who dedicate their lives to helping women with this dreadful condition.

#### Paul Abrams, MD

Chairman of the International Consultation on Urological Diseases

new life living job reintegration hushai agents of chang hea th۱ daughter<sup>joy</sup> relationships happiness better life economic empower Sexua B fe **FCN** 'Se productive rla lenorr nal l isots accepted S confid P fre B Sta ski lled proud sister S interaction 18 training participation este Se supported

## Recommendations of the International Scientific Committee

Paul Abrams, Dirk de Ridder, Catherine deVries, Sohier Elneil, Alice Emasu, Gloria Esegbono, Serigne Gueye, Sherif Mourad, Mulu Muleta and the members of the committees.

#### I. Introduction

The First ICUD-SIU Consultation on Vesicovaginal Fistula (VVF) was held at the SIU meeting in Marrakech, Morocco, October 13th – 16th 2010. The recommendations are evidence-based, following a thorough review of the available literature and the opinion of recognized experts serving on the six committees. The individual committee reports were developed and peer-reviewed by open presentation and comment. Review of the literature showed no Level 1 evidence in that there were no randomized controlled trials. All evidence was confined to case series and observational data: Level 3 and 4 evidence. Hence, all recommendations were Grades B and C.

The Scientific Committee includes the chairmen of the six committees, who refined the final recommendations. These recommendations, published in 2011, will be periodically re-evaluated in the light of clinical experience, technological progress and research. These recommendations are taken from the full versions of the six Consultation chapters, from Epidemiology through to Social Reintegration. These chapters provide the full documentation of the existing scientific literature on the six topic areas.

#### II. Women, Fistula Surgeons, Non-Governmental Organizations and Governments

The effect on a woman, in the developing world, of having a VVF resulting from obstructed labour, is disastrous from her point of view, the family perspective and for her society. It is estimated that there are two million women, in developing countries, mainly in sub-Saharan Africa, the Indian sub-continent and South-East Asia, who have either undetected or untreated VVFs. New fistulas are probably occurring at the rate of 82,000 new cases per year, yet only 10,000 operations for fistula closure are being done annually. Hence, this leaves a huge unmet need.

Vesicovaginal fistula, in itself, is bad enough, but it is also inextricably linked with high maternal mortality rate and high infant death rate. Hence, the solution to fistula is similar to the solutions that will drive down the maternal mortality rate and the infant death rate. The solutions are not only medical, but also social and political in nature.

At present, women in developing countries are often dependent on donations that reach their country through non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and charities. The relationship between the NGOs and the fistula surgeons are critical. The fistula surgeons are the experts and those to whom fistula women turn for help. Hence, it is vital that the NGOs allow themselves to be guided by the fistula surgeons as to the priorities within their sphere of work. The vital role of the NGOs is to provide financial and logistical support. Support is also essential to allow the fistula surgeons to write up their work. This is often a considerable problem, as their commitment to the women means that their academic time is restricted. Nevertheless, the data the fistula surgeons generate is their intellectual property, and it is vital that they retain primary authorship of all published material.

There are an enormous number of committed and dedicated individuals from both within the developing countries and from developed countries who have committed themselves to the cause of helping women with this dreadful condition. However, the long-term solution must see the responsibilities for women's and children's health passing to the governments of the individual countries. Nevertheless, in the meantime, those many dedicated individuals will continue to strive to help as many women as possible return to a life in their own community.

#### III. Epidemiology of Vesicovaginal Fistula

Epidemiological studies on obstetric fistula are inadequate:

- They are mainly institutionally-based, retrospective case series, often written from the perspective of a single fistula surgeon.
- However, better and more relevant information is emerging.
- The geographical coverage of epidemiological reports is uneven.

The incidence of fistula is expressed per 1,000 deliveries and would appear to be between 0.1% rising to 1.5 per 1,000 pregnancies in rural areas.

The major risk factors appear to be age at first marriage, short stature, pregnancy with a male child rather than a female child, failure to attend antenatal care, low socio-economic status, low social class, lack of employment, and illiteracy.

The consequences of obstetric fistula include divorce (16-92%), social isolation, worsening poverty, malnutrition, sexual dysfunction, mental illness (including anxiety/depression), insomnia, general ill health, and thoughts of worthlessness and suicide.

There are few detailed reports documenting these women's obstructed labours. The time of onset of labour is rarely recorded and reports from delivery locations may disregard the fact that the woman has laboured at home for days prior to reaching the delivery location. The reason for the woman not receiving help rarely differentiates between the absence of health-seeking behaviour and the lack of services. The only observational study showed no substantial difference between VVF patients and women who delivered without fistula, both in terms of their use of orthodox health care services and more traditional forms of support before childbirth.

#### Recommendations

- 1. Community-based epidemiological studies using standardized and validated collection tools with acceptable sensitivity and specificity are highly recommended.
- A validated standardized collection tool should be developed and used in national surveys to facilitate the collection and comparison of data when assessing the regional, continental and global magnitude of VVF, and the distribution of fistula worldwide.
- 3. Prospective longitudinal community-based studies are needed to estimate the incidence of obstetric fistula.
- 4. Observational studies are needed utilizing advanced epidemiological analyses for:
  - Risk factors (multivariate analysis controlling potential biases)
  - Impacts and consequences of VVF
  - Determining health-seeking behaviour
- 5. Research that identifies the different profiles of women who manage to overcome the obstacles and successfully access health care compared to those who do not is recommended.
- 6. The contribution of other factors such as ethnic background and malnutrition needs to be researched and understood.
- 7. It is recommended that there be long-term follow up of patients following fistula repair to understand their ongoing quality of life and any long-term sequelae and ongoing needs.

#### IV. Prevention of Vesicovaginal Fistula

Vesicovaginal fistula is a characteristic of abject poverty, a clear marker of failure of political, social and health systems to protect and promote women's health and their rights. Prevention of VVF is ultimately linked to prevention of maternal and infant mortality and is a requirement of the Millennium Development Goal 5 (MDG5) of 2000.

Prevention, from the medical and public health point of view, mitigates the effect of VVF in the overall burden of pain and suffering the condition imposes, not just on the patient herself, but on her family and on the entire community. History has shown that improvements in the functioning of local health services dramatically reduce the incidence of maternal death, infant mortality and VVF. The following areas of health system improvement and capacity building need to be considered:

- Enhancing professionalism among health care workers to make the system work better.
- Massive infrastructural developments through strengthening existing government health facilities, and advocacy, to maximize the benefits that a political environment sensitive to the needs of these women is required.
- Ensuring that facilities are properly equipped, monitored, and supervised, with an emphasis on quality as well as quantity of service provision.

Systematic improvements are required to address the social and economic inequalities, such as the low status of women, lack of education for girls, early marriages and pregnancy, malnutrition, poverty, inadequate health and transportation infrastructure, and harmful traditional practices, such as female genital mutilation.

Health and maternal care are inextricably linked to the availability of financial resources, to the individual in the community and within the country as a whole: as economic conditions improve, the risk of VVF diminishes.

Another key strategy in preventing VVF is the empowerment of women and their spouses, to develop birth preparedness plans within the context of family planning. Family planning in wealthy regions is available according to the choice of the individual, whilst in other developing areas, such as China, it is actively encouraged, or even enforced. Other components of public health care, such as addressing the special nutritional needs of female children and the requirements of improving their physical health, in order to improve their physical growth and maturity, are also very important.

Education of the community is vital so that young women understand what VVF is, are made aware of the need to engage in the antenatal care process, and plan for their delivery, including making transportation plans for use when they go into labour.

Prevention strategies can be considered in public health terms as primary, secondary or tertiary:

- Primary prevention addresses many of the indirect causes which are essential root causes of fistula. It attempts to reduce or eliminate the risk of the disease and by, amongst other actions, reducing the high levels of illiteracy among women. It also seeks to widen the cadre of care workers by involving, for instance, traditional birth attendants (TBA).
- Secondary prevention attempts to limit the severity of the disease by detecting it at its earliest stages.
- Tertiary prevention aims to mitigate the effects of the existing disease, for example by effective treatment.

The work of Haddon and Maine in the Haddon Matrix and Maine's Three Delays provide documented approaches to the problems.

Primary Prevention	Secondary Prevention	Tertiary Prevention
<ul> <li>Nutrition</li> <li>Education of female child and engagement of TBAs</li> <li>Delayed marriage</li> <li>Training of medical staff/midwives</li> <li>Roads, ambulance, functioning health facilities</li> <li>Communication</li> <li>Adequate facilities, equipment and staff</li> <li>Electricity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Transportation</li> <li>Maternity waiting houses</li> <li>Field surveys</li> <li>Partographs</li> <li>Low gynecological age</li> <li>Caesarean section (symphysiotomy)</li> <li>Foley catheter drainage</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Treatment/repairs (surgery)</li> <li>Physical/social/economic rehabilitation and reintegration</li> <li>Media campaigns</li> </ul>

#### **TABLE 1** Categories of Prevention Strategies: The Haddon Matrix

#### Maine's Three Delays

**The first delay** The decision to seek care is influenced by the socio-economic and cultural factors in that woman's environment. These can include the need to obtain permission from a husband or male family member to seek care, or the community perception that only weak women need assistance with delivery and that strong women can manage delivery on their own.

**The second delay** The delayed arrival at the health facility. Once the first delay has occurred, the second delay becomes more serious. Road conditions, transportation and communication deficiencies may conspire to delay the woman's arrival at a hospital or birthing centre.

**The third delay** The delayed provisions of adequate care at the facility may be due to lack of staff, supplies, or electricity. If the lights are out and there is no back-up generator or fuel, a caesarean section cannot be done. If there is no way to reach a doctor or medical officer because there are no telephones, or if equipment hasn't been sterilised, then timely surgery cannot be performed. These three stages of delay disproportionately affect the world's poor and, in particular, those women living in rural areas.

#### Recommendations

- 1. Strong community support is required to develop solidarity groups which include village volunteers working with trained, skilled and traditional birth attendants, depending on the local customs and resources.
- 2. The components of the three delays need to be identified and targeted in order to minimize the effect of obstructed labour. By this process, there will be other benefits for maternal and child health.
- 3. There should be provision of adequate health facilities and birthing centres to which women move, either as soon as they go into labour, or if labour is delayed. Such facilities must provide emergency obstetric care, including caesarean section.
- 4. National policies for maternity care should be developed for all countries whether or not VVF is a common complication of childbirth.
- 5. Data collection by local, national and regional bodies should help to define the incidence of birth complications, and factors leading to the "Three Delays".
- 6. The components of the "Three Delays" need to be identified and targeted for each community where there is a high prevalence of complications of childbirth.
- 7. Girls, women and communities should be educated about normal and abnormal labour, and facilities, such as waiting houses, should be available for pregnant women at risk for complicated deliveries.
- 8. Solidarity groups including local volunteers, as well as skilled and trained traditional birth attendants should be developed for maternal care.

9. Birthing centres with the capability for caesarean section should be accessible and sufficiently affordable for women to use.

10. Funding should be made available to retain adequate trained staff for waiting houses and birthing centres.

11. Partographs should be employed to track the progress of delivery in order to identify problems and for data collection.

#### V. Unmet Needs in Vesicovaginal Fistula

There is unmet need at every level of the health care service in those developing countries where VVF is a significant problem. These needs span from family planning through obstetric care, the availability of emergency obstetric services, and the provision for dealing with maternal and infant postpartum problems.

Unmet need has not clearly been defined, although the increasing gulf between the prevalence and incidence of fistula and its prevention and treatment is exceedingly worrying.

In low-resource countries, there is a need for stable and enduring collaboration and partnerships between governments and NGOs, such as the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), EngenderHealth (EH) the World Health Organization (WHO) and Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF). These partnerships are vital to identifying unmet needs and ensuring that these are reduced.

One of the most important aspects of the unmet needs in fistula surgery training has been the lack of standardization. In order that the recommendations below can even be partially met, there has to be a global strategy in developing training, education, and ancillary support for the surgeons and their associated teams. This will be partially met by the creation of the global competency-based fistula surgical training manual, created by the International Federation for Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) in collaboration with fistula surgeons, professional organizations and specialist health organizations. The purpose of this manual is to enable health care providers to acquire the required knowledge, skill and professionalism to prevent fistula and provide holistic care to fistula patients that includes medical, psychosocial and surgical care. A multidisciplinary team-based approach is encouraged in the training of each doctor and his/her team nurses, physiotherapists and other health professionals. The course is structured at three levels: standard, advanced and expert levels of fistula training.

The manual is made up of several components:

#### **Curriculum Modules**

Each module has an outline of the course content that the trainee is expected to be aware of. It needs to be used in conjunction with recommended references, and in some cases, with specific Performance Based Assessments (PBAs). There are seven modules that need to be undertaken.

#### Logbooks of Competency

These are records of the work carried out by each trainee. Each must be signed off by each trainer, who will determine if the trainee has observed a procedure, has assisted with a procedure, or is able to work independently. The trainer will determine if the trainee requires further training in a particular area.

#### Performance Based Assessment (PBA)

Each aspect of surgical training will be assessed separately and specifically. The trainees will complete each PBA to a standard, advanced or expert level and ideally need the signature of two or more trainers, from two or more training centres. It is expected that each trainee will undergo a prolonged period of fistula training at one or more centres. There are 15 PBAs to be completed before a fistula surgeon is deemed an expert, and will often require the full 24 months of training. However, this is a competency-based training manual and each trainee will require different lengths of time to achieve each level of expertise.

This structured approach of the competency-based manual will attempt to standardize and support surgical training in fistula repair. In the process of achieving this aim, it is envisaged that there will eventually be an increase in the number of training centres accredited for training and eventually, surgeons trained.

#### Recommendations

- 1. Unmet need has to be defined in each country, and within each country, in each geographical region.
- 2. The unmet need in antenatal services needs to be rectified urgently in order to minimize the number of new fistulas occurring.
- 3. The need for education and training has to be addressed for birth attendants, community nursing, and fistula surgeons.
- 4. Training centres for fistula surgeons need to be identified and new ones established, according to population matrix. Training should be systematic and structured using assessment tools such as those developed by FIGO with ISOFS.
- 5. Audit and research must be developed in order to ensure that quality and advances in treatment methods are ensured.
- 6. National strategies need to be developed to empower individual nations to take charge of the women's and children's services in their country.

#### VI. Management of New and Established Vesicovaginal Fistulas

Management of VVF depends on whether the fistula is diagnosed within two or three months of its occurrence or whether the woman presents late with an established fistula. There is evidence that early catheter care will result in the cure of a significant minority of VVFs. **Figure 1** describes the algorithm for the management of women who have both early fistulas, defined as those that have occurred within 75 days of presentation, and established fistulas, defined as those that are discovered more than 75 days after obstructed labour.



#### Classification of VVF

The Consultation believes that fistula audit research is considerably hampered by the plethora of VVF classification systems, of which we believe there are 32. The Consultation feels that the fistula system that is able to relate its classification to outcome is the classification that should be used in the next few years. The Waaldijk Classification is the only one that has been used to document sufficient numbers of patients from diagnosis to follow-up (**Figure 2**). **Figure 2** shows the Waaldijk Classification which involves precise measurements of the distances between the external urinary meatus and the distal edge of the fistula, together with the widest diameter of the fistula. Fistulas are classified into types I, II and III. Type III fistulas are those fistulas other than vesicovaginal fistulas and include recto-vaginal fistulas and uretero-vaginal fistulas. The Waaldijk Classification of Types I and II is illustrated in **Figure 3** and described below.





If catheter drainage fails, then fistula repair will be necessary.

There are certain principles behind fistula repair:

- Necrotic tissue must be removed prior to fistula repair.
- Fistula repair must only be undertaken by a properly trained surgeon.
- Adequate postoperative care is essential.
- Proper follow up should be arranged.

Table 2 indicates the type of fistula closure that should be used depending on the type of fistula.

#### **TABLE 2** Surgical Techniques for the Closure of Type I and Type II VVFs

	Bladder / Urethra Direction of Closure	Pubocervical Fascia / Urethral Support	Anterior Vaginal Wall Closure
Туре I	Any according to common sense	No special measures	Adaptation
Type IIAa	Transverse	Transverse repair (+ fixation) / sling	Transverse adaptation
Type IIAb	Circumferential end-to-end	Refixation / sling	Transverse adaptation
Type IIBa	Longitudinal (+ transverse) urethral tissue	Refixation / sling	Flap
Type IIBb	Longitudinal + circumferential non-urethral tissue	Refixation / sling	Flap

#### Recommendations

- 1. The comprehensive use of an indwelling catheter with free urinary drainage should be instituted for all patients who have undergone either an emergency caesarean section, or a traumatic vaginal delivery after obstructed labour.
- 2. When fistula surgery is necessary, the woman must be assured of the surgeon's competence to carry out her procedure.
- 3. It is recommended that further research is needed into the classification of fistula, not only to further validate the Waaldijk Classification, but also if other classifications are proposed for development.
- 4. There is a need to compare different surgical approaches to fistula within the context of randomized controlled trials using the Waaldijk Classification to precisely describe the fistulas.
- 5. Long-term follow up of fistula patients is recommended in order to study the outcome of both conservative and surgical management and, in particular, to determine its effect on quality of life.
- 6. When reporting the outcome after fistula repair, authors should make a clear distinction between fistula closure rates and postoperative incontinence rates, specifying the time at which follow up was carried out.

#### VII. Management of the Complications of Vesicovaginal Fistula

The complications of VVF are many but include:

- Persistence or recurrence of urinary incontinence
- Persistence of lower urinary tract symptoms or occurrence of new lower urinary tract symptoms, including overactive bladder
- Urinary tract infections

- Upper urinary tract symptoms, including loin pain
- Dyspareunia and sexual dysfunction
- Infertility
- Neurological symptoms
- Psychological problems and mental illness

Figure 4 shows the flow diagram for each of these classes of problem.



#### Recommendations

- 1. A care programme for failed repairs with persisting incontinence after a successful repair needs to be in place.
- 2. It is recommended that surgical treatment of postoperative stress incontinence should only be considered six months after fistula repair.
- 3. Autologous material should be used when a graft or sling is required and there is no place for synthetic sling material.
- 4. In order to prevent new fistulas in women who become pregnant after a fistula repair, waiting homes should be provided to ensure that each woman is able to have an elective caesarean section when she goes into labour.
- 5. In recurrent identifiable fistula take note of the size and number. This kind of fistula is better repaired by a well-experienced fistula surgeon. It is important to use tissue interposition like a Martius flap or fibrin glue.
- 6. With urinary tract infections or abscess formation, antibiotics must be given before and after the repair according to culture and sensitivities.
- 7. Patients complaining of persistent leakage due to urgency incontinence may try antimuscarinics, botulinum toxin injection or even augmentation cystoplasty in small, contracted or poorly compliant bladders.
- 8. Those with a shortened or disrupted urethra before or after repair must be treated with urethral reconstruction autologous slings or injection of bulking agents delivered trans- or peri-urethrally.
- 9. In cases with unilateral or bilateral ureteric ligation or injury, early diagnosis is life-saving. Patients must be promptly treated by endoscopic ureteral stenting percutaneous nephrostolithotomy (PCN) or ureteric reimplantation.
- 10. Patients complaining of contracted vagina and dyspareunia with sexual dysfunction may use local estrogen, vaginal dilatation or may require the surgical creation of vaginal flaps to augment the vagina.

11. Patients who develop dropped foot may respond to physiotherapy or require tibialis tendon transfer. Women with neurogenic overactive bladder (OAB) may benefit from detrusor muscle botulinum injections if antimuscarinic drugs fail.

12. Psychological trauma, social isolation and depression are best treated by counselling and psychological rehabilitation.

#### VIII. Social Reintegration of Treated Women

Social integration is defined as appropriate interventions that help women with obstetric fistula overcome physical, psychological and socio-economic challenges, freely identified by them, in order to enhance their return to the communities and social networks of their choosing, such that the risk of them presenting with another fistula is minimized.

The aim of social reintegration is to break the fistula recurrence/occurrence cycle in which the woman's physical state is inextricably connected to her mental state and her socio-economic situation.

Social reintegration should be seen as happening from the time the leaking of urine becomes manifest, and every subsequent intervention should have the reintegration of the woman, back into her community, as the primary goal. So, social reintegration is the responsibility of everyone who cares for the woman.

Social reintegration can be usefully looked at within a matrix, as shown in **Table 3** where the three elements of physical, psychological and socio-economic status are looked at in terms of the facility for treating the patient within her community and the political environment.

Element	Level			
Liement	Facility	Community	Political	
<b>Physical</b> Improved physical health	Early detection Rehabilitation Skilled surgeon Timely repair Designated space	Outreach Health education Follow up	Allocate funds for treatment	
<b>Psychological</b> Improved mental health	Psychosocial therapy (e.g. counselling)	Advocacy and sensitization Follow up	Raise awareness on issues of stigmatization	
<b>Socio-economic</b> Increased social connection	Vocational skill training Linkage with existing programmes	Microcredit or finance Follow up	Link up with ongoing national poverty alleviation programmes	

#### TABLE 3 Social Reintegration Matrix

#### Recommendations

- Social reintegration is important for all women with obstetric fistula. It is the process by which women are helped to overcome physical, psychological and socioeconomic challenges, freely identified by them, in order to enhance their level of social functioning in communities and social networks of their choosing, so that the risk of them presenting with another fistula is minimized.
- Social reintegration should be used for all women. However, this series of interventions can be performed by any trained care worker, providing that it focuses on making the woman part of her social fabric again, and commences from the time leaking of urine becomes manifest.
- 3. Social reintegration should be designed to break the fistula recurrence cycle in which the woman's physical state is inextricably connected to her mental state and her socio-economic situation.
- 4. Early successful surgical repair or catheter management is highly recommended and is likely to be the only thing needed for social reintegration. Surgery should be performed as soon as possible by a skilled surgeon, and preferably within three months of developing the fistula, as this is likely to limit the length of time the woman is seen as abnormal by her family or community and thus perceived as an outcast.
- 5. Social reintegration should start in a designated space where women can recuperate, perhaps within the repair facility or nearby, rather than going home and encountering the risk of behaviours which may make it likely that a recurrence of fistula occurs, due to an exacerbating physical event, such as early sexual intercourse or heavy work. Also, peer counselling is more likely to be available in this space.
- 6. Surgeons and other care workers should consider social reintegration as not just a social tool but also as a means of ensuring that adequate follow up of the postsurgical improvement in quality of life is done and reported on. At the least, there should be a review of individually defined success of surgery and surgical outcomes, including continence and return to fertility and/ or sexual life, as desired by the woman.
- 7. Appropriate counselling messages about the risk factors and causes associated with fistula should be targeted at family members (including husbands) and the community. This can help to overcome the stigma, discrimination, and misconceptions surrounding the condition and enhance her community inclusion. It is then an opportunity to make changes so that the woman does not present with another fistula in the future.
- 8. Counselling should be seen as an opportunity for health providers to understand the socio-economic, psychological, and physical experiences that are faced by girls and women living with fistula, before and after surgery, so that they may give meaningful help. This will also help to generate knowledge on social reintegration processes, and will help in the planning of a broader range of outcomes for women living with fistula.
- 9. Social reintegration should include assistance with education and life skills, and encouragement of private initiatives through vocational-skills development and microcredit support. If this is freely chosen, it will not keep a woman away from her community unduly, and will help her regain or improve her previous economic status and enhance her self-sufficiency and community inclusion.

- 10. Social reintegration should include vocational-skills training, with the aim of providing women with alternative ways to generate income, without jeopardizing their recuperation, by teaching them a trade which is economically viable within their community.
- 11. Institutional reintegration services should be incorporated into existing community activities or programmes directed to empower women (e.g. education, skills training, income generation, and self-esteem).
- 12. Reintegration programmes should develop criteria to determine where support with socio-economic interventions should be given, as funds may be limited and fistula consequences can vary dramatically by country and region. They should also be careful not to increase the burden of stigma and therefore, inadvertently impede reintegration. Of particular concern should be those women who are still incontinent, those who are deemed incurable, those who have no children, and those who have lived with fistula for a long period of time.
- 13. Social reintegration programs need to consider the potential ethical dilemmas in reintegration. These include providing targeted financial support or high-value goods to women with fistula in poor communities, other than as part of a community approach.
- 14. Social reintegration should seek to involve women who have been successfully reintegrated into their communities. These women can be viewed as motivational mobilizers and can contribute to community mobilization movements for safe motherhood, fistula-case mapping, and referrals for treatment. Women should have a choice as to whether they wish to be involved in such advocacy activities.
- 15. Social reintegration programmes should be monitored and evaluated in order to collect correlates of success and failure, and to help understand socio-cultural backgrounds, so that a context-specific approach can be used to design and deliver effective, feasible reintegration programmes.


# Evidence-Based Medicine Overview of the Main Steps for Developing and Grading Guideline Recommendations

### P. Abrams, S. Khoury, A. Grant

### Introduction

The International Consultation on Urological Diseases (ICUD) is a non-governmental organization registered with the World Health Organisation (WHO). In the last ten years, consultations have been organized on BPH, prostate cancer, urinary stone disease, nosocomial infections, erectile dysfunction and urinary incontinence. These consultations have looked at published evidence and produced recommendations at four levels: highly recommended, recommended, optional and not recommended. This method has been useful but the ICUD believes that there should be more explicit statements of the levels of evidence that generate the subsequent grades of recommendations.

The Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR) have used specified evidence levels to justify recommendations for the investigation and treatment of a variety of conditions. The Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine have produced a widely accepted adaptation of the work of AHCPR. (June 5th 2001, www.cebm.net).

The ICUD has examined the Oxford guidelines and discussed with the Oxford group their applicability to the consultations organized by ICUD. It is highly desirable that the recommendations made by the consultations follow an accepted grading system supported by explicit levels of evidence.

The ICUD proposes that future consultations should use a modified version of the Oxford system which can be directly "mapped" onto the Oxford system.

## 1. First Step

Define the specific questions or statements that the recommendations are supposed to address.

## 2. Second Step

Analyze and rate (level of evidence) the relevant papers published in the literature.

The analysis of the literature is an important step in preparing recommendations and their guarantee of quality.

### 2.1 What papers should be included in the analysis?

- Papers published, or accepted for publication in the peer-reviewed issues of journals.
- The committee should do its best to search for papers accepted for publication by the peer-reviewed journals in the relevant field but not yet published.
- Abstracts published in peer-reviewed journals should be identified. If of sufficient interest, the author(s) should be asked for full details of methodology and results. The relevant committee members can then "peer review" the data, and if the data confirms the details in the abstract, then that abstract may be included, with an explanatory footnote. This is a complex issue – it may actually increase publication bias as "uninteresting" abstracts commonly do not progress to full publication.
- Papers published in non-peer-reviewed supplements will not be included. An exhaustive list should be obtained through:
  - The major databases covering the last ten years (e.g. Medline, Embase, Cochrane Library, Biosis, Science Citation Index).
  - II. The table of contents of the major journals of urology and other relevant journals, for the last three months, to take into account the possible delay in the indexation of the published papers in the databases.

It is expected that the highly experienced and expert committee members provide additional assurance that no important study would be missed using this review process.

### 2.2 How are papers analyzed?

Papers published in peer-reviewed journals have differing quality and level of evidence. Each committee will rate the included papers according to levels of evidence (see below).

The level (strength) of evidence provided by an individual study depends on the ability of the study design to minimize the possibility of bias and to maximize attribution.

### It is influenced by:

### The type of study, whose hierarchy is outlined below:

- Systematic reviews and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials
- Randomized controlled trials
- Non-randomized cohort studies

### How well the study was designed and carried out

Failure to give due attention to key aspects of study methodology increases the risk of bias or confounding factors, and thus reduces the study's reliability.

The use of **standard checklists** is recommended to insure that all relevant aspects are considered and that a consistent approach is used in the methodological assessment of the evidence.

The objective of the checklist is to give a quality rating for individual studies.

### How well the study was reported

The ICUD has adopted the CONSORT statement and its widely accepted checklist. The CONSORT statement and the checklist are available at www.consort-statement.org.

- Case-control studies
- Case series
- Expert opinion

### 2.3 How are papers rated?

Papers are rated following a level of evidence scale.

ICUD has modified the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine levels of evidence.

The levels of evidence scales vary between types of studies (i.e., therapy, diagnosis, differential diagnosis/ symptom prevalence study) the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine Website: www.cebm.net.

## 3. Third Step: Synthesis of the Evidence

After the selection of the papers and the rating of the level of evidence of each study, the next step is to compile a summary of the individual studies and the overall direction of the evidence in an **Evidence Table**.

## 4. Fourth Step: Considered Judgment (Integration of Individual Clinical Expertise)

Having completed a rigorous and objective synthesis of the evidence base, the committee must then make a judgment as to the grade of the recommendation on the basis of this evidence. This requires the exercise of judgment based on clinical experience as well as knowledge of the evidence and the methods used to generate it. Evidence-based medicine requires the integration of individual clinical expertise with the best available external clinical evidence from systematic research. Without the former, practice quickly becomes tyrannized by evidence, for even excellent external evidence may be inapplicable to, or inappropriate for, an individual patient. On the other hand, without current best evidence, practice quickly becomes out of date. Although it is not practical to lay our "rules" for exercising judgment, guideline development groups are asked to consider the evidence in terms of quantity, quality, and consistency, as well as applicability, generalizability and clinical impact.

### 5. Fifth Step: Final Grading

The grading of the recommendation is intended to strike an appropriate balance between incorporating the complexity of type and quality of the evidence, and maintaining clarity for guideline users.

The recommendations for grading follow the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine. The levels of evidence shown below have again been modified in the light of previous consultations. There are now four levels of evidence instead of five.

The grades of recommendation have not been reduced and a "no recommendation possible" grade has been added.

## 6. Levels of Evidence and Grades of Recommendation for Therapeutic Interventions

All interventions should be judged by the body of evidence for their efficacy, tolerability, safety, clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness. It is accepted that, at present, little data exists on cost-effectiveness for most interventions.

### 6.1 Levels of evidence

Firstly, it should be stated that any level of evidence may be positive (the therapy works) or negative (the therapy doesn't work). A level of evidence is given to each individual study.

Level of Evidence	Criteria
I	<ul> <li>Incorporates Oxford 1a, 1b</li> <li>Usually involves: <ul> <li>meta-analysis of trials (randomized controlled trials [RCTs]) or,</li> <li>a good-quality RCT or,</li> <li>"all or none" studies in which treatment is not an option (e.g. in vesicovaginal fistula)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
II	<ul> <li>Incorporates Oxford 2a, 2b and 2c</li> <li>Includes: <ul> <li><i>Iow-quality RCT</i> (e.g. &lt; 80% follow-up),</li> <li><i>meta-analysis</i> (with homogeneity) of <i>good-quality prospective cohort studies</i></li> </ul> </li> <li>May include a single group when individuals who develop the condition are compared with others from within the original cohort group.</li> <li>There can be parallel cohorts, where those with the condition in the first group are compared with those in the second group</li> </ul>
III	<ul> <li>Incorporates Oxford 3a, 3b and 4</li> <li>Includes:         <ul> <li>good-quality retrospective case-control studies, where a group of patients who have a condition are matched appropriately (e.g. for age, sex, etc.) with control individuals who do not have the condition</li> <li>good-quality case series, where a complete group of patients, all with the same condition, disease or therapeutic intervention, are described without a comparison control group</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
IV	<ul> <li>Incorporates Oxford 4</li> <li>Includes <i>expert opinion</i>, where the opinion is based not on evidence but on "first principles" (e.g. physiological or anatomical) or bench research.</li> <li>The <i>Delphi process</i> can be used to give expert opinion greater authority: <ul> <li>involves a series of questions posed to a panel</li> <li>answers are collected into a series of "options"</li> <li>these "options" are serially ranked; if a 75% agreement is reached, then a Delphi consensus statement can be made</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

### 6.2 Grades of recommendation

The ICUD will use the four grades from the Oxford system. As with levels of evidence, the grades of evidence may apply either positively (procedure is recommended) or negatively (procedure is not recommended). Where there is disparity of evidence, for example if there were three well-conducted RCTs indicating that Drug A was superior to placebo, but one RCT whose results show no difference, then there has to be an individual judgment as to the grade of recommendation given and the rationale explained.

**Grade A** recommendation usually depends on consistent level I evidence and often means that the recommendation is effectively mandatory and placed within a clinical-care pathway. However, there will be occasions where excellent evidence (level I) does not lead to a Grade A recommendation, for example, if the therapy is prohibitively expensive, dangerous or unethical. Grade A recommendation can follow from Level II evidence. However, a Grade A recommendation needs a greater body of evidence if based on anything except Level I evidence.

Grade B recommendation usually depends on consistent level 2/3 studies, or "majority evidence" from RCTs.

- **Grade C** recommendation usually depends on level 4 studies or "majority evidence" from level 2/3 studies or Delphi processed expert opinion.
- **Grade D** "No recommendation possible" would be used where the evidence is inadequate or conflicting and when expert opinion is delivered without a formal analytical process, such as by Delphi.

# 7. Levels of Evidence and Grades of Recommendation for Methods of Assessment and Investigation

From initial discussions with the Oxford group, it is clear that application of levels of evidence/grades of recommendation for diagnostic techniques is much more complex than for interventions. The ICUD recommends that, as a minimum, any test should be subjected to three questions:

- Does the test have good technical performance? For example, do three aliquots of the same urine sample give the same result when subjected to dipstick testing?
- 2. Does the test have good diagnostic performance, ideally against a "gold standard" measure?
- 3. Does the test have good therapeutic performance, that is, does the use of the test alter clinical management? Does the use of the test improve outcome?

For the third component (therapeutic performance) the same approach can be used as for section 6.

# 8. Levels of Evidence and Grades of Recommendation for Basic Science and Epidemiology Studies

The proposed ICUD system does not easily fit into these areas of science. Further research needs to be carried out in order to develop explicit levels of evidence that can lead to recommendations as to the soundness of data in these important aspects of medicine.

## Conclusion

The ICUD believes that its consultations should follow the ICUD system of levels of evidence and grades of recommendation, where possible. This system can be mapped to the Oxford system.

There are aspects to the ICUD system that require further research and development, particularly diagnostic performance and cost-effectiveness, and also factors such as patient preference.

# Summary of the International Consultation on Urological Disease Modified Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine Grading System for Guideline Recommendations

Levels of Evidence	Description
I	Meta-analysis of RCTs or high-quality RCT
Ш	Low-quality RCT or good-quality prospective cohort study
Ш	Good-quality retrospective case-control study or cohort study
IV	Expert opinion

Abbreviation: RCT= randomized controlled trial

# Summary of the International Consultation on Urological Disease Modified Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine Grading System for Guideline Recommendations

Grades of Recommendation	Description
A Usually consistent with level I evidence	
В	Consistent level II or III evidence or "majority evidence" from RCTs
C	Level IV evidence or "majority evidence" from level II or III studies
D	No recommendation possible because of inadequate or conflicting evidence

Abbreviation: RCT= randomized controlled trial

# Scientific Committees



# CONSULTATION CHAIR

Dirk de Ridder Belgium



CONSULTATION CHAIR

Sherif Mourad Egypt



# HONORARY CHAIR

Serigne Magueye Gueye Senegal

## COMMITTEE 1

# Epidemiology of Obstetric Fistula

## **CHAIR**



**Mulu Muleta** Ethiopia

Mulu Muleta, Ethiopia

## **MEMBERS**

Saifuddin Ahmed, United States

Steve Arrowsmith, United States

Torvid Kiserud, Norway

# COMMITTEE 2

# Vesicovaginal Fistula Prevention

# **CHAIRS**



**Catherine deVries** United States



**Alice Emasu** Uganda

Catherine deVries, United States

Alice Emasu, Uganda

# MEMBERS

Maggy Bangser, Tanzania

Seth Cochran, United States

Fred Kirya, Uganda

Sunday Lengmang, Nigeria

Lyn Lusi, Congo

# COMMITTEE 3

## Unmet Needs in Fistula Management and Training

## CHAIR



**Sohier Elneil** United Kingdom

Sohier Elneil, United Kingdom

## **MEMBERS**

Xavier Game, France

Naren Patel, United Kingdom

Joseph Ruminjo, United States

Hamid Rushwanl, United Kingdom

# COMMITTEE 4

## Surgical Treatment of Obstetric Fistula

CHAIR



Dirk de Ridder Belgium

Dirk de Ridder, Belgium

### **MEMBERS**

Kabiru Abubakar, Nigeria

Tom Raassen, Kenya

Kees Waaldijk, Nigeria

# COMMITTEE 5

## Complications of Fistula Repair Surgery

## CHAIR



**Sherif Mourad** Egypt

Sherif Mourad, Egypt

### **MEMBERS**

Mwanje Haruna, Uganda

Paul Hilton, United Kingdom

Ahmed Saafan, Egypt

Hassan Shaker, Egypt

Vasan Sirini, India

# Social Reintegration of Obstetric Fistula Women

CHAIR

COMMITTEE 6



**Gloria Esegbona** United Kingdom/Nigeria

Gloria Esegbona, United Kingdom/Nigeria

## **MEMBERS**

Sayeba Akhter, Bangladesh

Andrew Browning, Ethiopia

Adamu Isah, Nigeria

Taonga Kaonga, Malawi

Rahmat Mohammad, Nigeria

# Committee

# C1

# Epidemiology of Obstetric Fistula

# CHAIR

Mulu Muleta, Ethiopia

# MEMBERS

Saifuddin Ahmed, United States Steve Arrowsmith, United States Torvid Kiserud, Norway

# Committee

# CONTENTS

# EPIDEMIOLOGY OF OBSTETRIC FISTULA

1.1	Introduct	ion	5
1.2	General (	Comments and Definitions	6
	1.2.1	Urinary tract	6
	1.2.2	Injuries to lower alimentary tract	7
1.3	Global Bu	urden of Obstetric Fistula: Incidence,	
	Prevalence	ce and Distribution	8
	1.3.1	Incidence of obstetric fistula	8
	1.3.2	Prevalence of obstetric fistula	10
	1.3.3	Geographical and ethnic distribution	13
1.4	Causes c	f and Potential Risk Factors for Obstetric Fistula_	17
	1.4.1	Causes of obstetric fistula	17
	1.4.2	Potential risk factors	21

# Committee

1.5	Impact a	nd Consequences of Obstetric Fistula	25
	1.5.1	Stigma, social rejection and psychological changes	26
	1.5.2	Marriage dissolution and partner rejection	27
	1.5.3	Economic aspect and impoverishment	28
	1.5.4	Post-surgical improvements in quality of life	28
1.6		o Care and Health Care-Seeking Behaviour of with Obstetric Fistula	29
1.7	Conclusio	on and Recommendations	32
	1.7.1	Magnitude and distribution of obstetric fistula	32
	1.7.2	Causes and potential risk factors	33
1.8	Referenc	es	35

fertile erment proud job skilled Sexual life daughte education economic empowerm participation husband socialise em happiness **Str**( Ch siste new life , health status

# 1.1 Introduction

Epidemiologic studies on obstetric fistula are few, are commonly institution-based rather than community based, retrospective rather than prospective, mostly including hospitalized women and reporting personal experience of surgeons. However, more relevant information is surfacing as the interest to address the problem is growing.

The geographic coverage of reports is uneven and partially reflects an uneven interest that might lead to skewed perception of prevalence, incidence and distribution.

For the present review, an exhaustive search of available literature was attempted in order to compile existing estimates of prevalence, incidence and geographical distribution of obstetric fistula, risk factors, impact, consequences, and health care seeking behaviour of these women. The search mainly used PubMed databases, Popline, Google Scholar and Google, and tracked references from the papers identified through these searches. Broad search terms used were: Incontinence, obstetric fistula, epidemiology, vesico-vaginal fistula (VVF), risk factors of obstetric fistula, determinants of obstetric fistula, impact of obstetric fistula, obstructed labour complications and access to fistula care. Searches were made by combining these key words and by using them separately to retrieve 290 articles: 138 being eligible.

Since studies with appropriate methodology for epidemiological estimates were few, and the present consultation on obstetric fistula is the first of its kind, we have extended the review to include a wider range of publications with relevant information. Community-based epidemiological studies, eligible hospital based case series and a few observational studies were given more detailed attention.

Apart from the quantitative research and review papers, some evidence-based qualitative research reports on impact and consequences of obstetric fistula were added. Articles that focused solely on the clinical aspects, and repair outcomes and techniques, were excluded.

Based on this search of available literature we here summarize estimates of prevalence, incidence and geographical distribution and the available evidence of risk factors, impact and consequences of obstetric fistula and the related health care-seeking behaviour.

## Summary points

- This review includes a summary of data on the incidence, prevalence and distribution of obstetric fistula.
- Because of the scarcity of community-based studies the review is numerically dominated by institutionally based reports.
- Available literature on potential risk factors, impact, consequences and health care seeking behaviour of women with obstetric fistula has been included.

# 1.2 General Comments and Definitions

Obstetric fistula, an insignificant problem in developed countries, is still a major public health problem of low-income communities. Obstructed labour ends in death for many women in resource-poor communities. Those who survive often acquire obstetric fistula and live for years in physical pain and social disgrace.

These women are from a destitute social background and rarely access health institutions (1–2). As mentioned above, most studies on obstetric fistula are case series from health facilities. Although such patients who accessed health institutions and underwent clinical evaluation and treatment represent a valid proportion of the problem, the remainder, the group of women who could not access medical care, is the significant unknown. This leads to underestimation of the condition from hospital data. Very few community surveys were available, mostly based on non-validated self-reported symptoms, and some of these studies may have overestimated the magnitude of the problem.

Most commonly, obstetric fistula is an abnormal connection between the female genital tract and the bladder and rectum, but any portion of the lower urinary tract can be connected to any portion of the female genital tract. This review hence focuses on genital tract fistula due to:

- Prolonged obstructed labour
- Caesarean section
- Vaginal instrumentation in labour
- Symphysiotomy

- Ruptures/hematomas/infections
- Cervical cerclage/surgery in pregnancy and childbirth
- Other trauma during pregnancy and childbirth

The obstetric fistula is conventionally classified according to the anatomical structures involved (see Chapter 4).

# 1.2.1 Urinary tract

Injuries to the urinary tract are most common and as high as 99% of fistula cases were reported to have a urinary tract injury either in isolation, or in conjunction with bowel injury (3–4). Continuous urinary incontinence is associated with excoriation of perineal skin (ammoniacal dermatitis), infections, and stone formation in any available pocket either in vagina, bladder, urethra or ureter. Small fragments of stone (sandy stones) around the perineum sometimes indicate the existence of larger stone in the bladder or vagina.

- a. Vesico-vaginal fistula is a communication between the vaginal wall and urinary bladder and it is the commonest type of obstetric fistula in the urinary tract (4–9). The extent and severity of the bladder injury depends on the amount of bladder tissue lost and thereby reduced bladder capacity, the amount of scar tissue in the vagina, the region of the bladder missing (affected), and the concurrent injury to the rectum or anal sphincter (10).
- **b.** Urethro- and uretero-vaginal fistulas are defects connecting the vaginal canal with the urethra and ureter respectively (1).
- **c.** Vesico-uterine and vesico-cervical fistula connects the bladder to the uterine cavity and cervical canal respectively and urine passes through the cervical os and vagina.

# 1.2.2 Injuries to lower alimentary tract

- **a.** Rectovaginal fistula (RVF) is the most common defect affecting the lower intestinal tract. The fistula connects the vagina and rectum resulting in incontinence of feces and flatus through vagina.
- b. Perineal tear (injury to the external and internal anal sphincter) is a disruption that often coexists with an extended defect, or may be confined to the sphincters as a result of obstructed or precipitated labour.

Rectal injury alone is less common than combined urinary/intestinal tract injuries. In patients presenting with VVF, between 6% and 24% have the combination of a VVF and rectal injuries (3,11–13). A study by Naidu found RVF to exist concurrently with VVFs in only 15 out of 208 patients (7.2%) (12). Among 419 patients, Carpenter found 84.3% with isolated VVF, 11.3% had both RVF and VVF, 4.4% had a RVF alone, totalling over 15% of women with obstetric fistula also having RVF (5). Isolated rectal injuries are less common than combined rectal and bladder fistulas (3,5,14). In a series of 14,928 women operated at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital, 14,876 (99.7%) had uro-vaginal fistula and the rest, 52 women (0.3%), had an isolated RVF (3). Among the 14,876 with uro-vaginal fistula, 1,973 (13.2%) also had RVF. However, in a review of hospital records of 24 tertiary care facilities in India, isolated RVF occurred in 12.1% of the patients, and the combination of genitourinary and rectovaginal fistulas occurred in 1.2%. The most common type of fistula in that series was, similar to other reports, genitourinary with 86.6% (15). In contrast to the urogenital fistulas, the magnitude of anal sphincter involvement in obstetric fistula patients is less well documented (13).

Most literature on obstetric fistula treats it as one entity and rarely specifies the precise anatomy. The present review will focus on the epidemiology of obstetric fistula in general. Although terms, such as gynecological fistula, uro-genital fistula and genito-urinary fistula are used in the etiological studies of fistula from trauma, sexual violence, lower pelvic surgery, malignancy and radiation (16–18), the current review is limited to obstetric causes.

# Summary points

- This review focuses on genital fistulas of obstetric origin
- The urinary tract or lower alimentary canal are often injured from obstetric trauma either alone or together
- The fistula is classified according to the anatomical structure involved, i.e. vesicovaginal, rectovaginal, urethrovaginal, ureteric fistula, vesicouterine fistula, etc.

# 1.3 Global Burden of Obstetric Fistula: Incidence, Prevalence and Distribution

# 1.3.1 Incidence of obstetric fistula

The incidence of obstetric fistula ideally should be determined by prospectively following women at risk (pregnant women) during labour and the postpartum period. However, most available studies on incidence were based on retrospective record reviews, which used hospital deliveries taband/or gynecologic admissions as the denominator for obstetric fistula incidence estimation during the study period (19–22).

The only prospective population-based study on obstetric fistula incidence is from West Africa (23–24). A total of 19,342 pregnant women were followed through pregnancy until 42 days postpartum in six main cities of the six West African countries and two small towns in Senegal. Data collection was based on women's self-report on interviews and followed by a gynecological examination for those who mentioned having symptoms. However, the authors did not publish the questions posed to obtain information on obstetric fistula (23). The overall incidence reported was 10.3 cases (95% CI: 0–37) of obstetric fistula per 100,000 deliveries. Since all the cases identified were from rural areas of Senegal, rural incidence of obstetric fistula was estimated to be 124/100,000 deliveries (95% CI: 15–446). On the basis of this study, the authors estimated about 33,451 new cases (95% CI: 4,050–120,413) as a minimum annual incidence of fistula in rural sub-Saharan Africa (24).

Other reports from health institutions with specific denominators such as total hospital deliveries and clearly defined (explained) cases with obstetric fistula produced estimates that varied from 0.6 (Niger) to 6.5 (Eastern Nigeria) admitted cases of women with obstetric fistula per 1,000 deliveries during the study period (19,21,25–27). However, the occurrence of fistulas and hospital deliveries (denominators) took place at different times.

Another recent report from Calabar in Nigeria used 37 women with obstetric fistula admitted during five years to estimate the incidence of 1 case per 122 parturients (i.e. 8.2/1,000 labouring mothers admitted) (28). The number of 4,510 deliveries during five years was too low and this might explain the high incidence compared to other reports. However, this variable estimate of incidence was high-lighted by Wall *et al.* in 1998 as ranging from 1 to 10 per 1,000 deliveries (29).

A model-based estimate of obstetric fistula among women aged 15–44 years for developing countries in 1990, indicated an incidence of 8.68/100,000 (6). Although the underlying assumption is not clear, the authors estimated the global number of new obstetric fistula cases to be 82,000/year (6).

In a prospective study that focused on delivery-related and early postpartum complications (i.e. self-reported leakage of urine or feces one month following delivery), 557 women were interviewed (37% of the 1,506 participants in the study). They were residents of the slums of Dhaka, Bangladesh. The study identified no women with obstetric fistula, although three women reported to be incontinent postpartum (30). Clinical examination of these three women could not identify any fistula, which indicated that statistics based on self-reported symptoms are most likely to be overestimates. **Table 1** summarizes reports of occurrence of new of obstetric fistula cases per 1,000 deliveries.

# **TABLE 1**Summary of reports of the occurrence of new cases of obstetric fistula<br/>per 1,000 deliveries

Author	Country	Design and Number (n)	Cases	Incidence/ 1,000 births
Harrison 1985 (25)	Nigeria	Prospective follow up of 22,774 hospital deliveries	79	3.5
Ozumba <i>et al.,</i> 1991 (26)	Eastern Nigeria	Follow up of 11,299 hospital deliveries		6.5
Danso <i>et al.</i> , 1996 (19)	Ghana, 1977–1992	Retrospective record review of cases, per 157,449 hospital deliveries	150	1.0
Prual <i>et al.</i> , 1998 (27)	Niger (Niamey)	Prospective follow up of 3625 hospital deliveries	2	0.6
Dolea <i>et al.</i> , 2000 (6)	Global, for developing countries (1990)	Model-based estimate, women of reproductive age (15–44), assumption not clear		0.8 (2.15% of neglected obstructed labour cases)
Vangeenderhuysen, <i>et al.,</i> 2001 (24)	6 West African Countries	Multi-country, community based prospective longitudinal study, n=19,342 pregnant women	2	0.10 (overall) 1.24 (rural)
ljaiya 2004 (21)	llorin (Nigeria)	Review of 32,188 hospital deliveries and admission of cases	34	1.1
Fronczak <i>et al.</i> , 2005 (30)	Bangladesh	Interview, 30 days postpartum, n=557	0	-
Orji <i>et al.</i> , 2007 (31)	Nigeria	Review of 14,682 hospital deliveries and admission of cases	72	4.9
Ali <i>et al.,</i> 2010 (32)	Sudan	Review of 4,585 hospital deliveries and admission of cases	2	0.43

Other studies that used gynecological admissions or surgeries as the denominator, to estimate incidence of obstetric fistula, found estimates ranging from 14 to 23 cases per 1,000 admissions or surgeries (18,22). In another hospital study in Ethiopia, Gessesew *et al.* reported the incidence as high as 199/1,000 major gynecological surgeries (33). **Table 2** summarizes reports of new occurrence of obstetric fistula cases per gynecological surgeries or admissions.

Author	Country	Design and Number (n)	Cases	Reported Incidence
Kullima <i>et al.</i> , 2009 (22)	North Nigeria	Gynecological admissions	80	14 /1,000 gynecological admissions 80/1,000 major gynecological surgeries
Sachdev <i>et al.,</i> 2009 (18)	Pakistan	11,959 gynecological admissions	278	23/1,000 gynecological admissions
Gessessew <i>et al.,</i> 2003 (33)	Ethiopia	1,011 major gynecological surgeries	201	199/1,000 major gynecological surgeries

# **TABLE 2** Summary of reports of new occurrence of obstetric fistula per gynecological admission or surgery

Studies determining the incidence of obstetric fistula with prospective follow up of pregnant women were very few; most available reports were retrospective analysis of obstetric fistula cases admitted per hospital deliveries during the study period. **Table 1** summarizes such study results used to estimate the range of obstetric fistula incidence (0.6 to 6.5 cases/1,000 deliveries) in this chapter.

# 1.3.2 **Prevalence of obstetric fistula**

# 1.3.2.1 Global estimates of prevalence

The most commonly referenced worldwide prevalence of obstetric fistula is two million cases, and 50,000 to 100,000 new cases per year (1,19,29,34–36) comes from an attempt made by Waaldijk and Armiya'u in 1993. Their aim was to provide an estimate of the global burden based on the number of women with obstetric fistula seen at their hospital and they published as a special contribution to the *International Urogynecology Journal* (37). This estimate, however, was suggested as a global number as well as an estimate for Africa (34), or for Africa and Asia (7), and was later referred to as "World Health Organization estimates" (35–36).

The more recent global prevalence estimate of over three million women with obstetric fistula was based on incidence estimates of obstructed labour, assuming that at least 2% of neglected obstructed labour cases would end up with fistula formation and assuming a low capacity for obstetric fistula repair (9). The estimates and assumptions, however, lack support from hard data or clarity of the epidemiological methods used.

In the model-based estimate, the global prevalence of cases of obstetric fistula was estimated to be 654,000 (with 262,000 in sub-Saharan Africa and 194,000 in India) for the year 1990 (6,38).

In a short survey by the World Health Organisation (WHO), carried out in 1991, countries from where fistula had been reported were noted. Many countries in Africa and South Asia were listed, but not all, and less from Latin America and the Middle East (**Figure 1**).

# 1.3.2.2 National estimates

There are varying estimates of prevalence of obstetric fistula based on self-reported fistula symptoms in Demographic Health Surveys (DHS) from different countries, and specific prevalence estimates adhering to survey methodology, but with different levels of strengths and transparencies. Reports from DHS attempt to provide representative national estimates. The proportion of respondents who reported to have ever experienced the symptom (incontinence) was used to estimate most of these national levels of prevalence of obstetric fistula, and the estimates range from 1% of ever-married women in Ethiopia to 2% of all women interviewed in Malawi (39).

The weighted average, calculated from these DHS results of incontinence, was highest in Malawi (4.7%) followed by Ethiopia (3.41%), Rwanda (3.3%) and Uganda (2.64%) (16). Based on these statistics, the lifetime prevalence of reported incontinence per 1,000 deliveries were estimated to range from 5.92 in Uganda to 16.4 in Malawi (16).

However, there is a general concern that these estimates from DHS might be far from the true estimate:

- Women's self-reports of maternal morbidities are known to be problematic (40)
- Symptoms reported as fistula essentially, incontinence of urine and/or feces may actually be those of another condition with similar symptoms and consequences (41)
- Data were collected using knowledge-based contingency questions and these are frequently biased towards the responses of those who lived in urban areas or are more educated (42–44). For example:
  - Only 23% of all Ethiopian women had ever heard of obstetric fistula, but 50% of women living in urban areas had heard the term compared with only 17% of those women living in rural areas
  - About 90% of women who had higher than secondary education had heard of obstetric fistula, but only 16% of uneducated women had heard the term
- About 41% of the wealthiest women knew the term, compared with only 15% of the poorest women.
- Thus, the women who were selected by the knowledge-based contingency question, to answer the specific questions on their own experience of fistula symptoms, were more likely to live in urban areas, are comparatively wealthy and better educated than the average for the entire population (43).

- Restriction of respondents to those with live birth will exclude all women whose first and only pregnancies ended with both stillbirth and fistula. This may result in an inaccurate estimation of the national prevalence of fistula. This inaccuracy may be due to:
  - Methodological omission of potential cases,
  - An incomplete understanding of the etiology of the morbidity due to biased sample selection, and
- Distortions in the statistical associations between the experience of fistula symptoms and covariates of interest.
- It is possible that women with fistula are underrepresented in the housed population since women with fistula are cast out of their homes and no longer considered members of any household (43).

In a model-based estimate (6,38), the prevalence of obstetric fistula was estimated to be 51.35/100,000 for women of 15–44 years of age, and the prevalence in sub-Saharan Africa, India, and other Asian countries were estimated correspondingly to be 184, 76, and 36 per 100,000 (38).

A recent study conducted to estimate the prevalence of obstetric fistula in Malawi was a combined facility and community-based survey (45). Women aged 12 years and over were interviewed in the community; hospital records were reviewed and a total of 659 eligible cases included in the estimate (548 from the community survey and 111 from the hospital records review). Both community and facility based results were from nine randomly selected districts. Records of patients admitted to facilities within these nine districts were included in the analysis and selected women from these communities were interviewed as to whether they had continuous leakage of urine or not. The total number of women aged 12 years and over from these communities (from national figures) was used to calculate the prevalence. From such collected information prevalence of obstetric fistula was estimated to be 1.6/1,000 women aged 12 years and over.

The community surveys conducted in Bangladesh involved a multi-stage random sampling technique finally selecting the smallest administrative unit (the unions) where the data was collected by interviewing all ever-married women. However, the method was not sufficiently described. It was indicated that among 31,889 ever-married women, 54 women with incontinence were found to have fistula (again, there was no clear description as to how this was validated). The prevalence estimate reported was 1.69/1,000 ever-married women (46).

A total of 27,090 women aged 15 years and over in 19,513 households in 189 rural villages with 97,765 inhabitants, were used to determine the prevalence of obstetric fistula in seven rural regional administrative states of Ethiopia (47). It was a community survey used a multi-stage random sampling technique to select sufficient numbers for the interview. Clinical examination was done in those with a history of incontinence and the adjusted prevalence estimate of obstetric fistula per 1,000 rural women aged 15 years and over was 0.21 (95% CI 0.12–0.35).

A national prevalence of obstetric fistula per 1,000 rural women of reproductive age (using the national and regional number of 2005) was 0.22 (95% CI 0.14–0.36) based on standardized rates. For untreated women, the prevalence was 1.5/1,000, which corresponds to 26,819 women living with this problem in rural Ethiopia during the year 2005, and on average they would have had the fistula for eight years without resorting to any surgical treatment (47).

The few existing prevalence estimates based on studies at the community level and based on advocated survey methodology show consistency, with levels ranging from 1.5/1,000 women aged 15–49 years in Ethiopia to 1.69/1,000 ever-married women in Bangladesh (41,45,47). **Table 3** provides a summary of the published prevalence data from community surveys.

Author	Methods	Sample Population (n)	Cases Identified	Prevalence
Kalilani-Phii <i>et al.,</i> 2010 (45)	Community survey & Facility data review • Random selection • Self-reported symptom	3,279 women 12 years and above	532+111	1.6/1,000 women 12 years and above
Walz <i>et al.,</i> 2003 (46)	Community survey - Random selection - Interview	31,889 ever-married women	54	1.69/1,000 ever-married women
Muleta <i>et al.,</i> 2007 (47)	Community survey • Random selection (multistage) • Interview Validated, by clinical examination	27,070 women 15 years and above	55	1.5/1,000 women 15 years and above

# **TABLE 3**Summary of prevalence estimates from community surveys in Asia,<br/>West Africa and East Africa

# 1.3.3 **Geographical and ethnic distribution**

In a historic perspective, cephalopelvic disproportion is a product of human evolution, i.e. bipedalism and encephalization (48–49) that led to the increased risk of obstructed labour known to all societies. In countries with good access to obstetric emergency services, the condition is relieved in time to prevent the complications of long-standing incarceration, e.g. obstetric fistula. However, it may be an oversimplification to state that obstetric fistula is a problem of low-income countries. Obstetric fistula may occasionally occur in high-income countries with the most favourable maternal and perinatal mortality rates (50), but systematic reporting is rare.

More detailed statistical information from all countries of the world would give a more accurate picture of global distribution.

Although prolonged obstructed labour is by far the most important cause of obstetric fistula in low-income countries, it is not the only direct cause. Instrumental interventions and surgical procedures during pregnancy and labour are other causes, which may be more prominent in high-income countries. In a series of gynaecological fistulas treated at a specialised centre in Norway, 20% of the fistulas had occurred in connection with pregnancy and childbirth. In contrast to the typical pattern of sub-Saharan countries with VVF being the dominating injury with RVF as an additional complication in 13% (3), the Norwegian patients had almost exclusively rectal fistulas. The two cases of urinary tract injury were due to a uterine rupture and a misplaced cervical cerclage. These cases were collected over a period of 10 years and may represent underreporting but still represent extremely rare incidences in a country with roughly 60,000 deliveries per year. In a similar period, a centre in Denmark noted four vesicouterine fistulas after caesarean section (51). The rarity of such lesions may lead to underreporting and scarcity in publications. However, such cases indicate that obstetric fistula exists in all countries but with widely varying incidences and with different causative backgrounds.

Sub-Saharan countries, with the Indian subcontinent and Southeast Asia, undoubtedly represent the bulk of cases (**Figure 1**). However, the map shows the countries that reported obstetric fistulas only. Angola, Botswana, Central African Republic, Congo, Yemen, and Afghanistan are some of the countries where fistula probably exists at a considerable but unreported level at the time when the map was drawn (52). Within any country, it is the accessibility of emergency obstetric care services that is the decisive factor, which is probably a major reason why rural areas are hit so severely, compared with cities (24).

**Figure 2** is complementary to that of **figure 1** and shows the 47 countries (yellow) with ongoing activity on end-fistula campaign (53). None of the maps however, are complete representations of the obstetric fistula distribution in the world.

The question as to whether there are ethnic differences predisposing for obstetric fistula, is difficult to answer. The ethnic and genetic variation in Africa alone is exceedingly high compared to the rest of the world. Ethiopia, from where the largest set of data is published (14,928 cases), had a high number of patients from the ethnic group (Amhara) with the shortest stature, and the fistula patients were significantly shorter than their background population, even when controlled for age (3). However, the study was not designed to address ethnic differences. Whether stunting is due to high altitude, iodine deficiency or other nutritional causes, or ethnic background, is hard to distinguish, particularly since ethnic background also is linked to socio-economic determinants and geography.

**Figure 3** shows how the degree of stunting, assisted birth and access to road, vary in populations believed to have a high incidence of obstetric fistula (52).

Ethnic groups vary also in traditions of marriage, dietary habits and physical activity — factors that may be difficult to discriminate from purely ethnic, or rather genetic predisposition. With the modern knowledge of the substantial plasticity of individual development, exhibited during fetal and postnatal life, adapting to environmental conditions, it is plausible that such mechanisms are more important than belonging to a specific genetic group.

#### **FIGURE 1**

Countries where obstetric fistula has been reported according to the World Health Organization: Obstetric fistula – A review of available information (WHO/MCH/MSM/91.5) (53).

Note that white areas signify "not reported" rather than "not existing".



### **FIGURE 2**

End-Fistula-Campaign was initiated by UNFPA and launched in 2003. The map is complementary to that of Figure 1 and shows the 47 countries (yellow) with ongoing activity.

Source: Thematic Evaluation of National Programmes and UNFPA experience in the Campaign to End Fistula, Assessment of global/regional activities in Support of national programmes. Global Regional Report 2010,1:2(53).



### **FIGURE 3**

The relationship of RAI (Rural Access Index) expressing the accessibility of road to rural dwellers, assisted births and risk of stunting in countries expected to have high incidence of obstetric fistula. The three factors are determinants for obstetric fistula. According to Kunieda M: Finding fistula patients in Asia.

*Transport and Communications Bulletin for Asia and the Pacific* 2007;76 (54).



# Summary points

The results of this review of the magnitude of obstetric fistula suggest that:

- There is no reliable data for estimating global prevalence of obstetric fistula. The current global estimates of obstetric fistula vary from 654,000 to 3.5 million.
- Hospital based incidence estimates vary considerably from 0.6 to 6.5 per 1,000 delivery at the facility. These rates are underestimates since the studies include only those who accessed health services.
- There is only one empirical assessment of incidence of obstetric fistula, 1.24 per 1,000 deliveries (33,451 annual new cases), for rural sub-Saharan Africa.
- The model-based estimate for sub-Saharan Africa is 0.18 per 1,000 women of reproductive age however, details of the underlying evidence for this estimate is not publicly available.
- Statistics based on self-reported symptoms overestimate prevalence due to variations in case definition and inadequate case ascertainment and clinical verification.

- National estimates of prevalence of nontreated obstetric fistula cases (following different survey methods) are consistent across countries in East Africa, West Africa and Asia, and range from 1.5 to 1.7 per 1,000 women interviewed.
- Underreporting due to stigma might result in underestimation of the magnitude of the problem.
- The geographic coverage of reports is uneven, which leads to skewed perception of prevalence, incidence and distribution around the world.

# 1.4 Causes of and Potential Risk Factors for Obstetric Fistula

# 1.4.1 **Causes of obstetric fistula**

Although the scope of this review demands focus at causes of obstetric fistula, the causes of nonobstetric fistula are critical to consider on a number of levels, in order to grasp the basic underlying disparities between wealthy and poorer nations.

One of the most tragic issues in the aspects of fistula is that the causes of this horrific disease are completely preventable. The causes of fistula stand as motivators for social change and, rightfully, as cause for international shame as we confront this huge burden of avoidable suffering. In order to design effective and efficient programs of fistula prevention, a sound understanding of the origin of fistula is a critical first step. No preventive intervention is possible without thoroughly understanding what we are trying to prevent. The disparity in the causes of fistula between wealthy and poor nations is a potential barrier to organized and harmonized international effort. Fistula in the developing world is a completely different issue from fistula in the wealthy world, and the differences boil down to cause.

In wealthy nations, fistula occurs primarily as a complication of medical and surgical therapy, and abdominal hysterectomy represents the single most common cause of fistula (54–55). Other procedures potentially complicated by fistula include surgery for genital prolapse, colorectal surgery, and caesarean section (56–58). Newer procedures for the treatment of stress urinary incontinence, particularly those involving the implantation of artificial mesh material, are a growing cause of fistula in wealthy countries (59).

A smaller subset of patients develop fistulas after radiation therapy, especially those done for gynecologic cancers (60). Even non-invasive measures such as the use of a pessary for prolapse or incontinence, has been associated with fistula (61). Gynecologic cancers can either present as fistula from erosion of tumour into the bladder, or as fistula resulting from a recurrence after failed therapy of some sort (51). And so, in the vast majority of cases in the West, fistula is essentially an iatrogenic phenomenon.

Just as pelvic surgery dominates as the most common cause of fistula in wealthy countries, iatrogenic fistulas occur in the developing world as well. Our evidence base in this area is just being developed, but it would seem that the relative incidence of fistula as a complication of caesarean section is much higher in the developing world than in first-world countries (62–63). This might be expected, as surgeons and medical officers across Africa and west Asia are often called upon to perform caesarean section in the direst clinical situations and in the most resource-poor environments. It is also impossible to discern with fistula after caesarean, which injuries are iatrogenic, that is, related to the performance of the caesarean, and which were simply the result of obstructed labour with the

caesarean done after the ischemic damage was already done. Hysterectomy is not uncommon as a cause of fistula, but in the developing world this would include significant numbers of caesarean hysterectomies, once again performed under the worst of circumstances.

There is a special class of "iatrogenic" fistula in the developing world, if one is to take the widest possible interpretation of the term. Here we refer to fistula related to harmful traditional practices. The term "female genital cutting" (FGC) refers to an extremely broad range of practices. These interventions may be performed by trained medical personnel in traditional institutional settings, but in the vast majority of settings they are done in the community by untrained personnel. And fistula can result, although this seems to happen relatively uncommonly, if we limit our discussion to female genital cutting forms such as clitoridectomy and infibulations (64). Other forms of female genital cutting are practiced under the Hausa term "gishiri cut" (65). A full discussion of the range of practices and their place in local cultures would range far beyond the mandate of this chapter. In general, gishiri refers to a practice where a practitioner of traditional medicine inserts a large knife into the vagina or urethra. The large cuts can often be a direct cause of fistula. These procedures seem to be done for a variety of indications, from irregular menses, dyspareunia, infertility, and a number of other vague complaints. Another potentially harmful traditional practice comes under another Hausa name "wankan jego" or "wankan biki" (29). Especially after the delivery of a child, women often receive douches with special cleansing solutions. The solutions used are often quite alkaline, and can cause fistula directly through chemical injury.

Giving a woman water to drink, to aid expulsion of the baby when the bladder is full during delivery may increase the risk of fistula, and family members resisting necessary medical examination by male clinical staff, are some other harmful traditions with potential association with fistula formation (66).

Tragically, we live in an age when another cause of fistula is sexual violence against women, "traumatic fistula". To date, this type of fistula is very inhomogeneous in distribution, being far more common in conflict areas. As systematic, large-scale rape is applied to wide swaths of the female population as a tool of terror, more traumatic fistulas are being seen (67). The term "traumatic fistula" might also be applied in place of "post-coital fistula", in areas where the practice of early marriage is prevalent, when girls who have barely reached menarche are subjected to full sexual activity as married women (5,68). In some studies, coital injury was the main etiological factor for rectovaginal fistula or third-degree perineal tear occurring alone (5,68).

Pelvic trauma from more mundane accidents and injuries can occur anywhere, whether in the West or the developing world, but we have no real data on the magnitude of this problem. Taken overall, this is not a major cause of fistula problem.

Just as they do in the West, gynecologic cancers in the developing world can cause fistula. Since resources for multidisciplinary therapy for gynecologic cancer are so limited in the poorest parts of the world, these tumours often present at an advanced stage, and erosion of aggressive cancers can cause fistula. Since repair is not generally attempted in this setting, these patients are unlikely to be captured when reporting large series of fistula experience, which tend to focus on findings at surgery. So, we have no objective information on the scale of this subset of fistula disease.

The same could be said for fistulas caused by infection. Especially in the context of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS), gynecologic infections can be so severe and aggressive that massive tissue loss occurs and fistula ensues. But, since these women are not treated surgically, we have no meaningful data in the literature to address the scale of this cause of fistula.

Fistula of obstetric origin is a common problem of low-resource settings and documented in over 90% of women with genital fistula (1,3,7,69–76). The most common cause of obstetric fistula is prolonged, obstructed labour (1,8,66,69,76–80). Cephalopelvic disproportion is reported as the major cause of obstructed labour and both maternal and fetal factors play a role (81). The reports from teaching hospitals in Nigeria that the cause of vesicovaginal fistula was 95% in 1981 and 60% in 2005 may indicate a trend of decline (74).

However, this information from a referral and teaching hospital, which is inaccessible to rural women with fistula, has been acknowledged to be non-representative, as this public health problem is still very common in some parts of northern Nigeria (74). Even in conflict areas where traumatic fistula is a problem, obstetric fistula, as a complication of untreated obstructed labour, remains the major cause of fistula today (82).

Although there is very little documented evidence about the labours that cause the pelvic damage and corresponding fistula, the fact that the labours had lasted for days, with the likely ischemic damage of the vagina and surrounding structures, strongly supports the concept that neglected obstructed labour is the cause of fistula formation. The strong association reported could be a stronger support for a causative link (83) and the available explanation is that, during the long ensuing labour, the presenting fetal part presses relentlessly on the pelvic tissues, often pinned between the fetal head and the bones of the pelvis, and that wide-field ischemia results, large areas of tissue are lost, and fibrosis occurs as the injury heals (76,84).

Obstetric fistula as described by Arrowsmith *et al.* in 1996, is different from postsurgical vesicovaginal fistula, which is usually the result of focal trauma to otherwise healthy tissues. The obstetric fistula is the result of a "field injury" to a broad area which may result in total urethral loss, stress incontinence, hydro-ureteronephrosis, renal failure, recto-vaginal fistula formation, rectal atresia, anal sphincter incompetence, cervical destruction, amenorrhea, pelvic inflammatory disease, secondary infertility, vaginal stenosis, osteitis pubis, and foot-drop (84).

Where obstructed labour was the cause of the fistula, the mean length of labour was reported to range from 38 hours (18) to 4 days (79). The labour was shortest in those women who developed RVF alone and was longest in women who subsequently developed both RVF and VVF (5). Poor monitoring of labour, including the pattern of urination during labour, was said to be the reason for obstetric fistula formation (85). About 64% of these women in Tanzania and 58% in Uganda said they could not pass urine during labour, passed only small amounts, could only urinate at the beginning of labour, or urinated only once during labour (85).

Iatrogenic fistula (fistulas arising as a result of obstetric interventions and surgical complications) in Africa, are important in terms of the need for expanded resources, better training, and in external supervision of outcomes. This was documented in 1996 in a study by Danso *et al.*, which reported that 36 (22%) of 164 fistulas were due to complications of surgery (19).

But, obstetric fistula as a complication of obstructed labour so dominates the spectrum of etiology that most discussions of fistula are by default referring to this particular cause. However, the frequency of women's perceptions that their fistula was caused either by the doctor accidentally piercing the bladder or by the procedure/instruments used during delivery is also high (85). Studies however, were unable to independently confirm women's reports of surgical error leading to fistula, in the presence of prolonged obstructed labour, which might have already caused the damage before interventional procedures were used. Women's perception about the cause of fistula however, is also dependent on the educational status of women (86).

The basic underlying disparity in the causes of fistula between wealthy and poorer nations has led to a divide of sorts between surgeons of these two different communities. To a surgeon in Ireland or the United States of America, the term fistula conjures up a mental picture of a focal injury occurring as a result of a mishap during pelvic surgery. The western literature on fistula often focuses on diagnostic maneuvers to confirm the presence of a tiny fistula and locate it, on conservative therapies, and application of minimally invasive techniques. For a surgeon in Mali or Rwanda, fistula means something altogether different, as they cope with potentially huge expanses of tissue loss, a wide range of associated injuries (84) emanating from the obstructed labour, the potential destruction of any mechanism of continence, and the need for large, sometimes heroic interventions. Clearly these two faces of fistula represent opposite poles along a spectrum of injury.

It has only been recently that the issue of obstetric fistula has grown in its international exposure such that our colleagues in wealthy nations even understand what African surgeons are talking about. So, this basic difference in the cause of fistula in these two contexts is something that must be recognized and addressed. African surgeons can benefit greatly from new procedures developed by western medicine and from the breadth of teaching and training resources available to address the broad range of plastic surgical, urologic, gynecologic and colorectal interventional skills that a fistula surgeon must possess, in order to help all comers with fistula. But, Western surgeons must recognize that African surgeons possess the bulk of the real-world experience in dealing with these horrific injuries.

More than in perhaps any other clinical settings, Western and African surgeons meet each other as equals. Western surgeons traditionally enjoy coming as teachers, and have been of great benefit to those from countries where the resources for training are huge compared to those in poorer nations. But Western surgeons interested in obstetric fistula must first come to grips with the reality that they must come first as students, to a clinical situation that is not like anything they might see in a Western practice. These challenges are based in the different causes of fistula.

# 1.4.2 **Potential risk factors**

Obstetric fistula is described to occur as the result of a cascade of obstetrical catastrophes that are summarized as the "Obstetric Fistula Pathway" (9). A study from Tanzania indicated that women from richer households consume more services than the poorest women, and that poorer, lesser-educated, and rural households use the least available health care (87). Kelly described obstetric fistula as a result of two obstructions, obstructed labour and obstructed transport (88). These obstructions coupled with lack of medical attention are common, and some address this failure of the state to provide prenatal preventive care and timely fistula repair as violations of human rights (35).

Scientific evidence with hard data are limited when thinking of the balance of social/demographic risks and benefit factors for obstetric fistula, however, reports from case series and personal experiences emphasize that early age at marriage, young age at first pregnancy, stature of women, parity, low status of women, the place of delivery, poverty, illiteracy, sex inequality, malnutrition, social and cultural issues, to family planning and the lack of emergency obstetric care are contributing factors associated with obstetric fistula (1–3,8,13,73,89–94).

# 1.4.2.1 **Poverty as fundamental problem**

It is commonly observed that poverty is the underlying problem in developing countries for obstructed labour and resulting fistula, as poor countries struggle to provide the very basic emergency obstetric services necessary to avoid maternal death and injury (4,35,95). Wealthy nations had the resources to make obstetric fistula disappear, while women in Africa and Southwest Asia face the same dangers in labour that women have endured for thousands of years (95). A critical analysis of secondary data from Tanzania and Uganda showed that reproductive health outcomes were worse for people living in poverty than for those from higher-income groups (87) with especially large gaps between women from the highest and lowest educational levels.

## 1.4.2.2 **Poor nutrition**

The nutritional state of the woman is also regarded as a determinant. Improved nutritional and environmental factors for young girls results in accelerated growth before puberty; however, in deprived girls, catch-up growth is often associated with delayed puberty and an extended period of growth (96). Nutritional improvement in pregnant women, whose pelvic skeletal growth had been restricted during childhood and early adolescence, is reported to lead to larger neonates and higher incidence of cephalopelvic disproportion (96). It was acknowledged by several researchers that malnutrition is not only the cause but also a consequence of obstetric fistula (76,97–98), however, there is no hard evidence based on observational research.

## 1.4.2.3 Age and parity as potential risk factors

Obstructed labour has been linked to the woman's age and parity, the young primigravida being more likely to experience both obstructed labour and subsequent morbidity (14,96). The percentage of primiparas with fistulas varied from 27% in the study of 49 cases by Gharoro and Abedi to 81% in the study of 31 cases by Ibrahim *et al.* (1,19,21,33,71–73,75–76,78–79,93,99–101). There are no clear descriptions of uterine activity during obstructed labours, however, it was hypothesized that in

primigravida women, during mechanical obstruction in labour, the uterine contractions gradually weaken and then stop, however, in multiparous women, contractions continue until delivery or until uterine rupture occurs (102).

The association of primiparity with longer duration of labour (Odds Ratio 3.2 [2.3–4.5]) and stillbirth (Odds Ratio 1.9 [1.3–2.8]) was also documented (3) and controlling for age at delivery did not reduce the strength of these associations in the study.

Analysis of risk factors using logistic regression on deliveries in Niger, Nigeria, and Tanzania examined correlations with obstructed labour. The authors predicted how delaying childbearing could affect the occurrence of obstetric fistula. Using local data for prolonged labour and stillbirth rates, and assumptions on fistula formation rates, the authors predicted that "the proportion of women experiencing prolonged/obstructed labour would be reduced by 11.2% in Niger, 11.4% in Nigeria, and 13.1% in Tanzania if the risks associated with young maternal age at first delivery and primiparity were eliminated" (103).

A case control study in Nigeria with 241 cases and 148 controls found fistula patients to be younger in age and shorter in height than control patients (89). For Carpenter and colleagues who analyzed mean age of fistula occurrence, women with both RVF and VVF had the injury at a younger age compared to those with a VVF alone (5). In most of these studies, the reported age is often the age at the time of fistula repair (1,8,13–14,76,79).

On the contrary, other reports documented later age for the development of obstetric fistula. The peak age for acquiring obstetric fistula was 20 to 24 years among women seen at Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital (5), with an average age reported being about 20 years (3,5), those with RVF alone acquired their fistula at a younger age, mean 17.4 years (5).

Report from Nigeria indicated that only 23.8% women with fistula had their injury as teenagers, showing a shift of preponderance from teenagers to older women who would have already attained their optimum pelvic size (104). The authors thought that other factors, such as socio-cultural practices and religion, which limit the woman's access to appropriate health care, may therefore be more important in developing VVF. Other studies also support that age at first marriage and age at fistula development was older than other women, which may indicate that poor access to Emergency Obstetric Care (EmOC) contributes more to this problem (1,19,31,77,101).

According to a report from Ghana, 31% of the cases got their fistula at 20–24 years of age, 21.3% when below 20 years of age, and 15.3% occurred in women between 40 and 45 years old (19). Orji and colleagues from Nigeria found that peak age for the occurrence of fistula was at 20–24 years (36.1%), with a mean of 24.8 years during 1994–2003 (31). Hilton and Ward highlighted the difficulty around age assessment in Nigeria, i.e. mostly unknown. Taking into account such uncertainty, the median age (on hospital admission) from their available hospital-based information was 28 years (1).

## 1.4.2.4 Illiteracy as risk factor

Onolemhemhen from Nigeria showed that obstetric fistula patients had less education, were of lower socio-economic status and were smaller in stature, but there was no difference among the groups in age at marriage and age at first delivery (98).

In most observational studies reviewed, illiteracy and short stature were found to be a risk factor for fistula formation (89,98,105). This is supported by recent study from Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital which documented association of illiteracy with longer duration of labour and more stillbirths. (Odds ratio (OR) 1.6 [1.2–2.2] and 2.5 [1.7–3.7], respectively) (3). Other reports from Ethiopia and Zambia also indicate that educational status and height of women were significantly below the national averages (3,101). Most observational studies (case series) also documented the fact that a great majority of women with obstetric fistula who were operated were illiterate (3–4,73).

## 1.4.2.5 Low stature as a risk factor

Low maternal stature was also regarded as a marker for a narrow pelvic cavity, and studies related maternal short stature to obstructed or prolonged labour and higher rate of operative deliveries (106–109). However, women of the same height from different populations and social statuses might have different risks, hence the obstetric significance of a particular height was said to be related to the woman's own ethnic and geographic background (96).

The few observational studies that looked into potential risk factors of obstetric fistula did confirm the association of height and some of the above-mentioned parameters to obstetric fistula formation, although guidelines for reporting epidemiological studies were not fully followed.

A case control study by Melah *et al.* indicated early age at first marriage (average 14 years), short stature (average height 146.2 cm) and illiteracy (96.3%) as major risk factors; and low social class, lack of gainful employment, failure to book for antenatal care (93.7%), and rural place of residence (95%) as potential factors associated with acquiring the fistulas (105).

Supporting height as a risk factor is data from another observational study by Sokal D *et al.* 1991, which measured the height of 1,733 women as they left the maternity services in Ouagadougou and recorded the type of delivery. Women less than 155 cm tall were 4.9 times more likely to have a caesarean section delivery (108).

A case-control study in Bangladesh with 132 cases and 150 controls found that a higher percentage of women with fistula had smaller foot-size and height (110). Over 60% expressed fear of an unhappy conjugal life, embarrassment in social life, a constant sense of impurity, and 87% were limited in religious activities because of the condition (110).

Meta-analysis by Dujardin and colleagues showed a significant and universal association between short maternal height and an increased risk of caesarean section for cephalopelvic disproportion, however, its sensitivity, specificity and predictive value were discouraging (111). Several case series describing the characteristics of fistula patients have documented the short stature of women with obstetric fistula: average height 149 cm (73,79), 68% under 150 cm (76,100), average height of 148 cm (93,101), and 70% under 156 cm (75). Muleta *et al.* showed that the average height of 2,157 fistula patients in Ethiopia was 152.7 cm, significantly lower than the population average of 156.5 cm, also when broken down to age layers (3).

Potential risk factors reported from the few available observational studies are summarized in Table 4.

Author	Major Risk Factors	Sample Size
Ampofo <i>et al.</i> , 1990 (89)	Short stature (P=0.001) Younger age (P=0.001)	Cases = 241 Controls = 148
Islam <i>et al.,</i> 1992 (110)	Smaller foot size Short stature	Cases = 132 Controls = 150
Onolemhemhen <i>et al.</i> , 1999 (98)	Short stature Illiteracy Low socio-economic status	Cases = 50 Controls = 50
Melah <i>et al.</i> , 2007 (105)	Early age at first marriage Short stature Illiteracy Low social class Rural location Lack of prenatal care	Cases = 80 Controls = 80

# **TABLE 4** Summary of potential risk factors on obstetric fistula formation from available observational studies

## 1.4.2.6 Male sex prevalent among index births

Reports indicate a dominance of male fetuses involved in labours ending in obstetric fistula formation (3,75-76). In the study from Ethiopia, male fetuses were involved in 77% of these labours, and these boys had a higher stillbirth rate compared with the girls, 91.9% (89.3–94.5) vs. 78.9% (75.1–82.7) (3).

## Summary points

- Although difficult to ascertain cause, reported causes of genital fistula in developed countries are different from those from low resource countries
- While genital fistula of surgical origin is predominant in developed countries, obstetric fistula is a major problem in low-resource settings
- This basic difference in the cause of fistula in these two groups of nations has led to a divide of sorts between surgeons from these two different communities and this needs to be recognized and addressed
- Poverty is the underlying problem for obstructed labour and resulting obstetric fistulas

- Illiteracy and short stature are reported potential risk factors by most of the available observational studies, although the reporting of these studies is not strong
- Young age at marriage or first delivery as a risk factor is non-conclusive (available reports are controversial)
- There is no strong evidence to implicate parity as risk factor with an inconsistent range in the proportion of primiparous women with obstetric fistula. There is no clear data as to whether there is a difference in uterine activity among primi- and multiparous women during obstructed labour
- There are several other socio-demographic factors implicated as potential risk factors, however without strong evidence

# 1.5 Impact and Consequences of Obstetric Fistula

Very few studies examined impacts and consequences of obstetric fistula systematically (112). As almost all studies are case series and based on short-term follow up after surgical repair, strong evidence is lacking on the impact and knowledge remains limited about long-term prognosis following surgery, and therefore about the long-term contribution of fistula repair to quality of life improvement.

It was repeatedly documented that obstetric fistula leaves a woman with uncontrollable leaking of urine and/or feces from her vagina. Untreated, fistula leads to debilitating health problems, continuous wetness and odour, and the stigma surrounding the condition.

Besides incontinence to urine and or feces, reported impacts of obstetric fistula are extreme (85). Women reported suffering from genital sores, skin lesions, irregular periods, exhaustion, anxiety and depression; and even the inability to walk normally (most likely due to foot drop), foul smell of urine, infertility and amenorrhea (85,99). Wall (1998) under his article entitled "Dead mothers and injured wives", explained the suffering as follows: "The affected woman suffers from a continuous and uncontrollable stream of urine or feces coming out of her vagina. This is both a physical and a social catastrophe. No escape is possible from the constant trickle of urine, the constant ooze of stool, 24 hours a day. These women become physically and morally offensive to their husbands, their families, their friends, and their neighbours (29,112). Indelibly stigmatized by their condition, they are forced to the margins of society, where they live a precarious existence." (29).

Reports from pre-repair case studies and short-term follow-up after surgical repair emphasizes the severe social and psychological adverse effects such as stigma and social isolation; marriage break-down; worsening of poverty; malnutrition, and severe depression (9,98).

# 1.5.1 Stigma, social rejection and psychological changes

In some countries, qualitative studies were undertaken to better understand the societal perception and stigma about obstetric fistula (113–114). Bangser *et al.* (85) found that 67% of the women in Tanzania and 99% of those in Uganda experienced isolation. The patients either withdrew from their communities due to shame or were isolated by others as a result of the stigma. Obstetric fistula represented a significant stigma for patients in Niger (113) and Malawi (114).

Different studies described the perception of rejection of fistula patients by the society. Studies in Nigeria reported that 53% of the women perceived themselves as rejected by the society (90,115). Many other studies quote different level of social rejection and isolation (29,73,76,110,116).

Often women with fistula might receive support in terms of food and shelter, but are segregated in the compound and are reported to sleep on their own, eat on their own and were not allowed to cook for others (2).

### **FIGURE 4**

Young primiparous woman with obstetric fistula from North Gondar zone in Ethiopia, divorced and a social outcast.



Kelly describes the plight of social isolation when he suggested first treating the blindness of a blind patient with fistula, she replied, "Cure my fistula first. If I am blind people will sit with me and talk to me, but no one will come near me because I'm wet and I smell" (88). The reduction of stigma remains a major challenge for public health programs for fistula (117).

Fistula patients were considered to have brought shame and dishonour to themselves and their families; a patient from Niger stated the level of dishonour as follows "I was the mockery of the village, people run away from me because of my odour" (113). Women with obstetric fistula, when they manage to sustain their marriage, often lose any other form of support (115).

Obstetric fistula is confused with a venereal disease by some, or regarded as a curse or punishment from God, views which are likely to contribute to moral stigma (29,118). In Burkina Faso, women with fistula were deprived of timely obstetric emergency care because those who anticipate childbirth complications were assumed to be guilty of adultery. Some reports indicated that society blames women for the condition, and some women even blame themselves, and this might add to further social stigma encountered (29).

About 33% of fistula patients in Nigeria were reported to be psychologically depressed, and an additional 51% were bitter about life (115). A qualitative case study of 53 VVF patients in Northern Nigeria examined psychological effect, anger, depression, and disappointment with life. The majority reported loss of self-esteem, and psychologically, they experienced stress and anxiety (119). Over
54% of these women reported suicidal ideation (84,118,120). In a hospital-based observational study of the mental health of fistula patients in Ethiopia and Bangladesh, women with fistula were found to be more likely than the controls (female hospital workers) to screen positive for probable mental health dysfunction: 97% (66/68) and 32% (9/28), respectively (121). Another study investigated psychosocial consequences of obstetric fistula among treated and untreated fistula patients identified through a national survey in Ethiopia (118). While treatment improved the women's family and social lives, some health, social, and sexual problems persisted. Depression was an issue, even for treated women (118).

#### 1.5.2 Marriage dissolution and partner rejection

Studies on marriage dissolution due to obstetric fistula were commonly reported (2,71,84–85,99). Many of these women were abandoned or divorced by their husbands, particularly when it became clear that the fistula persisted (2,71,85,99). The proportion of women abandoned by their husbands after obstetric fistula formation is reported to range between 14% in Zaire and Nigeria, and 15% in Zambia, to over 90% in Asia (53,71,122–123). About 25% women with fistula in Tanzania and 52% in Uganda were divorced, with almost all the separations resulting from their condition. Of the 20 women who were unmarried when they sustained fistula, 69% in Tanzania and all the women in Uganda remained single (85).

Often married women with fistula are sent back to their parents' home until they are cured, were not allowed to cook food (2,119), not allowed to participate in social events and not allowed to perform religious rituals (2,122). Ahmed and Holtz's meta-analysis showed that about 36% (95% CI: 27%–46%) of women were divorced/separated after developing obstetric fistula (112). The meta-analysis found that on average, 85% of these women lost their babies; however, other reports indicate that fetal loss can be as high as 95.5% (121).

Clearly, sexual and reproductive factors might have played a major role as a reason for abandonment by husbands. A study in Bangladesh examining the psycho-social consequences of obstetric fistula, reported that 33% of women claimed to have difficulty maintaining sexual relationships, 45% had delayed orgasm, 59% reported reduced frequency of coitus, and 52% of the husbands expressed loss of sexual pleasure (110). These findings are not surprising given the nature of the problem, and because vaginal stenosis might have resulted from obstructed labour and the subsequent fistula (3,9,73,84).

Infertility and loss of the child may be additional major components in the overall burden of obstetric fistula and its role in marriage dissolution. Stillbirth has been reported in up to 95% of neonates born to women with obstetric fistula (76,84).

Several studies reported that a large proportion of women with fistulas experienced amenorrhea at the time they were evaluated for care (29,84,99–100,124–126). However, none of the studies reviewed attempted to differentiate between postpartum amenorrhea and secondary amenorrhea.

Miscarriage after fistula is also reported to be high (127). The importance of having a child in order to sustain the marriage has been reported in a study in Zaria, Nigeria that brought attention to the fact that living children may reduce the risk of separation and divorce (2).

Another factor that might play a role in marriage sustainability is economic-related. A study undertaken in Addis Ababa found that women who owned property of value were less likely to be divorced by their husbands (73).

Some other reports however, indicate that despite decreases in sexual pleasure, or stigma and criticism from friends and family, some men remain with their wives, even in a community where divorce is common and acceptable (114). However, what encouraged these men to stay with their wives was not explored. It is also noteworthy that some women may successfully remarry, even with full disclosure of their condition (114).

#### 1.5.3 **Economic aspect and impoverishment**

Poverty also deprives women suffering from fistula from timely and appropriate treatment.

A study from a hospital in Zaria, Nigeria, indicated that over time, fistula women become a burden to their families. The family support in paying hospital fees dropped drastically over time. Of the long-term patients, 19% recalled that their husbands paid the fare on their first visit, but only 8% for subsequent attendance (2). Facing familial and social rejection, and unable to make a living by themselves, many women with fistula live for years without any financial or social support (85). Approximately 85% of women with obstetric fistula said that fistula rendered them unable to perform household chores, work on the farm, or engage in other income-generating activities and their income deteriorated (85). Many explained that they fell into extreme poverty. The study carried out at Addis Ababa hospital reported that 39% of women were dependent on relatives for food, and 22% had begged or lived on donations (71).

#### 1.5.4 **Post-surgical improvements in quality of life**

Although most of the reports were from case series, and the methods in these studies were of too low a level of strength to give strong conclusions, a sizable proportion of women were said to be returned to their husbands or got remarried after the treatment (90). Since the long-term follow up of patients was rarely undertaken and reported, the extent of reunion with husbands and remarriage is unknown. Due to extensive damage and subsequent fibrosis, a sizable proportion of women reported gynatresia and dyspareunia after repair (9,84,118). After surgery, a significant proportion of women who were amenorrhoeic reported the return of menses (125).

A large number of women were said to become pregnant after the repair (17,125,127–128). The proportion of newborns with low birth weight (LBW) was reported to be lower among the women with repair, compared to the women without repair (20.3% vs. 37.3%).

Lower urinary tract symptoms were reported to be common after successful anatomical closure of urogenital fistulas (129–132). Surgical treatment of obstetric fistula was reported to result in marked improvements in mental health, and despite suffering from stress or urgency incontinence, women reported improved quality of life and social reintegration after fistula closure (132–133).

#### Summary points

- Very few studies have systematically examined the impact and consequences of obstetric fistula, and strong evidence is lacking on impact, and knowledge remains limited
- However it was repeatedly documented that obstetric fistula leaves women with many severe social and psychological adverse effects
- Women with fistula were more likely to screen positive for probable mental health dysfunction than the controls
- Studies show marriage breakdown and social rejection due to obstetric fistula (134)
- Women with obstetric fistula have been reported to fall into extreme poverty after the problem and poverty deprives them from timely and appropriate treatment
- Women detailed marked improvement in quality of life and social reintegration after fistula closure, however with some residual health problems

### 1.6 Access to Care and Health Care-Seeking Behaviour of Women with Obstetric Fistula

Women with obstetric fistula report delay or difficulty in accessing essential care services such as emergency obstetric and obstetric fistula care services, mainly because of the long distances to reach care, poor transportation networks, lack of money, and because parturition is regarded as something that can be managed at home (2,14,47,73,76,91,135). Some of these women attributed obstetric fistula to God's curse, somebody's sin or evil spirits.

Only 21.1% of 899 women with obstetric fistula in Wall's series sought care after being in labour for about 24 hours; 97% of 91 women in Ndiaye's series had labour that lasted for more than 24 hours and 23.5% of 14,286 women with obstetric fistula treated at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital in Ethiopia had not given birth at the end of the 4th day during their index deliveries (3,76,135).

The proportion of fistula patients who accessed health institutions, for delivery, ranges from 8% in Kullima's series to 90% in Holme's series (1,8,14,21–22,33,71–73,75–76,79,93,99–101,135); in Ijaiya's series 33 (89.2%) reported to have had poorly supervised deliveries, however, there is no clear description of supervision where, what and by whom (21). In most of these women that accessed health care services for unrelieved obstructed labour, it had already caused damage to the mother and the fetus (8,22,47,76,79,94,98). Traditional birth attendants were called, local healers were consulted and local drug shops were visited before the decision was made to use modern health care services (47).

The average time lost before the decision to visit a health institution for obstructed labour (for those women accessed through community survey) was three to four days and for some of these women in rural Ethiopia, the difficult journey to a health institution with comprehensive emergency obstetric care services took as long as 48 hours (47,118).

The only case control (observational) study published, examined the hypothesis "vesicovaginal fistula patients have less contact with the orthodox health care system and prefer the traditional forms of maternal care compared to non-vesicovaginal fistula women" showed no substantive difference between VVF patients and non-VVF women in their utilization of both the orthodox health care services and the traditional forms of childbirth (98). The data suggest that both groups of women preferred the traditional health delivery system and only when the VVF patients experienced obstructed labour and when the obstruction went unrelieved, they ended up at the hospital, as an emergency case. The control group had no complications and therefore delivered at home with a traditional birth attendant (98).

Reported average duration of labour among women who had obstetric fistula ranges from 1.6 days (38 hours) to 4 days (1,18,33,47 71–73,79,90,99,135). Uniform in all these reports is that there is no description of the method used to characterize (define) the onset of established labour (1,3,73,76,105,135). However, the experience of women in obstructed labour and the pathologic defect observed among fistula patients support the story of the long suffering experienced by these women in labour.

A number of obstacles have been reported as constraints that prevent the timely access to emergency obstetric care services during index delivery, and include geographical distance, financial constraints, lack of family support, wanting to try traditional remedies first, perception of childbirth as a natural event, lack of permission, insufficient information about facility-based delivery, and fear of bad treatment by staff (3,35,73,76,85,87,101,105,135–136).

Delay in seeking medical care is as equally important as lack of good quality services in resourcepoor settings where women commonly access and receive poor quality delivery and postpartum care due to the lack of a facility with essential EmOC services; lack of equipment, supplies, medications and severely limited human resources (8). Most literature reports institutional deliveries ignoring the capacity of health institutions visited and the interventions done to relieve the obstruction. Based on a few reported caesarean section rates, the percentage of caesarean deliveries performed, to end an obstructed labour that caused a fistula, varies from 6.7% of the 1443 women in Tahzib's series to 50.2% of the 259 women in Holme's series (8,13,76,78,99,101,135). Among 116 women interviewed at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital, 9 women (7.7%) had hysterectomy for ruptured uterus from neglected obstructed labour (78).

Women who could access fistula care services are those who had information and those who could overcome financial, social and geographical constraints (8,47,85,114). A report from Nigeria indicates that women travel distances up to 1,000 miles for fistula treatment, and the average delay was 61.5 months (1). Unreachable patients often remain inaccessible (8,114); those women who did not seek surgical repair but were accessed through community surveys explained that this was largely because they could not reach or afford the limited services available, did not know where to go, or were unaware that repair was possible (8,47,85,118). According to community- and facility-based

surveys in Tanzania and Uganda, the median length of time living with fistula for women recruited at community level was five years, compared with one year for women recruited at facilities (85). Women with a longer duration of suffering with fistula also had a longer duration of labour (8).

The average number of years of suffering for women, who accessed fistula care services, ranges from 8 months in a series of 14,829, from Ethiopia, to 5.3 years in a series of 80 patients in Nigeria (3,47,101,105). However for those could not access fistula care services and were identified through community surveys, the average time of suffering with the problem was eight years in rural Ethiopia and five years in Tanzania/Uganda (47,85).

For those women who accessed health institutions, their families expended significant amounts of money and time to access treatment, and funds were frequently raised by selling land and livestock (85).

All 41 cases reported from South Africa had sought care by 4 months, but about 73% of 899 women in Nigeria, and 21% of 14,928 women lived with obstetric fistula for over 12 months before seeking fistula care services (3,76,137). Those women with either a VVF alone or in combination with RVF were seen earlier than those women with RVF alone (5).

The proportion of women with obstetric fistula who attended antenatal care (ANC), during index delivery, ranges from 10% to 84% (3,76,85,105). The report from East Africa, which involved participants from Tanzania and Uganda, reported that 84% of the women said they had attended at least two antenatal care visits, but indicated that there were no hemoglobin tests, blood group assessments, urine analyses, syphilis screening, or voluntary counselling and testing for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). In Tanzania, only 53% of the women reported being weighed, in Uganda, 31% of women reported receiving immunization services. Less than 10% said that they had had their blood pressures checked or were weighed and only 15% reported that the health worker listened for the fetal heartbeat. These women said they were given only limited explanations as to why they should deliver at a facility (85).

Moreover, access to a health institution was reported to be a major problem for fistula patients, mainly because of the long distances to reach care, poor transportation networks, lack of money, perception that childbirth is a natural event, lack of family support, lack of permission, wanting to try traditional remedies first, insufficient information about facility-based delivery, and fear of bad treatment by staff (73,85).

#### Summary points

- Reports on access to health care services rarely differentiate between lack of healthseeking behaviour and lack of service
- Most reports are descriptions of women's experience and difficulty accessing essential care services
- Reports on the duration of labour are based on women's self-assessment of the time of onset of active labour, which might be variable and might not be precisely known (138)
- Very few reports indicate interventions made to overcome the obstruction of labour
- Access to a health institution was reported to be a major problem for fistula patients, mainly due to long distances, poor transportation, lack of money, lack of support and permission, insufficient information, and fear of poor quality care

### 1.7 Conclusion and Recommendations

Empirical and reliable data on the epidemiology of obstetric fistulas are limited. However, due to growing interest in addressing the issue, a number of recent publications on the topic have appeared, though most are still low-level evidence. Most publications are based on case series, with some case-controlled studies, although with various levels of methodological strength (level 3). Only one community-level prospective study on the incidence of obstetric fistula (level 2) has been published. There are a few facility-based prospective studies (25–27,32), and retrospective record-reviews among studies with level 3 evidence have to be used to estimate the incidence range of obstetric fistula. Similarly, for prevalence estimates, there are a few available community surveys and very few case-control studies (level 3) have been used to analyze frequently reported risk factors. Expert experiences and critical views or opinions have had to be included, in view of the absence of better quality data (level 4).

#### 1.7.1 Magnitude and distribution of obstetric fistula

Reliable research on the burden of disease is lacking (139). Representative data to make a global estimate of the prevalence of obstetric fistula does not exist and validated symptom-based case definitions should be established to obtain multi-country representative data to enable the global estimate of the burden of the problem. Qualitative validation studies are necessary to determine the sensitivity and specificity associated with this kind of question in national health surveys; however, there will always be some level of problem with precision in any attempt to measure the prevalence of this particular morbidity using self-reports. Pelvic exams are unlikely to be introduced into major nationally representative surveys, given the expense and the lack of trained local health care providers who are available and qualified to identify VVF and RVF. The development of a validated symptom-based diagnostic tool is highly recommended. The Data, Indicators, and Research subgroup of the larger International Obstetric Fistula Working Group (IOFWG) met in October 2006 and adopted an approach to survey-based data collection for obstetric fistula. This is available in the DHS analytical study by Johnson and Peterman (43).

Prevalence estimates obtained from national community surveys were more consistent across studies from Asia, West Africa and East Africa. There is a need for more national level community-based prevalence studies from different regions of developing countries using validated survey methodology using validated symptom-based instruments or case ascertainment by clinical evaluation.

In developing countries, a vast majority of women deliver at home and institution-based study results may not be generalized to the entire population. Available facility-based incidence estimates are inconsistent and biased. There is only a single community based prospective study available on the incidence rate of obstetric fistula for West African countries. Prospective longitudinal community based studies are strongly needed to estimate the incidence of obstetric fistula and to describe the proportion of different forms of obstetric fistula and the risk factors associated with these different forms.

The geographic coverage of studies on obstetric fistula is limited to only a few countries. There is a need for more epidemiological research from different countries and continents of developing countries, and a need for good documentation and reporting of the very few cases of obstetric fistula from developed countries, to enable the precise knowledge of the distribution and magnitude from a research perspective. This should include the prevalence of different types of obstetric fistula including the prevalence of anal sphincter damage from obstetric causes; the issues of anal sphincter function in obstetric fistula patients have still to be addressed.

#### 1.7.2 **Causes and potential risk factors**

There is insignificant evidence on the influence (association) and level of association of different demographic, social, economic and cultural parameters, as potential risk factors and protective factors for obstetric fistula. There are few studies that quantify the strength of associations using relative risks and odds ratios with confidence limits.

There is a need for more observational studies (analytical studies) with advanced epidemiological analyses of risk factors (multivariate analysis) controlling for potential confounders. Reporting of such observational studies should follow observational research-reporting guidelines. The STROBE (**ST**rengthening of the **R**eporting of **OB**servational studies in Epidemiology) is a checklist of points that should be included in observational study articles and the use of this checklist is recommended (140).

There is very little documented evidence about the actual labour causing the pelvic damage and corresponding fistula, and no clear descriptions of uterine activity during obstructed labours. There is a need for high quality basic research and the need to link clinical observations and intervention studies to the laboratory sciences. With respect to the pathophysiology of obstructed labour, there are scientific questions which need to be addressed, and this might shed light on the dilemma of objectively ascertaining whether the fistula occurs due to obstructed labour or from interventions made to relieve the obstruction.

An observational study examining normal patterns of urination in labour could illuminate the significance of urination difficulties and its association with postpartum consequences.

The relationship between low-income or "unattended" delivery and the occurrence of obstetric fistula seems not to be universal. Although poorly documented, African countries and Southeast Asia appear to be more afflicted than disadvantaged populations in the Americas or other parts of the world, suggesting other factors being in play (e.g. ethnic background, nutrition). This is an area recommended for further exploration.

#### 1.7.3 Impacts, consequences and health-seeking behaviour

There is little evidence on the level of association of the various impacts or consequences mentioned with the problem (obstetric fistula). There is a need for more observational studies on the issue and a need for the reporting of these studies to follow the standard reporting guideline (140).

Fistula patients, incontinent to urine and/or feces, are often ostracized by the family and community, and their presence in the household or community might not be reported by others, hence underestimating the magnitude of the problem. Prevalence or incidence rates in obstetric fistula patients might be sensitive to the perception and attitude of the respondent about obstetric fistula. The stigma that can surround the condition might preclude accurate estimates of the prevalence and incidence of the condition. Hence, the data collection instruments need to have that power to persuade and convince respondents (objective and benefits-oriented tools are essential), so that accurate reporting occurs.

This review has indicated that the occurrence of obstetric fistula is a reflection of a variety of inadequacies, as the women had been in labour at home for days before reaching health institutions, lacking information, transportation, support, economic resources and appropriate health care services. However, observational studies comparing the situation of other women without obstetric fistula from a similar community are hardly available. Hence, there is a need for observational studies addressing this issue.

### 1.8 References

- 1. Hilton P, Ward A. Epidemiological and surgical aspects of urogenital fistulae: a review of 25 years' experience in southeast Nigeria. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct 1998;9:189–94.
- 2. Murphy M. Social consequences of vesico-vaginal fistula in Northern Nigeria. J Biosocial Scie. 1981;13:139–50.
- 3. Muleta M, Rasmussen S, Kiserud T. Obstetric fistula in 14,928 Ethiopian women. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2010;89:945–51.
- 4. Jokhio A, Kelly J. Obstetric fistulas in rural Pakistan. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2006;95:288–9.
- Carpenter K, Beavis S, Hamlin R, Nicholson E, Williams G. Recto-vaginal and vesico-vaginal fistulas in Ethiopia. J Obstet Gynaecol. 1992;12:3842.
- 6. Dolea C, C A. Global burden of obstructed labour in the year 2000: WH02003.
- 7. Kelly J. Outreach programmes for obstetric fistulae. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2004;24:117-8.
- 8. Tahzib F. Epidemiological determinants of vesicovaginal fistulas. Br J Obstet Gynecol. 1983;90:387–91.
- 9. Wall L. Obstetric vesicovaginal fistula as an international public-health problem. Lancet. 2006;368:1201–9.
- 10. Genadrya R, Creangab A, Roenneburgc M, Wheelessa C. Complex obstetric fistula. Internat J Gynecol Obstet. 2007;99:551–6.
- 11. Coetzee T, Lithgow D. Obstetric fistulae of the urinary tract. BJOG. 1966;73:837-44.
- 12. Naidu P. Vesicovaginal fistulae: an experience with 208 cases. BJOG. 1962;69:311-6.
- Rijken Y, Chilopora G. Urogenital and recto-vaginal fistulas in southern Malawi: A report on 407 patients. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99:585–9.
- 14. Kelly J, Kwast B. Epidemiologic study of vesico-vaginalfistulas in Ethiopia. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 1993;4:278–81.
- 15. Singh S, Chandhiok N, Dhillon B. Obstetric fistula in India: current scenario. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2009;20:1403–5.
- Amber P, Johnson K. Incontinence and trauma: Sexual violence, female genital cutting and proxy measures of gynecological fistula. Social Science & Medicine. 2009;68:971–9.
- 17. Hilton P. Vesico-vaginal fistulas in developing countries. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2003;82:285–95.
- Sachdev P, Hassan N, Abbasi R, Das C. Genito-urinary fistula: a major morbidity in developing countries. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2009;21:8–11.
- Danso K, Martey J, Wall L, Elkins T. The epidemiology of genitourinary fistulae in Fumasi, Ghana, 1977–1992. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor. 1996;7:117–20.
- 20. Ghazala S, Mohammad S, Nadra S. Obstetric trauma is the commonest cause of urogenital fistulae. Rawal Med J. 2008;33:197–200.
- 21. Ijaiya M, Aboveii P. Obstetric urogenital fistula: the Illorin experience, Nigeria. WAJM. 2004;23:7–9.
- 22. Kullima A, Audu B, Bukar M, Kawuwa M, Mairiga A, Bako B. Vesicovaginal fistula (VVF): A shift in epidemiology in Northeastern Nigeria. EMJ. 2009;8:10–4.
- Prual A, Bouvier-Colle MH, Bernis Ld, Breart G. Severe maternal morbidity from direct obstetric causes in West Africa: incidence and case fatality rates. Bull World Health Organ. 2000;78:593–602.
- 24. Vangeenderhuysen C, Prual A, Joud D. Obstetric fistulae: incidence estimates for sub-Saharan Africa. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2001;73:65–6.
- Harrison K. Child-bearing, health, and social priorities: A survey of 22,774 consecutive deliveries in Zaria, northern Nigeria. BJOG. 1985;92(S5):1–119.
- Ozumba B, Uchegbu H. Incidence and management of obstructed labour in eastern Nigeria. Austral New Zeal J Obstet Gynaecol. 1991;31:213–6.
- 27. Prual A, Huguet D, Garbin O, Rabé G. Severe obstetric morbidity of the third trimester, delivery and early puerperium in Niamey (Niger). Afr J Reprod Health 1998;2:10–9.

- Ekanem E, Ekanem A, Ekabua J, Etuk S, Essiet A. Review of obstetrics genito-urinary fistulae in the University of Calabar Teaching Hospital Calabar, Nigeria. Niger J Clin Pract. 2010;13:326–30.
- 29. Wall L. Dead mothers and injured wives: the social context of maternal morbidity and mortality among the Hausa of northern Nigeria. Stud Fam Plann. 1998;29:341–59.
- 30. Fronczak N, Arifeen S, Moran A, Caulfield L, Baqui A. Delivery practices of traditional birth attendants in Dhaka slums, Bangladesh. J Health Popul Nutr. 2007;25:479–87.
- 31. Orji E, Aduloju O, Orji V. Correlation and impact of obstetric fistula on motherhood. J Chin Clin Med. 2007;2:449–54.
- 32. Ali A, Ada I. Maternal and perinatal outcomes of obstructed labour in Kassala Hospital. Sudan J Obstet Gynaecol. 2010;30:376–7.
- Gessessew A, Mesfin M. Genitourinary and rectovaginal fistulae in Adigrat Zonal Hospital, Tigray, north Ethiopia. Ethiop Med J. 2003;41:123–30.
- 34. Browning A. Obstetric fistula in Ilorin, Nigeria. PLoS Med. 2004;1(1):e2.
- 35. Cook R, Dickens B, Syed: S. Obstetric fistula: the challenge to human rights. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2004;87:72–7.
- 36. Donnay F, Weil L. Obstetric fistula: the international response. Lancet. 2004;363:71–2.
- 37. Waaldijk K, Armiya'u Y. The obstetric fistula: a major public health problem still unsolved. Int Urogynecol J. 1993;4:126-8.
- AbouZahr C. Prolonged and obstructed labor. In: Murray C, Lopez A, editors. The health dimensions of sex and reproduction: the global burden of sexually transmitted diseases and HIV, maternal conditions, perinatal disorders and congenital anomalies. Boston: Harvard University Press; 1998. p. 242–66.
- 39. Phoya A, Kang'oma S. Maternal and child health Malawi Demographic Health Survey. 2004:133–61.
- 40. Fortney J, Smith J. Measuring maternal morbidity. In: Berer M, Ravindran T, editors. Safe motherhood initiatives: Critical issues: Reproductive Health Matters; 1999. p. 43–50.
- 41. Fronczak N, Antelman G, Moran AC, Caulfield LE, Baqui AH. Delivery-related complications and early postpartum morbidity in Dhaka, Bangladesh. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2005;91:271–8.
- 42. Johnson K. Incontinence in Malawi: analysis of a proxy measure of vaginal fistula in a national survey. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2007;99:S122-S9.
- 43. Johnson K, Peterman A. Incontinence data from the demographic and health surveys: comparative analysis of a proxy measurement of vaginal fistula and recommendations for future population-based data collection. Calverton, Maryland: USA: Macro International Inc2008.
- 44. Authority OCS. Ethiopia demographic and health survey. 2005.
- 45. Kalilani-Phiri L, Umar E, Lazaro D, Lunguzi J, Chilungo A. Prevalence of obstetric fistula in Malawi. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics. 2010;109:204–8.
- 46. Walz NK, Faruqul M, Begum A, Sultana N, Sarker S, Faisel AJ. Situation analysis of Obstetric Fistula in Bangladesh: Engender Health 2003.
- 47. Muleta M, Fantahun M, Tafesse B, Hamlin E, Kennedy R. Obstetric fistula in rural Ethiopia. East Afr Med J 2007;84:525–33.
- 48. Rosenberg K, Trevathan W. Bipedalism and human birth: the obstetrical dilemma revisited. Evol Anthropol Issues News Views. 2001;4:161–8.
- 49. Wittman A, Wall L. The evolutionary origins of obstructed labor: bipedalism, encephalization, and the human obstetric dilemma. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 2007;62:739–48.
- 50. Egeland P, Gjøen J, Trovik J, Kiserud T. Uro- and enterovaginal fistulas. idsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2007;127:417–20.
- 51. Langkilde N, Pless T, Lundbeck F, Nerstrøm B. Surgical repair of vesicovaginal fistulae, a ten-year study. Scand J Urol Nephrol 1999;33:100–3.
- 52. Kunda M. Finding fistula patients in Asia. 2007.
- 53. Cottingham J, Royston E. Obstetric fistulae: a review of available information. 1991 Contract No.: (WHO/ MCH/MSM91.5).
- 54. Raymond A, Symmonds R, Williams T. Current status of genitourinary fistula. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1988;72:313-9.

- Tancer M. Observations on prevention and management of vesicovaginal fistula after total hysterectomy. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1992;175:501–6.
- 56. Arora P, Mullan C, Lawton V. Post-caesarean vesico-uterine fistula leading to puerperal sepsis. J Obstet Gynaecol 2010;30:415.
- 57. Ruiz-Tovar J, Morales-Castiñeirasc V, May-Jun, EL-MCC. Postoperative complications of colon surgery. Cir Cir. 2010;78:281-8.
- 58. Sung V, Rogers R, Schaffer J, Balk E, Uhlig K, Lau J, *et al.* Graft use in transvaginal pelvic organ prolapse repair: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 2008;112:1131–42.
- 59. Latthe P, Foon R, Toozs-Hobson P. Transobturator and retropubic tape procedures in stress urinary incontinence: a systematic review and meta-analysis of effectiveness and complications. BJOG. 2007;114:522–31.
- Biewenga P, Mutsaerts M, Stalpers L, Buist M, Schilthuis M, Velden J. Can we predict vesicovaginal or rectovaginal fistula formation in patients with stage IVA cervical cancer? Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20:471–5.
- 61. Arias B, Ridgewa B, DBarber M. Complications of neglected vaginal pessaries: case presentation and literature review. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19:1173–8.
- 62. DiMarco C, DiMarco D, Klingele J, Gebhart J. Vesicouterine fistula: a review of eight cases. Int Urogynecol J 2006;17:395–9.
- 63. Ramos N, Requena J, Martínez A, Hernández J, Ponce N. Vesico-uterine fistula, a rare complication of caesarean section. Actas Urol Esp. 2003 27:244–7.
- Browning A, Allsworth B, Jenifer E, Wall L. The Relationship Between Female Genital Cutting and Obstetric Fistulae. Obstet Gynecol. 2010;115:578–83.
- 65. Alabi E. Cultural practices in Nigeria. Newsl Inter Afr Comm Tradit Pract Affect Health Women Child. 1990;Sect. 6-7.
- 66. Kelly J. Vesicovaginal and rectovaginal fistulae. J Royal Soc Med. 1992;85:257–8.
- 67. Longombe A, Claude K, Ruminjo J. Fistula and traumatic genital injury from sexual violence in a conflict setting in Eastern Congo: case studies. Reprod Health Matters. 2008;16:132–41.
- 68. Muleta M, Williams G. Postcoital injuries treated at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital, 1991–1997. Lancet. 1999;354:2051–2.
- 69. Arrowsmith S. Genitourinary reconstruction in obstetric fistulas. J Urol 1994;152:403-6.
- Dolly C, Sebanti G, Sudhir A, Mamtaz. S. Analysis of vesicovaginal fistulas in Eden Hospital a 10 year study. J Obstet Gynecol India 2007;57:139–41.
- 71. Kelly J. Ethiopia: an epidemiological study of vesico-vaginal fistula in Addis Ababa. 1995.
- Muleta M. Obstetric fistulae: a retrospective study of 1210 cases at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital. J Obstet Gynaecol. 1997;17:68–70.
- 73. Muleta M. Socio-demographic profile and obstetric experience of fistula patients managed at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital. Ethiop Med J. 2004;42(1):9–16.
- 74. Obi S, Ozumba B, Onyebuchi A. Decreasing incidence and changing aetiological factors of vesico-vaginal fistula in south-east Nigeria. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2008;28:629–31.
- Raassen T, Verdaasdonk E, Vierhout M. Prospective results after first-time surgery for obstetric fistulas in East African women. Int Urogynecol J. 2008;19:73–9.
- Wall L, AKarshima J, Kirschner C, Arrowsmith S. The obstetric vesicovaginal fistula: characteristics of 899 patients from Jos, Nigeria. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004;190:1011–9.
- 77. Amr M. Vesico-vaginal fistula in Jordan. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1998;80:201–3.
- 78. Goh J. Genital tract fistula repair on 116 women. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 1998;38:158–61.
- Ibrahim T, Sadiq A, Daniel S. Characteristics of VVF patients as seen at the specialist hospital Sokoto, Nigeria. West Afr J Med. 2000;19(1):59–63.
- 80. Lawson J. Rectovaginal fistula following difficult labor. 1972.
- Murray C, Goh J, Fynes M, Craey M. Urinary and faecal incontinence following delayed primary repair of obstetric genital fistula. BJOG. 2002;109:828–32.

- Onsrud M, Sjøveian S, Luhiriri R, Mukwege D. Sexual violence-related fistulas in the Democratic Republic of Congo. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2008;103:265–9.
- 83. Freedman D. From association to causation: some remarks on the history of statistics. Statist Sci. 1999;14(3):243-58.
- Arrowsmith S, Hamlin E, Wall L. Obstructed labor injury complex: obstetric fistula formation and the multifaceted morbidity of maternal birth trauma in the developing world. Obstet Gynecol Surv 1996;51:568–74.
- Bangser M, Mehta M, Singer J, Daly C, Kamugumya C, Mwangomale A. Childbirth experiences of women with obstetric fistula in Tanzania and Uganda and their implications for fistula program development. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct 2011;22:91–8.
- 86. Hassen MA, Ekele BA. Vesicovaginal fistula: do the patients know the cause. Annals of African Medicine. 2009;8(2):122-6.
- 87. Bangser M. Strengthenning public health priority set ting through research on fistula, maternal health and health inequalities. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99:S16-S20.
- 88. Kelly J. Vesico-vaginal and recto-vaginal fistulae. J Obstet Gynaecol. 1998;18:249-51.
- 89. Ampfo K, O T, Uchebo G. Epidemiology of vesicovaginal fistulae in Northern Nigeria. West Afr J Med. 1990;9:98–102.
- 90. Gharoro E, Agholor K. Aspects of psychosocial problems of patients with vesico-vaginal fistula. Agholor J Obstet Gynaecol. 2009;29:644–7.
- 91. Haile A. Fistula a socio-medical problem. Ethiop Med J. 1983;21:71-8.
- 92. Liskin L. Maternal morbidity in developing countries: a review and comments. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1992;37:77–8.
- Meyer L, Ascher-Walsh CJ, Norman R, et al. Commonalities among women who developed vesicovaginal fistulae as a result of obstetric trauma in Niger: results from a survey given at the National Hospital Fistula Center, Niamey, Niger. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2007;197:90.e1-.e4.
- Tebeu P, Bernis L, Doh A, Rochat C, Delvaux T. Risk factors for obstetric fistula in the Far North Province of Cameroon. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2009;107:12–5.
- Mathur R, Joshi N, Aggarwal G, et al. Urogenital fistulae: A prospective study of 50 cases at a tertiary care hospital. Urology annals. 2010;2(2):67–70.
- 96. Konje J, Ladipo O. Nutrition and obstructed labour. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000;72:291S-7S.
- 97. Lawson J. Vaginal fistulas. J Royal Soc Med. 1992;85:254-6.
- Onolemhemhen D, Ekwempu C. An investigation of sociomedical risk factors associated with vaginal fistula in northern Nigeria. Women Health. 1999;28:103–6.
- 99. Gharoro E, Abedi H. Vesico-vaginal fistula in Benin City, Nigeria. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 1999;64:313-4.
- 100. Ghatak D. A study of urinary fistulae in Sokoto, Nigeria. J Indian Med Assoc. 1992;90:285-7.
- 101. Holme A, Breen M, MacArthur C. Obstetric fistulae: a study of women managed at the Monze Mission Hospital, Zambia. BJOG. 2007;114:1010–7.
- 102. Neilson J, Lavender T, Quenby S, Wray S. Obstructed labour. Br Med Bull. 2003;67:191–204.
- 103. Tsui A, Creanga A, Ahmed S. The role of delayed childbearing in the prevention of obstetric fistulas. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2007;99:S98-S107.
- 104. Audu B, Kullima A, Bako B. Epidemiology of vesico-vaginal fistula: no longer a calamity of teenagers. J Obstet Gynaecol 2008;28:432-3.
- Melah G, Massa A, Yahaya U, Bukar M, Kizaya D, El-Nafaty A. Risk factors for obstetric fistulae in north-eastern Nigeria. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2007;27:819–23.
- 106. Aitken W, Walls B. Maternal height and cephalo-pelvic disproportion in SierraLeone. Trop Doc. 1986;16:132-4.
- 107. Camilleri A. The obstetric significance of short stature. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1981;12:347–56.
- Sokal D, Sawadogo L, Adjibade A. Short stature and cephalopelvic disproportion in Burkina Faso, West Africa. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1991;35:347–50.

- 109. Tsu V. Maternal height and age: risk factors for cephalopelvic disproportion in Zimbabwe. Int J Epidemiol 1992;21:941-7.
- 110. Islam A, Begum A. A psycho-social study on genito-urinary fistula. Bangladesh Med Res Counc Bull. 1992;18:82–94.
- 111. Dujardin B, Cutsem R, Lambrechts T. Maternal height as a risk factor for dystocia:a meta-analysis. Tropical Medicine and International Health. 1996;1:510–21.
- 112. Ahmed S, Holtz. S. Social and economic consequences of obstetric fistula: Life changed forever? Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99:S10-S5.
- 113. Alio A, Merrell L, Roxburgh K, Clayton H, JMarty P, Bomboka L, *et al.* The psychosocial impact of vesico-vaginal fistula in Niger. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2011;284:371–8.
- Marissa Y, Chipetab E, Tauloc F, Tsuid A. The lived experience of Malawian women with obstetric fistula. Culture, Health & Sexuality 2009;11:499–513.
- 115. Kabir M, Iliyasu Z, Abubakar IS, Umar UI. Medico-social problems of patients with vesico-vaginal fistula in Murtala Mohammed Specialist Hospital, Kano. Annals of African Medicine. 2004;2(2):54–7.
- 116. Mselle LT, Moland KM, Olsen BE, Mvungi A, Kohi TW. "I am nothing": experiences of loss among women suffering from severe birth injuries in Tanzania. BMC Womens Health 2011;11:49.
- 117. Bangser M. Obstetric fistula and stigma. Lancet. 2006;367(9509):535-6.
- 118. Muleta M, Hamlin E, Fantahun M, Kennedy R, Tafesse B. Health and social problems encountered by treated and untreated obstetric fistula patients in rural Ethiopia. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2008;30(44–50):44.
- 119. Ojanuga D. "Preventing birth injury among women in Africa: case studies in northern Nigeria." Am J Orthopsychiatry. 1991;61(4):533-9.
- 120. Weston K, Mutiso S, Mwangi JW, Qureshi Z, Beard J, Venkat P. Depression among women with obstetric fistula in Kenya. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2011;115(1):31–3.
- Goh JT, Sloane KM, Krause HG, Browning A, Akhter S. Mental health screening in women with genital tract fistulae. BJOG. 2005;112(9):1328–30.
- 122. Lendon S. Early marriage of girls in Niger. Dev Bull. 2001;56:77–9.
- Wall L, Arrowsmith S, Briggs N, Lassey A. Urinary incontinence in the developing world: The obstetric fistula. Paris, France; 2001.
- 124. Elkins T. Surgery for the obstetric vesicovaginal fistula: a review of 100 operations in 82 patients. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1994;170:1108–18.
- 125. Evoh N, Akinla O. Reproductive performance after the repair of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulae. Ann Clin Res. 1978;10:303-6.
- 126. Ezegwui H, Nwogu-Ikojo E. Vesico-vaginal fistula in Eastern Nigeria. BJOG. 2005;25:589–91.
- 127. Emembolu J. The obstetric fistula: factors associated with improved pregnancy outcome after a successful repair. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1992;39:205–2012.
- 128. Otubu J, Kumi G, Ezem B. Pregnancy and delivery after successful repair of vesicovaginal fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 1982;20:163–36.
- 129. Browning A. Risk factors for developing residual urinary incontinence after obstetric fistula repair. BJOG. 2006;113:482–5.
- 130. Browning A, Menber B. Women with obstetric fistula in Ethiopia: a 6-month follow up after surgical treatment. BJOG. 2008;115:1564–9.
- 131. Dolan L, Dixon W, Hilton P. Urinary symptoms and quality of life in women following urogenital fistula repair: a long-term follow-up study. BJOG. 2008;115:1570–4.
- 132. Nielsen H, Lindberg L, Nygaard U, Aytenfisu H, OJohnston, Sørensen B, *et al.* A community- based long-term follow up of women undergoing obstetric fistula repair in rural Ethiopia. BJOG. 2009;116:1258–64.
- Browning A, Fentahun M, Goh J. The impact of surgical treatment on the mental health of women with obstetric fistula. BJOG. 2007;114:1439–41.

- 134. Tinuola F, Okau A. Perceived causes of obstetric fistula: data from women of reproductive age in Nigeria. Euro J Soc Scie. 2009;10:36-44.
- 135. Ndiaye P, Kini G, Adama F, Idrissa A, Tal-Dia A. Obstetric urogenital fistula (OUGF): cost analysis at the Niamey National Hospital (Niger). Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique 2009;57:374–9.
- 136. Parveen A. Factors delaying the management leads to obstructed labour 100 cases survey in Khyber Teaching Hospital, Peshawar. J Med Scie. 2006;14:60–5.
- 137. Ramphal S, Kalane G, Fourie T, Moodley J. Obstetric urinary fistulas in KwaZulu-Natal what is the extent of this tragedy? SAJ0G. 2007;13:92–6.
- 138. Gross M, Hecker H, Matterne A, Guenter H, Keirse M. Does the way that women experience the onset of labour influence the duration of labour? BJOG. 2006;113:289–94.
- 139. Zheng A, Anderson F. Obstetric fistula in low-income countries. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2009;104:85–9.
- 140. Elm E, Altman D, Egger M, *et al.* Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. BMJ. 2007;335:806–8.

# Committee



## Vesicovaginal Fistula Prevention

#### CHAIR

Catherine deVries, United States Alice Emasu, Uganda

#### MEMBERS

Maggy Bangser, Tanzania Seth Cochran, United States Sunday Lengmang, Nigeria Lyn Lusi, Congo Fred Kirya, Uganda

# Committee

# CONTENTS

2

### Vesicovaginal Fistula Prevention

2.1	Overview	43
2.2	Why Prevention?	44
2.3	Categories of Prevention	46
	2.3.1 Haddon matrix applied to vesicovaginal fistula	47
	2.3.2 The three phases of delay	47
2.4	Individual Risk	49
2.5	Measuring Burden of Disease	51
2.6	Tools for Designing and Implementing	
	Preventative Strategies	52
2.7	Best Practice Examples: Projects That Work	53
2.8	Future Goals for Prevention	55
2.9	Recommendations	56
2.10	References	57

"If the people see the service as meaningful to their lives; if it is compatible with their norms and values, if they feel a sense of ownership, and support from people they respect, then there will be an incentive and motivation to maintain it."

– Paul Basch, 1999. (1)

### 2.1 **Overview**

Obstetric vesicovaginal fistula (VVF or OF) is a complication of prolonged, obstructed labour in childbirth. The extent of the problem in affected countries has yet to be fully documented, as these data are either not collected by the health system or patients may fail to seek treatment. Vesicovaginal fistula is the commonest of the various types of obstetric fistula, the others being: recto-vaginal fistula (RVF) and urethro-vaginal fistula (UVF). Preventing VVF is part of a larger goal of safe childbirth–safe for the mother, and safe for the child. It is a "disease" of poverty, a clear marker of the failure of political, social and health systems to protect and promote women's health and their health rights. In developed countries with strong medical infrastructure and social support for prenatal care, labour and delivery, VVF is only seen as an iatrogenic complication of hysterectomy or other pelvic surgery, or of radiation for cervical cancer. Prevention is ultimately linked to prevention of maternal mortality from all causes, and also linked to prevention of infant and child mortality. VVF is largely seen in poor countries and regions where access to appropriate prenatal and obstetric care and family planning are limited, including rural areas and dense population centres marked by extreme poverty (2).

The Millennium Development Goals (MDG), adopted by the UN to improve global health and development, set an agenda to reduce maternal mortality by three quarters between 1990 and 2015. The particular goal addressing maternal health is Goal 5, also known as MDG5. In wealthy nations, the risk of maternal death in childbirth is 1:5,600 or less. Yet, in many countries in sub-Saharan Africa, the risk of mortality is as high as 1 in 30 (3). Health care and maternity care is linked to the availability of financial resources to the individual, community or country; as these improve, risk of VVF diminishes. Therefore, it is useful to look at components of prevention broadly in addition to looking at specific factors that can mitigate risk for a particular woman. One key to prevention is family planning. In wealthy regions, family planning is available by choice to individuals; in others, like China, it is actively encouraged or enforced. However, in the years between 2000 and 2008, external aid for family planning in sub-Saharan Africa decreased substantially and is now lower than it was in 2000 (3).

## 2.2 Why Prevention?

From the medical and public health point of view, prevention or mitigation of disease reduces the overall burden of pain and suffering, not just to the patient herself, but to her family and to the entire community. In many parts of the world, history has shown that improvements in systematic functionality reduce the incidence of maternal death and disability. Systemic improvements also address interlocking social and economic inequities such as the low status of women, lack of education for girls, early marriage and pregnancy, malnutrition, poverty, inadequate health and transportation infrastructure and harmful traditional practices such as female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM/C) (4). "Safe Motherhood" and the systems that support it can be considered to be a human right. It can also be considered as an economic policy and as an element of security strategy.

Some components of public health practice, such as campaigns to raise awareness about the special nutritional needs of female children to prevent chronic malnutrition and to improve the physical maturity of young mothers, are part of holistic prevention strategies. It is useful to review them since sustainable improvement requires a systems change, not just action at an individual or local level. The cost benefit of prevention can be measured and has been quantified in terms of the DALY (5), or disability-adjusted life year. In terms of prevention, the measure is the cost per DALY averted. This measurement allows policy makers and funders to consider the relative allocation of limited resources to programs that actually have measured benefit. Even problems that are ultimately resolved by surgery can be addressed in terms of multilevel prevention.

Vesicovaginal fistula can be considered to have both direct and indirect causes. Indirect causes of obstetric fistula are: poverty, poor social status, long distance to medical care, high levels of illiteracy, and poor or lack of public-health education. The deficiency of quantitative information about these causes is a major obstacle in advocacy, coordination, and the implementation of prevention strategies. The formation of national policies is a major step forward because such policies create a framework for data collection and the strategic implementation of care. Moreover, they lay a foundation for accountability at all levels.

Direct factors that predispose a woman to prolonged and obstructed labour include malpresentation of the fetus and cephalopelvic disproportion. Malpresentation can occur in any woman, but it is more frequent in grand multiparas (a woman who has given birth five or more times) with lax uterine muscles. Cephalopelvic disproportion is a condition where a baby's head or body is too large to fit through the mother's pelvic outlet. The consequence of obstructed labour is ischemia of tissues of the birth canal and adjacent organs, with subsequent ischemia and sloughing of tissue. In developing countries, 90% of obstetric fistulas are caused by prolonged obstructed labour (6,7).

A comprehensive fistula prevention program requires a multilevel approach (8) involving the many stakeholders in the community. National programs for emergency obstetric care (EmOC) have many of the same components. The character of national and regional strategies must then be more finely tuned to the geographic, demographic and economic needs of the region.

#### **FIGURE 1**

Birth rate per 1,000 population. Data from CIA World Fact Book, 2009. In deVries CR and Price RR, Global Surgery and Public Health, A New Paradigm. 2010 (8). p. 15, Fig. 1.4.

Illustration used with permission from Intermountain Healthcare.



#### **FIGURE 2**

Nurses and midwives per 10,000 population. Data from WHO 2009 World Health Statistics in deVries CR and Price RR, Global Surgery and Public Health, A New Paradigm. 2010 (8). p. 15, Fig. 1.5. *Illustation used with permission from Intermountain Healthcare.* 



## 2.3 Categories of Prevention

Prevention strategies may be considered in public health terms as primary, secondary, or tertiary.

*Primary prevention* addresses many indirect causes which are, essentially the "root causes" of VVF/ RVF. It attempts to reduce or eliminate the risk of the disease.

Secondary prevention attempts to limit the severity of the disease by catching it at its earliest stages.

Tertiary prevention is aimed at mitigating complications of existing disease.

**TABLE 1** Categories of Prevention Strategies: The Haddon Matrix

	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary
Vesciovaginal Fistula	Nutrition Education Delayed marriage Waiting houses Training midwives Roads, ambulance Communication	Partographs (Symphysiotomy) Caesarean section	Repair VVF Physical/Social/Economic Rehabilitation

An example of primary prevention is education. Education of girls and women is known to be associated with improved economic status and improved infant survival at the household level. Strengthening the education system to benefit women and girls is a long-term goal in countries where fistula is prevalent. In most African countries, for example, the education of males takes priority. In some, paradoxically, women have even perpetuated their own subordination. Here, the enemies of women's education can be their fellow women, including traditional birth attendants (TBAs). Many women have been socialized to pass wariness for education on to their daughters (9). Another primary strategy that is more temporally linked to parturition is the "waiting house". Waiting houses are homes or houses close to birthing facilities where pregnant women await the onset of labour. They are particularly helpful for first-time mothers and women who have been identified to have a high risk for complications of labour. Then, once labour has commenced, a partograph can be used to monitor progression of labour by documenting specific timelines and events. They can help to identify problems during labour and can supply data for analysis of complications.

#### 2.3.1 Haddon matrix applied to vesicovaginal fistula

Prevention can be further broken down to identify sub-factors and to isolate objectives of intervention. The Haddon matrix is one way to do this. First developed as a tool to analyze root causes of road traffic injuries, the Haddon matrix has become a useful tool for the study of causes of other injuries. Applied to VVF, such a matrix might look at local and regional prevention efforts, but might also include international and global factors and strategies (10). For example, the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) has taken on the challenge of reducing the burden of VVF with its Maternal Health Thematic Fund, directed to support national programs for MDG5. Complementary aid funding has been assigned to the UNFPA Global Programme on Reproductive Health Commodity Security and the Campaign to End Fistula (11).

Factors				
	Objectives of Intervention	International, National, Regional	Community	Hospital
Primary (Pre-event)	Recognizing factors associated with birth complications including, mortality and VVF	Economic Aid Roads Education Communication Electricity supply Policy/Media Field surveys Medical staff training	Maternity insurance Marriage customs Prenatal care Midwife training Engagement and education of traditional birth attendants	Adequate facility, equipment, staff
Secondary (Event)	Recognizing\ Addressing individual risk	Transportation Field Surveys	Maternity waiting houses Partograms Low gynecological age, Grand multiparity	Caesarean section, (Symphysiotomy) Foley catheter drainage
Tertiary (Post-event)	Treatment/ Re-integration	Media Campaigns	Microcredit/ Microenterprise	Fistula surgery

#### **TABLE 2** The Haddon Matrix Applied to Vesicovaginal Fistula (VVF)

#### 2.3.2 The three phases of delay

The Haddon Matrix has the advantage of providing an overview of strategies, but it does not convey a sense of urgency in time. The concept of "The Three Delays", delineated by Maine (12), conveys, in a more dynamic sense, the sequential phases of delay that can be approached in preventive terms. In childbirth, from the onset of labour, there is a limited time during which a mother and baby must begin the process of delivery, recognize a problem, and seek and find appropriate care. A woman becomes vulnerable to weaknesses in the system–at many levels during the course of labour. The delays can be depicted by the following schematics.



#### The three delays

In each country and community, there will be different socio-economic and cultural factors influencing the delay to seek care. They may include the need to obtain permission from a husband or male family member. There may be a community perception that only "weak" women need assistance with delivery and that "strong women" should be able to deliver without assistance. Once a phase I delay has occurred, phase II becomes more urgent. Road conditions, transportation and communication deficiencies may conspire to further delay a woman's arrival at a hospital or birthing center. Lastly, there may be a delay in receiving adequate care due to lack of facilities, electricity, supplies, or staff. If the lights are out and there is no back-up generator or fuel, a caesarean section cannot be done. If there is no way to contact a doctor or medical officer because of a lack of telephone, or if the instruments have not been sterilized due to lack of staff, electricity or other factors, a timely operation might not be done. These delays disproportionately affect the world's poor—especially, rural women.

#### The 1st delay: decision to seek care

A variety of factors can keep a woman from attempting to seek care at an institution. A woman's lack of confidence in institutions, a traditional birth attendant's competitive resistance to refer emergency cases, or a husband's refusal to allow his wife to go to the hospital can all influence the decision to seek care.

In many communities, the hospital is considered the place where people go to die. Given that many people will go to the hospital only as a last resort when they have exhausted all other alternatives, this belief is partly self-confirming. Faith in hospitals also suffers when a community blames deaths occurring in the hospital on the institutions, while considering death at home as unavoidable. These prejudices and past experiences can colour a community's faith in institutional competency and delay an individual woman's decision to seek care.

In some communities, TBAs can be direct competitors to institutional service providers. Unless productively engaged in a skills-specific referral function, these TBAs may be less likely to refer in emergency cases. To do so might essentially admit to the customer (the woman in labour) that the TBA is not as competent as the competition (the hospital). These factors can drive TBAs, acting as the woman's agents, to delay the decision to seek care. It can also happen that a woman and her TBA

agree on the need to seek care, but the woman's husband, acting as the woman's agent, refuses her permission to seek care. Cultural tradition, economics, and family dynamics can influence decisions that appear to be irrational to people of other cultural traditions (13).

#### The 2nd delay: arrival at a health facility

This delay is driven by distance, terrain and transportation availability. To find solutions to this delay, one might consider bringing women closer to health care facilities, such as waiting centres or "waiting houses". Another approach is to bring care to the patient. An East African non-governmental organization (NGO), the African Medical and Research Foundation (AMREF), has provided maternal care over great geographic distances for both elective and emergency surgery by providing on-site facilities, and using air transportation, in a model designed to provide coverage to isolated communities. (14).

#### The 3rd delay: the provision of adequate care

This delay is caused by institutional inefficiencies in predicting, preventing, diagnosing, and managing clear cases of obstructed labour.

The underlying causes can be unbalanced volume of service compared to need, poor management of health facility resources, and, sometimes, corruption.

## 2.4 Individual Risk

Although more women aged 20 to 45 give birth than women in the age group 10 to 19, close to 50% of all fistula cases occur in women aged 10 to 19. The majority of these cases are likely due to cephalopelvic disproportion caused by pelvic immaturity resulting from low gynecologic age and malnutrition.

**Low gynecologic age**: Gynecologic age is defined as chronologic age minus the age at menarche. During the first three years after menarche, a woman's pelvis is still maturing. A woman with a gynecologic age of less than three years has not yet reached pelvic maturity. First-time mothers in the developing world tend to have a lower gynecologic age than adolescent mothers in developed countries. Maternal death and disability can be broadly prevented in many of these cases by convincing community members of the importance of delaying pregnancy until a woman has reached pelvic maturity.

**Malnutrition**: Even in cases where a girl has aged beyond the danger zone of pelvic immaturity, chronic under-nutrition and malnutrition may contribute to a reduced likelihood of the woman having reached adult size by menarche.

**Education**: To most appropriately address individual predispositions, prevention of obstructed labour and fistula should begin very early in each girl's life. For example, campaigns to raise awareness about the special nutritional needs of girls to prevent chronic malnutrition and to improve the physical maturity of young mothers are part of holistic fistula prevention strategies (7). Other

recommended strategies include empowerment programs targeted at high-risk women and girls in schools and in the community. This approach can also address issues of substance abuse, poor dental hygiene and sexually transmitted infections (15).

**Combined risk factors**: In his study of individual risk factors for obstructed labour, G.J. Hofmeyer reviewed the effectiveness of certain promising approaches to reducing complications of obstructed labour (16). These included: measuring maternal height and shoe sizes, x-ray pelvimetry of the mother and the estimation of fetal weight. Hofmeyer discussed using external cephalic version, or turning the baby by applying external pressure at term, but not before, as an effective method of preventing obstructed labour. He stressed the importance of companionship and hydration and suggested that extremely low-dose misoprostol might be a method for labour augmentation but that further clinical research was needed. Though it is unlikely that x-ray pelvimetry will be widely adopted due to risks to the baby and the lack of availability of x-rays, other recommendations, such as the partograph (17), have been adopted by WHO as a standard for childbirth.

Hofmeyer considered caesarean section an essential technology that could be made widely available in conjunction with spinal analgesia, local infiltration analgesia and simplified surgical techniques. Hofmeyer has written that when caesarean section is unavailable, symphysiotomy may be life-saving for mother and baby. He notes the following advantages of symphysiotomy over caesarean section:

- Can be performed more rapidly
- Is simpler to perform
- Requires minimal equipment
- Can be performed by health workers without laparotomy skills
- Uses local analgesia
- Does not require an operating theatre or anesthetist (but does require 6 weeks of bed rest, after the procedure, to prevent complications of an unstable pelvis)
- Does not carry the risk of a scarred uterus in subsequent pregnancies
- May be life-saving for the breech baby
- May be preferred in cultures in which caesarean section is viewed as a personal failure

The recommendation for symphysiotomy remains highly controversial and a strong evidence to support its use is lacking.

## 2.5 Measuring Burden of Disease

Successful programs require measurement of outcomes, which in turn require an understanding of the scope of the problem. An early attempt at estimating the global and regional burden of disease was made by the 1990 Global Burden of Disease (GBD) study commissioned by the World Bank (18). It developed the metric, the DALY (disability adjusted life year) to quantify the global burden of diseases, injuries and risk factors. These were updated in 2000, and recently updated again for GBD 2010, available in 2011. The first update, known as DCP2 (Disease Control Priorities-2), estimated that "Approximately one-third of maternal conditions, including hemorrhage, obstructed labour, and obstetrical fistulas, are surgical, and these represent 10 million DALYs, or 0.7% of all DALYs" (19). Yet, the calculations were based on limited data, and are conservative, based on a study in Bangladesh. The DALY estimates in this chapter are based on a single report from a 40-bed non-governmental hospital in rural Bangladesh in 1995 (20). Debas *et al.* noted that, "A caesarean section for obstructed labour was estimated at 10 percent averted risk for the infant and 0 percent for the mother. A caesarean for transverse lie was estimated at 90 percent averted risk for the infant and 90 percent for the mother." (19)

A more recent analysis of the economics of care was presented at the Carter Centre, in March 2010, by D. McFarland (21), in an analysis of the economic burden of VVF in Niger. A study was done to establish the burden of disease, the costs to the health system of Niger, the number of DALYs that could be averted through preventive measures, and the cost to Niger's government of the implementation of preventative measures. In Niger, an estimated 111,570 DALYs could be attributed to obstructed labour and fistula, or potentially 58.56 DALYs per case. The cost per DALY averted by caesarean section, including improving and equipping existing health facilities, was \$1.11. This is highly cost-effective, and in fact, less than the cost of other public health measures such as treatment for HIV/AIDS (US\$300–500 per DALY averted) or vaccines (US\$5/DALY averted). Neglected tropical diseases are estimated to cost US\$2–9 per DALY averted (22). Clearly, from the economic point of view, the cost for upgrading and implementing maternal care is a bargain.

### 2.6 Tools for Designing and Implementing Preventative Strategies

The "catalyst approach" to public health employs a method for rapid implementation of prevention practices. Community-based catalyst elements cost approximately two million US dollars annually for a 12-country effort in Africa, in one disease eradication program (dracunculiasis, or "Guinea worm"). It has been roughly estimated that catalyst elements of a program to rapidly reduce maternal mortality by supplementing ongoing longer-term solutions may cost on the order of five million dollars per year (excluding surgical intervention) for a similar group of 12 countries across Africa. For consortia of donor countries and foundations, such amounts are well within reach (23). Its pivotal concept is a community-based initiative with certain key components.

Key principles in the Rapid Prevention model are as follows: (24)

- 1. **Key people** from a small number of organizations who "really care": 5–10 total.
- 2. Data manager and program manager for each country.
- **3.** An organization: 1–2 people with experience in epidemiology, to collect and analyze data. Need not be in country.
- 4. **Resident country technical advisors.** These may be expatriates who work collaboratively but are funded from outside the infrastructure within which they work. They have no formal power, but are independent and committed.
- **5. International meetings:** Staff from countries and supporting agencies meet to present data every 6 months.
- 6. Annual program review: Attended by representatives from all levels, from village volunteers to Ministry of Health senior leadership to discuss success, problems and ways forward.

- 7. Annual training and re-training of village volunteers.
- 8. Network of supervisors. Supervisors visit each village monthly, gather data, and visit homes. National staff visits at announced and unannounced times.
- **9. Transportation:** Can include bicycles, to boats. Annual funding for transportation of supervisors for 4–6 years, including replacement vehicles.
- **10. Course correction mechanism:** For improving technical tools and approaches.
- **11**. Political mobilization.

An additional requirement for this community-based program is the recruitment, training and participation of community volunteers. In order for them to be effective, the following criteria must be met:

- 1. Diagnosis by the trained volunteer must be generally as good as a physician.
- **2.** Correct action by the trained volunteer must positively and clearly affect the clinical outcome.
- **3.** The event must initially not be so rare that individual volunteers are unlikely to experience it or so frequent as to require almost full-time activity, thereby excluding the part-time volunteer.
- 4. The functioning system must provide annual re-training; regular supervision, monthly collection and analysis of data, timely re-supply of materials, and feedback on progress achieved against other districts, regions, countries, etc.
- **5.** The issue must be important to people in the community, e.g. carry a high risk of death, handicap or suffering that "all" would wish to avoid.

### 2.7 **Best Practice Examples: Projects That Work**

#### 1. Health and Development International (HDI), Niger

At the meeting for Obstetric Fistula Prevention as a Catalyst for Safe Motherhood: Successes and Opportunities, March 9–10, 2010 (25), preliminary data from 600 village volunteers in Niger using this program demonstrated a reduction in obstructed labour of 11 deaths in 2007, to 2 in 2008, and none in the interval between May 2008 and March 2010. Definitive statistical analysis of the project will be forthcoming in 2011. The basic strategy has been laid forth in an online publication, "Toolkit for Rapid Prevention of Fistula (23)". The principal features of the toolkit are outlined above in the Rapid Prevention Model (24).

#### 2. The Women's Dignity Project, Tanzania

Tanzania conducted a fistula survey in 2001 that has provided a focus for national policy and women's advocacy. It uses research on the incidence and prevalence of obstetric fistula to mobilize the community and to hold policy makers accountable for decisions in women's health. The community is reached through drama, music, dance, TV, radio and ads on taxis. Policy makers, journalists and the general public are also reached through photo exhibits, seminars, and workshops. The project works in conjunction with the UNFPA Campaign to End Fistula (26).

#### 3. The Barbara May Foundation in the Amhara and Afar Regions, Ethiopia

In order to address the "Three Delays" discussed above, the Barbara May network has developed and implemented the following schema (27):

**Layer 1:** 650 traditional birth attendants (TBAs) were trained and equipped to identify and refer high-risk women.

**Layer 2**: Waiting areas were built along the road where high-risk women could go to await delivery. These are staffed by midwives or skilled birth attendants (SBAs).

**Layer 3:** Emergency obstetric care (EmOc) is currently being provided at facilities adjacent to government health centres, but is staffed by expatriate volunteers.

The Barbara May program has experienced some limitations, such as poor acceptance of waiting areas, unsustainability of expatriate volunteers, and problems in the identification of high-risk pregnancies. Yet, the system has appeal because it addresses the significant regional geographic barriers and the lack of locally trained staff for EmOC.

#### 4. Doctors Without Borders (MSF) program in unstable situations

MSF operates fistula campaigns and EmOC in both stable and unstable political circumstances worldwide. Their paradigm, reported at the Carter Center (28) is as follows:

**Level 1**: Prevention using EmOC and EmONC (incorporating neonatal care), technical support, establishment of referral and communication systems.

Level 2: Sensitization of communities, women, men, TBAs and leaders.

**Level 3**: Employment of Foley catheters for fresh fistulas, record and refer established fistulas for referral.

**Level 4**: Prevention of subsequent fistulas after successful repair through sensitization, follow-up, and maternity waiting homes. Waiting homes in close proximity to facilities capable of managing high-risk deliveries can help prevent recurrent birth complications including fistulas, in subsequent pregnancies.

## 5. HEAL Africa: the Safe Motherhood Program in North Kivu, Democratic Republic of Congo (29)

The prevention strategy in this community-based program involves community mobilization, training of local leaders and TBAs, raising the socio-economic status of women of child-bearing age through education, creating solidarity groups for insurance and mutual support, training health professionals, and equipping maternities and hospitals for partographs and C-sections. Interestingly, this program has found in surveys and interviews that most women in the Great Lakes Region preferred to deliver in a maternity service if it were available. Membership in solidarity groups increased the use of family planning and maternal medical care through maternity insurance schemes and advocacy. The training of traditional birth attendants appeared to positively influence referral to maternity centres. They found that armed conflict was the greatest barrier to improved health care in the region.

#### 6. Birth preparedness and complication readiness, Burkina Faso

Piloted in Burkina Faso between 2001–2004, and reported by Moran *et al.* in 2006, a program was developed to reduce birth complications (30). Its key elements were massive sensitization of communities regarding the danger signs in pregnancies and the need for regular antenatal care by all expectant mothers. Participants were also taught prenatal planning for the location of delivery; transportation; and, how to save money specifically for taking care of oneself and family during the perinatal period.

In 2004, a cross-sectional survey with a random sample of respondents was conducted to assess the impact of this strategy. Of the 180 women who had given birth within a year of the survey, 46.1% women had a plan for transportation, and 83.3% had a plan to save money in preparation for child-birth. Women with these plans were more likely to give birth with the assistance of a skilled health provider, whereas previously, only 38.5% of the women gave birth with the assistance of a skilled provider.

#### 7. Audit and feedback strategies, Malawi

Sometimes the act of collecting and reporting data can have a positive effect on awareness and action, even when no other specific intervention is attempted, and with resources already available. Audit and feedback strategies introduced in a number of health facilities in Malawi in 2005 showed that overall, there was a significant increase in the met Emergency Obstetric Care (EmOC), over a three-year period. Similarly, maternal mortality decreased significantly: from 250 per 100,000 women in 2005, to 222 per 100,000 women in 2006, to 182 per 100,000 women in 2007. During the same period, the case fertility rate decreased monotonically. The study suggested that audit and feedback strategies could improve the availability, utilization and quality of EmOC in countries with limited resources (31).

### 2.8 Future Goals for Prevention

As outlined above, strategies for implementation of maternal and child health require a comprehensive approach tailored to local conditions. The most cost-effective and socially acceptable of these involve strong community support, in the form of solidarity groups and local volunteers, along with the training of both skilled and traditional birth attendants, depending on the local customs and resources. The Rapid Catalyst approach can coalesce these and the district and national services with international support; while other infrastructural changes, institutional audit and feedback, improved medical staff training and educational opportunities for girls are developing, perhaps at a slower rate. Successful programs for Safe Motherhood share many of the same features. Both the Rapid Catalyst and the rights-based approaches have the additional ability to leverage international foundation and advocacy dollars in local and targeted programs that can have measurable outcomes over a 3–5 year period. They can be somewhat more nimble than policy-based approaches, particularly in poor countries.

Identifying and targeting components of the "Three Delays" will contribute to successful outcomes for obstructed labour, and will also benefit the other maternal complications as well; in addition to benefitting the infant and child, and ultimately, the community. The surgical prevention and management of obstetric fistulas ultimately are best embedded in strong social programs for public health and education. These programs will ensure sustainable improvements in the health of women and mothers.

## 2.9 Recommendations

- National policies create a framework for data collection and the strategic implementation of care. They lay a foundation for accountability at all levels. National policies for maternity care should be developed for all countries whether or not VVF is a common complication of childbirth.
- 2. Solidarity groups, including village volunteers; and skilled and trained traditional birth attendants, should be developed for maternal care (C).
- 3. Girls, women and communities should be educated about normal and abnormal labour, and facilities such as waiting houses should be available for pregnant women at risk for complicated deliveries (C).
- 4. The components of the "Three Delays" need to be identified and targeted for each community where there is a high prevalence of complications of childbirth (C).
- 5. Birthing centres with the capability for caesarean section should be accessible and sufficiently affordable for women to use (C).
- 6. Funding should be made available to retain adequate trained staff for waiting houses and birthing centres (C).
- 7. Partograms should be employed to track the progress of delivery in order to identify problems and collect data (C).
- 8. Data collection by local, national and regional bodies should help to define the incidence of birth complications, and factors leading to the "Three Delays" (C).

### 2.10 References

- 1. Basch P. Textbook of International Health. New York: Oxford University Press; 1999. p. 221.
- 2. Hinrichsed D. Obstetric Fistula: Ending the silence, easing the suffering. INFO Reports No. 2, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. 2004.
- 3. UN 2010. [Internet] Available from: http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/pdf/MDG\_FS\_5\_EN\_new.pdf. Accessed: October 2010.
- 4. Barot S. Preempting the Need To Repair: Toward a Comprehensive US Policy on Obstetric Fistula. Guttmacher Policy Review. Summer 2010;13(3).
- 5. Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Global mortality, disability and the contribution of risk factors. Global burden of disease study. Lancet. 1997;349:1436–1442.
- Hilton P. Obstetric fistulae. In: Staskin D Cardozo L, editors. Textbook of female urology and urogynecology. Oxford: Isis Medical Media. 2001. p.711-719.
- 7. Miller S, Lester F, Webster M, Cowan B. Obstetric Fistula: A Preventable Tragedy. Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health. 2005;50(4)286-294.
- 8. deVries CR, Price RR. Global Surgery and Public Health: A New Paradigm. Boston: JB Learning; 2010.
- 9. Baker Miller J. Development of Women's Sense of Self. In: Jordan JV, Kaplan AG, Baker Miller J, Stiver I, Surrey JL, editors. Women's growth in connection: writings from the Stone Center. New York: The Guilford Press; 1989. p. 11–26.
- 10. Haddon W, Suchman EA, Klein D. Accident Research: Methods and Approaches. New York: Harper and Row; 1964.
- 11. UNFPA. [Internet] Available from: www.unfpa.org/public/home/mothers/pid/4287. Accessed 10/20/2010.
- 12. McCarthy J, Maine D. A framework for analyzing the determinants of maternal mortality. Studies in family planning. 1992;23:23–33.
- Kiguli J, Ekirapa-Kiracho E, Okui O, Mutebi A, MacGregor H, Pariyo GW. Increasing access to quality health care for the poor: community perceptions on quality in Uganda. Patient Preference and Adherence. 2009;3:77–85.
- 14. AMREF. [Internet]. Available from: www.AMREF.org. Accessed 11/10/2010.
- Baffour TD, Jones MA Contreras LK. Family Health Advocacy; An Empowerment Model for Pregnant and Parenting African American Women in Rural Communities, Fam Community Health. 2006;29:221–228.
- 16. Hofmeyer GJ. Obstructed labor: using better technologies to reduce mortality. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2004;85(Suppl. 1):S62-S72.
- 17. Kwast BE. World Health Organization partograph in management of labour. Lancet. 1994;343:1399–1404.
- Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Global mortaliy, disability and the contribution of risk factors: Global burden of disease study. Lancet. 1997;349:1436–1442.
- 19. Debas HT, Gosselin T, McCord C, Thind A. Chapter 67: Surgery. In Jamison DT, Breman AR, Measham G *et al.*, editors. Disease control priorities in developing countries. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2006. p. 1245–1260.
- McCord D, Chowdhury Q. A cost-effective small hospital in Bangladesh: What it can mean for emergency obstetric care. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2003;81:83-93.
- McFarland D. The Economics of Obstetric Fistula and Current Research. In: Meeting Report: Obstetric fistula prevention as a catalyst for safe motherhood: Success and opportunities. March 9–10, 2010. The Carter Center, Atlanta, Georgia. [Internet]. Available from: http://hdi.no/pdfs/OF/Carter-Center-Fistula-Meeting-Report.pdf.
- 22. Ozgediz D, Riviello R. The "other" neglected diseases in global public health: surgical conditions in sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS Med. 2008;5(6):e121.
- 23. Health and Development International (HDI). Toolkit for the rapid prevention of obstetric fistula. HDI, 2010 A Toolkit www.hdi-us.org = www.hdi.no [Internet]. Available from: http://hdi.no/pdfs/OF/fistula\_toolkit.pdf.
- 24. Seim AR. Time for an additional paradigm? The community-based catalyst approach to public health. Bull World Health Org. 2005;83(5)392–39.

- Report of the Obstetric Fistula Prevention as a Catalyst for Safe Motherhood: Successes and Opportunities. March 9–10, 2010. The Carter Center, Atlanta, Georgia. [Internet] Available from: http://www.hdi.no/projects/of/Carter%20Center%20Fistula%20 Meeting%20Report%20FINAL.pdf.
- Mulindwa-Matovu C. Women's Dignity Project, Tanzania. In: Meeting Report: Obstetric fistula prevention as a catalyst for safe motherhood: Success and opportunities. March 9–10, 2010. The Carter Center, Atlanta, Georgia. [Internet]. Available from: http://hdi.no/pdfs/OF/Carter-Center-Fistula-Meeting-Report.pdf.
- Browning, A. Barbara May Foundation in the Amhara and Afar regions, Ethiopia. In: Meeting Report: Obstetric fistula prevention as a catalyst for safe motherhood: Success and opportunities. March 9–10, 2010. The Carter Center, Atlanta, Georgia. [Internet]. Available from: http://hdi.no/pdfs/OF/Carter-Center-Fistula-Meeting-Report.pdf.
- Slinger, G. Can obstetric fistula prevention work in unstable situations? In: Meeting Report: Obstetric fistula prevention as a catalyst for safe motherhood: Success and opportunities. March 9–10, 2010. The Carter Center, Atlanta, Georgia. [Internet]. Available from: http://hdi.no/pdfs/OF/Carter-Center-Fistula-Meeting-Report.pdf.
- 29. Mihanda B, Esanga L, Lusi, L. Heal Africa: Exploring the complex contributions of a community based safe motherhood program to comprehensive primary healthcare. SOPH presentation. 19 March, 2010.
- 30. Moran AC, Sangli G, Dineen R, Rawlins B, Yameogo M, Baya B. Birth preparedness for maternal health: findings from Koupela District, Burkina Faso. J Health Popul Nutr. 2006;24:489–497.
- Kongnyuy EJ, Leigh B and van den Broek N. Effects of audit and feedback on the availability, utilization and quality of emergency obstetric care in three districts in Malawi. Women Birth. 2008;21(4):149–155. Epub 2008 Oct 7.

#### Additional Readings

Loudon I. Transformation of maternal mortality. British Medical Journal. 1992;305:1558–1560.

Loudon I. Death in childbirth: An international study of maternal care and maternal mortality. Oxford: Clarendon Press;1992. p. 1800–1950.

Loudon I. Maternal mortality in the past and its relevance to developing countries today. Am J Clin Nutrition. 2000;72(1 Suppl): 241S-246S.

Rosenfeld A and Maine D. Where is the 'M' in 'MCH'? Lancet. 1985;2:83-85.

Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Briggs ND, Browning A, Lassey A. The obstetric vesicovaginal fistula in the developing world. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 2005;60:(7 Suppl 1):S3-S51.

Maine D. Studying maternal mortality in developing countries. A guidebook: rates and causes. Geneva. WHO 1987 (FHE 87.7).

Thaddeus S, Maine D. Too far to walk: maternal mortality in context. Soc Sci Med. 1994;38:1091–1110.



## Unmet Needs in Fistula Management and Training

#### CHAIR

Sohier Elneil, United Kingdom

#### MEMBERS

Xavier Gamé, France Naren Patel, United Kingdom Joseph Ruminjo, Kenya and United States Hamid Rushwan, Sudan and United Kingdom

# Committee

# CONTENTS

3

### Unmet Needs in Fistula Management and Training

3.1	Introduction	_63
3.2	An Overview of the Unmet Needs in Obstetric Fistula	_63
	3.2.1 Current status	_64
3.3	The Current Global Health Strategy in Achieving Change	_66
	3.3.1 Unifying education and training a new way forward	_67
3.4	The Challenge of Obstetric Fistula in the Developing World: The View of the Medical Professional Bodies	_67
	3.4.1 The future	_69
3.5	FIGO and Partners' Competency-Based Fistula	
	Training Manual	_69
3.6	Curriculum and Education Development in Fistula Surgery	74

# Committee

3.7	Fistula Training Models, Principles and Approaches	75
	3.7.1 Key principles and premises in fistula training	76
	3.7.2 Fistula training models	76
	3.7.3 Community collaboration in fistula training	77
3.8	Summary and Recommendations	78
	3.8.1 Recommendations	79
	3.8.2 Future research	79
3.9	Conclusion	80
3.10	References	81


## 3.1 Introduction

The unmet needs in fistula management and training are vast. In order to comprehend the scope of the problem, an extensive review of the literature was undertaken by members of this panel using several search terms, including: *obstetric fistula, vesico-vaginal fistula, recto-vaginal fistula, female, genital tract fistula, post-partum trauma, urinary fistula, training models and bladder fistulas.* The literature was extensively reviewed using the following databases: PubMed, Medline and other internet sources. The search terms used included *obstetric fistula, vesico-vaginal fistula, recto-vaginal fistula, female, genital tract fistula, post-partum trauma, urinary fistula, vesico-vaginal fistula, recto-vaginal fistula, female, genital tract fistula, post-partum trauma, urinary fistula, bladder fistulas, training models and education in fistula surgery.* On reviewing the literature, it was apparent that the quality of the studies varied widely – the levels of evidence ranged from level 2 to level 5. As a consequence, the grades of recommendations, based solely on the literature, could not exceed a Grade B. But this is not a simple field, and perhaps one needs to approach it from a different perspective.

In this chapter we will provide an overview of the current situation of unmet needs in obstetric fistula, including a perspective from the professional societies and an overview of training models and methodology.

## 3.2 An Overview of the Unmet Needs in Obstetric Fistula

In order for one to appreciate the unmet needs in obstetric fistula, one needs to understand the extent of the problem. The International Obstetric Fistula Working Group (IOFWG), set up by the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) in the early 2000, has been instrumental in developing a global initiative of mapping obstetric fistulas in the developing world. This has been done in tandem with the Fistula Foundation, Direct Relief International, UNFPA, the Geneva Foundation for Medical Education and Research (GFMER), EngenderHealth, Women and Health Alliance International (WAHA) and International Society of Obstetric Fistula Surgeons (ISOFS). In time, this initiative aims to provide information about fistula centres, activities and trainers across the globe, to identify service gaps, to help develop training for fistula surgery and to gather data. Though initially it will focus on fistula treatment centres, the mapping exercise will be an ongoing information activity in the future, in order that it keeps all those in the field up-to-date about different activities and developments, and to facilitate communication between them.

Though mapping is important to the understanding of the extent of the problem, there is little doubt that obstetric fistulas, in Africa and Asia, still pose a major clinical problem (1–7). Access to modern obstetric care, including caesarean sections, can be limited in these countries. Therefore, a tremendous disparity exists between risks associated with pregnancy and labour faced by women in the developing world compared to women from wealthier nations (8,9). Over the course of a lifetime, 1 in 30,0000 Scandinavian women will die in pregnancy or labour, whereas it is estimated that in some countries, such as Niger, up to 1 in 12 will die in Africa, particularly in the rural areas (10–16).

Furthermore, for every woman who dies in labour, it is estimated that at least another 20% of the remaining population may have to live with terrible injuries sustained during obstructed labour. Long distances combined with high cost of care and poor nutrition make women more vulnerable to obstetric fistulas, particularly in West Africa (11,17–19), the horn of Africa (20,21), the Middle East (22,23) and the Asian sub-continent (4,7,8,24–29).

## 3.2.1 Current status

It is estimated that there are up to 2 or 3 million cases of obstetric fistula still awaiting treatment (30). This is a conservative estimate, and is derived from national maternal mortality figures, using different statistical methods based on the national incidence of obstetric fistula and other epidemiological data (31–34).

The main treatment for all types of fistulas remains surgery which is carried out under meticulous circumstances. The success of the repair is dependent on good surgery, excellent nursing care and prevention of complications (35–38). Unfortunately, the number of capable and dedicated surgeons remains a major stumbling block in the management of these patients.

In Africa and Asia, initiatives were undertaken by doctors from differing surgical backgrounds, nurses and philanthropists to combat this debilitating problem. They all had a similar philosophy, to provide a dedicated centre of excellence to treat these patients. Thus, dedicated hospitals were established in many countries, including Ethiopia, Nigeria, Bangladesh and Sudan (38–42). All of these units not only treated patients, but also provided training and education, as well as raised awareness. However, several problems persisted.

Primarily, there was a lack of consensus on fistula classification (43), which affects the appropriate treatment of patients, prognostic evaluation and literature reporting. Secondly, most doctors worked in isolation with variable care practices, and thirdly there was little or no evidence-based medicine in decision-making. In addition, training in fistula surgery was often patchy, inadequate and unfocused. But most importantly, there was no way to assess trainees or determine their suitability. As a consequence, outcomes for some patients could be very poor indeed (44,45).

Other factors that are known to affect patient care include:

- Health Systems: Internal and external referral systems in every country, transportation systems, patient documentation issues and health systems are very different and can impact on the patient's journey to holistic care. Thus, each country has had to adapt to its local and regional needs taking into account specialized surgeon availability, cultural issues and logistic issues (e.g. religion, race, etc.). But it is transportation, in particular, that is a major problem in accessing both emergency obstetric care and fistula surgery, thus potentially restricting available health care.
- Clinical Ability: Recognition by the incumbent surgeon/doctor of their limitations and making decisions about complex/complicated cases which are not amenable to surgery. There are also other important issues, such as arranging long-term follow-up, understanding cultural sensitivities; promoting training and raising fistula awareness at a national level.
- *Fistula Tourism:* It is commonly known that doctors from around the world travel to different countries to carry out fistula surgery (46–48). But often, they can be ill-equipped to perform the surgery, do not remain long enough within the country to monitor the postoperative state of their patients and do not follow any guidelines or training strategies (47).
- *Early Fistula Management:* The lack of catheterization in the early treatment of vesicovaginal fistula, which is both safe and cost-effective, is a contributory factor to the persistence of a small vesicovaginal fistula (49). Though many surgeons advocate this approach, it has yet to be extensively used (50).

In addition to the clinical issues raised above, the politicization of fistula surgery in the developing world has also been a major difficulty for several decades, as government and non-government agencies struggle to control the "fistula market" (21,31,47). With increasing awareness of this condition (31), many agencies have poured money into initiatives of fistula care, but whereas in the past the health care providers were considered secondary to their projects, this appears to be slowly changing. However, global consensus remains the key.

But, the unmet needs of the fistula patient are not only about surgery. They also include the availability and training of specialist nurses, physiotherapists, counsellors, social workers, occupational therapists and rehabilitation specialists.

## 3.3 The Current Global Health Strategy in Achieving Change

For there to be global agreement, several impediments had to be overcome. Firstly, clinical efforts had to be coordinated in order to prevent duplication of care, as well-meaning charities were increasingly raising money for obstetric fistula projects, with replication of services in many countries. Communication channels needed to be opened to enable better coordination of efforts to ensure well-managed and targeted-service provision (51). This needed the input of all the fistula surgeons dedicated to working in the field to come together and form an organization. Such a body was created in September 2008 and is known as the International Society of Obstetric Fistula Surgeons (ISOFS). It includes over 120 members who work in Africa and Asia.

Secondly, there had to be a universal attempt to accept a fistula classification to enable accurate communication between units and surgeons about the conditions that they were treating. Although there are several systems in use, as well as published in the literature, only two have been validated (52,53). Unanimous agreement on a classification system would be a starting point. A consortium, established by the World Health Organization (WHO), United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) and several non-governmental organizations and professional bodies along with ISOFS are trying to reach an agreement (32,54–56). Due to the paucity of evidence to support any such system, Johns Hopkins University and EngenderHealth proposed two prospective studies to try and meet this end. It is an extremely difficult area in the fistula arena on which to reach consensus, as it raises the hackles in many a surgeon. Once adopted, a classification system will be an invaluable tool for training, communication and multicentre research.

Thirdly, training in obstetric fistula surgery needs to be strengthened and supported. There are only a handful of units that are currently appropriately equipped to provide training to a satisfactory level, but the numbers are growing. They have experienced trainers, adequate number of cases and satisfactory training facilities. They are already equipping young surgeons with the necessary skills to return to the field to further extend this work. But, they can be hampered by independent bodies who have taken on the task of producing a "training manual" in an attempt to formalize the training process and to be "involved" in the fistula world. Training and education remains, to a large degree, disparate and imprecise, maybe because of a lack of expertise or direction (57). Understandably, a unified approach is desperately needed. The formation of the International Obstetric Fistula Working Group (IOFWG) and ISOFS has gone a long way in bringing together the many facets of training.

Yet these unmet needs should not touch upon medical training alone. In essence, one also needs to consider the availability and training of specialist nurses, physiotherapists, counsellors, social workers, occupational therapists and rehabilitation specialists.

## 3.3.1 **Unifying education and training a new way forward**

In the last few years, there have been two distinct unifying global initiatives – the formation of ISOFS and the recently completed FIGO-led competency-based fistula manual. This is with a view to standardize training and to provide a competency-based approach to fistula management and education.

## 3.4 **The Challenge of Obstetric Fistula** in the Developing World: The View of the Medical Professional Bodies

Obstetric fistula constitutes a major health problem in low-resource countries, with devastating effects on the lives of women and their families. FIGO took a lead amongst other clinical professional bodies in the field to direct fistula training and education. They are a global professional body, whose goals are to promote the health of women and their newborns, by improving the standards of practice in obstetrics and gynaecology. No more so is this needed than in the world of the fistula patient, and its acknowledgement of this problem is now recognized worldwide. In the last decade, its dedicated fistula committee has been working towards prevention and management of this disabling condition (58).

In tandem with the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RCOG) in the United Kingdom, the committee of field-dedicated fistula surgeons devised and developed the competencybased training manual. To date, this is one of the committee's most important achievements, as its main aim was not only to help standardize training, but to properly equip the surgeons with the required technical skills to treat fistula.

The remit of the FIGO fistula committee was to reach a consensus on what a training manual should include, contribute to the classification debate, and develop an evidence-based course for a selected surgical or gynaecological trainee, who has attained at least three years of surgical training in their home country. The training structure is modular, with each module or subject area being further sub-categorized into specific objectives. Each module can be achieved within a stipulated period of time, as determined by the trainer and the trainee. But, rather than this as a process whereby trainees are spoon-fed, they are encouraged to follow a path of competency-based training, as provided by the RCOG. Using the agreed information provided by the fistula surgeons, they were able to formulate and develop learning tools, logbooks and performance-based assessments (PBAs) for each module. This is the first time such an initiative has been developed for a specific internationally recognized health problem. Using the manual will not only provide a guide to surgical training, but also initiate an audit of surgical outcomes, thus facilitating research in the field and promoting publication in the medical and nursing literature. In order for the manual to be fully accepted, a consensus on fistula classification must be reached. It is on this last awkward point that the success of the manual will rest, but perhaps with the help of ISOFS and the FIGO/UNFPA study groups, a consensus will be reached in time.

The role of ISOFS is increasingly important. Those surgeons, who are already working within a dedicated institution, are protected to some degree, but those who work in isolation will need local, national and international support. By agreeing to form a body of experts in the field, ISOFS has already overcome a huge barrier – acceptance of each other's expertise and position.

From the urological point of view, the management of vesicovaginal fistula in the developing world should not only include the surgical treatment of the fistula, but also the care of its consequences on the lower and upper urinary tract function, in particular, the long-term management of complex urological reconstruction procedures (42,59,60).

Repairs of fistulas are determined by size, location, amount of scarring, degree of destruction of the continence mechanism, degree of ureteric injury and avulsion and pre-existing comorbidities (61). After complex fistula repair, two issues remain a problem – that of persistent incontinence in spite of an intact bladder (62–64), and of failure of repair (26,65–67). Regarding incontinence, Browning showed in a series of 318 women that it occurred in all of those with a complex fistula (64). The pathophysiological hypotheses are that it could be related to either an urethral sphincter injury during labour, soft tissue destruction of the intrinsic sphincter mechanism, permanent denervation or changes in bladder function (68). However, it appears this complication may be prevented or treated by slings such as fibromuscular or aponeurotic slings, or other complex surgical techniques (64,69–72). The training and education of surgeons undertaking these procedures need to be well structured and focused, and remains an unmet need.

Long-term surgery and management of urinary diversion procedures remains a major obstacle in the developing world, as the number of available urologists is limited and those that are present have to cover the whole gamut of urological surgery, including that for cancer (68,73–76). The complexities of complicated fistula surgery present many problems to the clinician (77). Continent diversions are not always accepted by the patients or their relatives, thus creating a dilemma for the patient, the urologist and the family. Moreover, specific devices or bags are needed to collect the urine and they are not always available to the patient and may be quite costly. Stoma support services are usually not available in many of these countries.

Urological societies like the Pan-African Urological Surgeons Association (PAUSA), the Société Internationale d'Urologie (SIU) and the International Continence Society (ICS) have started several initiatives to look into the post-repair issues in fistula surgery. SIU, in particular, has been involved in the education and training of urologists throughout the developing world and have established several centres such as that in Wad Medani in Sudan and Burkina Faso. By increasing the number of urologists, there will be an increase in the capacity of available fistula surgeons undertaking complex reconstructive surgery. Members of both societies are active members of ISOFS and the FIGO-led competency-based manual committee.

## 3.4.1 The future

Hitherto, the main focus in obstetric fistula has been in improving the capacity for treatment. However, prevention is the ultimate goal, and FIGO, the urological professional associations, in tandem with other non-governmental organizations such as the United Nations Population Fund and the WHO, address the improvement of maternal health services as a priority area through the implementation of projects in the field in low-resource countries, and strengthening the capacity of national associations to play a catalytic role in improving maternal and newborn health (54,78).

The challenge is great due to lack of resources, human and otherwise. However, the commitment of professionals has been the driving force in many countries, and their role should be encouraged and greatly supported.

## 3.5 FIGO and Partners' Competency-Based Fistula Training Manual

Many workers in the fistula field realized that the number of doctors who were well equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to care for these women was scarce. Most of the surgery was being done by indigenous doctors living and working in Africa and Asia, but their numbers were few. Their main support was often from visiting doctors from the developed countries that were ill-trained to handle these cases. There is a huge need for training across the globe and specifically, training of doctors who are practising in the developing countries. It was realized that the current available numbers of trained professionals in fistula surgery would need years to treat the backlog without considering the newly emerging cases. There was no standard curriculum to train doctors in genital tract-fistula management and care. As a consequence of this issue, the initiative was taken up by FIGO, funded by UNFPA, to compile the competency-based fistula surgical training manual in 2008. This manual was produced with the collaboration of fistula surgeons, professional organizations and specialist health organizations from all over Africa, Asia, Europe and the United States of America. Without the personal dedication of all members of the committee, this manual would not have reached completion.

The purpose of this manual was to enable health care providers to acquire the required knowledge, skill and professionalism to prevent fistula and provide holistic care to fistula patients that included medical, psychosocial and surgical care. It is intended that the manual will be used by health care providers who are involved in the prevention and management of genital tract fistulas. A multi-disciplinary team-based approach is encouraged in the training of each doctor and his/her team of nurses, physiotherapists and other health professionals. The course is structured at three levels: standard, advanced and expert levels of fistula training.

FIGURE 1 FIGO: Global Competency-Based Fistula Surgery Training Manual.



The manual is made up of several components:

Curriculum Modules

Each module has an outline of the course content that the trainee is expected to be aware of. It needs to be used in conjunction with recommended references, and in some cases, with specific PBAs. There are seven modules that need to be undertaken.

#### Logbooks of Competency

These are records of the work carried out by each trainee. Each must be signed off by each trainer, who will determine if the trainee has observed a procedure, has assisted with a procedure or is able to work independently. The trainer will determine if the trainee needs further training in a particular area. The logbook is comprehensive, and every section must be filled diligently and carefully (detailed outline below). There are seven logbooks that are to be completed, and they include a record of audits/protocols/processes that are to be undertaken throughout the competency assessments.

### Performance Based Assessment (PBA)

Each aspect of surgical training will be assessed separately and specifically. The trainees will complete each PBA to attain a standard-, advanced- and expert-level proficiency and ideally need the signature of two or more trainers, from two or more training centres (detailed outline below). It is expected that each trainee will undergo a prolonged period of fistula training at one or more centres. There are 15 PBA to be completed before a fistula surgeon can be deemed an expert, and will often require the full 24 months of training. However, this is a competency-based training manual and each trainee will require different lengths of time to achieve each level of expertise.

With regards to training itself, several requirements are considered essential by the FIGO and partners committee:

*Training centres:* Training centres will be determined by the Global Education Team, due to be set up by FIGO and ISOFS. Each centre must have adequate training facilities, as well as a reasonable throughput of fistula patients per annum.

*Trainers:* Each trainer would have undergone a "Train the Trainer" course run by the Global Education Team to ensure that they are familiar with and are happy to use the manual. Each trainee should be provided with the following information by the training centre and trainer:

- Name of principal trainer
- Name of hospital and number of beds
- Number of fistula repairs per year and outcomes
- Types and complexity of fistula cases
- Duration of training period available at the designated centre
- Physiotherapy, counselling and audit

In addition, a list of training centres and trainers will be provided to each trainee who applies for the training programme. This will be decided by FIGO and the ISOFS Global Education Team in tandem with other medical professional organizations.

**Trainees:** Most trainees will be trained within their country and its surrounding neighbours. When a candidate is selected for a particular unit, they will be given an overview of the hospital, as outlined above. Each trainee selected for this specialized training programme must assure the Global Education Team of their commitment and dedication to continuing long-term work in the field of fistula surgery, before commencing training. An outline of their training programme will also be prepared, and will include:

- Induction day at the hospital, to introduce candidate to staff and the hospital set-up
- Outpatient clinic to see patients, with trainer
- Demonstration of simple-/advanced-/expertlevel of proficiency in fistula surgery by the trainer
- Assistance at surgery with the trainer
- Hands-on teaching of repair of fistulas at the simple, advanced and expert level

The expectation from each trainee has been laid out clearly in the manual, in the form of a course timetable and checklist. They are expected to attend different training activities, which will provide a diverse learning experience for them. Each activity is associated with a specific stage/level of surgical proficiency, categorized as standard, advanced or expert (**Table 1**).

#### TABLE 1 Recommended Tests for Staging at Diagnosis

Learning session	Schedule	Checklist
Lectures	Standard stage of fistula training	
Skill laboratories (where available)	Standard stage of fistula training	
Group work with nurses, physiotherapists and counselors	Standard stage of fistula training	
Bedside teaching	Standard stage of fistula training	
Team discussions	Standard stage of fistula training	
Video learning sessions	Standard stage of fistula training	
Reflective learning sessions	Standard stage of fistula training	
Case-based discussions	Standard stage of fistula training	
Performing surgery	Standard/Advanced/Expert stage of fistula training	
Confidential diary entries and log-keeping	Standard/Advanced/Expert stage of fistula training	
Demonstration and participation	Advanced/Expert stage of fistula training	
Field visits to neighbouring obstetric units	Advanced/Expert stage of fistula training	
Surgical demonstration	Advanced/Expert stage of fistula training	

Each country will determine how trainees will be selected for training. Currently the Ministry of Health, non-governmental health agencies and universities are selecting candidates for training. This is a highly individualized process in each country. However, final responsibility lies with the trainer. In addition to surgical training, all trainees will be taught how to perform audit, so they can use it during their training period and for future clinical practice. Trainees will also be expected to provide feedback on all their trainers and their training centres, to the Global Education Team.

Trainees who are selected to start training using this manual would be expected to be familiar with the subject matter and its published literature. Each trainee would be encouraged to read the recommended textbooks and relevant journal articles before commencing their training.

As this is a competency-based training manual, timelines are therefore not definitive. Thus, each training course will be determined by the trainee and the trainer. It is envisaged that each trainee will need at least three-months' experience in a dedicated centre to be competent in standard fistula management, 12 months in advanced fistula management and 24 months to become an expert.

This is in keeping with global guidelines in training specialist surgeons in dedicated fields of excellence, but by no means authoritative. These are simple time guidelines, and are therefore flexible and open to discussion between the trainee and trainer.

The trainee will be evaluated throughout the course using structured workplace-based assessments, group discussions (where available) and reports from the trainers. Checklists, assessments and logbooks are used to assess competence of the trainee. The logbook will be signed by the trainers and feedback on the performance of the trainers will be concomitantly given. The trainee would be expected to reinforce his/her performance by using recommended learning guides.

Each trainee will need to have the following assessments done:

**Appraisal** – A review of educational progression must be made after discussion with the trainers. These will take place on the first month after the commencement of training, and upon completion of each placement. Regular appraisals are very useful to ensure ongoing, structured development and regular communication. Appraisals identify problem areas early on and ensure trainees are satisfied with the education and support that they receive. These appraisals will need to be reported to the FIGO and ISOFS Global Education Team.

**Reflective Learning** – Learning to reflect on and from difficult clinical situations in which you have been directly involved is a vital part of being a good doctor. All must recognize that they should learn from a significant event by making notes or discussing situations after they occur. The trainees should reflect on their practice at all times, regardless of the interval of time, so they can learn from their mistakes and build confidence. It is important to write notes to clarify anxieties and to share ideas based on the points on the reflective learning form. Trainees should be encouraged to keep a personal diary.

**Personal Development Planning (PDP)** – PDP is a structured and supported process undertaken by an individual to reflect upon their own learning, performance and/or achievement and to plan for their personal, educational and career development. PDP embraces a range of approaches to learning that connect planning (an individual's goals and intentions for learning or achievement), doing (aligning actions to intentions), recording (thoughts, ideas, experiences, in order to understand and show the process and results of learning) and reflection (reviewing and evaluating experiences and the results of learning). When a trainee is assessed, PDPs should be completed for different aspects of their work.

Assessments – These include case-based discussions, logbooks of competence and performance-based assessments:

#### a. Case-based discussions (CbD)

This generic tool formalizes case discussion with the trainer. The curriculum indicates the competencies that can be tested using this tool. Trainees use the CbD to document objective assessments of discussion about cases. They can be used to assess clinical decision-making, as well as knowledge and application of that knowledge. Each case-based discussion should involve slightly different clinical situations in the competency area to be tested. The discussion will focus on the information given to the patient and recorded in the notes. These discussions need to be formally written up, but can take place in theatre, at the bedside or in the outpatient clinic with the trainer.

#### **b.** Logbook of competency

The logbook makes use of a simple system for recording the acquisition of clinical skills. Each module has specific training targets and the final level of competency is reached in stages, ranging from observation, through direct supervision, to independent practice.

#### **c.** Performance-based assessments (PBA)

There are a small number of procedures that are so fundamental to the practice of fistula surgery that an objective assessment tool has been developed to aid the assessment process. The PBA is a validated assessment tool to assess a trainee's technical competency in a particular technique. The curriculum indicates those skills that need to be assessed with PBA. The PBA should be used to help trainees and trainers to assess when they are ready to move on to independent practice for a procedure and when they are ready to be signed off for independent practice. The same PBA may be used to assess increasing levels of complexity for any particular procedure.

#### d. Further aims of the assessment experience

It is not possible to be prescriptive about the number of procedures that should be undertaken by each trainee, since rates of learning and clinical opportunities vary considerably. However, it is hoped that trainees will be able to demonstrate that they have been given increasing responsibility in carrying out the listed procedures over a period of 24 months, but based on competency assessment as determined by the trainer or trainers. The forms are designed to help to make this explicit.

Thus, the competency-based manual attempts to standardize and support surgical training in fistula repair. In the process of achieving this aim, it is envisaged that there will eventually be an increase in the number of training centres accredited and eventually surgeons trained.

## 3.6 Curriculum and Education Development in Fistula Surgery

To date there have been no general core curriculum developed for fistula training in the undergraduate or post-graduate medical education.

At the undergraduate level, theoretical knowledge, general principles of history-taking and clinical examination are the basis of early medical education. The core curricula are developed by individuals and/or medical institutions, but none of them are approved by professional organizations. Specific teaching on obstetric fistula, including formal assessment, should be provided to all young doctors training in countries, where obstetric fistula is prevalent. Indeed, some medical schools may choose to have a more detailed optional curriculum, similar to that devised by the FIGO-led group.

Post-graduate training in obstetrics and gynecology and in urology varies in different countries. Most curricula broadly include general anatomy, physiology and pathology of the bladder, pelvic organs and the rectum. Clinical history, examination, medical and surgical management, treatment outcomes and postoperative care pathways are all integral to the specialized training of these doctors. The main discussion here is whether all specialists training in countries, where obstetric fistulas prevail, should also be skilled in the management of fistulas.

In all curricula development, it is envisaged that knowledge of causation, prevention, surgery, rehabilitation and audit would be desirable.

In essence, it was these identified unmet needs that led to the development of the competencybased manual and curriculum for surgical training on obstetric fistulas. This manual can be used to develop a core curriculum in other aspects of medical training, at both the undergraduate and post-graduate level. It expects good theoretical knowledge, development of clinical skills, extensive sustained clinical practice and the use of audit tools (79). This can be achieved by access to devoted trainers, didactic teaching, course work, seminars and other educational techniques. It can be rolled out to eventually include training for specialist nurses, physiotherapists, rehabilitation therapists, community workers and patients (80–82). These are slightly separate issues, but they do contribute to the development of holistic care services for the fistula patient and her physician.

In brief, this singular need for effective and standardized training can be met by the competencybased training manual and its assessment processes. Awareness of this problem in countries where obstetric fistula is present must be raised in medical establishments (31,83,84). The authors believe that the curriculum, provided by the FIGO-led competency based manual, can be modified and be used as part of the future medical education of all undergraduates and post-graduates.

## 3.7 Fistula Training Models, Principles and Approaches

The strategy for fistula training recognizes and tries to address several distinct challenges that can hinder quality in training (85).

These challenges include:

- The many different clinical types of fistula and the widely divergent degrees of surgical complexity encountered both in repair and in training
- Lack of standardization in training, curricula and reference materials, duration and models for training and classification of fistula
- Standardization requires some collaboration with other key players and stakeholders, such as the International Fistula Working Group (IOFWG), FIGO, UNFPA, Engender-Health, WHO, PAUSA and others who can help develop a uniform training strategy. Standardization has begun, in the effort led by FIGO, but widespread roll-out and acceptance is still needed

- Differing approaches and skill sets for service provision and training
- Different training-site resources, including personnel, general surgical- and fistula-specific equipment, expandable supplies and training materials (library books, manuals, references, anatomic models, audio-visuals, videos/films, job aids, computer ware, case studies)
- Scarcity of evidence-based clinical research data (86)
- Lack of operational research data within different facilities

## 3.7.1 Key principles and premises in fistula training

The training approach is characterized by some key principles:

- The welfare of the women guides all training;
- A combination of didactic and hands-on training is important, both to bring less experienced surgeons to an acceptable baseline level of technical skill (for simple repairs (87,88) and to help bring surgeons with more experience to a greater level of technical skill;
- Doctors and nurses are trained in teams (along with counsellors or nursing assistants, if possible) whenever logistics allow;
- Providers must consider and conduct training as an integral part of clinical care (from pre-operative, intra-operative, through to postoperative periods) (89); and
- Training should be competency-based and use adult learning principles: final assessment of trainees will determine the level of surgical complexity or fistula class they are competent to repair. In essence, they need to be accredited to do each stage of fistula surgery. The accreditation and certification process will be determined by ISOFS and the international professional bodies.

Didactic sessions involve open and participatory learning activities. The facilitators meet regularly to review progress of the training and to plan subsequent activities. But training is also guided by experiential or reflective learning and by linking and evaluating it with performance (90).

## 3.7.2 Fistula training models

The strategy explores the use of different training models (modified from Bangser and the UNFPA fistula training workshop in Niamey, in 2005 [91]). The most frequently used models are (**Figure 2**):

- On-site training and workshop training
  - Performed by a master trainer, who visits a hospital to do hands-on training
- Outreach training and apprenticeship training
  - A less experienced surgeon accompanies an expert surgeon during outreach visits to remote hospitals to gain exposure and training
- Intensive trainer-led training for a small group of surgeons at a busy centre
- A more experienced surgeon or mentor meets less experienced apprentice for periodic exchange and hands-on. This may be an on-the-job training, but needs to be structured and also use reference materials
- Training centre (fistula-specialized) or medical school undergraduate- and post-graduate training (92)
  - Establishment of a regular training program at a major hospital doing fistula repairs only (e.g. Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital or Katsina Fistula Services)
- Teaching hospital structured hands-on training at a medical school setting or at an affiliated site, especially for residents in obstetrics and gynaecology, urology and surgery (e.g. Le Dantec University Hospital Senegal)

The different models often overlap. They may have varying strengths and relative weaknesses depending on local circumstances (e.g. implications of being trained away from one's own site for extended periods of time from sites that are commonly personnel-deprived already). The training strategy must be:

- robust, but have some degree of flexibility;
- adaptable to each country's needs and service requirements, but also fit in with the global educative model;
- modified to the training site's capability and its trainer's capacity for training, but ensuring complacency does not compromise the needs for training expansion.

Furthermore, even for a specific site and team, it may be necessary to change or to use a hybrid model to cater to update training, follow-up training and proficiency-level training. The model used in the long-term would presumably be determined after careful evaluation of each centre and its training capabilities, by its trainers and trainees (90).



## 3.7.3 Community collaboration in fistula training

The role of the patient community and the fistula service is very relevant to improving training and education in this field (93–95). The community's representative can act as a liaison between fistula training sites and the community, thus identifying women or families in need, providing information regarding fistula-repair services and also spreading the fistula-prevention message (96–98). In addition, it can extend the fistula training site's capacity to track women following repair and support reintegration and link women and families with other sexual and reproductive health services.

Thus, it is quite clear that fistula training has to have different models of training for each level of health care provision, be it local, regional or national. What is applicable at one level, may not necessarily serve the purpose of the health care system at another level, and hence the model needs to be specifically adapted.

## 3.8 Summary and Recommendations

The evidence for training and education in fistula surgery is scanty and limited. In summary, three areas of importance need to be highlighted: raising awareness of the fistula problem, promoting prevention (31,96) and forging ahead with training and research.

Raising awareness of obstetric fistulas has been the reason why we are able to move forward, as a community, at this point in time (31,54). This exacting work has meant that more women are being treated, more dedicated units are being developed, more doctors are being trained and most importantly, more lives are being rebuilt. The WHO's mantra of "health security for women throughout the lifespan" is a platform for its future advocacy efforts to improve the quality of women's lives. No more so is this needed than in women suffering from a fistula.

Prevention can only be achieved by ensuring reproductive health rights for all women are available and accessible (96,99,100). This includes universal access to contraception (101), emergency obstetric services, improving medical care (including mental health care [102–104]) and instituting appropriately integrated social, economic and cultural development programmes (105–107). This would effectively prevent the problem. In the long-term, social and economic development will be more cost-effective than medical treatment, but more importantly, it will be highly sustainable. In the interim period, a holistic approach to medical and surgical treatment (108), rehabilitation and follow-up in the community would be the most appropriate.

In order that prevention is instituted and sustained, it is important that training in antenatal care, emergency obstetrics and pelvic surgery is improved so that obstetric fistulas become obsolete (109). Until then, training in fistula surgery needs to be actively supported and promoted. Current surgical training in fistula surgery includes apprenticeships and the use of training manuals. But there is scope for curriculum development and regular teaching at an undergraduate and post-graduate level. Research at the post-graduate level is essential, as there is a need to understand and improve on surgical outcomes (110), patient management and preventative strategies. Publication of such data, in tandem with multicentre work, would be encouraged.

## 3.8.1 Recommendations

Based on the evidence in the literature and the work currently in progress in the field of fistula management, our recommendations would be classified thus:

**Grade A Recommendations** 

- Promotion and use of standardized competency-based training manual
- Professional training with certification/accreditation in partnership with ISOFS, FIGO, PAUSA, SIU and other professional bodies
- Access to training resources and to specialized trainers

Grade B Recommendations

- Flexible access to training centres
- Acceptance and strengthening of different training models

Grade C Recommendations

- Undergraduate and post-graduate teaching
- Support or membership of dedicated professional society

## 3.8.2 Future research

Though many papers and books have been written about obstetric fistula, the levels of evidence for much of the research remains at level 3–5, as many of the reports are based on personal case series. There is a great need for research in this area, and some of the suggestions by the group include:

#### Surgical outcome data:

- Facility-specific factors: catheterization policy, use of prophylactic antibiotics, type of anaesthesia
- Patient-specific factors: type/classification of fistula, size and character of fistula, etiology
- Recurrence of fistula: why? Is it because of failed counselling, limited access to hospital, or other factors?

#### Audit:

- Audit of use of different surgical techniques (111)
- Audit of use of the competency-based manual (trainees or trainers)
- Audit from fistula units or hospitals carrying out fistula surgery: number and complexity of cases (36,112)
- Publications from local centre and multicentre studies

#### Prevention and Social Reintegration:

- Role of caesarean section after fistula surgery: is it mandatory, what guidelines may we offer?
- Prevention factors: is it failure/lack of antenatal care services, is it cephalopelvic disproportion, is it lack of access to caesarean section, and is it lack of pelvic surgery training? (113)
- Social reintegration and rehabilitation: how easy is it for the patient to regain her position back in her community, has the patient gained access to work, does the patient have access to post-surgery physiotherapy and counselling, are the hospitals addressing cultural and religious issues?

## 3.9 Conclusion

It is quite clear that the unmet needs in obstetric fistula management are many. It is only by holistically tackling each aspect of the needs outlined above that they can be eventually met. In order to achieve this end, the fistula community needs to be unified, and training programmes need to be standardized so that outcomes improve (5,41,49,59,66,114,115). Prevention (3,28,35,94,113) and social reintegration must be focal points (9,11,35,80,105,106). Although all of these issues are important, the social and economic development of "at-risk" girls or women perhaps supersedes them (20,104,116–119). Without socioeconomic advances, many unmet needs may remain unmet. Thus in order to achieve the WHO aim of better health for all mothers, raising awareness (120,121), preventative strategies (96), training (57,91) and research (122) remain key factors in meeting the needs of obstetric fistula patients.

## 3.10 References

- 1. Gifford RR J. Marion Sims (1813–1883) and the vesicovaginal fistula. J S C Med Assoc. 1971;67(6):271–5.
- Gessessew A, Mesfin M. Genitourinary and rectovaginal fistulae in Adigrat Zonal Hospital, Tigray, north Ethiopia. Ethiop Med J. 2003; 41(2):123–30.
- 3. Zheng AX, Anderson FW. Obstetric fistula in low-income countries. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2009; 104(2):85–9.
- Uprety DK, Subedi S, Budhathoki B, et al. Vesicovaginal fistula at tertiary care center in eastern Nepal. JNMA J Nepal Med Assoc. 2008;47(171):120–2.
- 5. Browning A. Obstetric fistula: current practicalities and future concerns. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19(3):333-4.
- Sombie I, Kambou T, Conombo SG, et al. [Retrospective study of urogenital fistula in Burkina Faso from 2001 to 2003]. [Article in French] Med Trop (Mars). 2007;67(1):48–52.
- 7. Jokhio AH, Kelly J. Obstetric fistulas in rural Pakistan. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2006;95(3):288-9.
- Sachdev PS, Hassan N, Abbasi RM, et al. Genito-urinary fistula: a major morbidity in developing countries. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2009;21(2):8–11.
- 9. Leung TY, Chung TK. Severe chronic morbidity following childbirth. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2009;23(3):401–23.
- 10. Muleta M, Fantahun M, Tafesse B, et al. Obstetric fistula in rural Ethiopia. East Afr Med J, 2007;84(11):525–33.
- 11. Yeakey MP, Chipeta E, Taulo F, *et al.* The lived experience of Malawian women with obstetric fistula. Cult Health Sex. 2009;11(5):499–513.
- 12. Tebeu PPM, de Bernis L, Doh AS, *et al.* Risk factors for obstetric fistula in the Far North Province of Cameroon. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2009;107(1):12–5.
- Ndiaye P, Amoul Kini G, Adama F, et al. [Obstetric urogenital fistula (OUGF): cost analysis at the Niamey National Hospital (Niger)]. [Article in French] Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique. 2009;57(5):374–9.
- 14. Ndiaye P, Amoul Kini G, Abdoulaye I, *et al.* [Epidemiology of women suffering from obstetric fistula in Niger]. [Article in French] Med Trop (Mars). 2009;69(1):61–5.
- 15. Murk W. Experiences with obstetric fistula in rural Uganda. Yale J Biol Med. 2009;82(2):79-82.
- 16. Ramphal, SR, et al. An audit of obstetric fistulae in a teaching hospital in South Africa. Trop Doct. 2008;38(3):162-3.
- 17. Nathan LM, Rochat CH, Grigorescu B, *et al.* Obstetric fistulae in West Africa: patient perspectives. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009; 200(5):e40–2.
- 18. Wall LL. Fitsari 'dan Duniya. An African (Hausa) praise song about vesicovaginal fistulas. Obstet Gynecol. 2002;100(6):1328–1332.
- 19. Lewis A, Kaufman MR, Wolter CE, *et al.* Genitourinary fistula experience in Sierra Leone: review of 505 cases. J Urol. 2009;181(4):1725–31.
- 20. Leke RJ, Oduma JA, Bassol-Maygoitia S, *et al.* Regional and geographical variations in infertility: effects of environmental, cultural, and socioeconomic factors. Environ Health Perspect. 1993;101 (Suppl 2):3–80.
- 21. Husain A, Polan ML, Morgan M, *et al.* Eritrean women's project response to Wall paper: "Hard questions concerning fistula surgery in Third World countries". J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2007;16(2):281–2.
- 22. Diab, AE. Uterine ruptures in Yemen. Saudi Med J. 2005;26(2):264-9.
- 23. Savan K, Ekin M, Kupelioglu L, *et al.* Surgical repair of genitourinary fistulae: comparison of our experience at Turkey and Niger. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2010;282(6):649–53. Epub 2009 Dec 6.
- 24. Coyaji, BJ. Maternal mortality and morbidity in the developing countries like India. Indian J Matern Child Health. 1991;2(1):3-9.
- 25. Rao, KB. How safe motherhood in India is. J Indian Med Assoc. 1995;93(2):41-2.

- 26. Hafeez M, Asif S and Hanif H. Profile and repair success of vesico-vaginal fistula in Lahore. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2005;15(3):142-4.
- 27. Islam AL, Begum A. A psycho-social study on genito-urinary fistula. Bangladesh Med Res Counc Bull. 1992;18(2):82–94.
- Singh S, Chandhiok N and Singh Dhillon B. Obstetric fistula in India: current scenario. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2009;20(12):1403–5.
- 29. Kochakarn W, Pummangura W. A new dimension in vesicovaginal fistula management: an 8-year experience at Ramathibodi hospital. Asian J Surg. 2007;30(4):267–71.
- Ahmed S, Genadry R, Stanton C, et al. Dead women walking: neglected millions with obstetric fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99 (Suppl 1):S1–3.
- 31. Wall LL. Obstetric vesicovaginal fistula as an international public-health problem. Lancet. 2006;368(9542):1201-9.
- 32. Donnay F, Ramsey K. Eliminating obstetric fistula: progress in partnerships. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2006;94(3):254–61.
- Obstetric Fistula: Guiding Principles for Clinical Management and Programme Development; Integrated Management of Pregnancy and Childbirth (IMPAC). World Health Organization. 2006.
- Audu BM, Kullima AA, Bako B. Epidemiology of vesico-vaginal fistula: no longer a calamity of teenagers. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2008;28(4):432–3.
- 35. Shefren JM. The tragedy of obstetric fistula and strategies for prevention. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009;200(6):668–71.
- 36. Browning A. Obstetric fistula: clinical considerations in the creation of a new urethra and the management of a subsequent pregnancy. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99 (Suppl 1):S94–7.
- Waaldijk, K. Immediate indwelling bladder catheterization at postpartum urine leakage-personal experience of 1200 patients. Trop Doct. 1997;27(4):227–8.
- 38. The Hamlin Trust: a good medical cause. Med J Aust. 1974;2(23):830.
- 39. Gueye S.M., et al. [Vesicovaginal fistulas. Etiopathogenic and therapeutic aspects in Senegal]. J Urol (Paris). 1992;98(3):148-51.
- Obi SN, Ozumba BC, Onyebuchi AK. Decreasing incidence and changing aetiological factors of vesico-vaginal fistula in southeast Nigeria. J Obstet Gynaecol, 2008. 28(6):629–31.
- 41. Browning A, Menber B. Women with obstetric fistula in Ethiopia: a 6-month follow up after surgical treatment. BJOG. 2008;115(12):1564–9.
- 42. Wall LL, Karshima JA, Kirschner C, *et al.* The obstetric vesicovaginal fistula: characteristics of 899 patients from Jos, Nigeria. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004;190(4):1011–9.
- Arrowsmith, SD. The classification of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulas: a call for an evidence-based approach. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S25–7.
- Olusegun AK, Akinfolarin AC, and Olabisi LM. A review of clinical pattern and outcome of vesicovaginal fistula. J Natl Med Assoc. 2009;101(6):593–5.
- Raassen TJ, Verdaasdonk EG, Vierhout ME. Prospective results after first-time surgery for obstetric fistulas in East African women. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19(1):73–9.
- 46. Wall LL, Wilkinson J, Arrowsmith SD, et al. A code of ethics for the fistula surgeon. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2008;101(1):84-7.
- 47. Morgan MA. Another view of "humanitarian ventures" and "fistula tourism". Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct, 2007;18(6):705-7.
- 48. Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Lassey AT, *et al.* Humanitarian ventures or 'fistula tourism? The ethical perils of pelvic surgery in the developing world. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2006;17(6):559–62.
- 49. Nardos R, Browning A, Member B. Duration of bladder catheterization after surgery for obstetric fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2008;103(1):30–2.
- 50. Waaldijk K. The immediate management of fresh obstetric fistulas. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004;191(3):795-9.

- 51. Okonofua, F. Reducing the scourge of obstetric fistulae in sub-Saharan Africa: a call for a global repair initiative. Afr J Reprod Health. 2005;9(2):7–13.
- 52. Waaldijk K. Surgical classification of obstetric fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1995;49(2):161-3.
- 53. Goh JT, Krause HG, Browning A, *et al.* Classification of female genito-urinary tract fistula: Inter- and intra-observer correlations. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2009;35(1):160–3.
- 54. MacDonald P, Stanton ME. USAID program for the prevention and treatment of vaginal fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99 (Suppl 1):S112–6.
- 55. Donnay F, Weil L. Obstetric fistula: the international response. Lancet. 2004;363(9402):71–2.
- 56. Cook RJ, Dickens BM, Syed S. Obstetric fistula: the challenge to human rights. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2004;87(1):72–7.
- 57. Elneil S, Browning A. Obstetric fistula a new way forward. BJOG. 2009;116(Suppl 1):30–2.
- 58. Miller S, Lester F, Webster M, et al. Obstetric fistula: a preventable tragedy. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2005;50(4):286–94.
- 59. Akporiaye LE, Oguike TC, Evbuomwan I. Genito-urinary reconstruction in southern Nigeria. West Afr J Med. 2009;28(2):126-9.
- Mubeen RM, Naheed F, Anwar K. Management of vesicovaginal fistulae in urological context. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2007;17(1):28–31.
- 61. Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD. The "continence gap": a critical concept in obstetric fistula repair. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2007;18(8):843–4.
- 62. Browning A. Risk factors for developing residual urinary incontinence after obstetric fistula repair. BJOG. 2006;113(4):482-5.
- 63. Browning A. A new technique for the surgical management of urinary incontinence after obstetric fistula repair. BJOG. 2006;113(4):475-8.
- 64. Browning A. Prevention of residual urinary incontinence following successful repair of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistula using a fibro-muscular sling. BJOG. 2004;111(4):357–61.
- Nardo R, Browning A, Chen CC. Risk factors that predict failure after vaginal repair of obstetric vesicovaginal fistulae. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009;200(5):578 e1–4.
- Goh JT, Browning A, Berhan B, et al. Predicting the risk of failure of closure of obstetric fistula and residual urinary incontinence using a classification system. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19(12):1659–62.
- 67. Husain A, Johnson K, Glowacki CA, et al. Surgical management of complex obstetric fistula in Eritrea. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2005;14(9):839-44.
- 68. Gutman RE, Dodson JL, Mostwin JL. Complications of treatment of obstetric fistula in the developing world: gynatresia, urinary incontinence, and urinary diversion. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S57–64.
- Ascher-Walsh CJ, Capes TL, Lo Y, et al. Sling procedures after repair of obstetric vesicovaginal fistula in Niamey, Niger. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2010;21(11):1385–90.
- Patwardhan SK, Sawant A, Ismail M, et al. Simultaneous bladder and vaginal reconstruction using ileum in complicated vesicovaginal fistula. Indian J Urol. 2008;24(3):348–51.
- 71. Oom DM, Gosselink MP, Van Dijl VR, *et al.* Puborectal sling interposition for the treatment of rectovaginal fistulas. Tech Coloproctol. 2006;10(2):125–30; discussion 130.
- Onuora VC, Oguike TC, Adekanye A, et al. Appendico-vesicostomy in tile management of complex vesico-vaginal fistulae. Niger J Clin Pract. 2006;9(1):89–90.
- Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Hancock B. Ethical aspects of urinary diversion for women with irreparable obstetric fistulas in developing countries: response to comments by Morgan and Husain. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2009. Jan 10. Epub ahead of print.
- 74. Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Hancock B. Ethical aspects of urinary diversion for women with irreparable obstetric fistulas in developing countries. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19(7):1027–30.
- 75. Genadry RR, Creanga AA, Roenneburg ML, et al. Complex obstetric fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S51-6.

- 76. Arrowsmith SD. Urinary diversion in the vesico-vaginal fistula patient: general considerations regarding feasibility, safety, and follow-up. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S65–8.
- 77. Ojengbede OA, Morhason-Bello IO, Shittu O. One-stage repair for combined fistulas: myth or reality? Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S90–3.
- 78. de Bernis L. Obstetric fistula: guiding principles for clinical management and programme development, a new WHO guideline. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S117–21.
- 79. Kelly J, Winter HR. Reflections on the knowledge base for obstetric fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S21-4.
- 80. Hassan MA, Ekele BA. Vesicovaginal fistula: do the patients know the cause? Ann Afr Med. 2009;8(2):122-6.
- Tebeu PM, de Bernis, Boisrond L, et al. [Knowledge, attitude and perception about obstetric fistula by Cameroonian women]. [Article in French] Prog Urol. 2008;18(6):379–89.
- 82. Ng'ang'a N. Women of the courtyard. A nurse's journey to treat obstetric fistulae in Niger. AWHONN Lifelines. 2006;10(5):410-7.
- 83. Cole A. Publicity will highlight problem of obstetric fistula. BMJ. 2006. 333(7557):8.
- 84. Bangser M. Obstetric fistula and stigma. Lancet. 2006;367(9509):535-6.
- 85. Transfer of Learning: a Guide to Strengthening Performance of Health Care Providers. IntraHealth (PRIME II Project) and JHPIEGO. 2002. [Internet]. Available from: http://www.intrahealth.org/tol/
- 86. Creanga AA, Ahmed S, Genadry RR, *et al.* Prevention and treatment of obstetric fistula: identifying research needs and public health priorities. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S151–4.
- 87. Ojengbede OA, Morhason-Bello IO. Local anesthesia: an appropriate technology for simple fistula repair. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S75–8.
- Lassey AT. Simple fistulas: diagnosis and management in low-resource settings a descriptive report. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S47–50.
- 89. Counseling the obstetric fistula client: a training curriculum, working draft. EngenderHealth. 2006.
- 90. Kirkpatrick D. Evaluating Training Programs. San Francisco: Berret Koehler Publisher Inc. 1994
- 91. Bangser M. Fistula Training Models. Women's Dignity Project, 2004.
- 92. Wall LL. Where should obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulas be repaired: at the district general hospital or a specialized fistula center? Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S28–31.
- 93. Nielsen HS, Lindberg L, Nygaard U, *et al.* A community-based long-term follow up of women undergoing obstetric fistula repair in rural Ethiopia. BJOG. 2009;116(9):1258–64.
- Wegner MN, Ruminio J, Sinclair, E, et al. Improving community knowledge of obstetric fistula prevention and treatment. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S108–11.
- Velez A, Ramsey K, Tell K. The Campaign to End Fistula: what have we learned? Findings of facility and community needs assessments. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S143–50.
- Norman AM, Breen M, Richter HE. Prevention of obstetric urogenital fistulae: some thoughts on a daunting task. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2007;18(5):485–91.
- 97. Mohammad RH. A community program for women's health and development: implications for the long-term care of women with fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S137–42.
- Meyer L, Ascher-Walsh CJ, Norman R, et al. Commonalities among women who experienced vesicovaginal fistulae as a result of obstetric trauma in Niger: results from a survey given at the National Hospital Fistula Center, Niamey, Niger. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2007;197(1):90 e1–4.
- 99. Nour NM. Child marriage: a silent health and human rights issue. Rev Obstet Gynecol. 2009;2(1):51-6.
- Turan JM, Johnson K, Polan ML. Experiences of women seeking medical care for obstetric fistula in Eritrea: implications for prevention, treatment, and social reintegration. Glob Public Health. 2007;2(1):64–77.

- 101. Tsui AO, Creanga AA, Ahmed S. The role of delayed childbearing in the prevention of obstetric fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S98–107.
- Ahmed S, Holtz SA. Social and economic consequences of obstetric fistula: life changed forever? Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S10–5.
- 103. Browning A, Fantahun W, Goh JT. The impact of surgical treatment on the mental health of women with obstetric fistula. BJOG. 2007;114(11):1439–41.
- 104. Aina OF. An overview of the socio-cultural and psychiatric aspects of women's reproductive health in West Africa. Niger Postgrad Med J. 2007;14(3):231–7.
- 105. Roush KM. Social implications of obstetric fistula: an integrative review. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2009;54(2):e21–33.
- Gharoro EP, Agholor KN. Aspects of psychosocial problems of patients with vesico-vaginal fistula. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2009;29(7):644–7.
- 107. Muleta M, Hamlin EC, Fantahun M, *et al.* Health and social problems encountered by treated and untreated obstetric fistula patients in rural Ethiopia. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2008;30(1):44–50.
- Shittu OS, Ojengbede OA, Wara LH. A review of postoperative care for obstetric fistulas in Nigeria. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S79–84.
- 109. Rosenfield A, Min CJ, Freedman LP. Making motherhood safe in developing countries. N Engl J Med. 2007;356(14):1395–7.
- Jatoi N, Jatoi NM, Shaikh F, et al. Key to successful vesico-vaginal fistula repair
   –an experience of urogenital fistula surgeries
   and outcome at gynaecological surgical camp-2005. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2008;20(2):125–7.
- 111. Goh J, Krause H. Modified vaginal surgical technique for the management of the lateral vesico-vaginal fistulae. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19(5):677–80.
- 112. Browning A. The circumferential obstetric fistula: characteristics, management and outcomes. BJOG. 2007;114(9):1172-6.
- 113. Glauser W. Finding a balance in the treatment and prevention of obstetric fistula. CMAJ. 2008. 178(12):1527–9.
- 114. Semere L, Nour NM. Obstetric fistula: living with incontinence and shame. Rev Obstet Gynecol. 2008;1(4):193-7.
- 115. Browning A. Pregnancy following obstetric fistula repair, the management of delivery. BJOG. 2009;116(9):1265–7.
- 116. Purwar B, Panda SN, Odoqwu SO, *et al.* Recto-vaginal sex leading to colostomy and recto-vaginal repair. Int J STD AIDS. 2008;19(1):57–8.
- 117. Onsrud M, Siøveian S, Luhiriri R, *et al.* Sexual violence-related fistulas in the Democratic Republic of Congo. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2008;103(3):265–9.
- 118. Zeidan A , Abdella A. Destructive vaginal deliveries at a teaching hospital in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. Ethiop Med J. 2007;45(1):39-45.
- 119. Henrion R. [Female genital mutilations, forced marriages, and early pregnancies]. [Article in French] Bull Acad Natl Med. 2003;187(6):1051–66.
- 120. Ramsey K, Iliyasu Z, Idoko L. Fistula Fortnight: innovative partnership brings mass treatment and public awareness towards ending obstetric fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S130–6.
- 121. Bangser M. Strengthening public health priority-setting through research on fistula, maternal health, and health inequities. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S16–20.
- 122. Prevention and Treatment of Obstetric Fistula: Identifying Research Needs and Public Health Priorities. Proceedings of a meeting, July 28–29, 2005. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99(Suppl 1):S1–154.

free & husband & training estee re, lau (;/ 6 sexua Hio Cor skilled

## Committee



# **C**4

## Surgical Treatment of Obstetric Fistula

### CHAIR

Dirk de Ridder, Belgium

### MEMBERS

Kabiru Abubakar, Nigeria Tom Raassen, Kenya Biruk Tafesse, Ethiopia Kees Waaldijk, Nigeria Consultant: Edward Stanford, United States

# Committee

# CONTENTS

## Surgical Treatment of Obstetric Fistula

4.1	Backgrou	ind	91
4.2	Literature	e Searching Strategy	91
4.3	Introduct	ion	92
	4.3.1	Main continence factors	93
4.4	Pre-opera	ative Care	94
4.5	Classifica	ition of Fistula	95
	4.5.1	The Waaldijk classification	96
	4.5.2	The Goh classification	99
	4.5.3	Classification systems and outcome	99
	4.5.4	Assessing bladder function	100
4.6	Fistula Tr	eatment	100
	4.6.1	The early fistula	100
	4.6.2	Surgical exposure and surgical approach	102
	4.6.3	Types of incisions	102
	4.6.4	Surgical closure	105
	4.6.5	Protecting the closure and achieving continence	107
	4.6.6	Anti-incontinence procedures	108

# Committee

4.7	Postoperative Care	112
	4.7.1 Catheter drainage	112
	4.7.2 Infection	112
	4.7.3 Bladder training and pelvic floor rehabilitation	113
4.8	Rectovaginal Fistula (RVF)	113
4.9	Quality of Life	116
4.10	Pregnancy Post-fistula Repair	116
4.11	Irreparable Fistula	117
4.12	Recommendations	118
	4.12.1 Assessment	118
	4.12.2 Treatment	118
	4.12.3 After care	119
4.13	Research priorities	119
	4.13.1 Assessment	119
	4.13.2 Treatment	119
	4.13.3 After care	119
4.14	References	120

happiness ome Fid nt fertile economic empowerment free relationships sexual life Ō socialise intercourse f= 5 better life

## 4.1 Background

Obstetric fistulas remain a challenge for many developing countries. There is a direct relationship between the occurrence of obstetric fistula and the availability and quality of prenatal, perinatal and postnatal care. The fight against obstetric fistulas has many aspects of which surgical closure of the fistula is only one. Due to the extent of the problem worldwide, the general lack of funds, training facilities and local and national government support, it will be impossible to train the necessary number of fistula surgeons to provide Committee 4 with hospitals that can admit fistula patients, or to offer these surgeons a sustainable income based on their fistula work. Therefore, prevention by improving maternal health care is of utmost importance to eliminate this awful condition from developing countries.

## 4.2 Literature Searching Strategy

Recently the literature on obstetric fistula was reviewed by the ICUD (International Consultation on Urologic Diseases). This manuscript builds on the publication from 2009 (1). Mainly the articles published between 2007 and 2010 were analyzed and reported. From the standpoint of evidencebased medicine, the literature on fistulas remains disappointing. A total of 601 articles were identified using search engines such as PubMed and SUMSearch, of which 149 were published during the last three years. Out of this literature, only 17 surgical articles could be identified. Most of the published articles were observational studies. Currently, there are no evidence-based guidelines or well-designed randomized controlled trials. The major large-scale literature review is the last report from this committee (1). While there has been a gradual improvement in the number and quality of papers published on obstetric fistulas in the developing world over the last few years, none of these papers rises higher than level 3 evidence (2). There is still a generalized lack of reliable data on obstetric fistulas. For this consultation however, the committee made use of the large database and the monographs of Kees Waaldijk (3-6). Being able to integrate these data in this report, has allowed the committee to give a more balanced view of the current practices regarding the surgical treatment of obstetric fistula. Although these publications are not peer-reviewed, the abundance of data, the systematic data collection, its analysis, the number of patients and the absence of other data, justify the integration of these data in this report.

There is a clear need for more publications on obstetric fistula in the mainstream urological and gynecological journals. An effort will be made by the academic community to support the field workers of obstetric fistula in order to facilitate the peer-reviewed publication of their important clinical experience.

## 4.3 Introduction

Treating a woman with an obstetric fistula can be complex. An obstetric fistula can have a devastating impact on the social life of women and can come with significant comorbidities (**Table 1**). Restoring the integrity of the bladder and urethra will be the strongest predictor of successful social reintegration. However, closing the fistula will not always result in urinary (and/or fecal) continence. The persisting incontinence even after a successful closure of the fistula will be perceived by the patient, and those around her, as a failure. Restoring continence remains a challenge, especially in a fistula where the urethra and/or bladder neck have been destroyed.

One has to realize that the concepts of urethral closure and incontinence treatment were mainly developed by research in American or European postmenopausal women with stress incontinence and/or prolapse. Possibly these concepts cannot be extrapolated without further research to young premenopausal women with obstetric fistula. Women presenting with a complex obstetric fistula often have a substantial amount of peri-urethral, urethral, peri-vesical, vesical, cervical and pericervical tissue loss, which probably leads to different pelvic floor dynamics compared to postmenopausal women with stress incontinence and or prolapse where tissue weakness is the causal mechanism.

The role of the pubocervical fascia, the support of the urethra and the urethral sphincter complex must be understood, if one wants to engage in fistula surgery.

Musculoskeletal	Foot drop
Neurologic	Saddle block
Dermatologic	Ulceration, skin infection
Renal	Renal failure, hydronephrosis
Gynecologic	Amenorrhea, infertility
Systemic	Malnutrition, anemia
Social	Homelessness, divorce, isolation
Psychological	Depression, suicide

#### **TABLE 1** The Obstetric Fistula Complex

## 4.3.1 Main continence factors

A significant postoperative problem facing obstetric fistula patients is urinary incontinence, despite successful closure of the fistula. To maintain continence, several anatomic structures need to function in a coordinated way:

- intact bladder neck/urethrovesical junction
- intact urethral anatomy
- static suspension by pubo-urethral ligaments, and the connective tissue connection between the
  anterior urethra/anterior urethrovesical junction/anterior bladder neck, behind the posterior
  symphysis, which gives dynamic support from the pubocervical (endopelvic) fascia, through its
  attachment to pelvic floor muscle, thereby securing and stabilizing the urethra in its anatomic
  position.

In this classic view a good support at the mid-urethral level and a good external urethral sphincter ensure continence in women. The urethral lumen is compressed by the anterior external urethral sphincter against the back support by the urethrovaginal fibrous tissue and its fixation to the pubic bone (pubo-urethral ligaments), and the tensor fascia levator ani (urethropelvic ligaments).

These classic views are challenged by recent publications. Delancey *et al.* showed that urethral pressure and not urethral support was most important in maintaining continence (7). The importance of the pubo-urethral ligaments is questioned by these authors. Morgan *et al.* showed that a smaller striated external sphincter (length-area index on ultrasound measurements) was associated with stress incontinence and poorer pelvic floor muscle function (8). It was also shown that there is no correlation between levator ani defects after childbirth and urethral pressure, stating that the mechanisms that lead to levator ani defects can spare the urethra (9).

Although the measurement of urethral pressures is not always reproducible, nor predictive for the occurrence of stress incontinence, these new insights show that our understanding of continence and incontinence mechanisms in women is still incomplete. Accepting that the major urethral closure mechanism is located in the mid-urethra, the preservation or restoration of this part of the urethra should be a critical factor in achieving postoperative continence. The anatomical length of the damaged urethra can give some indication.

The classification systems of both Waaldijk and Goh take this into consideration, although their cutoff points are somewhat different. Both classifications indicate that if the urethra is less than 1 or 1.5 cm long, then the risk of postoperative incontinence is higher. This implies that any healthy urethral tissue has to be preserved, no matter how little is left.

Another important structure is the pubocervical fascia (part of the endopelvic fascia). In the case of obstetric fistulas, this fascia will show defects. During dissection, however, it can easily be identified and it will hold strong sutures while restoring the integrity of this fascia. This vesicovaginal connective tissue normally supports the urethra and acts as a backboard to which the urethra is compressed to achieve continence. Recreating this backboard by re-approximating the damaged pubocervical fascia and resuspending it, is considered to be important in restoring continence (10).

## 4.4 **Pre-operative Care**

Pre-operative assessment not only includes the clinical assessment and preliminary classification of the fistula, but also the general assessment of the patient. Since many women with obstetric fistula are treated as outcasts by their environment, their health status might be impaired due to poor access to food and shelter, and limited aid from their family members.

Paying attention to the "hole" or the fistula alone is inadequate. Other aspects of the obstetric fistula complex must be assessed. Comorbidities are often found in obstetric fistula patients: these may involve one or more physiologic and anatomic systems sometimes referred to as "field injury" or obstetric fistula complex (e.g. musculoskeletal, neurologic, dermatologic, renal, and gynecologic). In addition, social and psychological issues (depression, divorce and malnutrition) need to be identified and taken into account when treating the woman. If these factors could interfere with the surgical treatment, appropriate care has to be offered pre-operatively. If not, these problems should be dealt with once the fistula is closed (11).

The clinical assessment of the fistula can be limited to the confirmation of the presence of a fistula at that moment. If the presence of a fistula is doubtful from the history or clinical vaginal examination, a dye test can be performed or, when available, a cystoscopy can be done. Ideally, a workup and classification of the obstetric fistula should be done pre-operatively however many feel that the formal classification of the fistula should be done under anesthesia when the patient is on the operation table just before surgery.

Despite limited resources in many facilities in developing countries, good surgical practice should include a basic pre-operative evaluation to address factors that may affect the patient's intraoperative course and postoperative healing (e.g. anemia, infection including urinary tract and skin infections, intestinal parasites and malaria).

Some surgeons prescribe a drinking regime to their patients pre- and postoperatively to reduce the risk of peri-operative infections, to improve the bladder capacity, to reduce the incidence of clot formation due to hematuria and to evaluate the compliance of the patient with the peri-operative regime (5). Other authors do not adhere to this drinking regimen and seem to obtain similar results. There are no comparative studies available at this moment (12).

There are no good data in the literature on antibiotic prophylaxis for fistula repair. Some authors give no antibiotics, and use a forced-drinking regime to clear eventual urinary tract infection. Following international guidelines on antibiotic prophylaxis, one single prophylactic dose of a broad-spectrum antibiotic at induction of anesthesia before the surgery, could be recommended. A recent randomized study compared either 80 mg gentamycin IV given immediately after spinal anesthesia with the extended use of amoxicillin, chloramphenicol or cotrimexazole postoperatively. The proportion of women with successful fistula closure was similar among the two groups; 94.5% (92.1, 96.9) for a single dose of gentamycin vs. 89.4% (86.2, 92.6) for an extended dose of other antibiotics. Length of hospital stay, the proportion of women with fever, the rate of post-repair infection, and the incidence of post-operation stress incontinence and other residual incontinences were not different among the two groups. This study suggests that a single shot of antibiotics at induction is effective (13).

## 4.5 Classification of Fistula

There is currently no single accepted system for classifying fistulas and a wide variety of different systems have been proposed. Classification of fistulas is important only if the classification can predict the outcome of the repair, particularly in terms of fistula closure and the chance of persistent incontinence after successful fistula closure. In recent fistula classifications, the size of the fistula and involvement of the urethral closing mechanism have been taken into account (6,14). Some systems attempt to classify fistulas according to the anticipated degree of difficulty of the repair, while others classify them according to the type of surgical intervention that will be needed (12). Systems based on the anatomical appearance of the fistula do not necessarily predict the difficulty of repair, nor the postoperative prognosis. Goh *et al.* recently reviewed the existing classification systems (15). The importance of classification was stressed at a WHO meeting in 2008 in Geneva. Consensus was reached on the fact that authors should adhere to the following principles and descriptions when reporting on obstetrical fistula, and state the:

- 1. Classification system used
- 2. Fistula location
- **3.** Fistula size and dimensions (if the classification system used does not provide a detailed descriptive system)
- 4. Number of fistulas
- 5. Extent of vaginal scarring
- 6. Surgical approach and technique used

- **7.** Functional aspects should be described, looking at urological, anal and sexual function
- 8. Healing of the fistula
- **9**. Fistula closure rates (or anatomical healing)
- **10.** Persisting incontinence rates despite a successful fistula closure (or functional healing) should be noted separately

The Waaldijk and the Goh classifications are the most frequently used fistula classifications currently (15).

## 4.5.1 **The Waaldijk classification**

This classification system has been used for 25 years and large cohorts of patients have been studied. The classification system seems to correlate with outcome. Despite the large data set, there are no studies available on intra- and inter-observer variability.

The fistula is measured in centimetres (cm). The external urethral meatus is used as a reference point. The Waaldijk system uses three distinct categories:

- Type I fistula, not involving the urethra or bladder neck.
- Type II fistula, involving the urethra. Type II is subdivided into:
  - IIA: preservation of the distal urethra (distal 1 cm, measured from the external urethral meatus)
  - IIB: there is loss of the distal urethra, so that the distance between the external urethral meatus and the distal fistula edge is < 1cm
- Type III fistula, includes less common fistula such as vesico-intestinal or vesico-cutaneous fistula.
- Both type II fistula classes are further subclassified into:
  - a. not circumferential
  - **b**. denoting the circumferential nature of the defect
- The size of the fistula, anal function, and anal sphincter anatomy are classified as well. Scarring of the vagina is not taken into account (16–17).



#### Classification of fistulas according to anatomic/physiologic location

- I. Fistulas not involving the continence/closing mechanism
- II. Fistulas involving the continence/closing mechanism
  - A. without uretha or bladder neck involvement
    - a. without circumferential defect
    - b. with circumferential defect
  - B. with distal urethral (< 1cm from meatus) involvement
    - a. without circumferential defect
    - b. with circumferential defect
- III. Miscellaneous, e.g. ureter fistulas and other exceptional fistulas

#### Additional classification of fistulas according to size

small	medium	large	extensive
< 2 cm	2–3 cm	4–5 cm	≥6 cm

#### FIGURE 1A

Waaldijk classification diagram © Kees Waldijk





Fistula Type	Involvement of Continence Mechanism	Continence Prognosis
Туре І	No involvement	Good
Type II A a	Proximal mechanisms (bladder neck and proximal urethra): minimal involvement	Good
Type II A b	Circumferential destruction of proximal mechanisms: moderate involvement	Good if continence procedure is added to the fistula repair
Type II B a	Partial destruction of mid-urethral continence mechanisms: major involvement	Poor
Type II B b	Total destruction of mid-urethral continence mechanisms: extensive involvement	Very poor
Type III	No involvement	

#### TABLE 2 Involvement of the continence mechanism in relation to the fistula classification

#### **FIGURE 2**

The Waaldijk and Goh Classification of Vesicovaginal Fistula


### 4.5.2 **The Goh classification**

The classification of Goh also takes the external urethral meatus as a reference point from which the most distal edge of the fistula is measured in centimetres. There are four main categories, with three subcategories, depending on the fistula size. The amount of scarring is also noted (18). This classification has been used retrospectively to analyze failures after fistula repair. There are also limited data on intra-and inter-observer variability. The intra-observer variability was studied in 119 women. The three parameters (fistula type, size and scarring) all had Spearman coefficients between 0.82 and 0.87. The inter-observer variability was studied in 50 women, who were examined by two clinicians. Also in this study, the Spearman coefficients were high (0.84–0.86) with a Kappa of 0.74 (all p < 0.01) (19).

**Figure 2** summarizes the Waaldijk and Goh classification. This figure illustrates that there is a potential overlap between several categories of both Waaldijk and Goh and that a conversion from one classification to another is not straightforward.

### 4.5.3 **Classification systems and outcome**

The predictive value of any classification system by itself is limited. Most authors agree that the functional and anatomical result will be less optimal with increasing size of the fistula, increasing amounts of scarring and increased urethral involvement (20). The experience and skill of the fistula surgeon and the quality of the postoperative care are both important for the outcome of the patient, but this is difficult to measure.

Goh *et al.* used the Goh classification to analyze retrospectively the occurrence of stress incontinence after a successful fistula repair (14). Women with fistula closest to the urethral meatus had the highest risk for postoperative stress incontinence. Also women with significant vaginal scarring and circumferential fistulas had a higher risk for incontinence and for failure of the closure. These factors however did not correlate with the fistula closure rate, but only with the post-closure stress incontinence.

Lewis *et al.* reviewed 505 cases in Sierra Leone (21). They used univariate and multivariate analysis to correlate classification and outcome. Univariate significant variables were: 1) the age at which the fistula occurred, 2) the index pregnancy, 3) the location and surface area of the fistula,4) the urethral status and 5) the amount of fibrosis. In multivariate analysis, only the amount of fibrosis turned out to be significant in predicting outcome.

Nardos *et al.* performed a retrospective analysis of 1,045 patients of the Addis Ababa Hamlin Fistula Hospital (19). They found that a small bladder capacity, urethral destruction, circumferential involvement and severe vaginal scarring to be negative predictive factors.

On the other hand, Raassen *et al.* were unable to find predictive factors after multivariate analysis in a prospective study on 581 East African women (22). Only those women who were repaired within three months of the occurrence of the fistula had a better outcome (anatomical and social).

Waaldijk prospectively followed 845 women after a fistula type II Aa repair and concluded that scarring and previous operations did not significantly influence the continence rate (10). He also evaluated 1,716 consecutive women, showing that the postoperative incontinence rate correlates with the urethral involvement.

Туре	Number	Healed First Attempt	Final Healing	Incontinent
Туре І	243	238 (97.9%)	242 (99.6%)	1 (0.4%)
Type IIAa	888	868 (97.4%)	888 (100%)	11 (1.2%)
Type IIAb	366	333 (91.0%)	353 (96.4%)	30 (8.5%)
Type IIBa	87	80 (96.4%)	86 (98.9%)	14 (16.3%)
Type IIBb	132	114 (86.4%)	121 (91.7%)	59 (48.8%)

#### TABLE 3 Results as to Fistula Type in 1,716 Consecutive Early Closure Patients (1992–2001)

### 4.5.4 Assessing bladder function

Patients with obstetric fistula sometimes leak for many years before they are offered help. During that time, the bladder capacity will reduce since the bladder never fills to completion anymore, because of the constant leakage. The eventual role of a reduced or increased fluid intake in this process is unclear. After surgery, the bladder capacity may normalize gradually, but if bladder compliance is already reduced by fibrotic changes in the bladder wall, this will not happen. Pre-operative assessment of bladder size can be done by palpation of the bladder wall through the fistula opening. Waaldijk describes the measurement of the longitudinal bladder diameter (the length from urethral meatus to posterior bladder wall minus the length of the urethra). He describes four categories:  $\leq 4$  cm small, 5-6 cm moderate, 7-12 cm normal, > 12 cm increased (5). The relation of this classification with outcome is less clear, except for those in whom the bladder measurement is less than 6 cm.

## 4.6 Fistula Treatment

### 4.6.1 The early fistula

Little is known about the conservative treatment of vesicovaginal fistula. In most cases the diagnosis of a developing fistula is not made in the early days after a dystocic delivery or emergency caesarean section. Waaldijk published his personal experience with the conservative approach to fresh obstetric fistula (4,23,24). He reported that of 2,031 patients (Kano + Katsina 1985–2008) who received immediate catheter treatment, 1,579 (78%) were cured completely; however, this group also included patients with "overflow incontinence" and total incontinence grade III; if catheter treatment failed, they were operated immediately once the fistula was clean.

So in total, out of the 4,424 patients who were managed immediately within 75 days postpartum, 1,579 (36%) were completely cured by catheter while 452 had early repair after failed catheter and 2,393 had early repair straight away.

A recent evidence-based review by Bazi on the spontaneous closure of vesico-vaginal fistula after bladder drainage alone came to the following conclusions (25). It was not possible to correlate the etiology of the fistula (obstetric or gynaecologic) with the likelihood of success. Most fistulas reported cured by catheter drainage alone are small, usually less than 1 cm in diameter. It was not possible to establish a relationship between fistula size and outcome, although a 5 mm diameter has been set as an arbitrary cut-off limit.

Duration of drainage utilized varies between 10 days and six weeks, but has not been studied properly. No data are available on which type of catheter drainage yields the best results. Fresh fistulas are more likely to close than those of longstanding duration. Although a real cut-off time has never been established, healing by catheter after six weeks to three months postpartum can no longer be expected since then there is an established fistula where the bladder mucosa has united with the vagina mucosa. If a fistula is diagnosed early, catheter treatment is certainly a good option, especially if there is no immediate access to a fistula surgeon.

**FIGURE 3** 

Fistula of 3 weeks old. Sloughing of the vaginal wall, due to progressive necrosis of vaginal wall, vesicovaginal septum and bladder wall.



## 4.6.2 Surgical exposure and surgical approach

Fistula surgery requires some form of anesthesia. The position used during fistula surgery depends on the nature and location of the fistula to be repaired. For the vast majority of fistulas, a high lithotomy position with the buttocks pulled well over the edge of the operating table (steep head-down position), with or without episiotomies to provide enhanced exposure. Surgery in this position can safely be performed under spinal anaesthesia, which is the cheapest and easiest form of anesthesia for "low technology" settings in developing countries. Spinal anesthesia can be administered by the surgeon which is an advantage over general anesthesia (24). Vaginal surgery for small fistulas can be attempted under local anesthesia (26). Larger or more complex fistulas can be treated under spinal anesthesia, which is to be preferred over epidural or general anesthesia (27). Spinal anesthesia will yield better pain control than epidural anesthesia in rural settings (28).

### Episiotomy

After positioning the patient on the table the surgeon must obtain adequate exposure of the operative field. For simple cases without scarring, the use of a weighted Auvard speculum should be sufficient. Sometimes a (bilateral) episiotomy is required to increase the exposure and to allow a weighted Auvard speculum to be inserted. When required, the episiotomy is usually done laterally (at 5 and/or 7 o'clock) which is extended as far as necessary to gain adequate exposure. After the fistula closure and the closure of the vaginal wall, the episiotomy or episiotomies are closed. Next to a formal episiotomy, any additional vaginal bands or strictures need to be severed to allow adequate exposure of the surgical field.

### Vaginal versus abdominal

Experienced fistula surgeons may be able to repair most defects vaginally. Operating by the abdominal route increases surgical trauma, as well as the cost and time of the operation, but is still often performed for some high fistulas where vaginal access is problematic. If ureteral reimplantation is needed or if other concomitant procedures are necessary (e.g. colostomy) the abdominal approach may be preferred.

A retrospective study by Chigbu compared the outcome of juxta-cervical fistula from vaginal or abdominal approaches (29). Both approaches had similar cure rates and hospital stays, but the abdominal route was associated with a significantly higher need for blood transfusion. Moreover the study only compared juxta-cervical fistulas, which are relatively easy to access abdominally, whereas other types of fistulas are more difficult to access abdominally. General anaesthesia is also more expensive, more complicated to administer, carries more risks, and should therefore be reserved for those patients who need an abdominal approach.

### 4.6.3 **Types of incisions**

There are various types of incisions used to repair obstetric fistulas. The first operative technique was described in the first handbook on operative gynecology by the Dutch surgeon, Hendrick van Roonhuyse in 1663, who recommended the lithotomy position, good exposure by speculum, marginal denuding of the fistula edge and approximation of the fistula edge with sharpened stiff swan's quills; his principles are still valid. The great breakthrough came in 1852 when Marion Sims

utilized left-sided knee-elbow position, marginal denudation of fistula edge and one-layer closure of fistula with silver wire sutures (30). The techniques used to repair obstetrical fistulas have changed little since the pioneering reports by Simms over 100 years ago.

Obstetric fistulas come in different sizes and with the involvement of different anatomic structures. The incisions used to approach the fistula must serve different purposes:

- Providing a dissection plane that will allow adequate mobilization of the fistula tract and the surrounding bladder wall, allowing tension-free closure
- To allow adequate closure of the vaginal wall once the fistula has been closed
- To ensure safe dissection planes; avoiding ureters, urethra, vascular structures, rectum, etc.

Several types of surgical incisions have been described:

### Simple circumcision of the fistula and Latzko's partial colpocleisis procedure

Latzko described his fistula procedure in 1942 (27–29). The incision circumcises the fistula tract and a plane between vaginal wall and bladder wall is developed. The fistula is then closed by approximating the denuded bladder wall in one or two layers over the fistula tract. The fistula tract is not excised and the vaginal epithelium is closed separately. This partial colpocleisis repair is suitable for small fistulas located at the vaginal apex (e.g. after hysterectomy).

### J-shaped incision

The J-shaped incision circumcises the fistula tract and then extends the incision bilaterally in the shape of a "J", with the fistula sitting in the curvature of the "J". The J-shape can be directed anterior or posterior. By developing the vesicovaginal plane, two vaginal flaps are created. The shorter flap is excised to allow the larger flap to cover the fistula repair site, while avoiding superposition of both suture lines. This type of incision is also suitable for smaller fistulas without too much vaginal scarring.

### Flap-splitting technique or Hamlin's technique

While it is impossible to describe in detail for every type of fistula that might be encountered, the following is a general description of the flap-splitting technique of fistula repair, as practiced by the Hamlins in Ethiopia, and used in the repair of nearly 10,000 fistulas. This technique was already developed by Collins in 1861 (31). This technique is currently employed by the majority of fistula surgeons around the world. In the original technique, wide mobilization was recommended, while nowadays many fistula surgeons limit their dissection to what is needed to allow a tension-free closure of the fistula.

The proximal margins of the fistula are incised and the incision is then extended laterally from the angles on either side. Using traction and counter-traction, the tissue planes are developed. The distal margins of the fistula are also incised. Two flaps are then developed, again using traction and counter-traction, and sutured away to the labia. Other surgeons prefer to make a less extensive dissection and limit their dissection to the point where they can close the fistula without tension. The fistula edges should now be fully exposed and mobilized.

The mobilization should be adequate to be able to bring the margins of the bladder defect together under no tension. Often the angles of the fistula are adherent to the inferior pubic ramus on either side. Releasing these attachments close to the bone gains much more mobility. This dissection can extend into the space of Retzius. It is also noted that the majority of the mobilization comes from the proximal dissection, not from the distal dissection and the amount of dissection reflects this. The distal dissection should really be only enough to secure a suture. It is best not to overdissect here as this merely creates scarring around the urethra.

#### **FIGURE 4B**

Flap-splitting Technique

#### Identify ureters if needed and possible and catheterize them



Horizontal incision at fistula base



Anterior dissection as wide as needed



Tension-free closure pubocervical fascia

Supporting stitches or sling procedure

Most authors stress the role of the classification of the fistula in the selection of the surgical approach. By altering surgical technique according to the fistula classification, they try to prevent the high rate of postoperative incontinence. Waaldijk described his different surgical principles for the different types of fistula encountered (**Table 3**). Goh and Browning use their classification to recommend the use of a fibromuscular sling in patients with urethral involvement to reduce the incidence of postoperative stress incontinence.

#### **FIGURE 5**

Fibromuscular Sling Procedure SOLFA, used with permission



On both sides of the vagina fibromuscular tissue is harvested and brought together over the midline to act as a sling



Urethra without support



Dissection of fibromuscular flap



Harverting of fibromuscular flap



Forming a sling by bringing both fibromuscular flaps together over the midline

### 4.6.4 Surgical closure

In practiced hands, skilled fistula surgeons routinely achieve a closure rate of over 80% for simple fistulas at the time of first operation. Multiple papers reporting large case series support this contention (13,18,31–54).

In their large series of 2,484 obstetric fistula patients, Hilton and Ward reported successful fistula closure in 82.8% of patients at the first attempt (32). Successful closure was achieved in only 65% of those patients who required two or more operations. Another unpublished series of 400 patients from

the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital reported a successful closure rate of 92% but persistent urethral incontinence of 33% at the first operation, a closure rate of 73% and urethral incontinence rate of 50% at the second operation and a closure rate of only 52% with urethral incontinence of 75% at the third operation (Browning, personal communication). Others have a different opinion and achieve higher closure and continence rates up to 95% in a mixed cohort independent of previous surgery, when the surgery is tailored to the individual fistula characteristics and to the individual patient, taking into account the involvement of the closing mechanism.

There is a tendency to report only about the first-operation attempts; this distorts the success rate because a considerable number of patients are left out. It is most important that it is not the success at the first attempt, but at the final attempt, since many women with fistula only achieve success after several attempts.

A fairly general consensus concerning the basic principles of fistula repair was reached at the first "Fistula Surgeons Experts Meeting" at the WHO in Geneva 2004. These principles can be summarized as follows:

- The best chance for successful fistula closure is at the first operation and closure rates tend to diminish with each subsequent attempt at operative repair.
- The ureters should be identified and protected to ensure they are not cut or ligated during the fistula repair (if the site and size of the fistula puts them in proximity to the operative field).
- The fistula should be mobilized from the surrounding tissues at the time of repair.
- The fistula should be closed without tension at the site of repair. Care must be taken to avoid bladder mucosa being caught in between sutures.
- The repair must be "water-tight". To ensure this, a dye test is performed intra-operatively and if there is still leakage, the repair is sutured again. There is one very experienced fistula surgeon who does not do this, preferring to drain the bladder continuously for up to 4 weeks postoperatively.

Although these principles are valid and are practiced by most fistula surgeons, it remains difficult to establish good prognostic factors. The use of a classification system and the implementation of the correct surgical technique according to the type of fistula is certainly an advantage (**Tables 3** and 4). Some prognostic factors, like urethral damage, will influence the continence outcome even when the fistula closure was successful. More research is needed to establish better prognostic factors.

Even more difficult to measure is the influence of the expertise of the fistula surgeon. Like in other surgical domains, high volume centres will probably achieve better results. The learning curve of fistula surgery has never been established.

#### TABLE 4 Operation Principles

Туре	Bladder/urethra Direction of Closure	Pubocervical Fascia	Anterior Vaginal Wall Closure
Type I	Any according to common sense	No special measures	Adaptation
Type IIAa	Transverse	Transverse repair (+ fixation)	Transverse adaptation
Type IIAb	Circumferential end-to-end	Refixation	Transverse adaptation
Type IIBa	Longitudinal (+ transverse urethra tissue)	Fixation	Flap
Type IIBb	Longitudinal + circumferential non-urethral tissue	Refixation	Flap
Type III	Irrelevant	Irrelevant	Irrelevant

#### **FIGURE 6**

Resuspension of the Pubocervical Fascia in the Prevention of Stress Incontinence in Type IIAa Fistula. (Waaldijk 2008)



### 4.6.5 **Protecting the closure and achieving continence**

#### Supporting sutures

Any defect in the pubocervical fascia should be addressed, since this fascia is of importance in stabilizing and maintaining the mid-urethra, proximal urethra and bladder neck in its correct anatomical position (5). By restoring the pubocervical fascia and its bilateral attachment to the arcus tendineus fasciae pelvis, and thus the functional anatomy, a higher continence rate can be achieved (Waaldijk). However, identifying the arcus tendineus in a very scarred vagina might be difficult. In most cases a transverse defect exists, therefore the repair should be in the same direction. In all patients, if possible, the remnants of this strong fascia need to be identified and repaired. In contrast to the field of prolapse in postmenopausal women, the collagen qualities of this fascia in young African women are stronger. Restoring this fascia will create a backboard against which the external urethral sphincter can contract and against which the urethra can be compressed during abdominal pressure rises.

### Role of Martius flaps

There is debate as to whether or not a Martius bulbocavernosus flap or other flaps should be used in fistula repair. The argument has always been that such practices bring in a new blood supply to help nourish the injured tissues surrounding the fistula. One retrospective paper compared the surgical outcomes of operations involving similar fistulas repaired with and without the use of the Martius flap and demonstrated a higher successful closure rate when such a flap was employed (33). Another more recent retrospective analysis evaluated 400 patients in which comparable fistulas were repaired with and without the use of a flap. The analysis showed no differences between the two groups in closure rates or postoperative incontinence rates (34). Many experienced fistula surgeons now only use grafts under rare circumstances, such as when the urethra has to be reconstructed, when the tissues are particularly poor, or if there have been multiple previous attempts at repair. When the Martius flap is used as a sling, the flap does not add anything to achieving continence (Waaldijk). Moreover the procedure adds a significant surgical trauma to the already existing obstetric trauma. One prospective randomized controlled trial compared the use of a Martius flap to the use of a self-made fibrin glue (57). There was no statistical difference in outcome, but the authors stated that the use of fibrin glue allowed the fistula repair to be quicker and simpler.

### 4.6.6 Anti-incontinence procedures

### Preventing postoperative stress incontinence

Virtually all authors with extensive experience in the management of obstetric fistulas comment on the great difficulty in achieving postoperative continence in patients who have had extensive damage to the urethra, even if the defect itself has been closed successfully. Rates of postoperative urethral incontinence range between 6–50% (35) (59,60). Often the diagnosis of postoperative incontinence is given only if the patient suffers from severe incontinence while walking. If rigorous questioning is used to exclude any leakage with coughing or other exertion, the rate of postoperative incontinence increases dramatically. The type of postoperative incontinence is difficult to study. Stress urinary incontinence, urgency incontinence and overactive bladder (OAB), or mixed incontinence may be present (36). The differential diagnosis is difficult since urodynamics are not often available in developing countries. The use of validated questionnaires, translated into the local language, could be a significant step forward, but more research is needed.

The four risk factors that lead to a high rate of incontinence following fistula repair are: (61,62)

- **Urethral involvement** (odds ratio 8.4 for developing urethral incontinence postoperatively)
- Large size of the fistula (odds ratio 1.34 for each cm increase in size of the defect)
- Severe vaginal scarring (odds ratio 2.4 if the scarring is significant enough to prevent the introduction of a Sims speculum without relaxing episiotomies)
- Small bladder size (odds ratio 4.1 if the bladder capacity is less than 120 ml)

Surprisingly the presence of a circumferential defect doesn't seem to be a risk factor in this study, while other authors report it to be important. In a study on women with fistula, who had also undergone genital cutting, there was a slightly higher need to use a pubococcygeal sling at the time of the fistula repair (37).

In patients in whom all of the risk factors mentioned above are present, the postoperative incontinence rate may approach 100% (38). In light of this small success rate, some surgeons now suggest that two further principles of repair be maintained:

#### 1. Maintain the urethral length

It has been noted that post-repair fistula patients returning for further treatment of persistent urinary incontinence often have a shortened urethra. An unpublished series of 72 patients with post-fistula repair incontinence found an average urethral length of 1.4 cm in these women (Browning, personal communication). This suggests that continence might be improved if normal urethral length can be maintained at the time of fistula closure.

Vertical (as opposed to horizontal) repair of urethrovaginal fistulas has therefore been suggested. This appears to be possible in approximately 20% of such cases. In cases in which there is an urethrovesicovaginal defect, vertical repair of the urethral defect may improve success by lengthening the restored urethra, while the vesical defect can be repaired either vertically or horizontally. However, the risk of subsequent urethral stricture and obstructive voiding has not been assessed in this study.

In Waaldijk's classification of pubocervical fascia defects, a transverse closure of this type of urethrovesicovaginal fistula would make more sense, since the normal anatomy is restored in a better way, provided that a suspension of the neo-bladder neck can be achieved.

### 2. Support the urethra

For all urethral defects larger than 4 mm with a urethral remnant less than 2.5 cm, many fistula surgeons use an "anti-incontinence" procedure during the initial repair. Currently there are two widely used procedures:

- The first procedure sutures the pubocervical fascia to the *arcus tendineus fasciae* pelvis in a type of suspension operation. The fascia or muscle of the bladder is sutured on either side of the bladder neck area to the posterior aspect of the symphysis pubis or the arcus tendineus (24) (Figure 6). With the use of these principles, the continence rate of any type of fistula is higher than 95%, with only 6.8% incontinence rate in 1,716 patients. In a prospective study of 845 patients with a Waaldijk-type IIAa fistula, out of whom 138 who had had 1–6 previous, the final healing rate was 99.4%, with an incontinence rate of the closed fistula of 2.6% (10).
- The second procedure creates a sling of tissue to support the urethra. A pedicle of tissue is created on either side of the urethra from the lateral pelvic side wall. In theory, this involves the use of the pubococcygeus muscle, but more often it is simply a pedicle of fibro-muscular tissue or scar that can be harvested. The pedicles created on either side are then sutured together in the midline. (Figure 7). If this extra step is used, the incontinence rate after closure of complex fistulas can be reduced from 100% to 50% (38).

#### Treating postoperative stress incontinence

The overall incidence of post-repair stress incontinence varies between 6.7%, 14.2%, 17%, and 23.8% (14,15,64,65). Goh and Waaldijk both showed that the risk correlates with the fistula classification (6,18). In the study by Rijken *et al.*, the stress incontinence rate decreased spontaneously from 16.2% to 6.2% after 6 months (39). Although there may be spontaneous improvement in continence – with or without pelvic floor exercises – these data must be interpreted with care since 41% of the patients were lost to follow-up. The committee recommends that postoperative stress incontinence should not be treated invasively before six months.

Several surgical methods have been described for treating fistula patients with post-closure stress incontinence, including a sling or graft made of labial fat incorporating the bulbocavernosus muscle, remnants of the pubococcygeus muscle, a gracilis muscle flap, as well as fascial grafting (33,67). A Burch retropubic bladder neck suspension may work in a few patients (24), but in general the results of this approach have been disappointing. Carey and co-workers reported a small series of patients who had undergone previous fistula closure and who later underwent re-operation for stress incontinence. After urodynamic testing, nine women with severe genuine stress incontinence underwent a retropubic urethrolysis and pubovaginal sling procedure combined with placement of an omental J-flap. Four weeks after surgery, 78% were continent; however, this fell to 67% at 14 months follow-up (40).

An operation described by Waaldijk involves urethralization of the bladder neck: a longitudinal raphy or repair of the pubocervical fascia is performed, while the "vesicalized" portion of the proximal or mid-urethra or the bladder neck is supported again and shaped into a urethra. Following this, a fascio-colposuspension to the arcus tendineus is performed. Cure rates of 60–70% have been reported, but these results have not been replicated in other fistula centres and long-term follow-up is lacking (24). It may be that the fistula patients respond better to this treatment because of their young age and because of the pathophysiological differences between a postmenopausal woman with weakened tissues and a young fistula patient with strong, but partially destroyed tissue. On the other hand, organizing long-term follow-up in fistula patients is challenging, limiting the availability of good data.

The operation described by Browning involves urethralization of the bladder neck and creation of a "suspensory sling" from pubococcygeus muscle or fibrous tissue remnants along the pelvic sidewall. In a small series, 8 of 12 patients (67%) were completely cured in the short term (41), which is similar to the results of the post-fistula repair operation for urinary incontinence, described by Waaldijk (42). The results obtained with this relatively simple, low-cost operative procedure have not been replicated in other centres, nor are there long-term data on outcomes.

An alternative approach for those patients who fail a surgical procedure or who are deemed unsuitable for an attempt at surgical repair is to use a urethral plug (43). Although successful use of urethral plugs and various injectable materials has been reported, these technologies are not usually available in areas where obstetric fistulas are common. However, if an ongoing supply chain can be arranged, urethral plugs seem to work well for many women, with a high degree of patient satisfaction. Overactive bladder symptoms can often be treated with low-cost antimuscarinic drugs. In cases where there has been extensive loss of bladder tissue or marked reduction in bladder compliance due to fibrosis, augmentation cystoplasty can be performed, usually by interposing a segment of bowel. In some cases, urinary diversion may be indicated, but only after careful discussion of the issues involved with the patient.

Ascher-Walsh *et al.* studied the use of polypropylene sling procedures after the repair of obstetric fistulas in Niger. They studied 140 women with persisting incontinence after a successful fistula repair, of which 127 were available for follow-up after two months. Their results show that women who undergo sling surgery – although with different types of slings and small patient numbers – after a fistula repair have a lower success rate than Western women who get a sling for stress incontinence (**Table 5**). The high prevalence of detrusor overactivity, sphincter tissue loss and decreased bladder capacity are probable reasons for this difference (44). Tafesse *et al.* did a cross-sectional study of patients who underwent a retropubic urethrolysis and subsequent sling operation (45). They reported a 41% success rate and 8.9% retention, with a high complication rate of more than 30%.

Technique	N	% Dry	% Retention	OAB	De Novo Fistula	Persisting SUI
Fascia lata sling	96	25%	4%	16%	18.7%	35.4%
Rectus fascia sling	16	12.5%	6%	18.7%	12.5%	50%
Synthetic sling	15	33%	7%	0%	13.3%	26.7%

#### **TABLE 5**Ascher-Walsh Results

### Urethral reconstruction

Several types of urethral reconstruction have been described in the mainstream urology and pediatric urology literature. Some of those principles may apply to urethral reconstruction in fistula patients (38,55,59,72–84). However, in most cases, this may not be possible due to a lack of adequate healthy tissue. Alternatives may be to harvest tissue from the lateral vagina wall or sometimes by to advance bladder wall tissue. The most difficult, however, is to achieve continence and normal bladder emptying afterwards. Waaldijk recommends that the reconstructed urethra should always be fixed to the underlying pubocervical fascia.

Often, destruction to the vagina has been so extensive that rotational flaps are required in order to cover the defect (46).

Though in vaginal fistula repair, part of the bladder can be left uncovered (if there is no anterior vagina wall left or if it is totally fixed), the urethra must always be covered either by advancement or rotation flaps or by suturing the labia over it.

## 4.7 **Postoperative**

As with every surgery, in the immediate postoperative period, vital signs should be checked regularly to detect fluid imbalances, bleeding or anesthetic complications. As soon as the patient is able to get out of bed, ambulation should be encouraged.

## 4.7.1 Catheter drainage

After fistula repair the bladder should be kept on free drainage for 10–14 days. There is some weak evidence that 10 days of drainage is just as effective as longer drainage, assessed at six months followup (for fistulas of less than 3 cm diameter with mild to moderate scarring) (47). This change in catheter management could make a significant impact on the resources of hospitals where these operations are performed. If the time needed for postoperative bladder drainage could be reduced by four days, the capacity of the hospital to care for fistula patients would increase by 30%, just from this gain in efficiency. This argument, however, is not applicable to all fistula hospitals, since the setting and the use of patient hostels, rather than hospital beds, can alter the need for bed capacity considerably. Also, not all fistulas are less than 3 cm and others involve the urethra or are circumferential and the vagina is scarred. In all these cases, the surgeon might want the catheter to stay in at least 14 days or more. So the actual capacity would only increase perhaps by 15 or 20%.

Each day, the "3–Ds" of postoperative fistula repair are checked. These are whether the patient is Dry, Drinking enough and the catheter is Draining. The patient must be dry; that is, the fistula repair must be intact; drinking to ensure adequate irrigation of the bladder; and draining, that is, the catheter is not blocked. If the catheter does become blocked and the bladder fills, the repair is at risk of breaking from increasing tension on the repair site. If the catheter does become blocked and the repair ruptures, this may often be rectified by continuous prolonged catheter drainage. By ensuring an empty and relaxed bladder, the sides of the defect often come together and close, but this can take as long as 4–6 weeks to occur. The success rate is about 70% in such cases, less if the defect involves the urethra.

### 4.7.2 Infection

Postoperative infections need to be diagnosed adequately. The differential diagnosis of postoperative fever is not easy. First, malaria needs to be excluded (or treated empirically), as well as pneumonia. The operative site needs to be inspected. If there is abscess formation, this should be drained adequately. Waaldijk is the only author reporting on postoperative mortality. According to his data, infectious events (wound infection, malaria, sepsis, gastroenteritis) do occur in the immediate postoperative period, but can be consequences of native medicine, stroke, thromboembolism, etc. and may explain his 2% mortality. In recent years the mortality was reduced to 0.4%. Even eclamptic fits may occur and cause death in patients who have a history of eclampsia. They should receive magnesium sulfate or diazepam on the operative day to prevent this (Waaldijk, personal communication).

### 4.7.3 Bladder training and pelvic floor rehabilitation

Postoperatively, the bladder and urethra undergo changes. The bladder that has not been filled for a variable amount of time suddenly has to comply again with regular bladder filling and emptying. Also, the urethral sphincter will have undergone some degree of disuse atrophy. After the fistula repair, the recovery of these functions can take a variable amount of time.

It is unclear from the literature whether bladder training and pelvic floor therapy can improve these functions or shorten the recovery time, although personal experience of some authors indicates positive effects. Some promote bladder training by drinking classes and give basic information about pelvic floor muscle exercises. There is a need for prospective data.

## 4.8 **Rectovaginal Fistula** (RVF)

Rectovaginal fistulas appear to be less common than vesicovaginal fistulas in developing countries. In one (unpublished) series of 75 obstetric fistula cases from Ethiopia, only 6.7% were isolated obstetric rectovaginal fistulas and 84% were associated with significant vaginal scarring. Two of the 75 required a temporary diverting colostomy prior to repair; both were high fistulas adherent to the sacral promontory. This compares to 15% needing a diverting colostomy prior to RVF repair in Addis Ababa (Kelly, Kwast 1993). Waaldijk reports on the number of RVF repairs he personally operated between 1984 and 2008. Of the 18,563 patients he operated 12% had an RVF. In his larger database throughout other Nigerian fistula centres that he supervised, 2,587 patients out of 29,684 underwent surgery for RVF (8.7%) (6). He reports an 85% success rate.

### Classification of RVF

In the abdominal surgery literature few classification systems have been described.

Fry *et al.* classified the fistula as 1) high (close to the cervix), 2) low (near the dentate line) and 3) middle (in between high and low) (48).

Rosenhein *et al.* proposed a classification of five types based on anatomic differences and the functional importance of the perineal body (49) (**Table 6**).

Fistula Classification	Description
Туре I	Loss of perineal body without identifiable fistula
Type II	Loss of perineal body with a fistulous tract involving the lower third of the vagina
Type III	Fistulas of the lower third of the vagina with an intact or attenuated perineal body
Type IV	Fistulas involving the middle third of the vagina
Type V	Fistulas involving the upper third of the vagina

#### TABLE 6 Rosenhein's Classification System for Rectovaginal Fistula

Waaldijk also reported a classification system for rectovaginal fistula, which follows the same principles as his classification for vesicovaginal fistula, taking into account the eventual damage to the closing system and the size of the fistula (**Table 7**).

For the reference line, he uses a demarcation line 4–5cm from the vaginal posterior wall, to distinguish between fistula involving the anal continence mechanism, and those which do not affect this. Another important factor is the eventual (common) presence of a rectal stricture close to the site of the fistula, which needs to be taken into account during the repair.

#### TABLE 7 Waaldijk Classification System for Rectovaginal Fistula

- I. Proximal fistulas not involving the continence/closing mechanism
- a. without rectum stricture
- b. with rectum stricture (common)
- c. with circumferential defect (not common)
- II. Distal fistulas involving the continence/closing mechanism
- a. without sphincter ani involvement
- b. with sphincter ani involvement

#### III. Miscellaneous, e.g. ileo-uterine fistulas after instrumental abortion

Additional classification of fistulas according to size:

- Small: < 2 cm</li>
- Medium: 2-3 cm
- Large: 4–5 cm
- Extensive: ≥ 6 cm

**FIGURE 7** Type II b anal fistula. Perineal body is destroyed and external sphincter is split.



### Rectovaginal fistula repair

The basic principles of vesicovaginal fistula repair also apply to the repair of rectovaginal fistulas: mobilization of the fistula and a tension-free closure (48,60,87,89–92). The vaginal epithelium is incised around the circumference of the fistula and laterally from either angle. The vagina is reflected away and the bowel is mobilized, paying special attention to the release of any lateral attachments. Severe bleeding can occur along the lateral aspect of the bowel. The bowel muscularis is repaired in two layers, preferably in a horizontal plane to avoid creating strictures within the bowel lumen. The vagina is then repaired.

Waaldijk bases his surgical approach on the classification of the fistula. These are summarized in **Table 8**.

Fistula Classification	Surgical Approach
Type la	Transverse closure of rectum
Type Ib	With disruption of rectum stricture
Туре Іс	End-to-end anastomosis (after disruption of strictures); exceptionally combined abdomino- vaginal approach with colostomy
Type IIa	Longitudinal closure of anorectum
Type IIb	Meticulous reconstruction of all the structures involved
Type III	Depending upon the situation

## **TABLE 8** Surgical Approach to the Repair of Rectovaginal Fistula (RVF) Based on Waaldijk's RVF Classification

This classification, however, has no relationship to the surgical outcome. Only type Ic is considered to be difficult and to have a high complication rate. Only this type may need a temporary colostomy, according to Waaldijk (6).

Tafesse proposed a classification that takes into account the degree of rectal involvement, the tissue loss of the posterior vaginal wall, the accessibility of the proximal edge, the involvement of the anal sphincter and whether it is a primary or secondary repair (50). There are so far no published data on the usefulness of this classification.

Colostomy is normally not required in RVF repair. If in selected cases a colostomy is required, one must make sure that the repair is performed 2–3 weeks after the colostomy and that the colostomy is closed 4–5 weeks after successful RVF repair. Colostomy on its own is not a definitive solution for an RVF in an African context, where colostomy appliances are usually not available. More research is needed rectovaginal fistula.

## 4.9 Quality of Life

Quality of life (QOL) is poorly studied. There are some data on mental health showing that depression is more prevalent in fistula patients. In addition, it has been shown that mental health is positively influenced by a successful treatment of the fistula (51). There is a need to introduce standard questionnaires on QOL by translating them and validating them in the local languages. Since cell phones are now available in many African countries, the possibility of doing telephone follow-up interviews could be explored.

## 4.10 Pregnancy Post-Fistula Repair

The effect of fistula repair on subsequent pregnancy has been studied in Ethiopia (52). They followed a group of 49 women who had undergone fistula repair. There were three pregnancies within the group following the fistula repair and prior to the supervised deliveries in question. One ended in a miscarriage; one delivered on the road on her way to a hospital and had a stillbirth after 18 hours of labour; one delivered by assisted vaginal delivery in another hospital, presenting after two days of labour, had a repeat of her fistula and a stillbirth. The average time from fistula repair to delivery was 37.5 months (range 7–288 months).

Five patients had a planned elective caesarean as they were quite certain of their period dates. All of these had a live child. Forty-one patients had an emergency caesarean; two were performed following premature rupture of membranes (PROM) and the remainder at the onset of labour. One patient had twins (both were born alive) and one patient had a stillbirth. The fetus was alive at the onset of labour, but there was a delay in instituting the caesarean delivery within the government hospital by six hours and the child was stillborn, with the umbilical cord wrapped three times around the child's neck.

There were three vaginal deliveries; one was a precipitous labour, delivering a live child within 30 minutes of the onset of labour. The second was a mother at 26 weeks' gestation with severe malaria and premature delivery. The neonate died within 30 minutes of delivery; the mother fully recovered. The third was a spontaneous delivery at approximately 30 weeks' gestation. The neonate died within one hour of delivery. There were no recurrences of the obstetric fistula in any of the reported deliveries.

Thus, from 49 deliveries, there were 50 neonates (one set of twins) with the loss of three; two from prematurity and one from delayed institution of a caesarean section.

The optimal way of managing labour following obstetric fistula repair is to provide a waiting area for women as they approach term and perform a timely caesarean section. This should be at around term, in those women whose due dates are known with some confidence, or otherwise at the onset of labour.

## 4.11 Irreparable Fistula

Not all fistulas can be repaired at the first attempt. Some require more than one operation. Despite this, some fistulas cannot be closed to satisfaction. While everybody accepts that these patients exist, it was unclear on which criteria to base the decision to consider a patient being inoperable (53,54). The decision should be made by the most experienced surgeon available at the centre. Some patients who cannot be operated vaginally can still be helped by a urinary diversion. The decision to offer a urinary diversion (Bricker diversion or uretero-sigmoidostomy) has ethical and practical consequences that should be discussed in detail with the patient and her family before the surgery. Although the evaluation might be subjective and surgeon-dependent, the following factors were considered by the committee to be relevant in the decision-making process:

#### Patient-related factors

• Patients with a permanent poor general condition, in whom an extensive operation would be life-endangering

#### Fistula factors

- Most are extensive; Waaldijk type IIBb
- Extensive tissue loss of the anterior and lateral vaginal walls with extensive damage to pelvic floor musculature, with large bladder defect and exposed ureters retracted in the upper part of the vagina (eventual indication for diversion)

#### Incurable incontinence

- Small bladder capacity
- Loss of bladder compliance due to fibrosis

- Extensive urethral loss
- Extreme scarring
- Fixed bladder not allowing any mobilization
- Dissection carrying risk of major bleeding or additional urethral trauma
- Inability to create adequate urethral support due to extensive scarring

In these patients, the therapeutic options are limited. Conservative management is of course a possibility. In selected women, a urinary diversion might be considered. Uretero-sigmoidostomies can be used, taking into account that there is an eventual risk for the development of carcinomas at the uretero-sigmoidal anastomosis. Ileal conduits can be used if stoma bags can be provided. The experience with continent diversions is limited.

## 4.12 Recommendations

## 4.12.1 Assessment

Early detection of fistulas could improve by examining all women after their delivery or caesarean section, who suffered prolonged labour and are at risk of developing an obstetric fistula.

Associated pathologies should be actively searched for and taken into account in the treatment plan; all components of the "obstructed labour injury complex" should be examined.

Classification of fistula is recommended. Although many classification systems exist, the committee recommends the use of the Waaldijk classification, since it is supported by the largest amount of data (Level of Evidence 3).

The formal classification of the fistula should be done under anesthesia when the patient is on the operation table, just before surgery.

### 4.12.2 **Treatment**

Immediate management of the fistula by catheter and/or early closure will prevent the women from becoming outcasts (Level of Evidence 3).

A vaginal approach under spinal anesthesia is preferred.

A tension-free single layer closure of the bladder wall and closure of the vaginal wall in a separate layer are advocated. A Martius flap in primary obstetric fistula repair is not recommended.

In principle, most fistulas can be dealt with by vaginal approach, but an abdominal approach can be useful in some cases (e.g. concomitant reconstructive procedures). Advanced training and surgical skills are prerequisites for treating this type of fistula.

When reporting on outcome after fistula repair, authors should make a clear distinction between fistula closure rates and postoperative stress incontinence rates, and the time at which the follow-up was organized.

Prevention of postoperative stress incontinence must be added to the surgical procedure if the urethral closing mechanism is involved. This can be done by a good repair of the pubocervical fascia and refixation, or by adding a sling procedure (Level of Evidence 3).

### 4.12.3 After care

Surgical treatment of postoperative stress incontinence should only be considered six months after the fistula repair. There is no place for synthetic sling material in that setting.

A care program for failed repairs and for persisting incontinence after a successful repair needs to be installed.

A waiting home should be provided for women who become pregnant after a fistula repair to ensure that an elective caesarean section can be executed (Level of Evidence 3).

## 4.13 Research Priorities

### 4.13.1 Assessment

Concerning the classification of fistula, there is a need for more data on intra-/inter-observer variability of the existing systems.

The relationship between the classification and the surgical outcome of the fistula repair needs to be studied prospectively and preferably in a randomized-controlled way.

Techniques of quality of life assessment should be studied. Translation and validation in the local context of existing international questionnaires should be done.

### 4.13.2 **Treatment**

The optimal duration of indwelling catheterization in the treatment of early fistulas and in operated fistulas should be studied.

Comparative randomized studies are needed regarding the best techniques for the prevention of postoperative stress incontinence.

Studies are needed on the potential role of pelvic floor rehabilitation techniques in the treatment of postoperative stress incontinence.

### 4.13.3 After care

Long-term data and follow-up, especially towards fertility and subsequent pregnancies, and their outcomes are needed.

## 4.14 References

- 1. De Ridder D, Badlani GH, Browing A, *et al.* Fistula in the developing world. In: Abrams P, Cardozo L, Khoury S, Wein A, editors. Incontinence. 4th Edition ed. Paris: Healt Publications Ltd.; 2009. p. 1419–58.
- 2. Abrams P, Khoury S. International Consultation on Urological Diseases: Evidence-based medicine overview of the main steps for developing and grading guideline recommendations. Neurourol Urodyn. 2010;29(1):116–8.
- Waaldijk K. Evaluation report XIV on VVF project in Northern Nigeria and Niger. Katsin, Nigeria: Babbar Ruga Fistula Hospital; 1998.
- 4. Waaldijk K. The immediate management of fresh obstetric fistulas. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004 Sep;191(3):795–9.
- 5. Waaldijk K. Obstetric fistula surgery: art and science. 1st ed. Katsina, Nigeria: Waaldijk, K.; 2008.
- 6. Waaldijk K. National VVF project in Nigeria. 25 years of obstetric fistula surgery 1984–2008. Katsina, Nigeria; 2008.
- 7. DeLancey JO, Trowbridge ER, Miller JM, *et al.* Stress urinary incontinence: relative importance of urethral support and urethral closure pressure. J Urol. 2008 Jun;179(6):2286–90; discussion 90.
- 8. Morgan DM, Umek W, Guire K *et al.* Urethral sphincter morphology and function with and without stress incontinence. J Urol. 2009 Jul;182(1):203–9.
- Brincat CA, Delancey JO, Miller JM. Urethral closure pressures among primiparous women with and without levator ani muscle defects. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2011 May 27.
- 10. Waaldijk K. Prevention of post IIAa fistula repair incontinence: a prospective study in 845 consecutive patients. International Society Obstetrical Fistula Surgeons; Nairobi2009.
- 11. Arrowsmith S, Hamlin EC, Wall LL. Obstructed labor injury complex: obstetric fistula formation and the multifaceted morbidity of maternal birth trauma in the developing world. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1996 Sep;51(9):568–74.
- 12. de Bernis L. Obstetric fistula: guiding principles for clinical management and programme development, a new WHO guideline. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S117–21.
- 13. Muleta M, Tafesse B, Aytenfisu HG. Antibiotic use in obstetric fistula repair: single blinded randomized clinical trial. Ethiop Med J. 2010 Jul;48(3):211–7.
- 14. Goh JT, Browning A, Berhan B, *et al.* Predicting the risk of failure of closure of obstetric fistula and residual urinary incontinence using a classification system. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008 Dec;19(12):1659–62.
- Goh J, Stanford EJ, Genadry R. Classification of female genito-urinary tract fistula: a comprehensive review. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2009 Jan 30.
- 16. Waaldijk K. Surgical classification of obstetric fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1995 May;49(2):161-3.
- 17. Waaldijk K. The (surgical) management of bladder fistula in 775 women in Northern Nigeria [PhD]. Utrecht: University of Utrecht 1989.
- 18. Goh JT, Browing A, Berhan B, *et al.* Predicting the risk of failure of closure of obstetric fistula and residual urinary incontinence using a classification system. J obstet Gynaecol Res. 2008;accepted for publication.
- Nardos R, Browning A, Chen CC. Risk factors that predict failure after vaginal repair of obstetric vesicovaginal fistulae. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009 May;200(5):578 e1–4.
- Kirschner CV, Yost KJ, Du H, et al. Obstetric fistula: the ECWA Evangel VVF Center surgical experience from Jos, Nigeria. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2010 Aug 11.
- Lewis A, Kaufman MR, Wolter CE, et al. Genitourinary fistula experience in Sierra Leone: review of 505 cases. J Urol. 2009 Apr;181(4):1725–31.
- 22. Raassen TJ, Verdaasdonk EG, Vierhout ME. Prospective results after first-time surgery for obstetric fistulas in East African women. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008 Jan;19(1):73–9.

- Waaldijk K. Immediate indwelling bladder catheterization at postpartum urine leakage--personal experience of 1200 patients. Trop Doct. 1997 Oct;27(4):227–8.
- 24. Waaldijk K. The immediate surgical management of fresh obstetric fistulas with catheter and/or early closure. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1994 Apr;45(1):11–6.
- Bazi T. Spontaneous closure of vesicovaginal fistulas after bladder drainage alone: review of the evidence. Int Urogynecol J. 2007;18:4.
- Ojengbede OA, Morhason-Bello IO. Local anesthesia: an appropriate technology for simple fistula repair. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S75–8.
- Lassey AT. Simple fistulas: diagnosis and management in low-resource settings--a descriptive report. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S47–50.
- Inipavudu B, Mitterschiffthaler G, Hasibeder W, et al. Spinal versus epidural anesthesia for vesicovaginal fistula repair surgery in a rural sub-Saharan African setting. J Clin Anesth. 2007 Sep;19(6):444–7.
- Chigbu CO, Nwogu-Ikojo EE, Onah HE, et al. Juxtacervical vesicovaginal fistulae: outcome by route of repair. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2006 Nov;26(8):795–7.
- 30. Sims JM. On the treatment of vesico-vaginal fistula. American Journal of Medical Sciences. 1852;45:59–82.
- 31. Zacharin RF. A history of obstetric vesicovaginal fistula. Aust N Z J Surg. 2000 Dec;70(12):851-4.
- Hilton P, Ward A. Epidemiological and surgical aspects of urogenital fistulae: a review of 25 years' experience in southeast Nigeria. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 1998;9(4):189–94.
- Rangnekar NP, Imdad Ali N, Kaul SA, et al. Role of the martius procedure in the management of urinary-vaginal fistulas. J Am Coll Surg. 2000 Sep;191(3):259–63.
- Browning A. Urogenital fistulae: changing trends and personal experience of 46 cases. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008 Feb;19(2):267–72. Epub 2007 Jul 18.
- 35. Kelly J, Kwast B. Obstetric vesico-vaginal fistula: evaluation of failed repairs. . Int Urogynecol J. 1993;4:271–73.
- 36. Hilton P. Urodynamic findings in patients with urogenital fistulae. Br J Urol. 1998 Apr;81(4):539–42.
- Browning A, Allsworth JE, Wall LL. The relationship between female genital cutting and obstetric fistulae. Obstet Gynecol. 2010 Mar;115(3):578–83.
- Browning A. Prevention of residual urinary incontinence following successful repair of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistula using a fibro-muscular sling. BJOG. 2004 Apr;111(4):357–61.
- 39. Rijken Y, Chilopora G. Urogenital and recto-vaginal fistulas int southern Malawi: a report on 407 patients. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99 supl 1:4.
- Carey MP, Goh JT, Fynes MM, et al. Stress urinary incontinence after delayed primary closure of genitourinary fistula: a technique for surgical management. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2002 May;186(5):948–53.
- 41. Browning A. A new technique for the surgical management of urinary incontinence after obstetric fistula repair. Bjog. 2006 Apr;113(4):475–8.
- 42. Waaldijk K. Step by step surgery of vesicovaginal fistulas. Edinburgh: Campion Press; 1994.
- Goh JT, Browning A. Use of urethral plugs for urinary incontinence following fistula repair. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2005 Jun;45(3):237–8.
- 44. Ascher-Walsh CJ, Capes TL, Lo Y, Idrissa A, Wilkinson J, Echols K, *et al.* Sling procedures after repair of obstetric vesicovaginal fistula in Niamey, Niger. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2010 Jun 17.
- 45. Taafesse B, Aberha G. Experience of uetropubic urethrolysis and sling operation for the treatment of post fistula repair residual incontinence at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital, Addis Ababa Ethiopia. Ethiop Med J. 2008 Jan;46(1):29–35.
- 46. Hensle TW, Chang DT. Vaginal reconstruction. Urol Clin North Am. 1999 Feb;26(1):39-47, vii.

- 47. Nardos R, Browning A, Member B. Duration of bladder catheterization after surgery for obstetric fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2008 Oct;103(1):30–2.
- 48. Fry RD, Kodner IJ. Rectovaginal fistula. Surg Annu. 1995;27:113-31.
- 49. Rosenhein NB, Genadry R, Woodruff JD. An anatomic classification of rectovaginal septal defect. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1980;137:4.
- 50. Tafesse B. New classification of female genital fistula. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2008 May; 30(5):394-5.
- 51. Browning A, Fentahun W, Goh JT. The impact of surgical treatment on the mental health of women with obstetric fistula. BJOG. 2007 Nov;114(11):1439–41.
- 52. Browning A. Pregnancy following obstetric fistula repair, the management of delivery. BJOG. 2009 Aug;116(9):1265-7.
- 53. Moir C. The intractable vesico-vaginal fistula. Br Med J. 1946 May 18;1:774.
- 54. Arrowsmith SD, Ruminjo J, Landry EG. Current practices in treatment of female genital fistula: a cross sectional study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2010 Nov 10;10(1):73.



## Complications of Fistula Repair Surgery

### CHAIR

Sherif Mourad, Egypt

### MEMBERS

Mwanje Haruna, Uganda Paul Hilton, United Kingdom Ahmed Saafan, Egypt Hassan Shaker, Egypt Vasan Srini, India

# CONTENTS

5

## Complications of Fistula Repair Surgery

5.1	Introduct	ion	127		
5.2	Publication Searches				
5.3	Recurrent Fistula (Persistent Incontinence)				
5.4	Pathophysiology of Persistent Urinary Incontinence after Fistula Repair				
5.5	Assessm	ent of Fistula	131		
5.6	Manager	nent of Recurrent Fistula	132		
	5.6.1	The simple fistula	133		
	5.6.2	The complex fistula	134		
	5.6.3	Advanced surgical techniques	137		
	5.6.4	Combined abdominal and vaginal approach	137		
	5.6.5	Urinary diversion	138		
	5.6.6	Conclusions	138		
	5.6.7	Recommendations	139		
5.7	Overactiv	e Bladder after Vaginal Fistula Repair	139		
	5.7.1	Recommendations	141		
5.8	Contracte	ed Bladder as a Complication of VVF Repair	141		
	5.8.1	Recommendations	142		

5.9	Urinary T	ract Infection	_142
	5.9.1	Literature review	_142
	5.9.2	Discussion	_144
	5.9.3	Conclusions	_146
5.10	Contracte	ed Vagina, Dyspareunia, and Sexual Dysfunction.	_146
	5.10.1	Literature review	_147
	5.10.2	Discussion	_151
	5.10.3	Conclusions	_152
5.11	Urethral (	Complications of Vaginal Fistula Repair	_153
	5.11.1	Discussion	_153
	5.11.2	Conclusion	_156
	5.11.3	Recommendations	_156
5.12	Ureteric L	_igation/Injury Due to VVF Repair	_157
	5.12.1	Introduction	_157
	5.12.2	Classification	_158
	5.12.3	Presentation of ureteric injury	_159
		Diagnosis	
		Prevention	
	5.12.6	Management	_160

5

5.13	-	ical Complications of VVF Discussion	
5.14	Infertility	as a Complication of VVF	163
5.15	Psycholog	gical Complications	164
	5.15.1	Introduction	164
	5.15.2	Psychosocial impact	165
	5.15.3	Family relationship	165
	5.15.4	Spousal relationship	165
	5.15.5	Sexual health and consequences	166
	5.15.6	Management	166
	5.15.7	Conclusions	168
5.16	Reference	es	169

## 5.1 Introduction

In the developing world, the true incidence of obstetric fistulas is unknown, as many patients with this condition suffer in silence and isolation. Obstetric fistulas destroy the lives of many young women in the developing countries. Some estimates place the worldwide prevalence as high as 2 million women worldwide. In some rural areas of Africa, the fistula rate may approach 5–10 per 1,000 deliveries, which is close to the maternal mortality rate in Africa (1).

Reconstructive surgery can mend the injury, and success rates are as high as 90% for uncomplicated cases. Two weeks or more of postoperative care is needed to ensure a successful outcome. Counselling and support are also important to address emotional damage and facilitate social reintegration.

The complications of obstetric fistula formation and/or the complications of fistula repair are many and these include:

- Recurrent Fistula:
  - Success rate of uncomplicated vesicovaginal fistula (VVF) → 70-80%
  - Success rate of complicated VVF  $\rightarrow$  50-60%
- Infections: wound, urinary tract infections (UTI) and pyelonephritis and urosepsis
- Voiding Dysfunction (overactive bladder incomplete micturition – Dysuria)
- Ureteric obstruction (ligation fibrosis – injury)
- Outlet obstruction (meatal stenosis, urethral stricture, bladder neck obstruction [BNO])

- Bladder contracture
- Vaginal stenosis (overcorrection fibrosis)
- Sexual dysfunction (vaginismus-dysparunia)
- Rare complications (granulomas diverticulum formation)
- Neurological complications (foot drop neurogenic bladder)
- Complex neuropathic bladder dysfunction and urethral sphincter incompetency often result, even if the fistula can be repaired successfully
- Psychological trauma (social isolation divorce)

## 5.2 **Publication Searches**

This section is based on electronic searches of Medline, EMBASE (from 1980 to September 2010), the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE), Database of Health Technology Assessments, and Database of NHS Economic Evaluations, and the NICE website (all accessed October 2010); references included in identified systematic reviews were evaluated separately. Hand searching of recent (January to October, 2010) issues of major American, European and British journals in urology, gynaecology and urogynaecology was undertaken, to capture recent publications not yet included in the online databases. The International Continence Society (ICS), International Urogynecological Association (IUGA), American Urological Association (AUA), American Urogynecologic Society (AUGS) and the Society of Gynecologic Surgeons (SGS) conference proceedings for 2010 were also reviewed.

### Management of Complicated Vaginal Fistula



Papers offering any relevant data were considered. This included systematic reviews, randomized and quasi-randomized trials, non-randomized cohort studies, case-control studies, longitudinal studies and case series or reports. Those papers considered for inclusion were assessed for quality where relevant, in terms of sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding, handling of incomplete data, selective reporting and freedom from other biases. An evidence level (EL) was then assigned to all included studies according to the ICUD modified version of the Oxford Centre for Evidence-based Medicine system (2). Where quality was considered to be poor – as in most of the studies included in this section – the evidence level was reduced accordingly.

The review on obstetric fistulas was difficult because from the standpoint of evidence-based medicine, the literature on obstetric fistulas is not well represented. Most of the published articles were simple observational studies. There are no evidence-based guidelines or well-designed randomized controlled trials (RCTs). Within the relatively few papers published on obstetric fistulas in the developing world over the last few years, only two or three of these papers were considered to be "level 1 and 2" evidence. In this report we tried hard to indicate whether the conclusions are based on peerreviewed papers in reputable journals or evidenced in book chapters or good abstracts.

## 5.3 **Recurrent Fistula** (Persistent Incontinence)

Fistulas can be closed successfully in 72–92% of cases. The definition of success, however, is often different when the perspectives of the patient and the surgeon are compared. "Success" to a fistula patient means complete restoration of urinary continence and control, whereas many surgeons define "success" as simply closing the fistula (1).

It is essential to establish defined criteria that will allow meaningful comparison of treatment outcomes. The patient-oriented criterion of continence restoration should be the goal when the outcomes of various fistula treatments are compared. Persistent incontinence, despite successful closure of the fistula, has been termed "the continence gap" (3).

A patient whose fistula is closed but who remains incontinent may be just as wet as a patient whose fistula closure operation failed. The estimates of persistent urinary incontinence after a successful closure of the fistula come from case series, ranging from 16.3% in a large retrospective review of patients by Wall *et al.* (4), to 33% in a small series of complex fistulas in which the proximal urethra was lost (5).

Adequate epidemiologic studies on the prevalence of fistula and its sequelae are scarce, and because long-term data on surgical outcomes are difficult to obtain, the prevalence of persistent incontinence after surgery appears to be severely underestimated (6,7,8).

Persistent urinary incontinence in patients after fistula repair is due to multiple factors including scarring, location of the fistula/s and surgical experience of the operator as well as failure to perform a sling operation or urethral reconstruction at the time of repair in patients likely to require such intervention.

The goal of fistula surgery should be restoration of continence and resumption of a full and active life on the part of the patient, not just closing the fistula.

## 5.4 Pathophysiology of Persistent Urinary Incontinence after Fistula Repair

Several possible etiological factors can be postulated in women who remain incontinent after successful fistula closure: loss of bladder tissues, massive damage to the mid-urethral continence mechanism, damage to attachments of the urethra, fibrosis and loss of compliance, neuropathy, etc.

Loss of bladder tissue is one of the main reasons why obstetric fistula repair is technically difficult. The loss of bladder tissue from pelvic ischemia during obstructed labour affects both the technique needed for, as well as the functional outcome of, fistula repair (2).

Although there are as yet no basic histological studies of the tissue surrounding obstetric fistulas, it seems clear that these tissues have themselves sustained significant damage during obstructed labour. The fistula itself develops in an area that becomes necrotic; but the tissues surrounding the fistula have also suffered varying degrees of ischemia. In some cases pressure necrosis may destroy virtually the entire bladder, so that if the defect can be closed at all, the afflicted woman is left with a remarkably small (30–50 ml) bladder that compliance may be altered by the extensive fibrotic changes that often take place. To date there have been few urodynamic studies reported on patients who have undergone successful fistula closure (9,10).

In the study by Carey *et al*, of 22 women with severe urinary incontinence after fistula closure, 9 had urodynamic stress incontinence with normal bladder compliance, 3 had urodynamic stress incontinence with poor bladder compliance, 9 had mixed incontinence, and one had voiding difficulty with incomplete bladder emptying and overflow (10). There is a great need for further investigation of these issues; unfortunately, those hospitals most likely to see large numbers of patients with obstetric fistulas also usually lack the resources for more advanced urologic investigation (10).

A number of patients with VVFs develop vesical calculi (11,12). Often these bladder stones develop in association with a foreign body in the vagina. After stone removal, the bladder should be allowed to heal prior to attempted fistula closure. If this is not done, there is substantial risk of postoperative infection and breakdown of the repair.

The ischemic changes produced by obstructed labour often have a devastating impact on urethral function. Complete urethral loss occurs in about 5% of fistula patients, with about 30% of fistula patients sustaining partial urethral injury. Goh *et al.* found that up to 63% of fistula patients have sustained some injury to the urethra (13).

In 1980, Ward reported that in a series of 1,789 patients, only 26 cases were inoperable; but in all 26 cases, urethral loss was present (14). There are no comparative surgical studies that evaluate differing techniques of urethral reconstruction in patients with obstetric fistulas. There are no data on postoperative urethral function. Work of this kind is badly needed.

Depending on the amount of tissue that is lost at the bladder base, the ureteral orifices can be found in bizarre locations, ranging from the lateral vaginal walls, all the way up to the level of the vesicourethral junction and the pubic arch. Aberrant ureteral locations of this kind can easily be missed on clinical examination and are one cause of persistent incontinence after otherwise "successful" fistula closure. Standard urological tools such as ureteral stents are usually not available in hospitals in the developing world, and most of the surgeons who work in such hospitals are not trained in "urologic" techniques such as ureteral reimplantation (15).

The impaction of the fetal head is sometimes serious enough to cause ischemic injury to the bladder and to the vagina, which is likewise trapped between the two bony surfaces. These injured areas heal with varying degrees of scarring. Adetiloye and Dare detected fibrotic changes in 32% of fistula patients and minor vaginal wall fibrosis in another 36% in their sonographic study on a small number of patients (16).

The presence of vaginal scarring appears to be an important prognostic factor in determining the likelihood of both successful fistula closure, and also for the development of debilitating urinary stress incontinence (USI) after otherwise successful fistula repair.

Kelly and Kwast reported worsening surgical outcome in fistula patients who have vaginal scarring (17).

## 5.5 Assessment of Fistula

The number, size and location of the fistula/s are crucial for a successful repair that aims at a fully dry patient postoperatively. Clinically, it will be important to assess the number, size and location of the fistulas, the amount of fibrosis present, and any involvement of the ureters and or the urethra.

A complaint of persistent leakage by the patient needs to be evaluated. The first step is to assure that the fistula has been closed successfully. This can be done by placing a balloon catheter into the bladder, occluding the bladder neck and filling the bladder with a solution of water coloured with indigo carmine or methylene blue. If the fistula has not been closed successfully, the leakage should be readily apparent.

If deflating the balloon or moving it away from the bladder neck produces incontinence, the question may be differentiating transurethral incontinence from an urethrovaginal fistula. Where more advanced technological capabilities are available, diagnosing the presence of anurethrovaginal fistula may be facilitated by the use of a double-balloon catheter that allows occlusion of the urethra at each end and perfusion of the urethra through an opening between the two balloons. Most commonly, however, the diagnosis will have to be made on the basis of simple clinical testing by occluding the urethral meatus, asking the patient to strain, and seeing if there is leakage (2).

Limited data from urodynamic studies by Hilton (2) and by Carey, Goh *et al.* (10) suggest that detrusor overactivity and changes in bladder compliance are frequent causes of urinary incontinence in fistula patients with post-repair incontinence. This is in addition to the leakage resulting from successful closure but persistent intrinsic sphincter deficiency.

Examination of a patient (using methylene blue) during the fistula campaign in Niger.



## 5.6 Management of Recurrent Fistula

The most important concept is the recognition of the differences between simple and complex fistulas.

Vaginal surgery for small fistulas can be attempted under local anesthesia (20). Larger or more complex fistulas can be treated under spinal anesthesia, which is preferred over epidural or general anesthesia by many authors (21).

Operating by the abdominal route increases the cost and time of the operation, but is still often performed for some high fistulas where surgical access is problematic. Experienced fistula surgeons may be able to repair such defects vaginally. A retrospective study by Chigbu compared the outcome

of juxtacervical fistula through the vaginal or abdominal approach (22). Both approaches had similar cure rates and hospital stays, but the abdominal route was associated with a significantly higher need for blood transfusion.

General anesthesia is also more expensive, more complicated to administer, carries more risks, and should therefore be reserved for those patients who need an abdominal approach.

## 5.6.1 **The simple fistula**

Only about 20% of obstetric fistulas can be defined as simple. Simple fistulas are less than 3 cm in diameter, with no or only mild scarring and do not involve the urethra. The first prerequisite for successful fistula repair is meticulous attention to detail. In practiced hands, skilled fistula surgeons routinely achieve a closure rate of over 80% for simple fistulas at the time of first operation. Multiple papers reporting large case series support this contention (4,23–33).

A fairly general consensus concerning the basic principles of fistula repair was reached at the first Fistula Surgeons Experts Meeting at the World Health Organization (WHO) in Geneva in 2004. These principles can be summarized as follows:

- The best chance for successful fistula closure is at the first operation and closure rates tend to diminish with each subsequent attempt at operative repair. In their large series of 2,484 obstetric fistula patients, Hilton and Ward (1998) reported successful fistula closure in 82.8% of patients at the first attempt. Successful closure was achieved in only 65% of those patients who required two or more operations. Another unpublished series of 400 patients from the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital reported a successful closure rate of 92% and urethral incontinence of 33% at the first operation, a closure rate of 73% and urethral incontinence rate of 50% at the second operation, and a closure rate of only 52% and urethral incontinence of 75% at the third operation (Browning, personal communication).
- The ureters should be identified and protected to ensure they are not cut or ligated during the fistula repair (if the site and size of the fistula puts them in proximity to the operative field).
- The fistula should be widely mobilized from the surrounding tissues at the time of repair.

- The fistula should be closed without tension on the site of repair.
- The repair must be 'water-tight'. To ensure this, a dye test is performed intra-operatively and if there is still leakage, the repair is sutured again.
- After fistula repair, the bladder should be kept on free drainage for 10–14 days. There is some weak evidence that 10 days of drainage is just as effective as six-months follow-up (for fistulas of less than 3 cm diameter with mild to moderate scarring) (34). This change in catheter management could make a significant impact on the resources of hospitals where these operations are performed. If the time needed for postoperative bladder drainage could be reduced by 4 days, the capacity of the hospital to care for fistula patients would increase by 30% just from this gain in efficiency.

There is debate as to whether or not a Martius flap or other graft should be used in fistula repair. One retrospective paper compared the surgical outcomes of operations involving similar fistulas repaired with and without use of the Martius flap and demonstrated a higher successful closure rate when such a flap was employed (although cases were not randomized, so conclusions should be made with caution) (35).

Another more recent retrospective analysis evaluated 400 patients in whom comparable fistulas were repaired with and without the use of a flap. The analysis showed no differences between the two groups in closure rates or postoperative incontinence rates (24). Many experienced fistula surgeons now only use grafts under rare circumstances, such as when the urethra has been reconstructed, when the tissues are particularly poor, or if there have been multiple previous attempts at repair.

Once the fistula has been closed, the vagina is next repaired. When this has finished, a vaginal pack is placed, and the urinary catheter is left *in situ*. The following day, the vaginal pack is removed and the patient is encouraged to mobilize and eat. The bladder is left on continuous free drainage for 10-14 days.

Each day the "3-Ds" of postoperative fistula repair are checked. These are whether the patient is  $\underline{\mathbf{d}}$ ry,  $\underline{\mathbf{d}}$ rinking and the catheter is  $\underline{\mathbf{d}}$ raining. The patient has to be dry; that is the fistula repair must be intact; drinking to ensure adequate irrigation of the bladder; and draining, that is, the catheter is not blocked. If the catheter does become blocked and the bladder fills, the repair is at risk of breaking from increasing tension on the repair site. If the catheter does become blocked and the repair ruptures, this may often be rectified by continuous prolonged catheter drainage. By ensuring an empty and relaxed bladder, the sides of the defect may come together and close, but this can take as long as four weeks to occur. The success rate is about 70% in such cases, less if the defect involves the urethra.

Following these principles in the repair of simple fistulas, the surgeon can anticipate successful closure in 90% of the patients and a postoperative urethral incontinence rate ("closed but still wet") of 10%.

### 5.6.2 The complex fistula

A complex obstetric fistula can be described as being larger than 3 cm, involving the urethra, and associated with reduced vaginal capacity from significant scarring and/or a reduced bladder volume. Sometimes the defect may be urethrovaginal, but more commonly both the urethra and bladder are involved and therefore the fistula is called an urethrovesicovaginal fistula (2).

Most of authors with extensive experience in the management of obstetric fistulas comment on the great difficulty in achieving postoperative continence in patients who have had extensive damage to the urethra, even if the defect itself has been closed successfully. Rates of postoperative urethral incontinence range between 6–50% (10,37). Often the diagnosis of postoperative incontinence is given only if the patient suffers from severe incontinence while walking. If rigorous questioning is used to exclude any leakage with coughing or other exertion, the rate of postoperative incontinence increases dramatically.
The four risk factors that lead to a high rate of incontinence following fistula repair are (38): **Urethral involvement** 

(Odds Ratio 8.4 for developing urethral incontinence post operatively.)

#### Large size of the fistula

(Odds ratio 1.34 for each centimetre increase in size of the defect.)

#### Severe vaginal scarring

(Odds Ratio 2.4 if the scarring is significant enough to prevent the introduction of a Sims speculum without relaxing episiotomies.)

#### Small bladder size

(Odds ratio 4.1, if the bladder capacity is less than 120 ml)

In repairing complex obstetric fistulas, the principles for simple fistula repair still apply but with the following additions:

- Exposure is more difficult. In complex cases the fistula may be obscured from view due to the presence of severe vaginal scarring. Such scaring often consists of a thick band of scar tissue on the posterior vaginal wall. Occasionally, the vagina has been completely occluded. Wide bilateral episiotomies may be required and where possible, the scar should be released from the lateral pelvic sidewalls. This will enable the fistula to be seen more clearly.
- The ureters should be identified and protected against possible injury, as in the case of a simple repair.
- The bladder and urethra should again be carefully mobilized. The tissues are often thin, scarred, and fragile in such cases. The mobilization often has to be extended along the lateral pelvic sidewalls and even on to the posterior aspect of the pubic symphysis in order to free the lateral and anterior bladder.

- The mobilization of tissues should be wide to ensure a tension-free closure.
- The utility of tissue flaps remains controversial. In some cases the use of tissue transposition techniques such as the Martius graft and various forms of sling operations are the mainstays of treatment.
- Using the fibrin glue could be useful in many cases, especially the recurrent cases with tissue damage. The use of fibrin glue as an interpositioning layer during the vaginal anatomical repair of complicated vaginal fistulas appears to be of great value as an alternative to the use of Martius flaps interpositioning. Decreasing the operative time and adding simplicity to the already complicated procedure are additional values of using this procedure (39).

Often, destruction to the vagina has been so extensive that rotational skin or myocutaneous flaps are required in order to cover the defect (26).

If these principles are applied, the success rate in fistula closure is high, but many women remain incontinent despite successful closure. In patients in whom all of the risk factors mentioned above are present, the postoperative incontinence rate may approach 100% (19,38).

In light of this dismal success rate, some surgeons now suggest that two further principles of repair be maintained:

#### Maintain the urethral length

A shortened urethra has been noted in post-repair fistula patients returning for further treatment of persistent urinary incontinence. An unpublished series of 72 patients with post-fistula repair incontinence found an average urethral length of 1.4 cm in these women. This suggests that continence might be improved if normal urethral length can be restored at the time of fistula closure. Vertical (as opposed to horizontal) repair of urethrovaginal fistulas has therefore been suggested. This appears to be possible in approximately 20% of such cases. In cases in which there is an urethrovesicovaginal defect, vertical repair of the urethral defect may improve success, while the vesical defect can be repaired either vertically or horizontally (2).

#### Support the urethra

For all urethral defects larger than 4 mm with a urethral remnant less than 2.5 cm, many fistula surgeons use an "anti-incontinence" procedure during the initial repair. Currently there are two widely used procedures. The first sutures the urethra/bladder neck to the periosteum of the pubic ramus in a type of suspension operation. The fascia or muscle of the bladder is sutured on either side of the bladder neck area to the posterior aspect of the symphysis pubis or the arcus tendineus (41).

The second procedure creates a sling of tissue to support the urethra. A pedicle of tissue is created on either side of the urethra from the lateral pelvic sidewall. In theory this involves use of the pubococcygeus muscle, but more often it is simply a pedicle of fibromuscular tissue or scar that can be harvested. The pedicles created on either side are then sutured together in the midline (19,38). If either of these two extra steps is used, the incontinence rate after closure of complex fistulas can be reduced from 100% to 50% (19).

Various authors have described neo-urethral reconstruction using bladder flaps (42,43). All of these operations are based upon trans-abdominal techniques such as that described by Elkins *et al.* (4). In this technique, a neo-urethra is created by mobilizing a flap from the anterior bladder, which is then rolled into a tube.

The anterior and lateral edges of the fistula are freed up and the space of Retzius is entered transvaginally beneath the pubic bone. The anterior bladder is pulled down into the vagina and mobilized. A 3–cm incision is made into the bladder and the anterior bladder wall is then rolled around a 16-Fr. Foley catheter, creating a tube.

The anterior surface of the neo-urethra is then sutured in two layers and the posterior edge of the fistula is closed transversely, also in two layers. The neo-urethra is reattached to the posterior edge of the pubic symphysis, and a Martius graft is placed before re-approximating the vaginal epithelium. In 18 of 20 cases, this technique resulted in fistula closure, but four women had severe stress incontinence postoperatively.

It is not known how many had mild incontinence. Neither of these surgical methods is ideal. Although they may create an anatomic urethra, often that urethra does not function normally. A further option in such cases is to create a "tube", using either technique and then attempt to render the patient continent with the use of a urethral plug (45).

# 5.6.3 Advanced surgical techniques

A trans-abdominal approach could be used for large, supra-trigonal VVFs, associated ureterovaginal fistulas or if bladder augmentation and bladder neck reconstruction was required. The transvaginal route was preferred for small sub-trigonal fistulas. A combined abdominal and vaginal approach was used for large fistulas involving the trigone or the bladder neck. The surgical approach varied in each patient.

Interposition grafts or flaps were used when required (46). The overall surgical failure rate was 4.3%. The average operative time for layered closure was 72 minutes (45–130 minutes) and that for graft or interposition tissue repair: 100 minutes (90–165 minutes). The mean hospital stay was 9 days (6–17 days). There were no reported intra-operative complications. Postoperative complications were urinary tract infection, hematuria, wound infection and fever. None of the patients required blood transfusion. For the repair of small fistulas, surgeons did not use interpositional flaps but rather used the layered closure technique with a success rate of 97.1%. Complicated fistulas required repair by graft or tissue interposition and had a success rate of 94.8%, which is similar to the experience of other Indian centres (47). Risk factors for the failure of vesicovaginal surgery included previous failed repair, large-sized fistulas, fistulas involving the trigone or ureteral orifices, a small bladder capacity and unhealthy vesical urothelium at the time of surgery.

The majority of the large-sized fistulas were successfully repaired using the trans-abdominal technique described by O'Connor, with interposition of an omental flap (48). This technique works well except when the fistula extends up to the bladder neck or when its transverse diameter is too large to allow tension-free approximation.

## 5.6.4 **Combined abdominal and vaginal approach**

This technique may be required in complicated fistulas involving the bladder neck. In cases where urethral continuity is disrupted due to a fistula, a combined approach may be preferable. An abdominal route is used to repair the fistula and continuity of the urethra is established by anastomosing the urethra through the vaginal route.

## 5.6.5 **Urinary diversion**

Urinary diversion in developing countries is usually not a viable option since stoma appliances and catheters (in the case of continent urinary diversions) are often unavailable or are too expensive (49). In such cases, performing a diversion procedure merely moves the fistula to another part of the body. The end result of such surgery may be more stigmatizing in the local culture than the original injury.

Uretero-sigmoidostomy has been used as a surgical option in developing countries for many years. Many data show that both short- and long-term complications will arise and that surgeons must face this and treat them. On the other hand, a series of nine Tanzanian patients undergoing diversion found that results were acceptable and that patients had a marked improvement in their quality of life (50).

Urinary diversion with the creation of a sigmoid or rectal pouch is feasible in selected patients. Longterm data on outcome are not yet available. The risk of complications is rather high and managing complications adequately often requires diagnostic capabilities that are absent in developing countries.

### 5.6.6 Conclusions

The complications of vaginal fistula and its repair are multiple. The recurrence of fistula is the most frustrating.

#### Complications could be avoidable and repairable

- Adequate exposure of the operative field
- Repair should be: tension-free, watertight and uninfected
- Minimize bleeding and hematoma
- Avoid ureteral obstruction
- Interposition flap if required (omental or Martius flap or fibrin glue)
- Highest success (first attempt)
- Involvement of sphincteric mechanism (antiincontinence procedure later)
- Associated vagino-rectal fistulas (should be repaired simultaneously with or without colostomy)

The advantage of having the fistula well repaired from the first time is crucial because success rate decreases with more attempts of repair:

- First repair success rate: 70–90%
- Second repair success rate: 50–60%
- More than two procedures: <40%

### 5.6.7 **Recommendations**

- 1. A care programme for failed repairs with persisting incontinence after a successful repair needs to be in place.
- 2. Surgical treatment of postoperative stress incontinence should only be considered six months after fistula repair. (Grade D)
- 3. Autologous material should be used when a graft or sling is required and there is no place for synthetic sling material. (Grade C)
- 4. In order to prevent new fistulas in women who become pregnant after a fistula repair, waiting homes should be provided to ensure that each woman is able to have an elective caesarean section when she goes into labour. (Grade D)
- 5. In recurrent identifiable fistula, make sure of the size and number. This type of fistula is better repaired by a well-experienced fistula surgeon. It is important to use tissue interpositioning like a Martius flap or fibrin glue. (Grade A)

# 5.7 Overactive Bladder after Vaginal Fistula Repair

The successful repair of a VVF can correct the anatomical defect, but it might not render the patient dry. Failure to store urine is another problem that may occur after vaginal fistula repair. This is caused by what is called the "Overactive Bladder Syndrome" (OAB).

According to the ICS definition of 2002, OAB is urgency, with or without urgency incontinence, usually with frequency and nocturia, if there is no proven infection or other obvious pathology (51).

Although persistent incontinence after fistula repair tends to be blamed on urethral dysfunction, a few urodynamic studies suggest that bladder dysfunction may play a role (10,18).

It is often assumed that OAB (a symptomatic diagnosis) is caused by detrusor overactivity (DO; urodynamic diagnosis), even if this does not always seem to be the case (52,53).

A small study of 22 women who underwent urodynamic studies to analyze post-repair incontinence revealed that 41% suffered from urodynamic stress incontinence; 41% had combined urodynamic stress incontinence and detrusor overactivity; 14% had a small non-compliant bladder; and 4% had a voiding disorder and overflow incontinence. In these cases, the incontinence may be so severe that the urethra functions only as an open "drain pipe" through which urine passes in a nearly continuous stream. The result is little different from the leakage that occurred through the original fistula (10).

Twenty-five percent of the patients who have their fistula successfully closed are incontinent (personal communication) In the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital, they have two studies of newly closed fistula patients who are still wet and have urodynamics four weeks postoperatively provided they have a sterile urine. Overflow incontinence was excluded at the time of catheter removal and their dye test was negative. A total of 66 patients were studied in this group; 8 had USI, 2 had DOA, 51 had DOA and USI and 5 had overflow incontinence.

The second group are patients who have been discharged from the hospital wet, but with a closed fistula. The mean period following repair was 24 months. There were 186 patients in this group; 18 had USI, 2 had DOA, 121 had USI and DOA, 10 had a non-compliant bladder, 6 were normal and 29 with overflow incontinence.

Oxybutinin was not always available but for those in the mixed group who received two months of treatment 9 were cured and 62 improved in that they were dry at night. The urgency improved. They had on occasions a normal desire to void. Forty-five women in this group were dry with the use of a urethral plug (personal communication).

Urge-related bladder dysfunction can often be treated with low-cost antimuscarinic drugs. In cases where there has been extensive loss of bladder tissue or marked reduction in bladder compliance due to fibrosis, augmentation cystoplasty can be performed, usually by interposing a segment of bowel. In some case, urinary diversion may be indicated, but only after careful discussion of the issues involved with the patient.

Antimuscarinics block, more or less selectively, muscarinic receptors (54). The common view is that in OAB/DO, the drugs act by blocking the muscarinic receptors on the detrusor muscle, which are stimulated by acetylcholine (Ach), released from activated cholinergic (parasympathetic) nerves. Thereby, they decrease the ability of the bladder to contract.

However, antimuscarinic drugs act mainly during the storage phase, decreasing urgency and increasing bladder capacity, and during this phase, there is normally no parasympathetic input to the lower urinary tract (55).

## 5.7.1 **Recommendations**

Patients complaining of persistent leakage due to urgency incontinence or those who ended up with contracted bladder may try antimuscarinics, botulinum toxin A injection or even augmentation cystoplasty in small hypocompliant bladders. (Grade C)

# 5.8 Contracted Bladder as a Complication of VVF Repair

Although contracted bladder is a recognized complication of VVF, there is very little, if any, mention of this VVF in the literature. Nardos and colleagues mentioned that among 1,045 women who were subjected for repair of obstetric VVF, 17% suffered from small bladder capacity postoperatively. They also realized small bladder capacity is a risk factor for failure of VVF repair (56).

This problem was discussed during the Complications subcommittee meeting and we came to the following consensus. It is reasonable to believe that a contracted bladder results from substantial loss of bladder tissue during the pathogenesis of obstetric VVF. Repeated repair and tissue scarring may add to this problem. It is very difficult to diagnose this problem pre-operatively except in very obvious cases.

Every effort should be made during the repair of the VVF to spare bladder tissue. Contracted bladder can be one of the causes of persistent incontinence after successful repair of VVF. At that time, diagnosis should rely on filling cystometrogram, if available, which typically should show low bladder compliance and small cystometric capacity.

It is wiser to postpone treatment until successful repair of the fistula is achieved. Nevertheless, a group in India attempted to repair complex VVF and to augment bladder with the ileum during the same procedure. Their repairs were successful in all the four cases they treated (57).

It has to be mentioned that in three of these cases, the fistula was obstetric in origin and one secondary to genital tuberculosis. Eilber and colleagues suggested that an abdominal approach to repair the fistula could be utilized if bladder augmentation is planned simultaneously (58).

Treatment should follow the same principles and indications of treating contracted bladder of other etiologies. The only treatment option available is augmentation cystoplasty since pharmacological manipulation, detrusor botulinum toxin injection, and neuromodulation is unlikely to work because the problem is primarily myogenic.

### 5.8.1 **Recommendations**

Contracted bladder is a recognized complication of VVF and it is a risk factor of repair failure. (EL4)

Every effort should be made during the repair of the fistula to preserve bladder tissue. (EL4)

Contracted bladder can be a cause persistent incontinence after successful closure of the fistula. (EL4)

Diagnosis should rely on urodynamics whether multichannel or eyeball. (EL4)

Augmentation cystoplastymay be the only reasonable option in extreme cases. (EL 4)

Further research on this topic is required. (EL4)

# 5.9 Urinary Tract Infection

On rare occasions urogenital fistula may be causally related to infective pathologies (e.g. lymphogranuloma venereum, schistosomiasis, tuberculosis, actinomycosis, measles or noma vaginae) (2); in one series of 2,484 obstetric fistula cases, 7 (0.3%) were thought to be primarily of infective etiology (18).

In general however, it is considered that a urinary tract infection (UTI) is relatively uncommon in women with fistula, in view of the free drainage of urine from the bladder, and the rarity with which such patients suffer voiding dysfunctions. A UTI may however be seen as a complication of surgical repair of fistula or of the prolonged catheter drainage that usually follows such procedures.

#### 5.9.1 Literature review

The literature on the subject of UTI associated with fistula repair is extremely limited. The literature searches documented above identified 5,488 papers relating to urogenital fistula; 1,961 of which related to surgery; 114,285 references related to UTI, but after removal of duplicates only 127 indicated UTI following fistula surgery. Of the latter group, only 10 could be considered to include data of even marginal relevance to the topic of this review, of which only one was a randomized controlled trial (RCT).

Additional hand searching of 2010 journals and conference abstracts identified no further relevant papers. These papers are summarized in **Table 1**, along with evidence levels (EL) assigned according to the ICUD modified version of the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine system (2).

Author, Year	Study Type	Details	Participants	Outcomes	Evidence Level	Comments
Tomlinson <i>et al.,</i> 1998 (61)	RCT	Ampicillin vs. no prophy- laxis	81	Reduced UTI & anti- biotics postop but no difference in fistula closure	2	Single blinded study; methods of randomization not specified; no sample size calculation
Chigbu <i>et al.,</i> 2006 (22)	Non-RCT	Juxtacervi- cal fistula -51 abdomi- nal vs. 28 vaginal	78	Higher rate of transfu- sion with abdominal; similar rates of fistula closure and postop UTI ()% with both routes	3	
Vidal-Mora <i>et al.,</i> 2009 (68)	Case series	Retro- spective review of 9 cases over laparoscopi- cally treated fistula over 13 years	9	1 UTI (11%)	4	
Otsuka <i>et al.,</i> 2008 (64)	Case series	Series of laparoscopic transperi- toneal VVF repair	6	Retrospective review of 6/7 cases com- pleted laparoscopi- cally; 1 (17%) UTI	4	Mean operating time nearly 5 hours!
Roberto Martinez <i>et al.</i> , 2007 (66)	Case series	Retrospec- tive review of 27 women treated over 13 years	27	UTI commonest complication (7%)	4	Only 71% closure rate

TABLE 1	<b>Detail of Publications</b>	Including	Reference to UT	prior to o	r Following Fistula
	Dotali of Fublications	moraamig			i i onowing i istala

RCT = randomized controlled trials, UTI = urinary tract infections

continued on page 144

#### TABLE 1 Detail of Publications Including Reference to UTI prior to or Following Fistula, Cont'd

Author, Year	Study Type	Details	Participants	Outcomes	Evidence Level	Comments
Shelbaia <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2007 (67)	Case series	Retrospec- tive review; all surgical cases	20	No UTI reported (0%)	4	
Ansquer <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2006 (62)	Case series	Series of Latzko procedure	11	No operative compli- cations; only postop complication (1(9%) UTI	4	Retrospective case series of 11 cases over 14 years
Ayed <i>et al.,</i> 2006 (69)	Case series	Multivariate analysis	73	UTI prior to repair was a significant adverse factor (P=0.03), although OR n.s. 2.72 (0.69, 12.1)	4	Retrospective case series of cases over 17 years; 73 women had 97 procedures (41% obstetric etiology)
el-Lateef Moharram <i>et al.,</i> 2004 (63)	Case series	Series of transvesical repairs with fat graft	26	All continent; 15 had urgency, 3 (12%) recurrent UTI	4	
Ou <i>et al.,</i> 2004 (65)		Retrospec- tive review of 16 women; variety of operative routes	16	1/16 (1/6 with vaginal repair) developed UTI (6%;17%)	4	Describe laparoscopic approach but only 2 cases

RCT = randomized controlled trials, UTI = urinary tract infections

### 5.9.2 **Discussion**

No systematic reviews or meta-analyses were identified from the literature search. Only one RCT was identified (5); the majority of papers were uncontrolled retrospective case series, looking primarily at surgical techniques and outcomes in terms of continence.

Several mention the occurrence of UTI, but allow nothing more than a crude estimate of the incidence of the complication in the particular circumstances described. The rate of infection in these case series was between 0% and 17%, with an overall rate of 5% out of the 193 women included (22,62–68).

Ayed et al., on the basis of a multivariate analysis of a retrospective cohort, reported that UTI prior to repair was an adverse prognostic factor for successful surgery (p=0.03); the OR however was not significant (OR 2.72; 95%CI 0.69, 12.1) making the conclusions of the study of limited significance (69). In a small series of post-hysterectomy fistulas; managed by laparoscopic, open abdominal, or vaginal repair; Ou et al. reported only a single episode of UTI following a vaginal procedure (1 out of 6 cases), and none following the alternative approaches (65).

Chigbu et al. reported no difference in the rate of successful fistula closure, or of postoperative UTI between abdominal and vaginal repair procedures in women with juxtacervical fistulas (22). The numbers of patients included, and the methodology used in these reports makes conclusions on the relative rate of UTI following different repair procedures inappropriate.

In the only RCT identified on this topic, Tomlinson compared intra-operative prophylactic ampicillin with no treatment, and found that although the rate of UTI, and the use of antibiotics postoperatively were higher in the control group (OR 0.7), the rate of successful closure was no different (61). The data from this study have been incorporated into Forest plots using Review Manager V5 and are illustrated in Figures 1-3.

FIGURE 1 Forest plot of comparison:	Study or Subgroup	Experim Events	ental Total	Cont Events		Weight	Odds Ratio M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	Odds Ratio M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
1 Antibiotics vs.	Tomlinson et al, 1998	25	41	18	40	100.0%	1.91 [0.79, 4.62]	+=-
no prophylaxis, outcome:	Total (95% CI)		41		40	100.0%	1.91 [0.79, 4.62]	
1.1 Incontinence	Total events	25		18				-
	Heterogeneity: Not app Test for overall effect:		P = 0.19	5)				0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours prophylaxis Favours no prophylaxis
FIGURE 2		Experim		Cont			Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Forest plot of comparison: 1 Antibiotics vs.	Study or Subgroup Tomlinson et al, 1998	Events 17	Total 41	Events 10	Total 40			
no prophylaxis, outcome:	Total (95% CI)		41		40	100.0%	2.13 [0.82, 5.48]	-
1.2 Failure of fistula closure	Total events Heterogeneity: Not app Test for overall effect:		P = 0.12	10 2)				0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours prophylaxis
FIGURE 3	Study or Subgroup	Experimer Events		Control vents To	otal W	eight M	Odds Ratio -H, Fixed, 95% CI	Odds Ratio M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Forest plot of comparison:	Jerrries et al, 2006	17	26	8		-	.07 [0.93, 10.14]	
3 Dilatation plus psycho- educational support vs.	Robinson et al, 1999	21	45	11	36 6	58.0%	1.99 [0.79, 4.99]	+■

71

19

38

Heterogeneity: Chi<sup>2</sup> = 0.32, df = 1 (P = 0.57); l<sup>2</sup> = 0%

Test for overall effect: Z = 2.28 (P = 0.02)

57 100.0%

2.33 [1.13, 4.83] 0.002 500 0.1 10 Favours standard regime Favours psychoeducation

Forest plot of comparison:
3 Dilatation plus psycho-
educational support vs.
dilatation alone, outcome:
3.2 Compliance with
treatment.
. h. D. him t 1000

Total (95% CD

Total events

n.b. Robinson et al, 1999 reports responses (81) not patients (32)

# 5.9.3 **Conclusions**

The literature on this topic is limited, and the majority is of inadequate scientific value to allow meaningful evidence statements and recommendations.

The evidence from a single study that UTI prior to fistula repair may be a poor prognostic feature is of doubtful significance. (EL4)

There is no evidence available to adequately determine whether the rate of UTI postoperatively varies between different surgical approaches or non-surgical management techniques. (EL4)

The use of intra-operative antibiotic prophylaxis has been shown to reduce the rate of UTI and antibiotic prescribing postoperatively following fistula repair, but has not been shown to influence the rate of successful fistula closure. (EL2)

# 5.10 Contracted Vagina, Dyspareunia, and Sexual Dysfunction

The problem of cicatrisation in association with vesicovaginal and urethrovaginal fistulas is well recognized, and known to be more associated with obstetric fistulas related to obstructed labour, or to post-radiation fistulas that to other etiologies. In the first case, acute ischemia occurs as a result of prolonged unrelieved pressure on the bladder base and urethra by the fetal presenting part. In the second case, progressive devascularisation occurs as a result of chronic endarteritis, which may be progressive over several decades (70).

The extent of scar has been looked on as an important predictor of surgical success, (13,71) and has been incorporated into fistula classification systems (72,73). Muleta and colleagues reported severe vaginal scarring or obliteration in 14.9% of 14,373 women undergoing obstetric fistula repair in Ethiopia (74). The impact that this scarring may have on subsequent sexual function has been little investigated.

It is well recognized that many women report sexual symptoms following any form of pelvic surgery; this is particularly problematic following vaginal surgery, including that for urinary incontinence and pelvic organ prolapse. Whether the surgery is causally related to the symptoms is however less certain. In a study of quality of life four years after anatomically successful repair, both urinary and sexual symptoms were found to be common (75) and were reported with approximately twice the prevalence of the local population of comparable age (76).

Whilst the residual urinary symptoms had little impact on quality of life for the majority of women, the persistent sexual symptoms were reported as "quite a problem" or "a serious problem" by 27% (75). No comparable prevalence data for sexual dysfunction in obstetric fistula patients has been identified from the literature.

#### 5.10.1 Literature review

The literature searches identified 5,488 papers related to urogenital fistula, 1,961 of which related to surgery; 272,261 related to dyspareunia, sexual dysfunction, vaginal constriction, scarring, cica-trisation, or obliteration; of which only 88 related to these problems following fistula surgery, after removal of duplicates (see **Figure 4**). Additional hand searching of 2010 journals and conference abstracts identified a further 25 studies of which only 2 were of relevance. Overall, only 7 references were identified which contained any information of any relevance to the topic of this review; of these, none were RCTs and only one included any comparative data.

FIGURE 4 Forest plot of comparison: 1	Study or Subgroup	Experim Events		Cont Events		Weight	Odds Ratio M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	Odds Ratio M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Antibiotics vs. no prophylaxis, outcome: 1.3 Infection	Tomlinson et al, 1998 Total (95% CI)	6	15	18		100.0%	0.07 [0.01, 0.44]	_
(positive CSU day 10).	Total events Heterogeneity: Not appl Test for overall effect: Z		e = 0.00	18 (4)	20	100.07	0.07 (0.01, 0.14)	0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours prophylaxis Favours no prophylaxis

One tangentially relevant systematic review was identified from the electronic literature search, and a second from hand searching; both related to interventions for the physical aspects of sexual dysfunction in women following pelvic radiotherapy, rather than being specifically related to patients with urogenital fistula (77,78). The relevant papers are summarized in **Table 2**. Papers from the identified systematic reviews are summarized individually in the evidence table. Evidence levels (EL) are assigned according to the ICUD modified version of the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine system (2).

# **TABLE 2**Detail of Publications Including Reference to Vaginal Scarring, Dyspareunia or<br/>Sexual Dysfunction Following Fistula Repair

Author, Year	Study Type	Details	Participants	Outcomes	Evidence Level	Comments
Johnson <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2010 (78)	Systematic review or meta- analysis	Dilatation +/- support	432 in 11 studies	Routine dilatation not supported by good evidence; used early may cause damage; ;later may cause some stretching (no change in sexual function)	1	
Denton <i>et al.,</i> 2003 (77)	Systematic review or meta- analysis	Studies examined effects of dilators, estrogen and benzydamine	225 in 4 studies	Stents (dilators) appear to be successful in one non- RCT. Benzydamine and vaginal estrogen promising in 3 RCTs of low quality.	1	n.b. examined sexual difficulty following pelvic radiation. All included studies of poor quality, and published up to 40 years ago
Jeffries <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2006 (86)	RCT	Dilators vs. dilators + psychoeduca- tional support (motivational behavioural skills teaching)	47; 26/21	Compliance with dilators	2	
Robinson <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1999 (80)	RCT	Dilators + information vs. dilators + information + psychoeduca- tional support (motivational behavioural skills teaching)	32	Sexual health scores; compliance with treatment	2	Numbers difficult to assess, and conclu- sions, especially about the influence of age on outcome questionable (see Johnson <i>et al.</i> , 2010 syst review). Gives 81 responses in 32 women!
Volterrani <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1987 (85)	RCT	Benzydmaine vs. placebo	32	Subjective improvement of vaginal symptoms using baseline and post-treatment scores and objective assessment with colposcopy for both groups.	2	

continued on page 149

# **TABLE 2**Detail of Publications Including Reference to Vaginal Scarring, Dyspareunia or<br/>Sexual Dysfunction Following Fistula Repair, Cont'd

Author, Year	Study Type	Details	Participants	Outcomes	Evidence Level	Comments
Bentivoglio <i>et al.</i> , 1981 (84)	RCT	Benzydmaine vs. placebo	30	Improvement in the symptoms of acute vaginitis using a baseline and post- treatment assessment with a three-point score	2	
Pitkin <i>et al.,</i> 1971 (83)	RCT	Intravaginal dienestrol vs. placebo	93; 44/49	The development of vaginal bleeding, dyspareunia, stenosis and assessment of vaginal epithelium	2	
Browning <i>et al.</i> , 2010 (185)	Non- randomized cohort study	Examination of relevance of FGC to fistula	492; 255/237	Higher use of sling at time of repair and less ureteric catheterization in cases than controls. Type I and II FGC (and scarring of fistula) were not seen as independent risk factors	3	
Sobotkowski <i>et al.</i> , 2006 (81)	Non- randomized cohort study	Mitomycin applied to vaginal vault in women following RT for ca cx	31	Vaginal length	3	Allocation unclear. No difference in vaginal length with treatment.
Decruze <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1999 (79)	Case- controlled series	Vaginal stent vs. sexual intercourse	70	The development of vaginal stenosis assessed clinically at 1 year.	3	Authors own design of stent; describe all failures as being patients' incorrect use of the device!
Chow <i>et al.,</i> 2010 (186)	Case series	Series of Latzko procedures	17	No reports of sexual dysfunction	4	lt is not certain all were sexually active (28–80 yo)

continued on page 150

# **TABLE 2**Detail of Publications Including Reference to Vaginal Scarring, Dyspareunia or<br/>Sexual Dysfunction Following Fistula Repair. Cont'd

Author, Year	Study Type	Details	Participants	Outcomes	Evidence Level	Comments
Capes <i>et al.</i> (abs), 2010 (187)	Case series	305 patients; 205/283 successfully treated	283	Of the 205 with closed fistula, 43 (21%) had SUI, 5 (2.4%) DI, and 7 (3.4%) mixed incontinence, and 150 (73.2%) were continent or dry. Scarring unrelated to outcome.	4	
Muleta <i>et al.</i> , 2010 (74)	Case series	Obstetric fistula from Ethiopia	14,298	Severe scarring or obliteration in 14.9%	3	
Dolan <i>et al.,</i> 2008 (75)	Case series	Largely surgical fistula in the UK	31	BFLUTS questionnaire at median of 4 years after repair	3	
Goh <i>et al.,</i> 2008 (13)	Case series	Obstetric fistula assessed by Goh classification	987	960/987 successfully closed; 229 (24%) reported incontinence. Fistula close to EUM, circumferential fistulas, and those with significant scarring were most likely to fail.	3	
Flynn <i>et al.,</i> 2004 (188)	Case series	Largely posthysterec- tomy fistulas, treated	40	85% sexually active at 3 months; 2 deep dyspareunia	4	

### 5.10.2 Discussion

Both systematic reviews identified examined interventions for the physical aspects of sexual dysfunction in women following pelvic radiotherapy (77,78). Only seven useful studies were identified in these reviews, investigating the effects of vaginal dilators (or stents or specula) (79–81). intravaginal estrogen (83), and benzydamine douches (84,85). The latter compound is an anti-inflammatory, which acts directly on inflamed tissues by stabilizing cells and lysosomal membranes and by inhibiting the synthesis of prostaglandins.

It is used topically and is well absorbed through the vaginal skin reaching higher concentrations in the underlying inflamed tissue than after oral administration. It also has analgesic, local anaesthetic and antimicrobial effects (77). Each of these interventions might therefore be of potential value in the face of sexual dysfunction following fistula repair surgery.

Two studies (both from the same unit) investigated the effects of a programme of psycho-educational support along with the use of vaginal dilators (80,86). Both reported an increase in compliance with the use of dilators (see **Figure 5**), although no difference in sexual function scores was found (80). Although one study has reported a reduction in findings of vaginal stenosis (see **Figure 6**) (79), others have not confirmed significant changes in vaginal anatomy (80). In the context of radiotherapy, both systematic reviews emphasize the poor quality of available evidence (77,78), but draw different conclusions about the appropriateness of continuing to recommend routine dilation during treatment. One suggests that intervention may plausibly be associated with greater scar formation, rather than less, particularly if used in the acute phase of treatment (78).

Two RCTs investigated the use of benzydamine (84,85) and one intravaginal estrogen to reduce vaginal symptoms and sexual dysfunction following radiotherapy (83). Each of these reports found improvements in vaginal symptoms, although both were underpowered, and of limited quality (see **Figures 3**, **5** and **6**) (77).

Secondary amenorrhea is commonly seen in obstetric fistula patients. Whether this reflects the tissue loss within the pelvis or a hypothalamic influence as a result of the physical and emotional effects of a traumatic labour, stillbirth and fistula development is not clear. The live-birth rate has been reported to be no more than 10% in obstetric fistula patients (6,74) so estrogen deficiency as a result of lactation is unlikely to be a significant factor.

A study from Nigeria found that 44% of patients were amenorrheic at the time of referral, and the average delay between the associated pregnancy and presentation was around two years; 39% had resumed menstruation and their average delay to presentation was averaged over four years (60). This might be taken to imply that the natural history of any hypothalamic suppressive effect of the development of a fistula tends towards spontaneous resolution after two years, even if the fistula remains untreated. This in turn tends to indicate that whilst scarring might be a significant contributor, estrogen deficiency is the more significant influence. The possible benefits seen in vaginal symptoms in the irradiated vagina suggest that intravaginal estrogen might be a useful adjunct to treatment of sexual dysfunction following fistula repair.

FIGURE 5 Forest plot of comparison: 4 Vaginal dilator (stent) vs. no treatment or normal intercourse, outcome: 4.1 Vaginal stenosis.	Study or Subgroup Decruze et al. 1999 Total (95% CI) Total events Heterogeneity: Not app Test for overall effect:	4 plicable	al Events 5 20 5 20	Total 35 35	Weight 100.0%	<b>M-H</b>	lds Ratio Fixed, 95% CI 0 (0.03, 0.33) 0 (0.03, 0.33)	0.01 0.	Odds Ratio I-H, Fixed, 95% Cl 1 1 1 10 ars stent Favours i	100	
FIGURE 6 Forest plot of comparison:	Study or Subgroup	Experim Events	ental Total E	Contro		Weight	Odds Ra M-H, Fixed		-	dds Ratio Fixed, 95% CI	
2 Benzydamine vs. placebo, outcome: 2.1 Subjective	Bentivoglio et al, 198 Volterrani et al, 198	1 17	20 16	4	10 16	64.6%	8.50 [1.4 19.29 [2.03,	5, 49.54]			• •
improvement in symptoms	<b>Total (95% CI)</b> Total events Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effec					100.0%	12.31 (3.1	3, 48.48]	0.01 0.1 Favours plac		100 enzydamine

## 5.10.3 Conclusions

- 1. Vaginal scarring is a common finding in obstetric fistula patients, and has been commonly (but inconsistently) linked to poor prognosis for surgical outcome. (EL3)
- 2. Persistent symptoms of sexual dysfunction are common following fistula repair surgery, and have a significant impact on the quality of life for a significant number of women. This has been demonstrated from a longitudinal cohort study of largely surgical fistula patients (EL3), and seems likely to be a substantially greater problem in obstetric fistula patients where tissue loss and cicatrisation are seen more frequently and more extensively (EL4).
- 3. There is no evidence on the use of vaginal dilators in the management of scarring associated with obstetric VVF. Extrapolated data from post-radiotherapy vaginal stenosis may or may not be appropriate. Compliance is likely to be a problem with this approach to management, although there is evidence that additional psycho-educational support may improve compliance (EL2); data on effectiveness are inconsistent (EL3).
- 4. Data on alternative non-surgical modalities of treatment for vaginal and sexual symptoms following obstetric fistula repair are also limited. Extrapolation from post-radiotherapy vaginal stenosis using intravaginal estrogen or benzydamine douches are encouraging, but supported by only limited RCT data (EL2).

# 5.11 Urethral Complications of Vaginal Fistula Repair

# 5.11.1 **Discussion**

Urethral complications of obstetric genitourinary fistula can occur as a complication of genitourinary fistula repair or can be associated with it. These complications include, urethrovaginal fistula, urinary incontinence, and obstruction.

Urethrovaginal fistula is a distinct type of fistula that has to be differentiated from VVF. It can occur as a standalone fistula or can accompany a VVF. Furthermore, it can extend to involve the bladder neck and the trigone. Incontinence and obstruction are other consequences that can occur after the repair of genitourinary fistulas (60,87).

Obstructed labour is the main cause of obstetric urethrovaginal fistula. The vast majority of this type of fistula is present in the developing world (60,88). Extensive ischemic necrosis of the urethra and the vagina occurs during obstructed labour due to compression of these tissues between the fetus head and the symphysis publis.

It usually involves the bladder neck and the trigone as well (88). Nevertheless, although rare, it is still reported in the industrialized world. In fact, obstetric urethrovaginal fistula is still the most common type of urethrovaginal fistula. Apart from urethral involvement in genitourinary fistula, urethral injury can be of iatrogenic origin during the repair of genito-urinary fistula (89).

Stress urinary incontinence (SUI) can result after treating urethrovaginal patients. It is not clear from the literature whether SUI that occurs after the repair of urethrovaginal fistula in over half of the patients is secondary to repair of the fistula or was a sequel of the original pathology.

Although not well documented, the consensus of the Complication Committee of the VVF Consultation was that it is reasonable to assume that stress incontinence in these circumstances is mostly due to intrinsic sphincteric deficiency. On contrast, urethral stenosis and obstructive symptoms can result from the repair of urethra-vaginal fistula (90).

The exact incidence of different urethral complications of VVF is very difficult to determine. In one report from Sierra Leone, examination of 505 patients with genitourinary fistula showed that only 56% of these patients were judged to have normal urethra (88). In another study, urethrovaginal fistula compromised 2.8% of 2484 patients presented with urogenital fistula, most of them are of obstetric etiology (92.2%) (60). Similarly, Raassen and others found that urethral involvement occurred in 5% of patients with obstetric urogenital fistulas (90).

Stress urinary incontinence is the most prevalent complication of the repair of genitourinary fistula in one of the studies. It occurred in 10% of the patients. Unfortunately, it was not further analyzed as regards the etiology of this incontinence (89).

In another study, 55% of 58 patients complained of persistent incontinence after successful closure of genitourinary fistula. Urodynamics showed that 31% had stress incontinence, 4% due to detrusor overactivity and 20% had mixed incontinence (91).

Apparently, the original site of the fistula and whether it involves the urethral closure mechanism, has a direct relation to the post-repair occurrence of stress urinary incontinence. Raassen and colleagues demonstrated that if the original site of the urogenital fistula is more than 5 cm from the external urethral meatus (Type I of Waaldijk classification), the incidence of postoperative stress urinary incontinence is significantly lower than if the fistula is less than 5 cm from the external meatus (Type II) (90).

Involvement of the urethral closing mechanism and circumferential fistula (with complete destruction of the bladder neck) leads to significantly higher incidence of postoperative stress urinary incontinence as compared to those cases without involvement of urethral closure mechanism and those without circumferential fistula (**Table 3**) (90).

# **TABLE 3**Outcome of Postoperative Dye Test and Urinary Continence (Stress) Test Per<br/>Fistula Type

			14 Days Postoperative	
Classification	Total (N)	Positive dye test N (%)	Positive urinary continence (stress) test N (%)	Total incontinent N (%)
I	122	8 (7.4)	2 (1.6)	10 (8.2)
llaa	327	30 (8.9)	24 (7.3)	54 (16.5)
llab	61	10 (16.4)	15 (24.6)	25 (45.9)
llba	21	3 (14.3)	3 (14.3)	6 (28.6)
IIIBb	8	0 (0.0)	4 (50.0)	4 (50.0)
III	26	1 (4.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (4.0)
Total	565	52 (9.2)	48 (9.3)	100 (17.7)

Quoted from Raassen and colleagues. (89)

Urethral injury occurred in 2% of the patients during the repair of the genitourinary fistula. Urethral stenosis was reported in 5.63% of patients after repair of urethrovaginal fistula (89).

Presentation is dependent on the site of the fistula along the urethra and the involvement of the bladder neck and the bladder. If the urethro-vaginal fistula is large or if there is an involvement of the bladder neck and the bladder, continuous incontinence occur as in the cases of VVF.

On the other hand, if the fistula is proximal in position, patient may present with stress urinary incontinence. Distal fistula can be completely asymptomatic or may be associated with splayed urinary stream. Positional wetting, which is incontinence on rising after voiding due to filling of the vagina with urine during voiding may also occur in proximal fistula (87).

Most of urethral fistulas are easy to diagnose and can be identified with vaginal speculum examination. Large fistulas can be palpated manually. Identification of smaller fistulas can be facilitated by filling the bladder with methylene blue-dyed saline. A metallic sound can also be used to facilitate identification of the fistula. Other associated genitourinary fistulas should be sought. Urine analysis should be performed as well. Urethrocystoscopy is a good adjunct to determine the involvement of the bladder neck and the trigone (87).

The involvement of the urethra seems to decrease the success rate of the management of genitourinary fistula. In a report from Sierra Leone on 505 patients with obstetric genitourinary fistula, patients with urethra-vaginal fistula behaved worse than the rest of the cohort. The success rate of surgical repair was 73%, 92%, and 63% for juxta-cervical, midvaginal and juxta-urethral respectively (89).

When patients were categorized according to urethral status: success rate was 84%, 51% and 71% for patients with intact, partially damaged, and complete destruction of urethra, respectively (89). In contrast, another group couldn't find this influence of urethral involvement on the repair results. In that study, the patients were categorized according to Waaldijk classification. Involvement of the urethra didn't influence the results of the repair in a multivariate analysis (90).

Pushkar and colleagues suggested to repair the urethrovaginal fistula by circumferential incision involving the fistula. The urethra is then mobilized and closed transversely to avoid constriction of the urethra. They advised against extensive trimming of the fistula edges since there is usually minimal tissues left for repair. They tested the urethra for any residual opening using metallic sound inserted in the urethra. A second layer from the periurethral tissues was placed before closing the vagina. A urethral catheter is placed for 6–9 days. Using this technique obtained a success rate of 90.14%. Recurrent fistulas were re-repaired and were successful in all but one patient (87).

The use of intervening layer is always advisable. Martius labial fat pad flap are the most easily accessible and the most used flaps (87,92,93). Others have described the use of peritoneal flaps with similar success to that of Martius flap although most of the fistulas in that report were non-obstetric. They have shown as well that the use of full thickness labial flaps is feasible. Nevertheless, they used that particular technique in only three patients (59).

Bruce and colleagues have described the use of rectus abdominis muscle flap as intervening layer between the urethral and the vaginal layers (94). The use of autologous fibrin glue has been shown to function equally to the use of Martius graft in complex genitourinary fistula. Clear advantage of this was shown in the form of decreasing the complexity of an already complex procedure and decreasing operative time. Additionally, it doesn't preclude the use of Martius graft simultaneously (39).

Stress urinary incontinence that develops after urethrovaginal fistula repair can be treated with suburethral sling, whether autologous or synthetic. Most of the patients in one study (59.46%) were objectively cured, while 32.43% expressed they were satisfied, and 8.11% of the patients remained incontinent (87). Another group advocated doing video-urodynamics prior to surgical intervention. If stress urinary incontinence is diagnosed, the patient is offered pubovaginal sling during the same procedure of repairing the urethrovaginal fistula (12).

Hilton and colleagues reported their preliminary experience of treating sphincteric incontinence following repair of urethrovaginal fistula in six patients with autologous fat injection. Two patients were cured, two improved, and two didn't benefit from the procedure (96). The Complication Subcommittee of the VVF Consultation felt that it is safer to use autologous pubovaginal sling to repair stress urinary incontinence in these patients, whether simultaneously with the original repair, or later on.

## 5.11.2 Conclusion

The level of evidence in the literature regarding urethral complications of VVF is quite low. It appears that most urethral complications of VVF are preventable. These complications are urethrovaginal fistula, urinary incontinence, and urethral obstruction. Diagnosis of the urethrovaginal fistula is mainly dependant on vaginal examination and can be facilitated by the use of methylene blue and urethral sound. Persistent urinary incontinence after successful repair of VVF is mostly due to ISD but can be secondary to overactive bladder.

Treatment of urethrovaginal fistula is always surgical, using anatomical closure with the use of tissue interpositioning. The use of fibrin glue can improve the results. Stress urinary incontinence is best treated with pubovaginal sling using autologous material such as the rectus sheath or fascia lata.

### 5.11.3 Recommendations

- Good studies are needed to address the entity of urethral complications of obstetric VVF.
- Involvement of the urethra in the original fistula may worsen the outcome of the repair and is associated with higher incidence of postoperative stress urinary incontinence. (EL3)
- Treatment of urethrovaginal fistula is always surgical and needs special surgical techniques and tissue interpositioning. (EL3)
- Treatment of stress urinary incontinence following repair of urogenital fistula is more wisely done by autologous pubovaginal slings. (EL4)

# 5.12 Ureteric Ligation/Injury due to VVF repair

#### 5121 Introduction

Injury to the pelvic ureter is one of the most serious operative complications of gynecologic surgery. VVF repairs lead to 10-15% of ureteric injuries (97). Ureteral injuries can be either expected or unexpected, and they may be the result of carelessness or due to a technically challenging procedure.

The six most common mechanisms of operative ureteral injury are as follows:

- Crushing from misapplication of a clamp
- Ligation with a suture
- Transsection (partial or complete)
- Angulation of the ureter with secondary obstruction

Any combination of these injuries may occur (98,99,100).

The ureter injury occurs most commonly in the lower third of its pelvic course and injuries classically occur in one of the four anatomical locations.

Most studies show the most common site of injury to be lateral to the uterine vessels (106), (106) but Daly et al. (97) report this to be at the ovarian fossa. During laparoscopy the ureter is

- Cardinal ligament where the ureter passes under the uterine vessels
- At or below the infundibulopelvic ligament
- Along the lateral border of uterosacral ligament

injured most frequently adjacent to the uterosacral ligaments (107).

• Where the ureter lies in close proximity to the anterior vaginal wall and enters the base of the bladder (101,102,103,104,105,106).

- Ischemia from ureteral stripping or electrocoagulation
- Resection of a segment of ureter

### 5.12.2 Classification

According to the Organ Injury Scaling System developed by the Committee of the American Association for the Surgery of Trauma (109), ureteric injuries are classified as follows:

This anatomical classification does not however, appear to have clear prognostic implications.

Grade I	Hematoma: contusion or hematoma without devascularization
Grade II	Laceration: <50% transection
Grade III	Laceration: >50% transection
Grade IV	Laceration: complete transection with 2 cm of devascularization
Grade V	Laceration: avulsion with >2 cm of devascularization

Numerous consequences may occur after ureteral injury, including spontaneous resolution and healing of the injured ureter, hydronephrosis, ureteral necrosis with urinary extravasation, ureteral stricture formation, and uremia (110,111). Inadvertent ligation of the ureter is an example of such an injury. If this injury is noticed in a timely fashion, the suture can be cut off the ureter without significant injury (112,113,114). If the urine in this obstructed system becomes infected, the patient will almost certainly become septic with pyonephrosis (115). The unrecognized ligation of the ureter, produces ureteral wall necrosis due to pressure-induced ischemia leading to urinary extravasation into the periureteral tissues. Urinary ascites may also develop and peritonitis may ensue (116,117). Ischemic strictures of the ureter, leading to obstruction and hydronephrosis of the ipsilateral kidney, are not uncommon (118,119). Uremia results from bilateral ureteral injury or from a unilateral injury occurring in a solitarily functioning kidney (118,119).

### 5.12.3 Presentation of ureteric injury

The patient may present with flank pain, prolonged ileus, fever, watery vaginal discharge, or elevated serum creatinine levels. In cases of bilateral ureteral injury, anuria is the first clinical sign (120,121).

#### **FIGURE 7**

Relevant anatomy of the ureter, illustrating its course from the renal pelvis to the bladder. Note the ureter's proximity at the pelvic brim to the infundibulopelvic ligament.



#### 5.12.4 Diagnosis

Intraoperative recognition is critical so that it can be repaired and renal functional compromise can be avoided (122,123,124). This enables prompt repair and is associated with decreased morbidity and fewer legal risks (125). In situations where visualisation of the ureters is not feasible, intravenous administration of methylthioninium chloride or indigo carmine (5 ml) is an accurate means of demonstrating ureteric patency (126). The use of intraoperative cystoscopy and telescopy during urogynecology procedures has shown an incidence of urinary tract injury of 2.6–8% (127,128). A decision analysis model shows that routine cystoscopy is cost-effective if the rate of ureteric injury exceeds 1.5% for abdominal hysterectomy or 2% for vaginal hysterectomy or laparoscopically assisted vaginal hysterectomy. Cystoscopy should therefore be considered in complex cases.

Flank pain and fever are the most common symptoms complained postoperatively. Hematuria, a reliable indicator of renal trauma, is absent in approximately 30% of ureteric injuries (129,130) Women may occasionally present with a retroperitoneal urinoma (131).

#### 5.12.5 **Prevention**

It is recommended that routine identification and dissection of pelvic ureter be performed at the beginning of any difficult pelvic surgery (132,133). Of particular use in laparoscopy are lighted stents, which illuminate and help identify the ureter, thereby reducing the risk of iatrogenic injury (134).

#### 5.12.6 Management

There are major variables guiding a surgeon's approach to the management of ureteric injuries: time of diagnosis, etiology, length and location of the injury, extent of the causative operation and the condition of the woman (135).

#### Surgical management options for ureteric injury (136-138)

- Needle injury No action unless bleeding or leakage
- Partial transection Stent placement
- Complete transection (no loss of length)
- 5 cm from vesicoureteric junction Ureteroneocystostomy
- 5 cm from vesicoureteric junction Ureteroureterostomy
- Complete transection (loss of length) Psoas hitch
- Boari flap with a psoas hitch
- Transureteroureterostomy
- Ureteroileocystostomy
- Ureterocalycostomy
- Renal autotransplantation

#### Specific procedures and principles (139-150)

#### Ureteroneocystostomy

Injuries to the lower ureter are usually associated with disruption of blood supply from the iliac vessels. Hence, these injuries are best repaired with ureteroneocystostomy.

#### Vesicopsoas hitch

This is the treatment of choice for lower ureteral injuries that cannot be successfully repaired with ureteroneocystostomy alone. It involves mobilizing the bladder and pulling it superiorly and laterally by fixing it to the psoas tendon with an absorbable suture. This technique can be used to bridge a 6– to 8–cm defect.

#### Boari bladder flap

For injuries too long to be bridged with the psoas hitch procedure alone, a Boari flap can be created to provide an additional 12–15 cm of length. In this procedure, a pedicle of bladder is swung cephalad and tubularized to bridge the gap to the injured ureter.

#### Other surgical options

Options for elective repair include autotransplantation or an ileal ureter.

#### Autotransplantation

This involves relocating the ipsilateral native kidney to the pelvis; the renal artery and vein are then anastomosed to the iliac vessels, and the healthy ureter or renal pelvis is anastomosed to the bladder. **Ileal interposition** 

This procedure involves the creation of a ureteral conduit from ileum and bridging the gap. Both autotransplantation and ileal conduit are inappropriate in the acute setting.

#### Urinary diversion

Urinary diversion in the form of a stent and/or nephrostomy tube should be considered, when indicated.

#### Retrograde ureteral stent placement

An endoscopic approach with retrograde ureteral stent placement may be effective in certain iatrogenic injuries and injuries secondary to external violence

# 5.13 Neurological Complications of VVF

## 5.13.1 Discussion

Prolonged obstructed labor results in pressure induced ischemia and necrosis of the vagina, bladder, (occasionally) ureters, urethra and rectum, often provoking profound genitourinary fistula formation. These injuries may be part of a syndrome called the obstetric labour injury complex, which can include damage to the urological, gynecological, gastrointestinal, neurological and musculoskeletal systems (103).

Neurological complications of VVF can involve peripheral (peroneal) or perineal nerves. Peripheral nerve injury is estimated to occur in 5% of women exposed to obstructed labour and VVFs in Sierra Leone. Since most women in Sierra Leone do not deliver in hospitals, urgent medical attention, such as caesarean section, for prolonged obstructed labour is often substantially delayed or completely unavailable (89). This incidence can be underestimated.

In a study in northern Nigeria, when chart of VVF patients were reviewed, only 5.3% of 470 patients were noted to have peroneal nerve injury. In contrast, when patients were asked and examined specifically for symptoms and signs of peroneal nerve injury in prospective manner, 75.9% of them had either symptoms or signs of peroneal nerve injury (153). This may reflect the importance for a focused neurological examination on receiving a patient with VVF since figures of peroneal nerve injury in older reports are much lower (23,154–155). The etiology of this lesion is most probably related to compression of the lumbosacral trunk of the peroneal nerve in the pelvis or due to direct injury of the peroneal nerve due to prolonged squatting and pushing in the 2nd stage of labour (156–157).

Peroneal nerve injury is mostly unilateral and occurs more often on the right side. Nevertheless, it can still occur on the left side and can be bilateral. In the study by Waaldijk and Elkins of 311 patients with peroneal nerve injury, peroneal nerve injury occurred bilaterally in 47 patients, on the right side in 211 patients, and on the left in 146 patients. Most of these injuries resolve spontaneously. Only 13.3% persisted beyond two years after the occurrence of VVF (154).

Neuropathy associated with VVF can also involve the perineum. In a study, 68.18% of fistula patients presented with a clinical neuropathy in the perineum. When these patients undergone electromyography, all fistula patients with VVF in this study showed a degree of denervation. In contrast, there was no detectable lesion either clinically or by electromyography.

The severity of this lesion ranged from moderate (36.37%) to severe (63.63%). The severity of the lesion is related to age of presentation since it is more severe in younger age. Furthermore, it is more severe in primiparous ladies. Interestingly, it appears from that study that the success of repair is affected by the severity of the lesion, since severely denervated cases are usually associated with repair failure or at least persistent vesicosphincteric dysfunction (153).

Complex neuropathic bladder disorder can occur as a result of obstetric VVF. This has been discussed somewhere else in this chapter.

# 5.14 Infertility as a Complication of VVF

Vesicouterine fistulas can present in different ways, depending on their location, size, and the degree of patency of the endocervical canal. The least troublesome vesicouterine fistulas do not result in incontinence, but are characterized by the absence of vaginal menstruation in the presence of cyclic hematuria ("menouria" or "Youssef's syndrome"), whereby the menstrual flow exits exclusively through the urinary tract (159–161).

Other vesicouterine fistulas may be associated with various combinations of altered menstruation and either periodic or continuous incontinence. The finding most characteristic of an uterovesical fistula is demonstrable loss of urine through the cervix (a finding that also occurs with vesicocervical fistulas).

Many patients sustain severe cervical damage as well as vaginal injury during the course of obstructed labour. It is rare to see a completely normal cervix when examining a fistula patient. In the worst cases, prolonged obstructed labour may result in complete cervical destruction, leaving the patient with no identifiable cervical tissue at all.

Unfortunately, detailed descriptions of the condition of the cervix have not been included in the case series of fistulas published to date. Since cervical competence is such an important factor in future reproductive performance, this is yet another clinical area that demands further study. Other studies have shown amenorrhea rates from 25% to 44% (162–164).

Many of these patients undoubtedly have hypothalamic or pituitary dysfunction (165). A follow-up study by Browning *et al.* showed that while the amenorrhea rate was 58% pre-operatively, this rate improved to 29% at six months after surgery, suggesting a recovery of ovulation in a proportion of operated women (166). While the high incidence of amenorrhea in VVF patients is widely recognized, only one unpublished study has been done to date looking specifically at uterine pathology in the VVF population.

Dosu Ojengbede of the University of Ibadan (personal communication) performed hysteroscopy on fistula patients in Nigeria and found that intrauterine scarring and Asherman's syndrome were common in these women. The combination of widespread amenorrhea, vaginal scarring, and cervical destruction leads to a tremendous problem of secondary infertility among these patients. To date, there have been no serious scientific efforts to explore treatment of cervical and uterine damage in VVF patients.

Subsequent reproductive performance of women who have had an obstetric VVF has been analyzed in a few articles (164,166,167). Emembolu analyzed the subsequent reproductive performance of 155 fistula patients delivered at Ahmadu Bello University Teaching Hospital in Zaria, Nigeria, between January 1986 and December, 1990 (168). This series included pregnancies in 75 women who became pregnant after successful fistula closure and 80 women who became pregnant while still afflicted with an unrepaired fistula that had occurred in a previous pregnancy. In women with pre-existing, unrepaired fistulas who became pregnant but who did not register for prenatal care in the subsequent pregnancy, maternal mortality and morbidity in those pregnancies was high, reflecting continuation of the conditions that led to fistula formation in the first place (169).

The commonest maternal morbidity, excluding recurrence of VVFs, was haemorrhage requiring blood transfusion in 35 patients (27.3%). Others included ruptured uterus in three unbooked patients whose fistula had not been repaired, bladder injury at caesarean section in 1.6% and acute renal failure in 0.8%.

Maternal complications occurred more frequently in the patients whose fistula had not been repaired and who were also unbooked. The largest series is that of Aimakhu, who analyzed subsequent reproductive performance in 246 women who underwent successful fistula closure at University College Hospital in Ibadan, Nigeria, between 1957 and 1966 (163). Only 48 patients became pregnant following fistula repair with a total of 65 pregnancies.

All but six of these were managed at University College Hospital. Five patients aborted prior to the 16th week of gestation, leaving only 60 viable pregnancies. The plan was to perform elective caesarean section on all patients who became pregnant after fistula repair, but only 49 caesarean operations were carried out. The results of the vaginal deliveries were not encouraging.

Patients who underwent caesarean delivery fared better. There were 49 babies delivered and 47 survived. There was no recurrent fistula among women previously repaired who became pregnant and had a subsequent caesarean section. There was one maternal death from pulmonary embolism in a woman who underwent an emergency delivery at 32 weeks gestation due to a prolapsed fetal umbilical cord.

# 5.15 Psychological Complications

## 5.15.1 Introduction

Women with urinary or fecal incontinence show depression, anxiety, and abnormal levels of situational life stresses. It is likely that psychological changes are related to the symptom and related disability and distress than to specific urogynecologic conditions. Feeling of insecurity, anger, apathy, dependence, guilt, indignity, feeling of abandonment, shame, embarrassment, depression and denial are also common. Women feel loss of self-confidence and self-esteem.

In addition to these physical problems, fistulas cause acute social problems. As a result of the continuous leakage of urine and feces into the vagina, affected women often have an offensive odour, leading them to be ostracized by their husbands, families, and community. For example, families do not want fistula survivors preparing food or participating in family events. Commuting in public transport and engaging in social activities such as weddings and naming ceremonies becomes difficult. Women tend to get socially disengaged and socially isolated. Psychological and functional decline prevails and potential for institutionalization occurs.

### 5.15.2 Psychosocial impact

Wyman *et al* (1990) examined epidemiologic and clinical studies addressing the psychosocial impact of urinary incontinence on community-dwelling women (184). They noted wide variations among studies regarding patient populations surveyed, methods of evaluation, and definitions used. Reports of interference with social activities ranged from 8% to 52%. Areas affected included social, domestic, physical, occupational, and leisure activities. Sufferers may give up or restrict certain household chores, church/temple/holy-places attendance, shopping, travelling, vacations, physical recreation, entertainment events outside the home, and hobbies. They may avoid activities outside the home if they are unsure of restroom locations. Some incontinent women become increasingly isolated as they limit social activities and social contacts. Even incontinent home-bound women, have significantly fewer social interactions, particularly with family members.

# 5.15.3 Family relationship

Urinary and fecal incontinence can lead to such disability and dependency that family or home caregivers have difficulty coping and responding to increased demands. Incontinence may be the last straw in a family's attempts to care for a disabled woman. It is a major factor leading to institutionalization and may be a secondary reason for many more. Economic worries for the families are enormous, caregiver burden and emotional stress on the families is phenomenal (170). Health deterioration of primary caregiver and impaired interpersonal relationships are common. Potential for abuse or neglect is real. Decision to institutionalize and delayed discharge from institutional care are frequently seen. Negative feelings and behaviours toward patients with urinary and fecal incontinence sometimes are noticed. Patients are seen as extra care responsibilities and "burn-out" syndrome is prevalent among the healthcare providers of the women with urinary and fecal incontinence. Reaction formation such as overindulgence, excessive permissiveness and excessive caring is not uncommon.

# 5.15.4 Spousal relationship

Spousal relationships appear to be most impaired, perhaps because of an additional adverse effect on sexual relationships. The close anatomic proximity of the bladder, urethra, and rectum with the vagina allows for an association between lower urinary tract or anorectal dysfunction and sexual difficulties. The effects can be bidirectional; sexual activity can cause or aggravate bladder or anorectal problems, and bladder or anorectal problems can lead to sexual dysfunction. The association between urologic symptoms and sexual problems may occur in several ways. Urinary symptoms may be a direct cause of sexual difficulties, where none previously existed. Alternatively, urinary symptoms may be used (consciously or unconsciously) as an excuse to avoid sexual contact in the presence of a pre-existing but unacknowledged sexual problem. Declining general health of the woman may affect sexual activity. Thus, many complex factors affect the quality of sexual function (171).

#### 5.15.5 Sexual health and consequences

Additionally, vaginal injuries can result in a woman's inability to perform her expected duties, from manual labour to having sexual intercourse with her husband (5). In societies in which a woman's worth is dependent on fulfilling her marital (sexual) duties, this situation is devastating (172). If the fistulas are not repaired, their husbands may divorce the women. In Niger, fistula accounts for 63.3% of all divorces (173). According to an Ethiopian study of previously married women with fistula repairs (n=78), all the women's husbands either divorced them (n=59) or abandoned them (n=19) (174). Kelly reported that husbands had rejected more than 50% of patients at the Hamlin Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital (175). In a Nigerian study of 31 fistula patients, the divorce rate, even after repair, was 55%; 87% of these women had a stillbirth (176). Some leave their families to roam in the cities where they are not known as the outlook for them remain bleak in the community. Given that fetal death often occurs during the obstructed labour that caused the fistula, the subsequent amenorrhea, which can often be permanent and even after repair lasts for up to two years (59), further compounds the woman's childless state and cultural valuelessness.

### 5.15.6 Management

It is widely accepted that urinary and fecal incontinence is under-recognized and undertreated. Fewer than half of people with incontinence in the community consult their healthcare providers about the problem. The reasons for this include embarrassment, availability of absorbent products, low expectations of benefit from treatment, and lack of information regarding options for treatment.

The sufferer has various stresses including physical, psychological and socio-economic. Many of these women feel intimidated to attend a hospital and are also vulnerable and this leads to psychological trauma.

Many studies suggest that psychological factors associated with urinary or fecal incontinence can be modified with therapy (177). Interventions to address the problem of VVF have to be one with holistic approach to include treatment, rehabilitation and follow up in the community (178).

Ideally, interventions should be done with counselling from the time the sufferer comes to seek help, through to when she returns to her community. The counselling will form part of a whole package of rehabilitation which ideally should start with the treatment but not end with it. Only by this approach can bring complete healing for those suffering with VVF.

#### Contributory factors for psychological trauma during VVF treatment (179-181)

- Most of the women are malnourished and good nutrition is not affordable
- They suffer from untreated infections
- The need for multiple surgeries no funding
- Understaffed nursing care team

- Poor rehabilitation centre care
- Husbands not involved in counselling and have no sensitization
- Husband's insistence on sexual activity and women fear refusal due to Islamic faith.

Sexual function may be positively or negatively affected by the surgical treatment of urinary incontinence. Deterioration is many times seen after extensive pelvic floor repair.

- Pregnancy soon after surgery repair disintegrates
- Subsequent childbirth, if not properly supervised, may result in another fistula

#### Steps to prevent psychological trauma (180,181)

- 1. Counseling (peer and professional), surgical treatment and appropriate pre- and post-surgery nursing care.
- 2. Residential rehabilitation where activities are coordinated and managed, to educate and train women on income-generating skills
- **3.** Physical and psychological rehabilitation at the centre and subsequent reintegration of women into their communities, with 12 months follow-up and monitoring of reassimilation
- 4. This will ensure they create links with other women like themselves in an atmosphere of support and learning. The issues of the VVF are put in a structure of health, reproductive and sexual health and rights so that they understand what and how the VVF occurred and what to do in order to prevent it from happening again.

#### Assessment of psychological well-being

Increased risk of pelvic dysfunction, stress incontinence, anal incontinence, dyspareunia and vulval problems following the repair are increased in incidence and duration. The prevalence and severity, including any related psychosocial ill-health in this population, needs further definition. Impaired social functioning is assessed by analyzing any delay resulting from its interference with usual post-partum social activities (182).

The grading of the severity of psychosocial morbidity makes it easier to quantify, and its feasibility for assessing obstetric outcomes should be evaluated prospectively (183).

- 1. Function resumed 0–12 weeks postpartum (normal range)
- 2. Function resumed 13–24 weeks postpartum (mild impairment)
- **3.** Function resumed 25–36 weeks postpartum (moderate impairment)
- 4. Function resumed after 37 weeks postpartum (severe impairment)

## 5.15.7 **Conclusions**

In the presence of stress incontinence and dyspareunia, a biopsychosocial morbidity could be severe.

Pelvic dysfunction can contribute to relationship problems with their infant or with their partner.

The approach for assessing the overall predicted morbidity and perceived maternal needs associated with pelvic dysfunction could have a role in the management of these patients and development of relevant support services.

At least for the short term, quality of life and other second-order benefits must be considered if continence rehabilitation is to be cost-effective.

Awareness about VVF as a treatable condition should be encouraged in the community.

It is very helpful in improving the status of women in the society by encouraging them to learn about the appropriate care.

Maternal health interventions are among the most cost-effective investments in health. Good maternal health services can strengthen the entire health system.

The importance of skilled care during pregnancy and childbirth is vital and essential.

# 5.16 References

- Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Briggs ND, Browning A, Lassey AT. The obstetric vesicovaginal fistula in the developing world. Obstet Gynecol Survey 2005;60 (suppl 1):S1–51.
- 2. Abrams P, Khoury S. International consultation on urological diseases: Evidence-based medicine overview of the main steps for developing and grading guideline recommendations. Neurourol Urodyn. 2010;29(1):116–8.
- 3. Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD. The "continence gap": a critical concept in obstetric fistula repair. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2007;18(8):843–4.
- 4. Wall LL, Karshima JA, Kirschner C, Arrowsmith SD. The obstetric vesicovaginal fistula: characteristics of 899 patients from Jos, Nigeria. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004;190(4):1011–9.
- Genadry RR, Creanga AA, Roenneburg ML, Wheeless CR. Complex obstetric fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99 Suppl 1:S51–6.
- Sombie I, Kambou T, Conombo SG, et al. [Retrospective study of urogenital fistula in Burkina Faso from 2001 to 2003]. [Article in French]. Med Trop (Mars). 2007;67(1):48–52.
- Blaivas JG, Heritz DM. Vaginal flap reconstruction of the urethra and vesical neck in women: a report of 49 cases. J Urol. 1996;155(3):1014–7.
- Shaker H, Saafan A, Yassin M, Mourad S. Obstetric vesico-vaginal fistula repair: should we trim the fistula edges? A randomized prospective study. Neurourol Urodyn. 2011;30(3):302–5. Epub 2011 Feb 9.
- 9. Schleicher DJ, Ojengbede OHA. Urologic evaluation after closure of vesicovaginal fistulas. Int Urogynecol J. 1993;4:262-5.
- 10. Carey MP, Goh JT, Fynes MM, Murray CJ. Stress urinary incontinence after delayed primary closure of genitourinary fistula: a technique for surgical management. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2002;186(5):948–53.
- 11. Pang MW, Lok H, Tsui HY, Wong WS, Yip SK. An unusual case of a vesicovaginal stone. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2002;54(1):56-7.
- 12. Dalela D, Goel A. Vesical calculi with unrepaired vesicovaginal fistula: A clinical appraisal of an uncommon association. J Urol. 2003;170:2206–8.
- Goh JT, Browing A, Berhan B, Chang A. Predicting the risk of failure of closure of obstetric fistula and residual urinary incontinence using a classification system. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19(12):1659–62. Epub 2008 Aug 9.
- 14. Ward A. Genito-urinary fistulae: A report on 1,789 cases. Lagos, Nigeria: Second International Congress on Obstetrics and Gynecology; 1980 Contract No.: Document Number|.
- 15. Langundoye SB, Bell D. Urinary tract changes in obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulae: A report of 216 cases studied by intravenous urography. Clin Radiol. 1976;27:531–9.
- 16. Adetiloye VA, Dare FO. Obstetric fistula: evaluation with ultrasonography. J Ultrasound Med. 2000;19(4):243-9.
- 17. Kelly J, Kwast BE. Obstetric vesicovaginal fistulas: Evaluation of failed repairs. Int Urogynecol J. 1993;4:271–3.
- 18. Hilton P. Urodynamic findings in patients with urogenital fistulae. Br J Urol. 1998;81(4):539-42.
- 19. Browning A. Prevention of residual urinary incontinence following successful repair of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistula using a fibro-muscular sling. BJOG. 2004;111(4):357-61.
- Ojengbede OA, Morhason-Bello IO. Local anesthesia: an appropriate technology for simple fistula repair. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99 Suppl 1:S75–8.
- 21. Lassey AT. Simple fistulas: diagnosis and management in low-resource settings-a descriptive report. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99 Suppl 1:S47–50.
- Chigbu CO, Nwogu-Ikojo EE, Onah HE, Iloabachie GC. Juxtacervical vesicovaginal fistulae: outcome by route of repair. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2006;26(8):795–7.
- Johnson K. Incontinence in Malawi: analysis of a proxy measure of vaginal fistula in a national survey. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99 Suppl 1:S122–9.

- 24. Naidu PM. Vesico-vaginal fistulae. An experience with 208 cases. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1962;69:311-6.
- 25. Aziz SA. Urinary fistulae from obstetrical trauma. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1965;72(5):765-8.
- 26. Ashworth FL. Urinary vaginal fistulae: A series of 152 patients treated in a small hospital in Ghana. West Afr Med J Niger Med Dent Pract. 1973;22(2):39–43.
- 27. Waaldijk K. The (surgical) management of bladder fistula in 775 women in northern Nigeria [Doctoral]. Utrecht, Netherlands: Utrecht; 1989.
- 28. Arrowsmith SD. Genitourinary reconstruction in obstetric fistulas. J Urol. 1994;152(2 Pt 1):403-6.
- 29. Krishnan RG. A review of a series of 100 cases of vesicovaginal fistulae. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1949;56(1):22-7.
- 30. Abbott DH. The repair of vesico-vaginal fistulae. East Afr Med J. 1950;27(3):109–18.
- 31. Lavery DW. Vesico-vaginal fistulae; a report on the vaginal repair of 160 cases. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1955;62(4):530-9.
- 32. Mahfouz N. Urinary fistulae in women. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1957;64(1):23-34.
- 33. Hamlin RH, Nicholson EC. Experiences in the treatment of 600 vaginal fistulas and in the management of 80 labours which have followed the repair of these injuries. Ethiopian Medical Journal. 1966;4(5):189–92.
- 34. Nardos R, Browning A, Member B. Duration of bladder catheterization after surgery for obstetric fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2008;103(1):30–2.
- Rangnekar NP, Imdad AN, Kaul SA, Pathak HR. Role of the martius procedure in the management of urinary-vaginal fistulas. J Am Coll Surg. 2000;191(3):259–63.
- 36. Browning A. Lack of value of the Martius fibrofatty graft in obstetric fistula repair. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2006;93(1):33-7.
- 37. Kelly J, Kwast B. Obstetric vesico-vaginal fistula: evaluation of failed repairs. . Int Urogynecol J. 1993;4:271–3.
- 38. Browning A. Risk factors for developing residual urinary incontinence after obstetric fistula repair. BJOG. 2006;113(4):482-5.
- Safan A, Shaker H, Abdelaal A, Mourad MS, Albaz M. Fibrin glue versus martius flap interpositioning in the repair of complicated obstetric vesicovaginal fistula. A prospective multi-institution randomized trial. Neurourol Urodyn. 2009;28(5):438–41.
- 40. Hensle TW, Chang DT. Vaginal reconstruction. Urol Clin North Am. 1999;26(1):39-47, vii.
- 41. Waaldijk K. Step by step surgery of vesicovaginal fistulas. Edinburgh: Campion Press; 1994.
- 42. Barnes R, WH W. Reconstruction of the urethra with a tube from a bladder flap. Urol Cutaneous Rev. 1949;53:604-6.
- 43. E, Smith R. Clinical evaluation of a surgical technique for the correction of complete urinary incontinence. J Urol. 1972;107:402-11.
- 44. Elkins T, Ghosh T, Tagoe G, Stocker R. Transvaginal mobilisation and utilisation of the anterior bladder wall to repaier vesicovaginal fistula involving the urethra. Obstet Gynecol. 1992;79:455–60.
- 45. Goh JT, Browning A. Use of urethral plugs for urinary incontinence following fistula repair. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2005 Jun;45(3):237–8.
- Goyal NK, Dwivedi US, Vyas N, Rao MP, Trivedi S, Singh PB. A decade's experience with vesicovaginal fistula in India. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2007;18(1):39–42.
- 47. Kapoor R, Ansari MS, Singh P, Gupta P, Khurana N, Mandhani A, *et al.* Management of vesicovaginal fistula: An experience of 52 cases with a rationalized algorithm for choosing the transvaginal or transabdominal approach. Indian Journal of Urology. 2007;23(4):372–6.
- 48. O'Connor VJJ, Sokol JK, Bulkley GJ, Nanninga JB. Suprapubic closure of vesicovaginal fistula. Journal of Urology. 1973;109:51–4.
- 49. Gutman RE, Dodson JL, Mostwin JL. Complications of treatment of obstetric fistula in the developing world: gynatresia, urinary incontinence, and urinary diversion. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007;99 Suppl 1:S57–64.
- Kisanga R, Aboud M, Yongolog C. Ureterosigmoidostomy: a useful procedure of internal urinary diversion in selected patients. . Centr Afr J Med. 1996;42:288–90.
- 51. Abrams P, Cardozo L, Fall M, *et al.* The standardisation of terminology of lower urinary tract function: report from the Standardisation Sub-committee of the International Continence Society. Neurourol Urodyn, 2002;21(2):167
- 52. Digesu GA, Khullar V, Cardozo L, Salvatore S. Overactive bladder symptoms: do we need urodynamics? Neurourol Urodyn. 2003;22(2):105
- 53. Hashim H, Abrams P. Do symptoms of overactive bladder predict urodynamics detrusor overactivity? NeuroUrol Urodyn 2004;23(5/6):484
- 54. Abrams P, Andersson KE. Muscarinic receptor antagonists for overactive bladder. BJU Int. 2007 Nov;100(5):987
- 55. AnderssonKE, Arner A. Urinary bladder contraction and relaxation: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev. 2004;84(3):935–986.
- Nardos R, Browning A, Chen CC. Risk factors that predict failure after vaginal repair of obstetric vesicovaginal fistulae. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009;200(5):578.e1–4.
- 57. Patwardhan SK, Sawant A, Ismail M, Nagabhushana M, Varma RR. Simultaneous bladder and vaginal reconstruction using ileum in complicated vesicovaginal fistula. Indian J Urol. 2008;24(3):348–51.
- Eilber K, Elizabeth Kavaler E, Larissa V. Rodríguez L, Nirit Rosenblum N, Raz S. Ten-year experience with transvaginal vesicovaginal fistula repair using tissue interposition. J Urol. 2003; 169, 1033–1036.
- 59. Hilton P. Vesico-vaginal fistulas in the developing world. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2003;82(3):285–95.
- Hilton P, Ward A. Epidemiological and surgical aspects of urogenital fistulae: A review of 25 years' experience in southeast Nigeria. Int Urogynecol J & Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 1998;9(4):189–94.
- 61. Tomlinson AJ, Thornton JG. A randomised controlled trial of antibiotic prophylaxis for vesico- vaginal fistula repair. BJOG. 1998;105:397–9.
- Ansquer Y, Mellier G, Santulli P, Bennis M, Mandelbrot L, Madelenat P, et al. Latzko operation for vault vesicovaginal fistula. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2006;85(10):1248–51.
- 63. el-Lateef Moharram AA, el-Raouf MA. Retropubic repair of genitourinary fistula using a free supporting graft. BJU Int. 2004;93(4):581–3.
- 64. Otsuka RAP, Amaro JL, Tanaka MT, Epacagnan E, Mendes JB, Jr., Kawano PR, *et al.* Laparoscopic repair of vesicovaginal fistula. Journal of Endourology. 2008;22(3):525–7.
- 65. Ou C-S, Huang UC, Tsuang M, Rowbotham R. Laparoscopic repair of vesicovaginal fistula. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2004;Part A. 14(1):17–21.
- Roberto Martinez P, Rodriguez Colorado SE, Escobar del Barco L, Ramirez Isarraraz C. [Vesicovaginal fistula. Experience at the Instituto Nacional de Perinatologia]. Ginecologia y Obstetricia de Mexico. 2007;75(1):31–4.
- 67. Shelbaia AM, Hashish NM. Limited experience in early management of genitourinary tract fistulas. Urology. 2007;69(3):572-4.
- Vidal-Mora I, Castillo O, Sepulveda F, Rubio G, Foneron A, Campos R. Laparoscopic vesicovaginal fistula repair: 9 cases. 27th World Conference of Endourology (Journal of Endourology); Date of Publication: October 2009; Munich, Germany2009. p. pp A261.
- 69. Ayed M, El Atat R, Hassine LB, Sfaxi M, Chebil M, Zmerli S. Prognostic factors of recurrence after vesicovaginal fistula repair. Int J Urol. 2006;13(4):345–9.
- Hilton P. Fistulae. In: Shaw R, Luesley D, Monga A, editors. Gynaecology. 4th ed. Edinburgh: Elsevier Science Ltd; 2010. p. (in press).
- 71. Arrowsmith SD. Genitourinary reconstruction in obstetric fistulas. J Urol. 1994;152(2 Pt 1):403-6.
- 72. Goh J. A New Classification for female genital tract fistula. Aust NZ J Obstet Gynaecol. 2004;44:502–4.
- 73. Waaldijk K. Surgical classification of obstetric fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1995;49(2):161–3.
- 74. Muleta M, Rasmussen S, Kiserud T. Obstetric fistula in 14,928 Ethiopian women. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2010;89(7):945-51.
- 75. Dolan LM, Dixon WE, Hilton P. Urinary symptoms and quality of life in women following urogenital fistula repair: a long-term follow-up study. BJOG. 2008;115(12):1570–4.
- Dolan LM, Hilton P. Obstetric risk factors and pelvic floor dysfunction 20 years after first delivery. Int Urogynecol J & Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2010;21(5):535–44.

- 77. Denton AS, Maher J. Interventions for the physical aspects of sexual dysfunction in women following pelvic radiotherapy [Systematic Review]. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003(1):CD003750.
- Johnson N, Miles TP, Cornes P. Dilating the vagina to prevent damage from radiotherapy: systematic review of the literature. BJOG. 2010;117(5):522–31.
- 79. Decruze SB, Guthrie D, Magnani R. Prevention of vaginal stenosis in patients following vaginal brachytherapy. Clinical Oncology. 1999;11(1):46–8.
- Robinson JW, Faris PD, Scott CB. Psychoeducational group increases vaginal dilation for younger women and reduces sexual fears for women of all ages with gynecological carcinoma treated with radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1999;44(3):497–506.
- 81. Sobotkowski J, Markowska J, Fijuth J, Pietraszek A. Preliminary results of mitomycin C local application as post-treatment prevention of vaginal radiation-induced morbidity in women with cervical cancer. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2006;27(4):356–8.
- 82. Bruner DW, Lanciano R, Keegan M, Corn B, Martin E, Hanks GE. Vaginal stenosis and sexual function following intracavitary radiation for the treatment of cervical and endometrial carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1993;27(4):825–30.
- 83. Pitkin RM, VanVoorhis LW. Postirradiation vaginitis. An evaluation of prophylaxis with topical estrogen. Radiology. 1971;99(2):417–21.
- Bentivoglio G, Diani F. Use of topical benzydamine in gynaecology. Clinical and Experimental Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1981;8(3):103-10.
- Volterrani F, Tana S, Trenti N. Topical Benzydamine in thetreatment of vaginal radiomucositis. International Journal of Tissue Reaction. 1987;9(2):169–71.
- 86. Jeffries SA, Robinson JW, Craighead PS, Keats MR. An effective group psychoeducational intervention for improving compliance with vaginal dilation: a randomized controlled trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;65(2):404–11.
- 87. Pushkar DY, Dyakov VV, Kosko JW, Kasyan GR. Management of urethrovaginal fistulas. Eur Urol. 2006;50(5):1000-5.
- 88. Elkins TE, Drescher C, Martey JO, et al. Vesicovaginal fistula revisited. Obstet Gynecol. 1988;72:307–12.
- Lewis A, Kaufman MR, Wolter CE, Phillips SE, Maggi D, Condry L, Dmochowski RR, Smith JA Jr. Genitourinary fistula experience in Sierra Leone: review of 505 cases. J Urol. 2009;181(4):1725–31.
- Raassen T, Verdaasdonk E, Vierhout M. Prospective results after first-time surgery for obstetric fistulas in East African women. Int Urogynecol J. 2008; 19:73–79
- Murray C, Goh JT, Fynes M, Carey MP. Urinary and faecal incontinence following delayed primary repair of obstetric genital fistula. BJOG. 2002;109(7):828–32.
- 92. Webster GD, Sihelnik SA, Stone AR. Urethrovaginal fistula: a review of the surgical management. J Urol. 1984;132:460.
- 93. Leach GE. Urethrovaginal fistula repair with Martius labial fat pad graft. Urol Clin North Am. 1991;18:409.
- 94. Bruce R, El-Galley R, Galloway N. Use of rectus abdominis muscle flap for the treatment of complex and refractory urethrovaginal fistulas. J Urol. 2000;163:1212–1215.
- Leng W, Amundsen C, Mcguire E. Management of female genitourinary fistulas: transvesical or transvaginal approach? J Urol. 1998;160:1995–1999.
- 96. Hilton P, Ward A, Molloy M, Umana O. Periurethral injection of autologous fat for the treatment of post-fistula repair stress incontinence: a preliminary report. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 1998;9(2):118–21.
- 97. Daly JW, Higgins KA. Injury to the ureter during gynecologic surgical procedures. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1988;167:19–22.
- 98. Harkki-Siren P, Sjoberg J, Tiitinen A. Urinary tract injuries after hysterectomy. Obstet Gynecol 1998;92:113–18.
- Piscitelli JT, Simel DL, Addison WA. Who should have intravenous pyelograms before hysterectomy for benign disease? Obstet Gynecol. 1987;69:541–5.
- 100. Rajasekar D, Hall M. Urinary tract injuries during obstetric intervention. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1997;104:731-4.
- 101. Gao JS, Leng JH, Lang JH, Liu ZF, Shen K, Sun, DW, Zhu L. Ureteral injury in Gynecologic laparoscopies. Chin Med Sci J. 2007;22(1):13–6.

- 102. Santucci, R A. Ureteral Trauma. [Internet]. Available from: http://www.emedicine.com.
- 103. Purandare C N. Urological injuries in gynecology. J Obstet Gynecol India. 2007; 57(3):203-204.
- Jha S, Coomarasamy A. Chan K K. Ureteric injury in obstetric and gynaecological surgery. The Obstetrician and Gynaecologist 2004; 6:203–208.
- 105. Thompson JD. Operative injuries to the ureter: prevention, recognition, and management Te Linde's Operative Gynecology. 8th ed. 1997:1135–73.
- 106. Liu C. Y. Laparoscopic ureteral surgery. Chapter 28. Prevention and management of laparo-endoscopic surgical complication. 1st ed. 1999.
- 107. Ridley JH. Gynecologic Surgery: Errors, Safeguards, Salvage. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 1981. p. 110.
- Grainger DA, Soderstrom RM, Schiff SF, Glickman MG, DeCherney AH, Diamond MP. Ureteral injuries at laparoscopy: insights into diagnosis, management, and prevention. Obstet Gynecol 1990;75:839–43.
- 109. American Association for the Surgery of Trauma. [Internet]. Available from: www.aast.org/injury/t15-20.html#ureter.
- 110. Dowling RA, Corriere JN Jr, Sandler CM. latrogenic ureteral injury. J Urol. 1986;135:912–15.
- Mann WJ. Intentional and unintentional ureteral surgical treatment in gynecologic procedures. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1991;172:453-6.
- 112. Gangai MP, Agee RE, Spence CR. Surgical injury to ureter. Urology 1976;8:22-7.
- 113. Fry DE, Milholen L, Harbrecht PJ. latrogenic ureteral injury. Options in management. Arch Surg 1983;118:454–7.
- 114. Saidi MH, Sadler RK, Vancaillie TG, Akright BD, Farhart SA, White AJ. Diagnosis and management of serious urinary complications after major operative laparoscopy. Obstet Gynecol 1996;87:272–6.
- 115. Alsayali ARA, Baloul SMA. Emergency obstetric hysterectomy: 8-year review at Taif maternity hospital, Saudi Arabia. Ann Saudi Med 2000;20:454-56.
- 116. Kuno K, Menzin A, Kauder HH, Sison C, Gal D. Prophylactic ureteral catheterization in gynaecologic surgery. Urology 1998;52:1004–8.
- 117. Symmonds RE. Ureteral injuries associated with gynecologic surgery: prevention and management. Clin Obstet Gynecol 1976;19:623-44.
- Neuman M, Eidelman A, Langer R, Golan A, Bukovsky I, Caspi E. latrogenic injuries to the ureter during gynecologic and obstetric operations. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1991;173:268–72.
- 119. Hudson CN, Setchell ME. Risk management: avoidance and management of surgical complications. In: Shaw's Textbook of Operative Gynaecology. 6th ed. New Delhi: Elsevier; 2003.
- Wiskind AK, Thompson JD. Should cystoscopy be performed at every gynecologic operation to diagnose unsuspected ureteral injury? J Pelvic Surg. 1995;1:134–7.
- Mann WJ, Arato M, Patsner B, Stone ML. Ureteral injuries in an obstetrics and gynecology training program: etiology and management. Obstet Gynecol, 1988;72:82–5.
- 122. Thompson JD. Operative injuries to the ureter: prevention, recognition, and management. Te Linde's Operative Gynecology. 8th ed. 1997:1135–73.
- Liu C. Y. Laparoscopic ureteral surgery. Chapter 28. Prevention and management of laparo-endoscopic surgical complication. 1st ed. 1999. Ureteral injury during Gynecology surgery. [Internet] Available from: http://www.emedicine.com/MED/topic 3320. html.
- 124. Gill EJ, Elser DM, Bonidie MJ, Roberts KM, Hurt WG.The routine use of cystoscopy with the Burch procedure. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2001;185:345–8.
- 125. Stanhope CR, Wilson TO, Utz WJ, Smith LH, O'Brien PC. Suture entrapment and secondary ureteral obstruction. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1991;164:1513–17.
- 126. Pettit PD, Petrou SP.The value of cystoscopy in major vaginal surgery. Obstet Gynecol 1994;84:318–20.

- 127. Tulikangas PK, Weber AM, Larive AB, Walters MD. Intraoperative cystoscopy in conjunction with antiincontinence surgery. Obstet Gynecol. 2000;95:794–6.
- 128. Armenakas NA. Current methods of diagnosis and management of ureteral injuries. World J Urol. 1999;17:78-83.
- 129. Elliott SP, McAninch JW. Ureteral injuries from external violence: the 25-year experience at San Francisco General Hospital. J Urol. 2003;170(4 Pt 1):1213–6.
- 130. Sharfi AR, Ibrahim F. Ureteric injuries during gynaecological surgery. Int Urol Nephrol 1994;26:277-81.
- 131. Liu C. Y. Laparoscopic ureteral surgery. Chapter 28. Prevention and management of laparo-endoscopic surgical complication. 1st ed. 1999.
- 132. Reich H. Laparoscopic Hysterectomy. [Internet]. Available from: http:// www. adlap.com /PDF/ hysto. Pdf.
- 133. Redan JA, McCarus SD. Protect the ureters. JSLS. 2009;13(2):139–41.
- 134. Mendez LE. latrogenic injuries in gynecologic cancer surgery. Surg Clin North Am. 2001;81:897–923.
- 135. Azimuddin K, Ivatury R, Porter J, Allman DB. Damage control in a trauma patient with ureteric injury. J Trauma. 1997;43(6):977-9.
- Johnson N, Barlow D, Lethaby A, Tavender E, Curr L and Garry R. Methods of hysterectomy: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. BMJ. 2005;330;1478–1481.
- 137. Best CD, Petrone P, Buscarini M, *et al.* Traumatic ureteral injuries: a single institution experience validating the American Association for the Surgery of Trauma-Organ Injury Scale grading scale. J Urol. 2005;173(4):1202–5.
- 138. Bodie B, Novick AC, Rose M, Straffon RA. Long-term results with renal autotransplantation for ureteral replacement. J Urol. 1986;136(6):1187–9.
- 139. Boxer RJ, Fritzsche P, Skinner DG, Kaufman JJ, Belt E, Smith RB, *et al.* Replacement of the ureter by small intestine: clinical application and results of the ileal ureter in 89 patients. J Urol. 1979;121(6):728–31.
- 140. Boxer RJ, Johnson SF, Ehrlich RM. Ureteral substitution. Urology. 1978;12(3):269-78.
- 141. Brandes S, Coburn M, Armenakas N, McAninch J. Diagnosis and management of ureteric injury: an evidence-based analysis. BJU Int. 2004;94(3):277–89.
- 142. Bright TC 3rd, Peters PC. Ureteral injuries due to external violence: 10 years' experience with 59 cases. J Trauma. 1977;17(8):616-20.
- 143. Coburn M. Damage control for urologic injuries. Surg Clin North Am. 1997;77(4):821-34.
- 144. Elliott SP, McAninch JW. Ureteral injuries: external and iatrogenic. Urol Clin North Am. 2006;33(1):55–66, vi.
- 145. Ghoneim MA. Replacement of ureter by ileum. Curr Opin Urol. 2005;15(6):391-2.
- 146. Guerriero WG. Ureteral injury. Urol Clin North Am. 1989;16(2):237-48.
- 147. Hodges CV, Barry JM, Fuchs EF, Pearse HD, Tank ES. Transureteroureterostomy: 25–year experience with 100 patients. J Urol. 1980;123(6):834–8.
- 148. Kishev SV. Psoas-bladder hitch procedure: our experience with repair of the injured ureter in men. J Urol. 1975;113(6):772-6.
- 149. Mattos RM, Smith JJ 3rd. Ileal ureter. Urol Clin North Am. 1997;24(4):813-25.
- 150. Passerini-Glazel G, Meneghini A, Aragona F, Oliva G, Milani C, Pagano F. Technical options in complex ureteral lesions: 'uretersparing' surgery. Eur Urol. 1994;25(4):273–80.
- 151. Colachis SC 3rd, Pease WS, Johnson EW.A preventable cause of foot drop during childbirth. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;171(1):270-2.
- Mensah A, Ba M, Gueye SM, Sylla C, Ndoye AK, Moreira P, Fall A, Labou I. Neurologic aspects of vesico-vaginal fistula of obstetrical origin. Prog Urol. 1996;6(3):398–402.
- 153. Elkins TE. Surgery for the obstetric vesicovaginal fistula: a review of 100 operations in 82 patients. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;170(4):1108–18; discussion 1118–20.

- Waaldijk, K and Elkins, T. The Obstetric Fistula and Peroneal Nerve Injury: An Analysis of 947 Consecutive Patients. Int Urogynecol J. 1994; 5:12–14.
- 155. Sinclair R. Maternal obstetric palsy. SAfricanMedJ.1952;26:708-714.
- 156. Naidu PM. Vesico-vaginal fistulae: an experience with 208 cases. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1962;69:311-6.
- 157. Bird GC. Obstetric vesico-vaginal and allied fistulae: a report on 70 cases. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1967;74(5):749–52.
- 158. Reif ME. Bilateral common peroneal nerve palsy secondary to prolonged squatting in natural childbirth. Birth. 1988;15(2):100-2.
- Colachis SC 3rd, Pease WS, Johnson EW. A preventable cause of foot drop during childbirth. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;171(1):270-2.
- 160. Youssef AF. Menouria following lower segment caesarean section: a syndrome. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1957;73(4):759-67
- Arrowsmith S, Hamlin EC, Wall LL. Obstructed labor injurycomplex: obstetric fistula formation and the multifaceted morbidity of maternal birth trauma in the developing world. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1996;51(9):568–74.
- 162. Jozwik M. Clinical classification of vesicouterine fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2000;70(3):353-7.
- 163. AimakhuVE. Reproductive functions after the repair of obstetric vesicovaginal fistulae. FertilSteril. 1974;25(7):586–91.
- Bieler EU, Schnabel T. Pituitary and ovarian function in women with vesicovaginal fistuale after obstructed and prolonged labour. S Afr Med J. 1976;50(8):257–66.
- 165. Evoh NJ, Akinla O. Reproductive performance after the repair of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulae. Ann Clin Res. 1978;10(6):303-6.
- Browning A, Menber B. Obstetric fistula patients in Ethiopia: a 6 months follow-up after surgical treatment. BJOG. 2008;115(12):1564-9.
- Naidu PM, Krishna S. Vesico-vaginal fistulae and certain obstetric problems arising subsequent to repair. J Obstet Gynaecol. Br Emp. 1963;70:473-5.
- 168. Emembolu J. The obstetric fistula: factors associated with improved pregnancy outcome after a successful repair. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1992;39(3):205-12.
- Klein MC, Kaczorowski J, Firoz T et al. A comparison of urinary and sexual outcomes in women experiencing vaginal and caesarean births. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2005;27:332-339.
- 170. Ogden J. Health psychology: A textbook. Second edition. Buckingham, UK, Open University Press, 2000.
- 171. MacLennan AH, Taylor AW, Wilson DH *et al*. The prevalence of pelvic floor disorders and their relationship to gender, age, parity and mode of delivery. Br J ObstetGynecol. 2000;197:1460-1470.
- 172. Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Briggs ND, Lassey AT. Urinary incontinence in the developing world: The obstetric fistula. In Incontinence (Report of the 2nd International Consultation on Incontinence, jointly sponsored by the International Continence Society and the World Health Organization, Paris, France, July 1–3, 2001) [Internet] 2001. [cited June 2004] Available from: http://www. wfmic.org/chap12.pdf.
- 173. Lendon S. Early marriage of girls in Niger. Dev Bull. 2001;56:77-9.
- 174. Muleta M, Williams G. Postcoital injuries treated at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital, 1991-97. Lancet. 1999;354:2051-2.
- 175. Kelly J. Ethiopia: an epidemiological study of vesicovaginal fistula in Addis Ababa. World Health Stat Q 1995;48:15-7.
- Ibrahim T, Sadiq AU, Daniel SO.Characteristics of VVF patients as seen at the specialist hospital in Sokoto, Nigeria. West Afr J Med. 2000;19:59-63.
- 177. Borello-France D, Burgio KL, Richter HE *et al.* Fecal and urinary incontinence in primiparous women. ObstetGynecol. 2006;108:863-872
- 178. Bello, K. Vesicovaginal fistula Only a Woman Accursed Internet Canada, 2001.
- 179. Braddock M, and Mohammad RH, Feasibility study of the situation of VVF in Ethiopia and Nigeria, a Report 1996.
- 180. FORWARD Nigeria Women's Health and Development project Evaluation report (2002), Dr. Rahmat Hassan Mohammad

- 181. Vesicovaginal fistula (VVF). A Problem of Under-development (FORWARD) Nigeria, Foundation for Women's Health, Research and Development, Dr. Rahmat Hassan Mohammad.
- Brown S, Lumley J. Physical health problems after childbirth and maternal depression at six to seven months postpartum. Br J ObstetGynecol. 2000;107:1194-1201
- Sargent HA, O'Callaghan F. Predictors of psychological well-being in a sample of women with vulval pain. J Reprod Med 2009;54:109-116
- 184. Wyman JF, Harkins SW, Choi SC, Taylor JR, Fantl JA. Psychosocial impact of urinary incontinence in women. Obstet Gynecol. 1987;70(3 Pt 1):378-81.
- Browning A, Allsworth JE, Wall LL. The relationship between female genital cutting and obstetric fistulae. Obstet Gynecol. 2010;115(3):578-83.
- 186. Chow D, Bedestani A, Chesson R, Winters JC. Modified Latzko procedure (partial colpoclesis) for vesicovaginal fistula: Technique and outcomes. Neurourology and Urodynamics. 2010;29(2):279.
- 187. Capes T, Ascher-Walsh C, Rogo L, Lo Y, Vardy M, Idrissa A. Primary obstetric fistula in Niamey, Niger: Surgical outcomes in 305 patients. Neurourology & Urodynamics 2010; 29(6):939-940 (abstract).
- 188. Flynn MK, Peterson AC, Amundsen CL, Webster GD. Functional outcomes of primary and secondary repairs of vesicovaginal fistulae via vaginal cuff scar excision. International Urogynecology Journal and Pelvic Floor Dysfunction. 2004;15(6):394-8.

## Committee



### Social Reintegration of Obstetric Fistula Women

#### CHAIR

Gloria Esegbona, United Kingdom/Nigeria

#### MEMBERS

Sayeba Akhter, Bangladesh Andrew Browning, Ethiopia Adamu Isah, Nigeria Rahmat Mohammad, Nigeria Taonga Kaonga, Malawi

# Committee

# CONTENTS

### Social Reintegration of Obstetric Fistula Women

6.1	Identifica	tification and Assessment of Evidence	
6.2	Why Social Reintegration?		182
6.3	What Is S	Social Reintegration?	183
	6.3.1	Needs of women in the social reintegration process	185
6.4	Social Re	integration in Practice	213
	6.4.1	FORWARD Nigeria	218
	6.4.2	Delta Survie, Mali	221
	6.4.3	Fistula Training and Rehabilitation Centre, Bangladesh	223
	6.4.4	Dimol, Niger	226
	6.4.5	Kissidougou Central Hospital, Guinea	227
	6.4.6	Fistula Pre-repair Centre Model in Amhara Region, Ethiopia	230
	6.4.7	Trampled Rose	232

## Committee

6.5	Challenges and Considerations in Social Reintegration		233
	6.5.1	Incurable women and unsuccessful operations	233
	6.5.2	Family planning	239
	6.5.3	Follow-up	240
	6.5.4	Resources and capacity	242
	6.5.5	Who to reintegrate	243
6.6	Conclusio	ons	244
6.7	Recommendations		245
6.8	Referenc	es	247

ductive managementagementagements inter uu nine accepted sin ree Contin status dignitysk strong company interaction aughempow esteen chi training

### 6.1 Identification and Assessment of Evidence

This chapter was developed in accordance with standard methodology for ICUD consultations.

For the purposes of this chapter, articles and programmes related to the topics "social reintegration" and "rehabilitation in obstetric fistula management" were reviewed. Relevant published evidence was identified by systematic search strategies of databases via the Ovid platform: Medline (1966 onwards), Embase (1980 onwards), Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL; 1982 onwards), and PsycINFO (1967 onwards) including in-process and other non-indexed citations, using the terms "social reintegration", "rehabilitation" and "obstetric fistula". The reference lists in these articles were checked against subsequent searches to identify relevant evidence. There was also a systematic attempt to search grey literature (conferences, abstracts, theses and unpublished trials) and hand searching of journals not indexed on the databases. Additionally, stakeholder organizations were invited to submit evidence for consideration provided it was relevant to the topics included in the scope, and of equivalent or better quality than evidence identified by the search strategies. Finally, a literature review was also conducted within the broader context of social reintegration and rehabilitation in other indirectly related fields.

The date of the last search was June 2011. Selection of articles for analysis and review was then made, based on the topics: social reintegration and rehabilitation in obstetric fistula management. Articles were shared with the panel and rated as to their Level of Evidence (LE) based upon the criteria of the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine. Subsequent to this review, recommendations are made by consensus for the issue of social reintegration of obstetric fistula survivors, with the appropriate grades of recommendation based upon the level of evidence.

### 6.2 Why Social Reintegration?

There has been a greater focus on the reintegration into family and communities of women and girls with obstetric fistula in recent times (2-8). The impact of fistula is seen as much wider than "just a hole in the bladder/rectum," (9) but an immense psychosocial-economic vulnerability; with women who are usually of low socioeconomic status and from rural areas at risk of being left without traditional societal roles and security; including conjugal and family relations, children, community acceptance, and economic opportunities driving them into seclusion, psychological trauma and poverty (10-22); and without support systems or persons to help them cope with their long-term physical, psychological, and socio-economic needs in their communities.



New arrival at the Babbar Ruga fistula hospital, Northern Nigeria.

It is these reasons, and the fact that the root causes of the obstetric fistula, such as abject poverty, gender discrimination, lack of education for women, and deeply embedded cultural and social values are further magnified by the condition, that have caused social reintegration programmes to be established over the years (23). Women who have been repaired were said to be usually discharged too quickly from the hospital and, in the absence of proper aftercare, are thrown back into the same cycle of exclusion, undernourishment, illiteracy and another pregnancy, without having fully recovered from their operation. Furthermore, they may contract a myriad of significant physical-social complications including recurrent fistulas, ongoing incontinence and sexual and reproductive dysfunction that are not completely alleviated by repairing the fistula alone (7,24-26). Accordingly, these programmes and many others are beginning to call for a comprehensive approach to fistula that moves beyond just the physical or functional restoration of continence but which also provides women with the support they need to respond to the multiple and often interlocking physical, social and psychological problems that may prevent them from dealing with the realities of life after surgery and regaining self-sufficient societal roles (1,3,9,10,13,25,27-29).

However, in general the social reintegration of fistula patients into their community is still weak on the ground. A midterm thematic evaluation of the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) national fistula programmes in 2009 found it to be the least prioritized intervention of the Campaign to End Fistula (30). Field missions conducted in Bangladesh, Nigeria, the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Niger, and desk reviews of national fistula programmes in Kenya, Pakistan, Sudan and Tanzania found social rehabilitation and psychological support services for fistula survivors to be a weak link in the fistula management process. This is despite the attention being paid to reintegration in more than 25% of "Campaign to End Fistula" countries.

This presents a challenge then in ascertaining best practice; another being the marked deficiency of published systematic or randomized trial data on the effectiveness of already implemented reintegration strategies, or on clinical and operational research that shows the impact of reintegration services on affected women's quality of life and social status. The vast majority of studies simply mentioned reintegration within the context of small case series with a wide range of approaches. In addition, little follow-up has been done regarding services for support and reintegration of women with women who have undergone repair (31). A pertinent quote from the fistula network site being "Reintegration is an area of much concern but little information that is not anecdotal" (32).

In line with this lack of robust evidence and the increasing call for reintegration to be based on the needs and wishes of women, as they are best served to identify services best suited to their particular needs (33,34), much work has gone into identifying reports which focus on women's accounts and perspectives of living with fistula. These reports also come from the perspectives of those who work in the social reintegration field. This work includes secondary data on fistula, such as reports on causes and consequence, policy guidelines, and strategy papers. The aim is to focus on defining social reintegration, what facilitates it, and how to respond to the challenges it raises in the context of women's individual needs. Though the majority of studies/reports involved use small numbers and anecdotes, they serve to provide data that is rich as they are qualitative in nature such that "one can learn a great deal about issues of central importance to the purpose of the inquiry" of social reintegration (35).

### 6.3 What is Social Reintegration?

"The strategy is based on the principle of addressing the survivor's needs and wishes" (33).

The term "social" in social reintegration is taken literally, as many see it as predominantly a social tool and something for social workers/NGOs to take care of, as determined from a survey of fistula surgeons (36). Additionally, the country questionnaires, sent out during the midterm evaluation of the Campaign to End Fistula, found that most respondents pointed to the fact that social reintegration services are best provided by involving (community-based) NGOs (37). Some replied that advocacy by NGOs was also better for obtaining acceptance of women by their families and communities. However, in other fields where the term social reintegration is commonly used, such as psychiatry, women prisoners, and ex-combatants etc. (38,39), it is actually about more than just solitary efforts by a social worker, but rather, as enabling the autonomy necessary for a person to define their own social participation, including favourable health, family environment and livelihood support. A broader definition encompasses recovery and rehabilitation (40); where recovery is seen as the process by which a person recovers from the stigma people have incorporated into their being. Rehabilitation and reintegration are seen as part of the same process of interventions that practitioners use to facilitate recovery. A rehabilitation approach consist of interventions, regardless of

who performs them, that focuses on the individual by helping them define what they want, and to acquire the abilities and resources they need to succeed. On the other hand, reintegration is part of the process that uses these resources so that people can assimilate them into their daily life, as would be appropriate for anyone in a peer group the person should wish to be part of (40).

The economic, psychological, and social aspects of rehabilitation and reintegration are also said to be inextricably linked (39). One's social role is often seen as related to economic input and income, whilst psychosocial problems are often cited as interfering with the ability to engage in socioeconomic opportunities. As such, this implies that the word "social" does not just mean social tools or interventions, but anything which can raise the level of social functioning so as to mitigate the background of poverty and the negative impacts of exclusion, so that one can become part of the social, economic and cultural fabric of the original community (or even a different community).

The same rationale is thought to apply to the obstetric fistula, although there is no formal definition of it within this context, and there is a lack of clarity about exactly what reintegration means and the types of interventions and stakeholders that can best facilitate it (30). A review of the literature and programmes show that the term is a broad constellation of different interpretations and approaches by caregivers, ranging from clinicians to social workers. But as indicated by the complex nature of the psychosocial and economic problems detailed above, social reintegration in the fistula arena involves a comprehensive intervention encompassing various realms (**Figure 1**).



An appropriate intervention is seen as one that takes care of the physical, mental, social, and economic damage that has been commonly inflicted on girls and women with fistula that mitigates the poverty of women and the negative impacts of any form of exclusion (23). The objectives would be to improve their ability to live productively and with the same opportunities as their neighbours by developing the abilities needed for adequate functioning in the community. Some go further to define it is as taking place in communities and that "there will be a successful social reintegration for the woman only if her local community recognizes that she has recovered her lost or restricted rights and accepts her as a full member of the community" (41).

It is also said that to fully reintegrate operated women into their community, they should become significantly less susceptible to a re-occurrence of the condition by the implementation of preventive initiatives that will reduce the overall vulnerability of women, and subsequently the entire population, to the development of fistula.

The lack of a universal definition of "social reintegration" has been highlighted by reports which conclude that reintegration is multifaceted, requiring interrelated components: physical health, mental health, and social and economic well-being (42-43). However, implicit in these and other reports (11) is that reintegration strategies should be defined by the expectations of women with fistula themselves; by being mindful of their voices and priorities so as to provide meaningful services. Especially as it has been well recognized that fistula consequences can vary dramatically from country to country and region to region such that a "one size fits all" approach cannot be adopted (2,6,43,44). A study conducted looking at the methods used by social workers to help women with fistula concluded that understanding the problem from the perspective of the women survivors enhances the treatment and prevention work that is being conducted (34).

#### 6.3.1 **Needs of women in the social reintegration process**

Several interventions are frequently cited as playing a part in helping women to get their lives moving again and reintegrated back into their communities (43). These were tabled by the indicators and research group of the IOFWG (42) (**Table 1**) and subsequently reviewed at a fistula partners meeting, as indicators that define the services needed in reintegration (45). These indicators of physical and mental health, as well as social and economic well-being, acknowledge the multifaceted nature of reintegration and include efforts with women, both as individuals and within the community.

Programmatic evidence and the literature reveal that by far, the physical realm plays the biggest part in the reintegration process as depicted in **Figure 1**. However, in reality there is considerable overlap between each realm, which can be thought of as interlocking and serving to drive success in each other. For ease of explanation, each realm can be thought of as a matrix (**Table 2**) and is discussed here separately.

#### TABLE 1 Objectives and Indicators of Social Reintegration

(Meeting Report: International Obstetric Fistula Working Group, 11-13 October, 2006. Geneva, Switzerland)

Objectives	Draft Indicators					
1. At the individual level						
Success of repair procedure	<ul> <li>Proportion of women who access treatment (regardless of outcome)</li> </ul>					
<ul> <li>Improved physical health including:</li> <li>continence;</li> <li>return to fertility and/or sexual life as desired by the woman;</li> <li>improved nutrition</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Number/proportion of women receiving counselling services</li> <li>Number/proportion of women accessing family planning</li> <li>Number/proportion of women achieving a desired live birth</li> </ul>					
Improved mental health including: increased self-esteem; peer support	<ul> <li>Number/proportion of women receiving counselling services on mental health issues</li> <li>Number/proportion of women experiencing stigma from their community</li> </ul>					
<ul> <li>Increased social connection including:</li> <li>reduced stigma;</li> <li>reintegration into family as desired by the woman;</li> <li>increased social support;</li> <li>participation in social or religious life as desired</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Number/proportion of women receiving counselling services on social issues</li> <li>Proportion of community members with positive attitudes towards women with fistula</li> <li>Proportion of male partners that facilitate access to prevention and treatment services</li> <li>Proportion of women who can maintain positive household and social relations</li> </ul>					
<ul> <li>Improved economic well-being including:</li> <li>higher income level;</li> <li>engagement in economic activities;</li> <li>family economic support;</li> <li>capacity to support others</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Number/proportion of women receiving counselling services on economic issues</li> <li>Number/proportion of women, who regain or improve their prior economic status</li> </ul>					
2. At the community level						

- Proportion of women treated that are referred for reintegration services
- Number and distribution of community-based reintegration services
- Proportion of community members with knowledge about fistula prevention, treatment and rehabilitation
- Percentage of community members with positive attitudes towards women with fistula
- Proportion of male partners, who facilitate women's access to prevention and fistula treatment services
- Proportion of family members, who facilitate women's access to prevention and fistula treatment services.

Programmatic evidence and the literature reveal that by far, the physical realm plays the biggest part in the reintegration process as depicted in **Figure 1**. However, in reality there is considerable overlap between each realm, which can be thought of as interlocking and serving to drive success in each other. For ease of explanation, each realm can be thought of as a matrix (**Table 2**) and are discussed here separately.

#### **TABLE 2** Social Reintegration Matrix (Esegbona/ Mohammed)

Element	Level			
Element	Individual/ Facility	Community	Political	
<ul> <li>Physical</li> <li>Improved physical health (e.g., improved continence and return to desired fertility/ sexual life)</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Rehabilitation</li><li>A timely repair</li><li>A successful repair</li></ul>	<ul><li>Outreach</li><li>Health education</li><li>Follow-up</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Allocate funds for treatment</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Psychological</li> <li>Improved mental health (e.g., self-esteem)</li> <li>Improved knowledge about fistula prevention, treatment and rehabilitation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Counselling on clinical, psychological, social and economic issues.</li> <li>Peer support</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Advocacy and sensitization</li><li>Follow-up</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Raise awareness on issues of stigmatization</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Socio-economic</li> <li>Improved social connection (e.g., reduced stigma, reintegration into family as desired by the woman, participation in social or religious life as desired)</li> <li>Improved economic well-being including: higher income level; engagement in economic activities; family economic support; capacity to support others</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Designated space to recuperate</li> <li>Vocational skills training</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Microcredit or finance</li> <li>Community-based reintegration services Immersion follow-up</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Linkage with ongoing national poverty alleviation programmes</li> </ul>	

#### **Improved physical health**

"The continuous leakage of urine and offensive smell are unacceptable in any society. Therefore, fistula management has to start the moment the leaking of urine becomes manifest to prevent this social disaster." (46)

#### Surgery and continence

The capability approaches of Sen and Nussbaum suggests that poverty is not just related to incomedeprivation, but the individual capability for health. It is bodily health and integrity that enables the capability of full functioning in social life and the justice of being able to enjoy "valuable doings and beings"(47-48). Thus, restoring the physical ability of women with fistula can be seen as a leap towards reclaiming their proper social order (augmented by concomitant psychosocial therapies) (49).

The contribution of the repair procedure to the social reintegration process is frequently underestimated; with many (52 out of 60 doctors) seeing social reintegration as social work and not anything to do with them and surgery (36). However, much of the evidence from studies looking at the lives of women living with fistula point to the fact that it is the continuing wetness, malodour and discomfort from urine-induced genital sores that are causing social outcasts (5-6,8,11,15,50-51). It follows that curing the leakage would go a long way to easing a woman's reintegration back into society as it makes her continent and able to physically, psychologically and socially resume a full and productive life that allows her to interact freely with family and community, and support herself. This is borne out in personal communications with reintegration programmes (23,41), and anecdotal reports (44) cited by others. The common thread being that almost all a woman wants is to be cured of her incontinence, and if she is, her mental health improves, and she can get back to her normal living arrangements and back to her normal work. In other words, she reintegrates by herself and she will then only come back for further help if she is still leaking post-repair, in a manner which is incompatible with maintaining social relationships.

Reports also talk indirectly of social reintegration, post-fistula repair, by describing the increasing number of women coming back for caesareans or the ones that want care for their gynatresia (vaginal stenosis), or dyspareunia (painful intercourse); the assumption being that they must be back with their husbands or have married again (equivalent to increased social functioning) if they are concerned about intercourse or are pregnant! (44,46)

This ties in with studies which allude to the importance of surgery to women in ensuring that successful reintegration happens. For instance, in a study at L'Hôpital Saint Jean de Dieu in Tanguieta, Benin, in which 37 fistula patients underwent structured interviews about reintegration, it was found that 49% of women requested no further reintegration assistance aside from surgery (52). In addition, a meta-analysis of two of the major consequences of having a fistula (divorce/separation and perinatal child loss) suggested that surgical treatment usually closes the fistula and improves the physical and mental health of affected women (13).

Similarly, a study done to understand the dimensions of fistula and its related social vulnerability in Tanzania found that life improved dramatically for the majority (more than 50%) of the 61 girls and women after their fistula repair (11). They reported being able to being able to return to their normal lives and interact freely with family, friends, and the community. The majority of the women who had successful repair also mentioned being able to support themselves and their families financially and being able to perform domestic chores – such as fetching wood and water, farming and cooking.

In addition, structured questionnaires administered to women living with obstetric fistula in Kenya found that almost all of the 40 women who received surgery for their fistula (97%) said their family and community were very welcoming when they returned home (n=39) (53). The majority were able to socialize normally and carry out daily activities. In addition, many (63%) were still with their original husbands and around half (53%) had resumed sexual relations. In DR Congo, most of the women interviewed expressed joy in recovering their health and "value" as women, indicating that the change in their condition would allow them to regain their position in their respective communities and live like other people (50). Aspirations involved working and earning money, and for those women not married, establishing a long-term relationship with a man. In addition, during the follow-up visits to their communities, most of the women with fistula were not at home when the research

teams arrived. But were attending funerals or wedding ceremonies, and a few were found working in their farms, an indication of how they had overcome the stigma and isolation they faced when they had fistula.

Overjoyed after repair at Babbar Ruga Fistula hospital, Katsina, Nigeria. (Courtesy Gloria Esegbona)



Happy repaired women and girls socializing in the Kwalli rehabilitation centre Kano (Courtesy Musa Isa)



Similar findings were found in a longer follow-up study to assess the urinary and reproductive health and quality of life following surgical repair of obstetric fistula in rural Western Ethiopia (26). Thirtyeight out of 44 women (86%) who had undergone fistula repair were identified in their community. Community-based structured interviews at 14–28 months following fistula repair, addressing urinary health, reproductive health and quality of life found that surgery improved the quality of life, and facilitated social reintegration to a level comparable to that experienced before fistula development, for both women who were dry and those with residual incontinence in the form or stress/ urgency incontinence (P=0.001). For women who were still suffering from fistula, no change was seen (P=0.1).

A study which involved 61 Tanzanian women with obstetric fistula and members of their families found that majority of the women were able to renew family and community relationships following successful repairs. Women reported being no longer isolated but able to interact freely with their families and communities, and take active roles in economic activities (11).

Similar to these findings, a study explored the barriers and facilitating factors that women experience when reintegrating into society after treatment of an obstetric fistula in rural Tanzania (55). A total of 71 women were interviewed in the Mwanza region in three groups. Group 1 were affected women who had already received treatment and returned to their communities (n=25). Group 2 were non-affected women matched by age and socioeconomic circumstances to the women in Group 1 (n=25), whilst Group 3 were affected women awaiting surgery or recovering in the fistula ward postsurgery (n=21).

When the perceived quality of life (PQoL)) was compared between groups, a dramatic improvement over time in PQoL was seen after repair, with the average PQoL score lowest during the period when women were living with a fistula (Group 3), and steadily increasing over time after surgical repair. As most of the women in Group 3 had developed a fistula more recently than those in Group 1, the authors stated that "the decrease in PQoL for Group 3 confirms the immediate negative impact of a fistula on a woman's quality of life". And by one year post-repair, over two-thirds (68%) of the women, who perceived themselves healed or mostly healed, reported that, over time, they were able to resume many of the social and economic activities they engaged in, prior to the development of a fistula, especially those with family to support them.

This study also suggests that access to quick repair services improved women's ability to successfully reintegrate into society. The average length of time between a fistula occurrence and repair in Group 3 was 1.2 years, with a range of two weeks to 10 years living with a fistula; whereas Group 1 lived with a fistula on average seven years, ranging from two months to over 20 years. In contrast to the reports of the women in Group 1, only one woman out of the 21 in Group 3 experienced community mistreatment while living with an obstetric fistula. Five were referred directly after their deliveries and never interacted with community members when they were experiencing symptoms such as incontinence. Five were told to go home for three months (one said this was to heal from a caesarean section) and then to return to the hospital for treatment. The other 11 women in group 3 reported that neighbours and family, "just encouraged [her] to get treatment at the hospital". The average PQoL for Group 3 dropped from 7.55 out of 10 for the time interval before a fistula development to 3.44 (SD=2.10) for the time period while living with a fistula. In contrast, the average PQoL of women in Group 1 while living with a fistula was 1.81 (SD=1.63), and of the women who developed a fistula in the year 1999 or later (n=11), none were "shunned" by their communities, few were divorced by their husbands, and all received treatment within one year.

This finding of less ostracism and fewer instances of divorce when women were repaired soon after developing a fistula reflects similar findings from earlier research in the study area (56) 56 and other countries (26). The reason given for this, and cited in other papers, is that women who have lived with fistula for a relatively short time, before a successful repair, are more easily reintegrated into their community as they are never away from their communities long enough to be perceived as outcasts (2,31). There is also the fact that there is now a generational difference in the awareness of fistula in that the present generation of women with fistula has faster access to better treatment services than was the case for previous cohorts (55).

It has been noted that in order to prevent discrimination and exclusion from the community, no more than six months should pass from the onset of the obstetric fistula until a woman is repaired (37). One author specifically stating that women with a fistula duration of 3 to 75 days, after delivery, should be treated immediately on presentation, by catheter and/or early surgical closure, to prevent them from becoming an outcast (46).

The practice of waiting two to three months after the fistula has occurred, to give the tissues time to heal before attempting repair (4), is seen as the first step in the direction of the woman becoming an outcast with progressive downgrading medically, socially, and mentally. This situation can have significant negative consequences for social reintegration, as women who frequently remain away from their marital homes become perceived as outcasts of the family and society. For instance, some customs in Northern Nigeria expect a woman to deliver her first baby in her parent's home and stay there for several months to recuperate (41). Hence, early closure minimizes the length of time she is seen as abnormal, or an outcast by her husband and community, as she never interacts with community members when experiencing symptoms such as incontinence. Studies suggest that this keeps the devastating social consequences, such as abandonment or divorce, to a minimum (57).

This ties in with reports of women gradually becoming outcast when it becomes obvious that their fistula condition is chronic (58). In one study, a woman described how her husband visited her every day while she was staying at her parent's house to have the baby. However, once she developed a fistula and was told by the doctors to wait for three months for treatment, he stopped visiting (59). This unnecessary turning of an acute condition, that can be entirely prevented through adequate access to health care, into a chronic condition (51) has been described in other studies (15).

A policy of early closure has now been adopted by several dedicated reintegration projects – such as The Foundation for Women's Health, Research and Development (FORWARD) Nigeria (23) and Delta Survie in Mali (60) – where it is no longer the policy to make women wait: surgical fistula closure is seen as the priority.

Ultimately these studies also point towards the impact of the quality of repair on a woman's social reintegration. This repair is dependent on the expertise of the surgeon and the facilities in which the patient will be operated. Additionally, it is known that the first repair affords the best chance of continence (61,62) When a repair fails, a fistula with a graver prognosis is created, with success rates as low as 66% (63). Women who cannot be repaired then face reintegration challenges.

#### **Biosocial outcomes**

"The physical pain is one thing, but then they have also lost their ability to work, to have pain-free sexual relations."(60)

According to Coetzee and Lithgow, a cure following fistula surgery occurs only when the woman is not incontinent of urine, is able to have coitus without dyspareunia, and is able to bear children (64). In most rural societies where fistulas are prevalent, a woman's social and economic life is defined in terms of sexuality, fertility and the childbearing that results (4,15,19,65). This is especially the case

as the index of pregnancy resulting in their fistula is usually their first and has resulted in stillbirth in over 90% of cases. The resultant childlessness was found to have a major social impact, even if a woman is successfully repaired, due to divorce, stigmatization and psychological stress (3,5,50,59).

The result of one study reported that the wish of many women was to have a husband, as with marriage, the childbearing would follow, giving them status as women and confirming their recovery (50). In another, 32% of the women stated that they desired more children (55). It is also relevant to note that in the same study, none of the women with three or more children before developing a fistula were divorced by their husbands. This highlights the importance of childbearing to women's social status in the study setting. Another study found that many women experienced the fistula as a direct assault on their ability to fulfill social expectations of them as women, wives and mothers. Women identified continued participation in marriage, community and childbearing as central concerns (66). It is reasonable to expect therefore, that an overwhelming proportion of women will want to get pregnant soon, although some noted that this desire is only present if a woman is continent. If she is still leaking, then her only concern is how to get well first (49).

However, far reaching biosocial implications, such as the inability for a woman to satisfy their husband's sexual needs, may contribute towards this childlessness and ultimately their reintegration.

A number of studies point to the problems women may face reintegrating into their local communities because of vaginal injuries that make intercourse painful, unpleasant or impossible such that their marriages are affected. For instance, in Ethiopia when the sexual life of the women was inquired about in in-depth interviews, some stated that their sexual life was the major reason why they were separated from their husbands (59). Out of 30 women, 29 stopped sexual relations after the fistula occurred and moved into their parent's house until they recovered. The reasons given were the trickle of urine and/or feces, the smell, or the genital sores, which made it unpleasant and painful, and lowered their self-esteem.

A successful repair would logically be thought as a means to circumvent these problems. However, studies have shown that the nature of the fistula or even the repair itself can affect reproductive performance. For instance, in one study in which a review was conducted of the existing literature and of expert recommendations, it was noted that closing the anatomical fistula was not always sufficient; with approximately 10% of women found to have gynatresia (vaginal blockage or stenosis) after the first repair. It concluded that treatment paradigms should shift toward the prevention and repair of gynatresia (vaginal blockage or stenosis), as well as urinary incontinence at the time of the primary operation (67). Approximately 10% of women were found to have gynatresia after the first repair. In another study, repair of the fistulas worsened gynatresia in 17 cases, in addition to twelve patients having dyspareunia (painful sexual intercourse) and three others with apareunia (inability to have sexual intercourse) (68). Similarly, a cross-sectional study to assess the health, social, and psychological problems encountered by women with treated and untreated fistulas was conducted in seven administrative regions of rural Ethiopia.

The in-depth interviews revealed that while treatment improved family and social life, some social and sexual problems remained (8). The most common physical complaint being that sexual intercourse was painful and could not be tolerated; with six saying they did not try to have sexual intercourse

after the operation because of fear of fistula recurrence in five, and because of incontinence in one. Of those who were not having intercourse following surgery, 80% were divorced, separated or widowed. Additionally, in a report which interviewed adolescent girls and women living with fistula and their family members, more than half of the 568 women seeking treatment at two national hospitals in Mali, from 2000 to 2002, were no longer sexually active (6). In Tanzania, 10-25% of the women who had remained married said that they did not have sexual relations with their husbands after their fistula (11).

#### Safe future delivery

As shown above, it is clear that successful reintegration for some means having more children. However, this act in itself may also hinder the process if there is a risk of recurrence of the fistula that may break her social connection again. This recurrence of another fistula is more likely to have a failed repair because of the law of diminishing returns (63).63 This is not clear cut however, and it seems to depend on whether the pregnancy results in a live child or not. In a study in Zaria, pregnancy outcomes were followed for 82 women after the repair of their fistulas. All desired a pregnancy because of previously bad obstetric histories, which included an 87% stillbirth rate. In addition, 34 multiparous women also cited bad obstetric histories (e.g. prior stillbirths or infant deaths) as their reasons for trying for another pregnancy. After a repair to pregnancy interval, ranging from 10 - 25months, 74 successful live births were achieved in the hospital as advised. The nine vaginal deliveries and 65 caesareans resulted in fistula recurrence in only two cases. One in a woman who had had three previous repairs and delivered by caesarean, the other, in a woman with two previous repairs who attempted a vaginal delivery at home because there were no nearby facilities (69). Both had live births and remained married. One woman had two pregnancies after her first stillbirth and subsequent fistula repair. The second resulted in a stillbirth vaginally and the second in a live birth but with fistula recurrence. Of the six women who had stillbirths, five were subsequently divorced as they had no other living children. The other remained married as she had a live birth from her first pregnancy.

Repaired reintegrated woman from FORWARD Nigeria with a live child.



At the Bahardir Fistula Centre in Ethiopia, when patients become pregnant again, they are encouraged to return to the hospital and wait for a caesarean section – currently thought of as the safest mode of delivery following fistula repair. The centre has had nearly 200 deliveries over the last few years and there have been no fistula recurrences. During the same time span, nearly 40 women have returned after trying to have their babies back in their villages. All the women lost their babies and all had a repeat fistula (70).

Some reintegration programmes like Dimol in Niger provide caesarean sections free of charge to all women who have undergone fistula repair to prevent the recurrence of fistula (10,71). Management differs in Nigeria however, with the mode of delivery tailored to the extent of the damage. In FORWARD, for instance, 25 out of its 145 residential clients up until 2007 had had successful vaginal deliveries with no fistula recurrence. Nineteen of these were women who had been to antenatal clinics but decided on home births with the assistance of traditional birth attendants (23).

#### Improved psychological health

Counselling is frequently cited as necessary for reintegration to occur because of the psychological trauma women experience as a result of losing their status and value in society, as well as the stigmatization which can cause many to isolate themselves out of shame (11,15). For instance, it has been shown that as many as 97% of women screen positive for depression and anxiety that could lead to other forms of mental health dysfunction (8–9,12-13,24,54,59). Some women even contemplate suicide (41,50,72,73) or express constant worry about their future, such as not being able to have more children, never being able to marry again, or never being repaired (11,14).

Studies however, show an improvement in mental health and social reintegration, almost entirely as a result of a successful operative repair-defined as anatomical closure without continuing urinary incontinence.

For instance, a prospective cohort series of 51 women with fistula, from the Barhirdar Hamlin Fistula Centre in northern Ethiopia, looked at the response to a mental health questionnaire both on admission and just after fistula repair (72). The women were screened using a shortened version of the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-28) designed to detect anomalies in four areas, namely social dysfunction, somatic symptoms, anxiety/insomnia and depression. Before repair, 100% of women tested positive for potential psychiatric disorder (whereas 32% of controls tested positive). Two weeks after the repair, if the women were completely cured, only 29% tested positive: about the same as the control rate. This was in the absence of psychiatric or psychological support, and despite the mean time from the antecedent event to presentation of fistula being three years. However, if they were not cured (i.e. their operation failed or the fistula was closed but were still incontinent), then 100% still tested positive. The difference in prevalence of screen-positive women was statistically significant (chi-square test, P=0.003) as was the difference in median score (Mann-Whitney U test, P < 0.05). Similar results were found when women were followed up after six months. If women were still incontinent following their primary repair, they did worse in the questionnaire (54). And the last in a series of four thematic briefs developed from a study in Tanzania, which explored the changes in the lives of 61 women following fistula repair, reported that at least 50% of women highlighted the emotional impact of repair on their lives – feeling better about themselves after repair and referring to their return to health as "a miracle."(11)

So for a good number of women, surgery may reverse psychological dysfunction and go a long way in bringing about a return to community and a normal lifestyle. However, counselling is still thought to be essential for women with fistula as it enables their medical and social evaluation to ensure their needs are met. Especially those needs that enable them to seamlessly return to their families and communities after repair.

#### Psychosocial counseling

"I carried the condition for 12 years without knowing that I could be treated here in Kenya.... I made several attempts to take my life and was admitted to [a] mental ward.... In May 2007 a successful surgery was done.... After I was operated on, I was returned to the mental ward again. You realize, I am not dead, but I am not living." (5)

In some women psychological dysfunction continues despite repair because their reintegration experriences may be impacted negatively, secondary to the degree of isolation and stigmatization experienced while living with fistula (29,31). This is in line with studies indicating that women who were repaired struggled with emotional distress such as losing their child during the pregnancy (55). Even a study which highlighted the improved quality of life and social reintegration after fistula closure found that one-third of the women manifested ongoing distress on follow-up (26).

In addition, it has been acknowledged that girls and women with fistula, whilst sharing a number of common experiences, differ in their varying need for family and social support, livelihood and income generation, and education and training. If the initial disruption experienced by the woman is high (e.g. she is divorced, is back living with her relatives, has no future child-bearing capacity, does not have a normal vagina for intercourse or is still leaking post-repair) she may need additional help (44).

To combat these, several reintegration programmes (23,41,71) offer counselling to aid women in defining their major problems. This is accomplished by exploring answers to questions, such as how long she has lived with the fistula, if her child survived or died, if she has other children, if she has a source of income, if she is married or has a supportive family, and if she is suffering from a psychiatric condition because of her fistula status. It can also help determine if learning a skill would transform her economically, and give her a skill appropriate for her individual preferences and socioeconomic conditions. Such individual counselling also helps ensure that, as highlighted in the IOFWG report, reintegration assistance is determined by what the woman wants for herself (43). So for example, counselling can help identify a woman who needs further intervention, either because they request it or because their status warrants it.

After surgery, counselling also helps assess her level of reintegration into her family and community, as well as help to identify women who require additional assistance. This counselling probes whether they have regained normality in their life at home, with questions related to social interaction, working ability, marital status, sexual intercourse, menstruation and subsequent pregnancies (29).

#### Health education

In several reintegration programmes (see Social Reintegration in Practice section), health education is given where women and their families are counselled about about hygiene and nutrition, how to take care of themselves during the postoperative period, how long to abstain from sexual activity after surgery, family planning, and the need for antenatal care in subsequent pregnancies. Women also learn about the medical nature and cause of their condition.

As such, counselling is considered important to a woman's ultimate reintegration as it ensures the dispelling of any myths and the minimization of behaviours such as inappropriate and delayed treatment which may make recurrence more likely (5). For instance, there have been reports of women

blaming their pre-existing vaginal stenosis on the surgeon and the fistula repair (41); a situation which is avoided by adequate counselling about the nature of the initial injury. And in several studies, a diverse range of perceptions and misconceptions on the origins of fistula were cited by women such as it being the result of evil spirits, a curse, or a sin such as promiscuity (6,8,13,59). And in others, most women with fistula and their families believed their condition was caused by factors related to the delivery process itself, such as the use of delivery instruments, people inserting their fingers into the vagina during labour (11,50) or the doctor accidentally piercing the bladder (14). In some cases, young first-time mothers have blamed their husbands for the problem and vowed never to marry and have children again (59).



Another questionnaire-based survey sought to determine the knowledge of women about causes of the fistula and their attitude toward measures that would prevent future occurrence (74). Of the 130 studied, 33 women did not identify prolonged obstructed labour as the cause, and either attributed their condition to God/ destiny or to the operation that was done to relieve the obstruction. As a result, they would not want to have a hospital delivery in their subsequent pregnancies and (32%) would still not change from "risky obstetric behaviour". From the focus group discussions held with the

maternity staff to ascertain the content and quality of existing counselling, it was confirmed that pre- and postoperative counselling was inadequate. The study concluded that mandatory provision of accurate and appropriate information, and education to all fistula women and their relatives or spouses, by trained counsellors, should be ensured. Such information and education should emphasize the etiology and management of obstetric fistula in order to prevent a recurrence.

#### Clinical counselling

Counselling is also seen as an essential adjunct to surgery as women may lack knowledge about their current condition, or information about maintaining their health after repair, especially for women with continuing incontinence (24,29,72). In one study, some women did not try to have sexual intercourse after the operation, because of fear of fistula recurrence (8). In another, several women, especially if they were childless, indicated that their biggest desire was to have children however, many were also worried if they could conceive or go through childbirth as the fistula might recur. There was also concern that their future husbands would not accept having only one or two children, as was prescribed by health personnel, as a means for women who had been repaired to protect their health.

A study conducted qualitative interviews with 15 women returning for follow-up after their fistula repairs and five accompanying family members in Eritrea. The study found that though many women stated improvements in their condition, many continued to have problems with incontinence and sexual health (75). It was also found that both new and returning patients lacked specific information about their condition, what to expect in terms of treatment and recovery, and how to care for

themselves. The findings pointed to a need for improved information, counselling, follow-up, and social services for women who develop obstetric fistulas. This is in line with other studies which showed that though treated women received pre-operative counselling and guidance on the recovery period, they were not able to obtain post-treatment counselling services after discharge (55). Even those successfully repaired noted that their bodies are "just not the same as before the fistula". Many expressed fear of developing another fistula in future pregnancies. They also stated that they had specific questions about sexual function and fertility, and wanted to have access to a provider who could answer these and other questions they might have in the future. Many women also reported struggling with physical problems including pain when farming, with 76% indicating that they need further medical attention, mostly for abdominal and back pains.

It is also felt that counselling is important to ensure women are realistically informed of the extent of their condition, the likelihood of success of the operation, and of the steps that might be taken to help if the operation does not succeed (1). A study among 15 Eritrean women living with fistula found that providers gave only very limited information about their condition and upcoming surgery, as well as what symptoms they would experience during recovery (75). There have been reports of women blaming their pre-existing vaginal stenosis on the surgeon and the fistula repair (41); a situation which is avoided by adequate counselling about the nature of the initial injury.



In addition, studies show that women with continuing incontinence following unsuccessful repairs continue to have high levels of mental dysfunction and should therefore be offered a great deal of psychological support (72). These "incurable" women need specialized counselling to help them overcome the trauma, and help them make informed decisions on the best way forward. Urinary diversion may be offered but may not be what the woman wants or may not be feasible in her social or cultural context. She may prefer leaking rather than diversion. There are also reports of providers who are reluctant

to disclose the prognosis to incurable women, perhaps because of stripping away any hope from the woman. The result may be that the woman stays at or around the health care facility, for many years, in the hope and belief that one day she will be cured (41). It is felt that individual counselling can help such women establish what would be the best way they can support themselves and get a new life.

#### Peer support and family counselling

Peer support is seen as a great mental counselling tool as women have often become "victims of social and cultural ostracism." As a result, they withdraw themselves from their communities out of shame and humiliation and learn the role of being different (14,15,50). This can be compounded where institutions with their constraints of traditional (expert/patient) relationships offer a culture of "illness" and disability as opposed to the intended culture of health and ability (76).

Some dedicated reintegration programmes give women the capacity to connect with other women with similar experiences in a relationship of support and self-help (29,71). This then becomes a natural re-introduction towards their re-entry to their communities. Women start to understand their problems within a safe social context, and from vantage points of personal worth and social power rather than pathologizing themselves (76). The common cry– when fistula women meet others like themselves in an atmosphere of support and learning– being that they now know they are not alone. As such, the residential centres of FORWARD and Delta Survie (see Social Reintegration in Practice) provide a place where women can live, eat, cook and talk with others. Women stay at the centre before and after undergoing surgery and mingle with whom they can identify and bond with to aid their recovery.

It has also been found helpful in reintegration programmes to include husbands, families and community members in the counselling sessions. This helps to demystify the condition, with explanations and knowledge that the woman is now healed. In addition, it helps to ensure understanding of the need for postoperative advice, such as the need to abstain from sexual intercourse following surgery and the need for obstetric care in subsequent deliveries (29,41,71).

Family Counselling – Fistula Foundation, Nigeria. (Courtesy Musa Isa)

Women in FORWARD Nigeria, cohort 2010. (Courtesy Gloria Esegbona)

Peer support in FORWARD Nigeria – storytelling and singing. (Courtesy Rahmat Mohammed)



#### Counselling curriculum

Lack of high quality and appropriate forms of these types of counselling were noted when Engender Health EngenderHealth (EH) conducted needs assessments on fistula services in twelve developing countries. The results indicated that the staff repeatedly ask for technical assistance on how to counsel fistula clients (77). In some cases, they practiced counselling as the situation demanded, but felt unsure of the most important messages. In other cases, they had a sense that they should be doing some kind of counselling, but did not know where to begin.

In response to such expressed need, EH developed the first formal fistula counselling curriculum. The curriculum was tailored to the specific comprehensive counselling and information needs of women living with fistula, focusing on their pre- and postoperative needs, and addressing techniques to help women avoid future pregnancy complications. To ensure an evidence-based content of the curriculum, EH conducted an extensive literature review, and convened a meeting of fistula counselling experts in Kampala, Uganda in March 2005 (78). The goal of this meeting was for counsellors, health educators, social workers, doctors and nurses, to share best practices and identify key components of the curriculum, and to learn about critical issues for counselling fistula clients. The topics included how to identify the similarities and differences between the needs of fistula patients compared to other patients, to discuss at what point in the spectrum of care it is most appropriate to counsel fistula patients on key issues, and to identify barriers to counselling (10). After the meeting, EH also held focus group discussions (FGDs) with 29 women with fistula at Kitovu Mission Hospital in Uganda to collect information on their needs and concerns. Participants included women varying in age from 18 to approximately 50, so that the curriculum could be be adapted to the individual needs of fistula patients in various settings. These included women who were waiting to receive treatment, those who had undergone several unsuccessful repairs, and those who had experienced successful repair.

As a result, the curriculum, as it currently stands, is organized along the broad categories of:

- Information/education needs, including how the woman sustained her fistula, her understanding about her condition, information on what fistula is, future risk factors and how to prevent fistula from occurring again.
- Education and counselling on the use of family planning as well as good obstetric care, what the course of her treatment will be, referral for, as well as emotional support from providers.

### **TABLE 3** Tips to Improve Fistula Counselling Services (adapted from EnGender Health Counselling Curriculum)

1. Understand the patient's reality (e.g. illiteracy).

2. Drawing a diagram or using analogies to help explain how the fistula was caused and dispel misconceptions.

3. Work with former fistula patients as translators or counselors to overcome language and other barriers.

4. Counsel patient at all stages to prepare them for treatment and reintegration.

5. Initial counselling must often include key messages of acceptance of the woman.

6. Training should address providers' own potential biases and misconceptions about obstetric fistula.

7. Sharing "success stories" can be an important pre-op counselling strategy.

8. Involving a patient's family members and/or partner in counselling is key to a patient's overall success.

9. Support groups can be important to ease the process of re-entering society.

- 10. Patient's role in her own recovery process can serve as a key source of empowerment.
- 11. Repaired patient should leave with card including surgeon's notes.

The curriculum is designed to prepare providers to meet the information and counselling needs of obstetric fistula patients before, during, and following treatment, including referral for services and issues which may be outside the scope of the provider's responsibilities. Tips to improve the counselling service were highlighted (**Table 3**). The type of individual who gives the counselling was found to vary depending on the site's staffing pattern. But at a minimum, it was felt all facility staff should be sensitized to the counselling needs of fistula patients. The curriculum is currently being field tested in Bangladesh, Nigeria, Rwanda and Uganda.

One study evaluated the instant impact of the counselling curriculum developed by EH. Women were interviewed both before pre-operative counselling and again after postoperative counselling to assess their knowledge about fistula, self-esteem, and their behavioural intentions for health maintenance and social reintegration following surgical repair (79). In addition, two focus groups were conducted with a total of 19 patients assessing their experiences with the surgical care and counselling. Data from the questionnaires revealed significant improvements in women's knowledge about the causes of fistula, fistula prevention, self-esteem, and behavioral intentions following counselling. Focus group data also suggested increased knowledge and self-esteem as a result of counselling.

#### More socioeconomic support

The proceeding discussion seems to suggest that most women reintegrate without any form of support if their fistulas are repaired successfully. However, it has been acknowledged that the degree of stigmatization and isolation inversely correlates with factors such as the socioeconomic situation of the woman and her family members, the length of time she has had the fistula, and her marital status – all determining factors in the possibility of post-treatment reintegration and "the sustained success of repairs" (10,13,49).

Complicating matters is also the fact that women differ within and between countries in their socioeconomic status and thus, their need for support. A large series of East African women with fistula that looked at socio-demographic characteristics found that some of their results differed from those reported in other large studies (57). The results showed that 58% of the women had received some form of education: 30% completing primary school, and some having been to secondary school. A high percentage of the woman's partners also received primary education. Similarly, spurious sociodemographic data was noted in a study of 239 fistula women in Zambia (80). One finding was that the age at marriage and at first pregnancy (median 22 years) was generally older than in previous studies (20,21). In addition, only a small number were divorced compared to previous literature, although this might be explained by the generational awareness alluded to earlier.

Other studies confirm the fact that it not always the case that women are abandoned by their husbands, cut off from family, and live a life of isolation and destitution. For instance, one study in Tanzania exploring social vulnerability to fistula showed that more than 50% of the 61 women with fistula who were interviewed were married before they sustained their fistula and stayed married after developing the problem, despite the fact that the majority of women had lived with fistula for two years or more at the time of the interview (11).

This contravenes many widely held assumptions about the impact of fistula on women's marital status. In the same study, all of the women mentioned were supported by at least one person: if not a member of their family (e.g., parents or siblings), then a person or group in the community or an employer. None of the women were totally isolated and unsupported. Of the married women who stayed married after their fistula (n=30), the majority received support from their spouse or husband. Support was in the form of assistance in seeking treatment, financial support, emotional support and encouragement, and help with chores or with work. A study in Uganda, albeit with smaller numbers, showed similar support structures reflecting women's positive relationship with her family (14).

As such, the need to base any socio-economic support based on the needs of individual women is crucial, and the in-depth counselling described in the preceding section can help to delineate these needs. Whilst there is not much by the way of research evidence of how to address the individual social challenges posed by having fistula (31), personal communication with reintegration programmes and a review of operational reports suggest that several main areas constitute this social support.

#### A space to stay

Rehabilitation and reintegration is not seen as a specific place or facility and there is recognition that a rehabilitation training centre and its techniques may or may not lead to rehabilitation outcomes (40). However, given the importance of the repair itself to ultimate reintegration, dedicated fistula repair centres aid women's reintegration for several reasons. These reasons include: providing a place for repair, a dedicated space for the women to recuperate and the time to introduce her to desired reintegration services.

For instance, the Babbar Ruga Fistula Hospital in Northern Nigeria (81); though its specific remit is not reintegration, the set-up is such that the hospital enables women to stay, if necessary, with extended members of their family, while awaiting repair, and for the weeks and sometimes months it takes to recuperate afterwards. There is a lot of open space and women literally set up camp in the communal grounds and buildings, cooking and bathing as they would at home, often with relatives visiting and staying as often as they are able to. Women and their relatives then see and feel that something is being done for them and ostracism is kept to a minimum. As such, the woman is never seen as separate from her family and usually seamlessly reintegrates back into her normal community once repaired.

Similarly, the residential rehabilitation centres of FORWARD, Dimol and Delta Survie (see Social Reintegration in Practice) provides a place where women can live, eat, cook and talk with others. Women stay before and for months after undergoing surgery. They are welcomed into a non-judg-mental community of women with whom they can identify and bond with to aid their recovery. This then affords the much needed peer support discussed in the previous section as women help each other recover.

Fistula repair centres set up like Babbar Ruga are also beneficial for social reintegration for other reasons. Firstly, as many of the obstetric fistula women come from remote villages, they may be unable to financially go home and then return for their postoperative check-up. Designated centres can help circumvent a geographic accessibility problem and indeed some rehabilitation centres, such as the government run centres in Nigeria, are used more as a hostel than as a centre to receive rehabilitation support (37). In Ethiopia, the reintegration and treatment centres are in rural areas much closer to where the people live so that family support and subsequent postoperative follow-up is more likely to be achieved (82).

Studies and communication also suggest that having a place to recuperate for free, during and after treatment, also removes a huge barrier for women as the three- to six-month recovery requires that women rest, and refrain from sexual relations, both of which can be difficult to avoid if she has to return to her home environment (50). In one study for instance, of the 141 women attending for follow-up, six women originally discharged with a closed fistula and continent, came back with a recurrence or "late breakdown" of the fistula. Five of these six women reported an exacerbating physical event for the recurrence of their incontinence, such as straining, sexual intercourse, heavy work or being on a very bumpy road in a bus (54).

This has also been observed in Uganda (83) where out of a consecutive series of 756 women said to have been discharged home dry after fistula repair from three hospitals in Uganda, 16 (2%) were identified as having become wet soon after. This happened either on the way home or within one or two weeks, despite all having repairs for relatively simple fistulas. Possible causes cited included over-distension of the bladder due to the long and arduous journeys home many women face. One woman stated that she had a very full bladder but was too shy to ask the taxi driver to stop to empty her bladder and soon after became wet. Or that, as admitted by others, that there was early resumption of sexual activity or strenuous physical activity like farming in spite of contrary instruction. All women subsequently had a second repair with 14 out of 16 recorded as going home dry. This implies that their fistulas were small and leakage either avoidable or curable with catheter drainage if they had returned immediately as soon as they noticed they were leaking. Since becoming aware of the problem of postoperative leakage, the authors instructed women to wait for a week before setting off home and to return as soon as leaking occurs. However they also stated that none complied probably due to a travelling and financial issue.

In another study, although women were usually allowed two to three weeks to heal in the hospital post-repair, most felt they needed more time to recover (72). Women living far from the hospital opted to stay with relatives living close to the hospital until they felt ready to make the long journey home. In addition, those going home immediately after surgery lived with parents, and nearly all reported needing someone to help them at home while they recovered (typically a sister or mother) as they experienced difficulties resuming their expected social roles after treatment. They also mentioned that they were afraid they would develop another fistula from physical exertion or sexual activity, and/or experienced a lot of pain and weakness while working. Forty-eight percent of treated women reported persisting physical problems. The authors of the study felt that if women cannot be operated on immediately, rather than being sent away, it is appropriate to provide a waiting area close to the fistula unit where they can stay until they have surgery (72).



Women recuperating in the extensive grounds of Babbar Ruga Fistula Hospital, Nigeria.

#### Improved economic activities

Resuming work is perceived by many women as critical to re-establishing their place in society. As women are reported to struggle with economic difficulties, made worse by the fact that they may have never worked due to gender inequity or are unable to work because of their condition (2,55). Some women save money for years, for medical and transport expenses, and the delay increases the likelihood of medical and psychosocial complications. They may have sold all they have so they can travel to seek help. And once getting that help they may have to stay to recuperate – a burden if they have no money and are far from home.

Sambusa Making. (Courtesy Becky Kiser, Trampled Rose, Ethiopia)



Numerous studies state therefore, that for most women recovering from an obstetric fistula, work is the most important factor to help them feel "normal" again. Especially as most women were working to support themselves and their families before developing fistula (14,50,59). However, their condition affected their ability to work as they used to before, or limited their sources of income. Reasons cited included being in pain, concern about wetting themselves in front of others, or offending others with their smell. In addition, some were unable to work as hard because of feeling too weak, or tiring easily. This meant they could no longer provide for themselves and/or their families and forced greater dependence on husbands and family members both financially and with day-to-day tasks. This is an issue in itself as most may be living below the poverty line already (6,59).

In addition, there are reports that some women have had to resort to commercial sex work once they are repaired, as a way to seek an immediate income to survive, particularly those that have lived with fistula for many years (41).

For these reasons, training in income-generating activities (IGAs) is an integral part of the reintegration process for programmes. The aim of learning an activity – to give them a skill that they can use when they return home in order to improve their economic and social positions and give them a sense of autonomy and self-worth (23,29). In Liberia for instance, fistula survivors learn how to make and sell soap, flowers, baked goods, dresses and fabric. They can also become beauticians or learn baking techniques. More than 50 women have so far graduated from the social rehabilitation and reintegration programme. Already one result is that about half of the graduates from the programme are reunited with their husbands, whereas in the past, the figure was closer to 25% (86). Learning Embroidery. Kwalli Rehabilitation Centre, Kano, Nigeria. (Courtesy Musa Isa)



Others have started microcredit programmes where funds are given to women for income-generating activities, such as selling food or to purchase sheep or goats. These programmes include the community-based NGOs, Dimol and Solidarite, in Niger which also work to reintegrate women living with fistula by holding meetings with local authorities, the community and the patients' husbands and families to explain the causes and consequences of fistula (1,87).

Soap Making. Trampled Rose, Ethiopia. (Courtesy Becky Kiser)



Teaching IGAs is also said to help in another way as findings do suggest that women may need to engage in less strenuous work for at least one year after surgery to allow them to fully recover. Some studies do report that the majority of women recover, with the ability to support themselves and their families financially after repair. Almost all are able to perform domestic chores, such as fetching wood and water, farming and cooking (11). Others report physical strain as a barrier to complete

recovery after fistula repair especially if they are from rural areas and it is back-breaking work like farming (49,54). These findings suggest the need for alternative non-labour intensive ways to generate income for at least the first year post-surgery, such as bead- and cap-making, which are light skills (60).

Lastly, the long postoperative period that women usually have to undertake is also thought of as providing an opportunity to improve women's socio-economic status through skills training programs before they return to their communities. Women usually require at least two weeks of in-hospital care, combined with several weeks of pre-and postoperative support to ensure adequate healing (88).

Knitting skills training in the Kwalli Rehabilitation Centre, Kano, Nigeria. (Courtesy Musa Isa)



However, learning a skill as an approach cannot be a "one-size fits-all" approach as mentioned by many programmes. For instance, in the Delta Survie reintegration shelter, the skills the women learn in craft- and jewelry-making to sell to the tourist market has been noted not to always translate in real life (60). Women who leave the centre rarely continue to make jewelry. When asked, most women said that they lacked the means to start a business, and even if they had, that the products wouldn't sell as many women come from remote villages where the tourist trade is barely, if at all, existent. Even women who come from larger cities know that the market is already flooded with artisan products and that competition would be hard, especially once removed from the resources offered by the shelter.

An evaluation of rehabilitation centres in Northern Nigeria concluded that the "facilities may not equip the women with skills that are useful for economic activities in their own environment and that innovative, needs-specific methods should be adopted for future interventions in accordance with the economic realities of the communities and market availability" (89). In Niger, Réseau Pour l'Elimination de la Fistule Obstétricale (REF) organized an evaluation of social and economic reintegration activities in the country. Their evaluations showed that though the bulk of financial support provided to women post-treatment was for training in small business ventures (e.g., animal husbandry), there was a mismatch between the training received by the women and the activities they actually lead, once back in their communities. The majority of women returned home to resume traditional family roles (43,90).
There is also the issue of whether those entering the programme actually require the services. For instance, in Kinshasa, Bas Congo and Equateur in DR Congo, it seems that the main criterion for entering into a post-surgery income-generation programme is not the woman's needs, but rather her proximity to the NGO training site (43). This is because local NGOs receive lists of women who have undergone surgery containing very limited information and then contact the woman to determine if and what type of support she requires.

It is recognized in other social reintegration fields that if the skills are not based on an analysis of what a person specifically needs, it will not lead to recovery or reintegration (40). As such, this problem of inappropriate training may be overcome by the individualized approach in place in some programmes. For instance, social support is implemented differently in Kindu, another region of DR Congo, where the community volunteers providing social support are closely associated with the medical services at the Maternité Sans Risque hospital. They are able to take individual needs into consideration, because the community volunteers are in a good position to assess the needs for reintegration when the woman who has been repaired leaves medical treatment (43). Women are then supported with grants and equipment in tandem with their economic backgrounds or existing skills. Patients sign an agreement to work with a tutor who can help them build a business based on their existing or desired skills. The signed agreement entitles them to a bank account and training in business and financial literacy, so they know how to keep their books. Start-up kits then provide them with the essentials to begin a business of their choosing. For example, a seamstress might be given a sewing machine and fabric.

It is said that more than 350 fistula survivors have benefited from such social reintegration programmes and have been able to improve their living conditions with the training received. Similarly, FORWARD offers a number of skills which women can choose from based on their interests, and the context into which she will return to (23,29). In addition, small business management principles are taught to help patients develop the skills necessary to manage their own businesses when they return to their villages.

It seems it doesn't matter what is offered, as long as it is it is a skill which is commercially viable within their normal context, and what the woman wants and needs. It cannot harm women to learn a skill, or be educated, as long as this does not unduly keep them away from their communities. It has been reported that some women want to get back home as soon as possible after repair, to prevent divorce, or her husband taking another wife, but are kept away from their matrimonial home in a bid to teach her a skill, she may not use, or may not even be appropriate (41).

It is not practical to think that all treatment centres can feasibly offer IGA services as it is timeconsuming and has a cost implication which may divert resources from the quality of fistula repair and other treatment services. A lack of resources and materials will mean that the variety of skills and competencies provided may not be the most appropriate for the individual preferences and socio-economic situation of the fistula patients. However, it has been suggested that repair centres could follow the model of the Somine Dolo Hospital in the Delta Survie partnership, by finding local groups with whom to work (43). Another is the model, FORWARD Nigeria, who has worked in close collaboration with other organizations, especially government programmes geared towards the empowerment of women, such as microcredit and poverty alleviation, not just because of the skills training often included but the economic value added (23,29).

#### Family support

In a study where the post-treatment psychosocial and economic situations of six women with fistula were analyzed to find out how women with fistula respond to rehabilitation and reintegration services, it was surmised that "family is the core social institute that critically intersects with the possibility of success following postoperative reintegration therapy." The peak of stigma and social discrimination occurs when patients are alienated by close family members, such as parents and siblings, to whom they are primarily dependent for economic and psychological support (49). This is more likely to happen when their condition is seen as being chronic rather than an acute affair which can be coped with.

Many reports describe how fistula places a heavy social emotional and financial burden on survivors and their families. For instance, in the form of incurring substantial costs in seeking funds for treatment, buying resources (soap, water, etc.) to manage her condition, transportation, and for food and upkeep while in the hospital. Money often raised by selling assets such as land and livestock, drive families, usually on low incomes, further into poverty.

Husband and children waiting for a woman with fistula undergoing repair in the grounds of Babbar Ruga Fistula Hospital. (Courtesy Gloria Esegbona)



In addition, families often have to forgo the loss of the woman's contribution to work at home, on the farm, or in income-generating activities, as well as the income of the family members who had to forgo work and income to accompany the women for treatment (11,14,50,59). Additionally, women with fistula also indicate that family members suffered from stress and worry about their having fistula or faced ridicule in the community. Despite this increasing depth of poverty, reports are mainly of support (11,14,51) and families on the whole manage until women are given no hope for a cure because of true inoperability, misdiagnosis, inexperience and inappropriate care, or sent away for a three-month period to heal before surgery. Research suggests that it is then women are "gradually" (58) ostracized because the fistula becomes an unmanageable "chronic condition beyond the family's understanding and capabilities to care for the woman" (51).

As such, in some reintegration programmes, early repair within three months is emphasized, and counselling and support is also provided for the women's family members who are tracked down and invited to visit and support her during her rehabilitation. This is an important part of counselling the family, directly and indirectly, by letting them see their relative as still part of the family, that she can be helped, and educating them on the nature of her woman's condition and what is required for full recovery. It also helps determine what socio-economic needs the woman may have (14,23,29). This also serves as an opportunity to ensure that family members who often play the most critical role in determining access to essential obstetric care (5,6,14) are aware of the importance of seeking adequate help in the next pregnancy and birth to reduce the chances of fistula recurrence.

#### Community support

"Social reintegration is about preventing the fistula occurrence/recurrence cycle"(91)

A few fistula reintegration centres offer institutional pre- and postoperative support, including the skills training and income-generating activities discussed previously. The majority, however, are a mix of centre-based and community reintegration approaches that, as well as offering such skills training, also involves linking with communities to discuss the return of the women who have been operated on. As in many communities, especially in rural areas, very little is known or understood about the risk factors and causes associated with fistula development. It may be seen as a curse oor the fault of the woman and she may not be accepted back even if repaired. Even if she is accepted, there is great risk that she will return with another fistula if there is lack of understanding that she needs to seek appropriate health advice in her next pregnancy. Thus, changing social and cultural attitudes in the community are central to helping reintegration and also preventing what has been termed the "fistula occurrence/recurrence cycle" in subsequent pregnancies; either for the woman herself or women within her community (91).

Repaired reintegrated girl from FORWARD Nigeria who died in her second pregnancy because of lack of access to hospital care. (Courtesy Rahmat Mohammad)



There are a multitude of different community approaches being piloted across a number of countries (1,37) that are best understood by looking at the specific programmes detailed in the Social Reintegration in Practice section. However, there are a number of common features worthy of analysis, such as community outreach – where reintegration activities extend to community mobilization and Information, Education and Communication (IEC) and Behaviour Change Communication (BCC) activities to address the social marginalization that separates women from their families and communities. As it is believed that the exclusion and stigmatization by society worsen the psychosocial and economic challenges of reintegration for women (41,49,84,87).



Fistula Foundation Nigeria project meeting with Emir of Kano to explain its fistula sensitization campaign. (Courtesy Musa Isa)

The outreach visit is essentially a sensitization campaign which encourages the participation of men, gatekeepers of the community such as religious leaders and traditional rulers, in order to change their attitudes towards women living with fistula. The aim is to reduce the stigma surrounding the condition, and champion the demystification of traditional norms and practices pertaining to women and childbirth, thereby creating an atmosphere conducive to their return to their communities of origin. The IEC/BCC activity is also used to detect and refer women with fistula to repair services as soon as possible, to reduce the level and duration of stigma they are exposed to and facilitate a seamless reintegration back into the community (41,85). Community outreach also helps to support and guide women, to prevent recurrence of their fistula and improve future pregnancy outcomes. The outreach also advice women on how to enter into a dialogue with family members and the community about what they have experienced and how a successful fistula repair enables them to return to a full family and community life (44). Sensitization is conducted through a variety of mediums including music, radio broadcasts, public announcements, speeches, posters, leaflets, and workshops. The result is a symbiotic model of psychotherapeutic interventions that embraces the local knowledge and culture and helps in preventing fistula (41).

Community advocacy in Bangladesh. (Courtesy Roushon Ara Begum, UNFPA)



It has been said that prevention programs, like community awareness campaigns, are unlikely to truly succeed if not done in partnership with the women themselves. As by virtue of having lived with fistula, they are in essence more knowledgeable than any number of "experts" combined and have more to gain by having fistula eradicated (51). In addition, having the main stakeholders (women with fistula) perform the IEC/BCC activities in their local communities creates a quicker, more sustained change in "people's actions and attitudes towards the causes of ill health and is key to achieving the goal of good health for all" (92). Especially as they can help circumvent the logistical difficulties of travel and communication, particularly in rural areas.

For a number of programmes the involvement of women in IEC/BCC has taken the form of training former fistula patients to become community and peer educators, ambassadors, and motivational mobilisers. These community fistula advocates (CFAs) have been taught communication techniques such as public speaking and interpersonal communication.

Community Fistula Advocate from FORWARD Nigeria counselling a new cohort of women with fistula. (Courtesy Rahmat Mohammed)



This is because is felt that advocacy by CFA encourages communities to take ownership of the fistula issue, and that they can better facilitate the understanding of the linkages between fistula and improved maternal health (93). The goal is that after returning to their communities, the CFAs can become empowered agents of change using social events to raise community awareness about the causes of fistula, how to prevent it and the availability of treatment. This helps to reduce stigmatization and isolation from family and the community, and mobilize acceptance in the community, especially in men and community leaders. They are also encouraged to create a network of fistula advocates within the community, and some programmes like Bangladesh are thinking about helping them become the community-based trainers of newly repaired women.

Several countries are now working with CFAs, each of whom is working in her own way to sensitize communities, providing peer support to women living with fistula, and advocating for improved maternal health. In Côte d'Ivoire, 20 fistula survivors received training in educational communication techniques and now speak at community gatherings to encourage behaviour change. They also work with the media and discuss fistula prevention and treatment on radio and television programmes. A pilot effort in Eritrea provided training to 21 fistula survivors to work as maternal health volunteers — focusing in particular on counselling, safe motherhood, and the prevention and

treatment of obstetric fistula. Trainees are now conducting community mobilization and educational sessions with pregnant women to educate them regarding the importance of antenatal care and giving birth in hospitals (43).

Lastly there are programmes such as Fistula Foundation Nigeria who escort fistula survivors back to their communities and believe that there needs to be preparation of: (i) the woman by the social workers or other related professionals to return home, and (ii) the members of local communities to receive her to ensure women are able to return to their communities successfully. Such family reintegration requires social workers to be trained to adequately help explain to the family and community the causes of fistula (41).

Training repaired fistula women as community fistula advocates. (Courtesy Roushon Ara Begum, UNFPA.)



# 6.4 Social Reintegration in Practice

"The battle against fistula is a just cause. Reintegration is the poor relation of this war, this component must receive very special attention. Innovative and promising strategies can help make a difference." (94)

A report in 2003 by EH, when it partnered with the UNFPA to conduct a needs assessment in nine African countries and personal correspondence with several reintegration programmes, has found that there are not many reintegration models specifically for women affected by fistula with published results (77). In addition, there were few active programmes (facilitating education and vocational training opportunities, which are followed up and led to an independent social reintegration) compared to passive programmes (where women are given training but are not followed up to ensure enhanced social functioning) (**Table 4**) with interventions for social reintegration. Example of social reintegrations include family reunification (or finding alternative care if reunification is impossible), providing education and training, devising appropriate strategies for economic and live-lihood support, and providing psycho-social support.

Similar findings were found some years later in 2009 when a midterm thematic evaluation was done of UNFPA national fistula programmes. They conducted field missions to Bangladesh, Nigeria, the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Niger; and performed desk reviews of national fistula programmes in Kenya, Pakistan, Sudan and Tanzania, as well as sent questionnaires to 40 UNFPA country offices (CO) receiving 24 replies with a response rate of 60% (37,43). The consortium found provision of reintegration services to be a weak link in the fistula management process with few formal initiatives by the government or other service providers. Many questions were raised about the effectiveness of social services for support and reintegration of women following fistula surgery. Apart from individual accounts of major successes, there was no systematic record or evaluation that would allow any statements about the overall effectiveness of the programme. The findings in 35 facilities from nine African countries ranged from no support and no data on reintegration (most facilities and countries), to covering for cost of food and clothes only (UNFPA and EH). The few NGOs that had reintegration as their specific remit offered different and often poor levels of pre- and post-operation support, including health education, training in life skills and competencies for smooth reintegration in their communities and for income-generating purposes. Overall the availability and accessibility of rehabilitation services was found to be insufficient compared to the number of women who had had surgery. For example, Cote d'Ivoire reported that only 27 of 119 women who received treatment in 2009 were fully reintegrated into their communities.

The experiences in some countries described below have been chosen for their innovative approaches to address social reintegration. However, most have not yet been rigorously evaluated and many in fact are only in pilot stages. This section is designed not to present programme models for replication, but to highlight emerging ideas and practices that may become proven, sustainable strategies in the years to come, and help to inspire innovative solutions.

TABLE 4	Social	Reintegration	Centres
---------	--------	---------------	---------

Country	Centre (s)	Type of Programme <sup>1</sup>	Overview	No of Women Benefited	Strengths	Challenges
BANGLADESH	Fistula Training and Rehabili- tation Centre, Dhaka funded by UNFPA	Active	See main text	235	Potential to use CFA to extend into community	How to make an effective but costly model replicable for others to follow, both in a facility-based and in a community-based context.
DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO	UNFPA partner- ships with local NGOs in Kindu, Kinshasha, Bas Congo and Equateur	Passive	Two variations: 1) through community volunteers (before, during, after surgery), or 2) through NGO staff	10-15% of women access post-surgery social support Total: 127/9392	In Kindu, volunteers are in a good position to assess the needs for social reintegration support.	The proportion of women who access these services remains small (as compared to the number of women who had a surgery). It is not clear whether those not benefiting from the programme did not require the services or whether they could not access them for a variety of reasons.
KENYA	NGO Sentinelles	Passive	Established partnerships with West Pokot hospital in order to provide some social support.	N/A	Potential to build on Ambassadors of Hope (i.e. group of former fistula patients).	Poor follow-up Only able to reach out to a limited number of communities.

Country	Centre (s)	Type of Programme <sup>1</sup>	Overview	No of Women Benefited	Strengths	Challenges
	The focal point for the organi- zation of social reintegration is the Ministry of Promotion of the Woman (Ministère de la Promotion de la Femme), which it delegates to the NGOs DIMOL and Solidarité.		Three main components of the social reintegration programme are: 1) information on reproductive health (need for ANC, prophylactic caesarean section); 2) training in income generation activities (IGA) and 3) provision of around 50,000 FCFA (\$110) to start the IGA.	567 women benefited from the programme 2005-2008		The effectiveness of the current income- generating activities for fistula survivors is not clear.
NIGER	Solidarité, Zinder	Passive	Founded by Dr Lucien Djangnikpo, a fistula surgeon who found that women, particularly those who have had fistula for 10 to 15 years, were likely to experience extreme stigmatization and resort to commercial sex work once repaired, as a way to survive. Now women are given a \$125 microcredit loan to start a business. Provides a holistic approach to obstetric fistula	Up until 2007, Solidarité has contributed to the treatment of 745 women in the Zinder region, 327 of whom have been fully reintegrated	Work to reintegrate women living with fistula, by liaising with the community.	

#### TABLE 4 Social Reintegration Centres, Cont'd

Country	Centre (s)	Type of Programme <sup>1</sup>	Overview	No of Women Benefited	Strengths	Challenges
NIGER	Dimol	Active	See text			
	FORWARD Nigeria residential and community project	Active	See text			
NIGERIA	The State Ministries of Women Affairs and Social Development (SMoWASD) rehabilitation and reintegration centres: Kwalli Rehabilitaion centre, Kano Babbar Ruga Rehabilitation centre, Katsina.	Passive	Receive women in their postoperative period Training related to functional literacy and numeracy, knitting and sewing or income generation activities, and sometimes women can receive grants.	Unavailable		Because of lack of resources and materials, the variety of skills and competencies provided is usually limited and not the most appropriate for the individual preferences and socio- economic situation of the fistula patients. Sometimes the centres are used more as a hostel than as a centre to receive rehabilitation support.
	Kaduna State Rehabilitation Centre	Passive	tional and FCEIS (I by the Japanese E of them receive vo	Family Care Eduv Embassy. All wor ocational training . Some of the pat	ision International nen are rehabilitat in different skills l	with Rotary Interna- Services) and sponsored ed medically and many ike sewing, knitting, and icrocredit to enable
	Fistula Founda- tion Nigeria	Active	See text			
PAKISTAN	Koohi Goth Women Hospital Rehabilitation Centre	Passive	Established reinte Supported technic		through the region Ily by UNFPA.	al fistula centre.

#### TABLE 4 Social Reintegration Centres, Cont'd

TABLE 4	Social	Reintegration	Centres,	Cont'd
---------	--------	---------------	----------	--------

Country	Centre (s)	Type of Programme <sup>1</sup>	Overview	No of Women Benefited	Strengths	Challenges
SUDAN	The National Centre for Re- habilitation and Social Integra- tion of Fistula Patients	Passive	Opened in 2009, with a capacity of 40 beds. It aims to complement the work of the existing Abbo Fistula Treatment Centre in Khartoum. The centre provides psychological rehabilitation services. During fistula treatment campaigns/camps, it works with NGOs with support from UNFPA, to offer women the opportunity to gain income-generation skills like soap and macaroni-making, sewing, knitting etc. In addition she is given advice on family planning as requested. Similar centres are to be established in the Darfur States.			
TANZANIA	The Mabinti rehabilitation Centre in Dar es Salaam	Passive	tals fistula ward ( period, 18 women empowerment suc They also learn lift Women also learn ample, area busin are made from dis	CCBRT) from whe acquire skills in c ch as sewing, scru- e skills such as hy how to use recy esses hire the cer carded billboards starter kit contai	re it receives patie order to gain socio een-printing and b vgiene, family plan cled materials in in ntre to produce fas After finishing th ning a sewing mac	eed Rehabilitation Hospi- ents. During an 18-month -economic security and usiness management. ning and HIV prevention. novative ways. For ex- shion-related items that he course, each woman shine, patterns, scissors,
THE GAMBIA	Shelter Gambia in Bakoteh	Passive	Established in June 2009, to empower women after having surgery. A facility has been donated by the government in which women stay for about two months (with their children) after being discharged from hospital, if nec- essary, during which time they receive health education. The cooperation with a centre nearby, also enables women to learn skills like sewing, soap- making, tie and dye, etc. When the women go home they are given a sewing machine.			ch women stay for about ed from hospital, if nec- ion. The cooperation ills like sewing, soap-
LIBERIA	Fistula Rehabili- tation and Rein- tegration Centre (FRRC) in Jacob Town, Paynes- ville.	Passive	In a four- to six-me gone successful s try making and co vided lodging, lite Women receive po income-generation	onth programme, urgery are trained smetology. As pa racy, vocational s ost-training starte g activities and th	a proportion of wo d in tie and dye clo rt of this training p kills and health ed er kits, to facilitate heir reentry into th	funding from UNFPA. omen who have under- th-making, tailoring, pas- process, women are pro- ucation. • their engagement in eir communities. A sub- onal maternal health
GUINEA	The Urban De- velopment Com- mune (UDC)	Passive	See text			

#### TABLE 4 Social Reintegration Centres, Cont'd

Country	Centre (s)	Type of Programme <sup>1</sup>	Overview	No of Women Benefited	Strengths	Challenges
MALI	Delta Centre de survie pour femmes avec fistules	Passive	See text			
	Trampled Rose	Passive	See text			
THIOPIA	Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital (AAFH) rehabili- tation centre <sup>6,49</sup>	Passive	prior to surgery a	nd during recover ncome-generatio	y (lasting about the n skills and educat	rs a treatment schedule ree weeks) of psychoso- ional services on topics
ш			problem through takes some forme outreach centres.	radio programs ai er fistula patients Currently, there	red in cooperation for training to bec	e society about the with other NGOs. It also ome nurse aids for the fistula patients who are s.

<sup>1</sup> Active (facilitating education and vocational training opportunities, which were followed up and lead to an independent social reintegration) or passive programmes (where women are given training but are not followed up to ensure enhanced social functioning)

<sup>2</sup> Data from the Thematic Evaluation of National Programmes and UNFPA Experience in the Campaign to End Fistula. Assessment of national programmes. VOLUME II: HERA & ICRH / Final synthesis report / March 2010.

### 6.4.1 FORWARD Nigeria (23,29,95)

The Foundation for Women's Health Research and Development (FORWARD) project was set up just over ten years ago by Dr. Rahmat Mohammad to improve the health and socio-economic status of women with obstetric fistula so as to meet the objective of rehabilitating and reintegrating survivors into their families and communities. It takes a holistic approach to managing fistula survivors by not only providing surgical repair with social and psychological rehabilitation, but also through fostering a culture of community participation.

The key components of its reintegration strategy take place at its residential rehabilitation centre, to which women are referred through recommendations from local government officers, community leaders, community-based women's organizations, individuals, and previous clients.

Several interventions are coordinated and managed during the 6–10-month stay. Central to it all is surgical treatment (and appropriate rehabilitation, preoperative and postoperative nursing care) as all intake interviews cite that this is the one thing that the women want done as quickly as possible so that she feels normal again. Surgery aims to be completed within three months, if possible, to give the girl or woman hope as soon as possible that she will be "normal" again. This helps in promoting a perception whereby she does not see herself as a patient, victim, or inmate. This also reduces the length of time she is seen as "ill" by her family.

An intensive counselling process is in place to aid physical and psychosocial rehabilitation so that girls and women understand how the VVF occurred and what to do to prevent a recurrence. In addition, peer-group counselling also plays a part in the whole residential process. In this setting, women create ties with other women like themselves in an atmosphere of support and learning that facilitates group discussion. Innovatively, counselling programmes are also provided for the women's family members who are tracked down as soon as she is registered with the centre and invited to visit. Establishing this link between FORWARD and the communities also helps immensely during the follow-up component of the project.

Girls in FORWARD Nigeria project after a literacy class. (Courtesy Rahmat Mohammed)





A low socioeconomic status and lack of education have been identified as the major causes of obstetric fistula in the project area. In order to address these, literacy, numeracy and vocational training are provided, along with numerous income-generating activities like cap- and soap-making, and animal husbandry. Small business management principles are also taught to help clients develop the skills necessary to manage their own businesses when they return to their villages. A graduation ceremony takes place after a median stay of 10 months at the centre, where the women's families as well as community leaders and government functionaries are invited to meet the women who are transformed from outcasts into empowered literate individuals. Upon leaving the centre, FORWARD provides seed money amounting to approximately \$40 and/or specific quantities of knitting, sewing, or crochet materials, animals or other raw materials for activities such as peanut-oil processing and snack production. Women pay back in installments with 0% interest, which is collected during outreach visits or when the women come to visit the centre.

There is then subsequent reintegration of women into their communities with 12-months of outreach follow-up to monitor their reintegration into their communities, their general well-being and their income-generating activities. The aftercare visits by an outreach worker helps to educate women on how to be better able to resist being forced into positions where their new skills and empowerment would be stifled. The outreach worker also provides technical assistance so they can continue with their income-generating activities, help pass their skills on to other women in their village, and form community-based organizations that can be registered as a cooperatives. Women are reported to return to their villages with a higher status than when they left. These women are now referred to as "Malama (teacher) educated in Dambatta." Some clients have been so empowered that they were able to "renegotiate" their marriages. In some cases the marriage was dissolved and they married men of their choice.

Rahmat Mohammad following up a FORWARD Nigeria graduate who has been trained by the project to become a teacher in her village. (Courtesy Gloria Esegbona)



The initiative has recorded success because stakeholders and beneficiaries at all levels have been involved in its planning and implementation. Key components of its reintegration strategy take place at the community and political levels by using community advocacy and sensitization to raise awareness of reproductive health and rights, and the necessity of integrating women into mainstream community development programs. In addition, health committees have been established in the communities to promote reproductive health scaled up by the use of motivational mobilizers in the form of former fistula clients. Becoming a CFA who can discuss issues of overall growth and reproductive health helps them to reintegrate into the community. In addition FORWARD has worked in

close collaboration with ministries of health and social and women's affairs, local women's organizations, NGOs, and community-based organizations, which provide training for the women and help them launch their cooperatives and businesses.

Between November 1999 – March 2010, some of the notable results achieved by the rehabilitation programme include: 185 women were admitted to the residential centre for full surgical, social and psychological rehabilitation and all were successfully reintegrated; 41 behaviour change meetings were held in patients' communities; 247 follow-up visits were made to patients' homes; 30 community fistula advocates were trained in advocacy and awareness-raising. In addition over 450 women and girls have benefited directly and indirectly from the services of FORWARD Nigeria and over 800 have benefited from the preventive programmes.

# 6.4.2 **Delta Survie, Mali** (60,84,96,97,98)

Delta Survie pour femmes souffrant de fistules is an NGO which collaborates with the fistula centre at the Regional Hospital of Mopti, Sominé Dolo, to provide social and surgical recuperation services to women suffering from obstetric fistulas. Established in 2000 by Ibrahima Sankare as a transitional centre, Delta Survie found that the multiple surgeries usually needed to address fistula required a long convalescence, and that the marginalized social situation of many of the women called for a fresh set of skills, in order to build new lives after the medical situation had been addressed. They decided to join with the surgical and medical services being given by the hospital. A Canada Fund for Local Initiatives helped open an accommodation centre on hospital land. This includes two dormitories with 36 beds, a block of toilets, water pumps and a garden plot. The centre provides social support by providing women with a community of people that understand, and a place where they can live normally, eat, cook and talk with others, especially if they are alone. There is a lot of open space and women cook and spend much of their day outside, in the communal courtyard. The women see themselves as a community, they bond together to help each other recover, to mind each other's children, and to make food. Most women stay at the centre before and after undergoing surgery for their fistulas for a total of about three months: the recovery time required following treatment. However, women who need multiple operations may stay for longer.

Each year, the centre accommodates 80 to 120 women with fistulas. In 2007, a total of 126 women, instead of returning home after their surgery, decided to stay near the hospital for up to a year, to receive counselling, education and often, a second or third surgery. During a two-week visit in 2008, it was noted that 51 women were living there along with various family members (Connell). Women come from other Malian hospitals to recuperate, as well as from neighbouring countries like Ivory Coast. It also provides a permanent home for 20 to 40 women who have not been healed or cannot return to their village.

During their stay, Delta Survie promotes the social and economic reintegration of women by providing training in textile production, weaving, wet-clay chemical and vegetable dyeing (bogolan), sewing, market gardening, or soap-making which can be used in the future to help rebuild their lives and support their families. The other large communal training activity is making crafts (primarily jewelry) which are sold to tourists and international partners, with the profits shared among the women. The women create beaded jewelry, scarves and other intricate textiles and the light, stationary work is seen as perfect for women in surgical recovery. Jewelry-making is voluntary but the woman must participate if she wants to make money. The centre serves as the workshop and storefront for the women's jewelry and textile business, with a jewelry boutique, adjacent to the centre, welcoming customers to "Boutique des Femmes Malades de Fistules" (Boutique of Women With Fistula Illness). In addition, life literacy classes are run by the NGO, Medecins du Monde, for eight months of the year in the local languages and in French.

Delta's national communications program also seeks to strip the veil away from fistula and define it as a treatable disease by encouraging women who have been healed to liaise with the community they come from – identifying and demystifying the affliction. These women are fully committed to Delta Survie because they feel they are indebted to the centre. Since 2007, the NGO has trained 20 fistula patients to speak about treatment and prevention in their communities. Incurable women are not trained as advocates but work is done to build their confidence so they can take responsibility for certain activities at the centre. In addition, they are funded to reintegrate back to their villages or a place of their preference in order to trade in a profession they have chosen to be trained in.

The centre is also involved in activities of prevention, screening and rehabilitation at the community level. This is done with intensive awareness raising sessions at the village level using the radio and television in collaboration with the administrative and political authorities in the region of Mopti. With financial and technical support from UNFPA, Canadian Cooperation, the program of the United Nations Volunteers and the French NGO, Bilou Toguna, it has been able to reach 399 villages. The goal after three years is to reach all 2,083 villages in the area.

N'Gouma and Ouro Ali "to defeat the fistula with us the obstacles" (Courtesy Ibrahima Sankare – Delta Survie)



The aim is that when women leave Delta, they have regained their dignity and self-confidence, and have a trade they can practise, and have acquired knowledge that they can share with the people of their village. However, it is recognized that there are challenges: the current structure is best suited for women whose stay at the hospital is three months or more, as high turnover makes it difficult to create ownership and maintain skills. In addition, bringing women together in one location poses the risk of ghettoization of the area, which may have a particular impact on women that remain at the centre for long periods of time. Sustainability, particularly financial, is also an issue compounded by the difficult of finding a market for the centre's products. Lastly, proper evaluation of the project's impact is difficult as there is no current follow-up component after women return home.

N'Gouma and Ouro Ali "to defeat the fistula with us the obstacles" (Courtesy Ibrahima Sankare – Delta Survie)



No of women hosted in rehabilitation centre	1,146
Francs given to women as rehabilitation funds	8,000,000 CFA
Materials disributed to women	10 sewing machines, two carts
Training given in: jewelry, soap, bogolan, dyeing, gardening, sewing, managing small and medium enterprises etc.	677
Members of village committees to monitor fistula	490 trained in 70 villages
Number of people including administrative, political, and religious factions sensitized and informed about the fistula, its prevention and medical care and socio-economics in and outside of Mali	310,451

# 6.4.3 **Fistula Training and Rehabilitation Centre, Bangladesh** <sup>(37,99)</sup>

The Fistula Training and Rehabilitation Centre, linked to the National Fistula Centre at Dhaka Medical College Hospital (DMCH), is managed by the national NGO, Bangladesh Women's Health Coalition, and was established in 2006 with support from the UNFPA. It developed out of the recognition that some patients who were not fully cured and those awaiting surgery stayed in the hospital for very long periods of time. Informal education started for the women with the aid of a gynecologist and one volunteer. This initiative was greeted with such great enthusiasm that in 2005, the hospital authority provided, on request, an unused room to provide space for a livelihood and life-skills training programme.



Its goal is to empower the cured fistula patients to reintegrate and rehabilitate into society thereby improving their social, economic and psychological conditions. To this end, it aims to:

- Provide psychosocial counselling for confidence building, decision-making and mental recovery.
- Impart a need-based customized training in IGAs for economical solvency and selfreliance, and to assist cured fistula patients in restoring their social acceptance.
- Create a cadre of Community Fistula Advocates (CFA) for mass sensitization and community mobilization for eradication of obstetric fistula from the society.
- Create mass awareness in the community on the "Campaign to end obstetric fistula" in Bangladesh.

It employs both a residential- and community-based approach and its target beneficiaries are poor fistula patients who are divorced, separated, or deprived of family support. Fistula-treated patients who are willing to take IGA & vocational training or wait (for those fistula patients who are to undergo treatment from DMCH) are also selected. Once cured and patients have successfully completed the formal training workshop, they receive a certificate and are provided with training materials (e.g, sewing machines, animals, vegetable seeds, bakery items, etc.) with a one-off working capital grant.

It is the only initiative in the country that is strongly focused on rehabilitating cured fistula survivors in their own community, with a long-term vision of developing them as ambassadors in the community – as Community Fistula Advocates (CFA). Follow-up is provided to women when they return home to facilitate their reintegration into their families and communities. It is also a way to identify any vocational or literacy skills needing reinforcement, or any issues requiring additional support, such as counselling the family or community leaders to ensure they understand the importance of their women gaining access to credit and income-generating activities through the local agricultural and social welfare offices. In addition, some former obstetric fistula clients are trained to become community fistula advocates (CFAs) so that as well as being taught in IGAs, they are also coached to become communicators, ambassadors, and peer educators, that carry out sensitization and health education on prevention, treatment, and also some limited patient referrals. In the future, there is a potential to build upon the CFAs to help them become the community-based trainers of newly repaired women.

Training in animal husbandry, Bangladesh. (Courtesy Roushon Ara Begum, UNFPA.)



There are currently eight full-time and four part-time staff who manage the 28-bed capacity accommodation centre, three training rooms and the counselling and administrative rooms. Up until June 2009, 235 women have been rehabilitated. Although currently open exclusively to obstetric fistula patients, the fistula programme was exploring the possibility of referring obstetric fistula patients to centres that are receiving women victims of gender-based violence.

#### Performance of Centre from November, 2007 to July, 2009

Description	Number
Fistula patients admitted at training & rehabilitation centre	235
Number of operated fistula patients at centre level	215
Re-admission/folllow-up visit	77
Link-up with microcredit & micro-entrepreneurs	80
<ul> <li>Link-up with different service centres</li> <li>Upazilla Agriculture Office</li> <li>Upazilla Veterinary Office</li> <li>Upazilla Health Complex</li> </ul>	56 7 149
Four Categories of Training (Functional Education, Tailoring, Agriculture, Bakery)	As per need

# 6.4.4 **Dimol, Niger**<sup>(10,7,87)</sup>

"To cure a woman, you must first treat her psychologically: you make her at ease with other women. She needs to socialize with other women especially if she has been isolated," "(at Dimol) she is given a sheet, and bed and realizes her value. She cooks with other women."

Salamatou Traoré, a nurse and midwife, founded Dimol, an NGO based in the capital of Niamey which addresses the health, social and long-term economic needs of Nigerien women who have suffered an obstetric fistula. Salamatou Traoré founded Dimol after finding that many women with fistula, even those successfully repaired, opted to reside near health facilities due to the exclusion from their communities. To relieve these centres and allow these women to become actresses of development, Dimol – a word meaning "dignity" in the local Peul language – was set up in 1998. It has a cyclic process of reintegration, beginning from where the woman is found (often places near health facilities where they have taken refuge away from stigmatization and marginalization) and ending in reintegration into their communities.

After much research to determine who the women were, why they were excluded and by whom, as well as what they needed to reintegrate into their community, a project was developed that included several components. The first phase comprised of interviews with fistula survivors to establish their origins, where fistula was contracted, history of the condition etc. If their fistula was unrepaired, women were then referred to a health care facility for treatment after which they receive counselling to educate them on the causes and consequences in order to prepare them for return to their communities. Dimol provides respite care before and after surgery, and trains women to bring knowledge of health and hygiene, plus income-generating skills such as soap-making, sewing and embroidery back to their villages.

A sum of around 25,000 FCFA (\$50) was given to women to carry out the income-generating activity she learned at the hospital with the help of partners such as UNICEF, and transportation costs were paid to the woman for her return home. After 12 months, the initial results from the project were disappointing, with nine out of 21 women that went through the programme reappearing at the hospital in Niamey. In response to these findings, another component was added to the project – accompanied reintegration. A team composed of a doctor, a social worker and a representative from Dimol accompanies the treated woman to her village. Because this involved additional costs, Dimol developed advocacy strategies to convince its partners, such as the network to eradicate fistula in Niger and the UNFPA, to join its new approach.

During the accompanied visit, the team conducts meetings with her husband, family, village leaders, community health care personnel, and any significant others on the nature of fistula, and instructions for postoperative care. The team also works with the woman and her family to plan for a return visit after six months of sexual abstinence, for a medical examination and to provide contraception for six months. Due to advocacy, caesareans are provided free to all women who have undergone fistula repair to ensure against recurrence of fistula. Dimol may also conduct follow-up missions to the village.

To foster reintegration within the community and prevent the woman from returning to the facility, various methods of communication such as video interviews with survivors and community sensitization campaigns are used. These help to educate players in the community on topics such as early marriage, the importance of antenatal care and skilled attendance at birth, schooling for young girls and the causes and consequences of obstetric fistula. Groups in the community such as fistula survivors, youth, women, spouses, neighbors are actively involved in these reintegration activities.

Some constraints have hindered the process, such as road impassability, women becoming pregnant again too early, and false information. However, overall, results have been positive. In 2004, none of the 59 women that benefited from accompanied reintegration have returned to the facility in Niamey. In total, up until 2005, 101 cured women were reintegrated due to community acceptance. The 62 who were unaccompanied home had nine had no recurrence.

Some lessons learned include: realizing that women do not want it known where they have been, such that Dimol uses a low-entry technique that is widely accepted in Niger. In addition, it has been found that some women do not want to leave the hospital after having stayed there for one time. The long stay had a negative effect on women: they lose their social references, feel safer in the hospital and organize their lives around it (receiving gifts, and engaging in prostitution, etc.)

# 6.4.5 Kissidougou Central Hospital, Guinea (100,101)

Since October 2005, Engender Health (EH) has supported Kissidougou District Hospital (KDH) in the forest region of Guinea to provide reintegration of fistula patients into their communities. KDH works closely with the UDC – (urban development commune, consisting of the mayor and his council) to improve community and local government involvement in reintegration of women living with obstetric fistula. The UDC provides funds to rent a waiting home for fistula patients, near the hospital, where they can wait for treatment and convalesce after surgery and this is where reintegration begins.

Patients come to the waiting home approximately two weeks before surgery for preparatory testing and receive physical and psychosocial support by being welcomed into a non-judgmental community of women with whom they can identify. Health education is also given where she learns about the causes of fistula, how long she must abstain from sexual activity after surgery, family planning, how to prevent re-injury and the need for caesarean section in subsequent pregnancies. During a woman's stay at the waiting home, a program officer provides an orientation to public speaking and interpersonal communication with additional guidance given to women who are skilled communicators. After returning to their communities, many of these women use social events, such as weddings, to raise community awareness about the causes of fistula, how to prevent fistula and the availability of treatment. From July 2008 through March 2010, 72 (53%) of 137 women who had stayed at the waiting home conducted at least one awareness session in their communities.

Funding is not currently available to support other types of skill-building or income-generating activities in the waiting home, even though it's recognized that such activities would further facilitate reintegration. The project instead plans to partner with community organizations and other elements of civil society to develop skill-building activities for patients.

Some patients face long recovery periods, while others are financially unable to go home and then return for their three-month postoperative check-up. In addition, it has been suggested that one should not assume that treated women would wish to return to their community of origin given the stigma. Therefore, the outcome of reintegration should be stated as "reintegration into social life" without defining a specific community. Thus, during 2007 and 2008, the UDC, in collaboration with the Ministry of Social Affairs and Women's Promotion, began implementing the intervention of social immersion with host families to support reintegration of fistula patients. In this process women are invited to spend one to three weeks right after their surgical repair socially immersed in host families who provide residences and support for them after surgery or between procedures. A waiting home coordinator identifies the families and arranges for patient placements. Several families near the repair facilities in Kissidougou and Labe kindly volunteered. Host families facilitate reintegration by providing transitional experiences that support women before they return home. Many women who have experienced marked social isolation, sometimes for years, and have undergone a profound emotional decline are said to find themselves suddenly in a supportive, caring environment and accepted by the community. They can once again participate in normal family activities such as cooking and attend social events like weddings to the extent to which is they are comfortable. Also, because the families make it possible for women to extend their stays at the fistula repair centre, women benefit from continued postoperative care. During the social immersion period, healed women conduct community awareness campaigns around social events (such as marriages and naming ceremonies). They also use rural radio to speak of their stories and communicate relevant messages to communities. The host family initiative began in March 2008 and since then, through to March 2010, 137 of 639 fistula care patients stayed with a host family.

#### Lessons learned from the social immersion approach:

1. Fistula survivors who participate in the social immersion program demonstrate improved confidence and regained self-esteem.

2. An effective fistula care program should go beyond urinary continence to address emotional and psychosocial "continence"

Social immersion in Guinea. (Courtesy of Moustapha Diallo, Engender Health.)



Her name is Fatoumata Lamarana Barry. She is 32 years old. She was married at 14 years old in a very remote village where tradition is the ultimate reference. She accepted the marriage in the name of tradition, so she found herself in a world of adults without any transition. This was catastrophic for her. Following a long (2 days) and hard labour, she lost her child and found she was unable to hold her urine. Shame engulfed her. She was abandoned by her husband. Her friends walked away from her and her family isolated her. She lived alone for 18 years. Then one day, she learned that she could be treated at the regional maternity of Labé. She went there and was treated successfully. Fatoumata Lamarana said: "Isolated for 18 years, I thought I had become an animal. I thought so even when I was healed. I recovered my entire health after my stay in the Bah's family".

Today, Fatoumata Lamarana is smiling again. Her friends celebrate the return of Fatoumata Lamarana Barry at her native village.



Mariama was married at 13 years; her father forced her to marry an old man who already had two wives. One year later, she found out, as a consequence of prolonged labour, that she had acquired an obstetric fistula. She was abandoned by her husband, her friends and even her family. For 10 years she was isolated and excluded from social events in the village. She lost her smile. She had a successful surgical repair at the regional hospital of Labe, but was still suffering from emotional decline. After one week of social immersion, Mariama has recovered her smile; she has been totally adopted by her host family as shown by this picture.

Social immersion in Guinea. (Courtesy of Moustapha Diallo, Engender Health.)

# 6.4.6 **Fistula Pre-repair Centre Model in Amhara Region, Ethiopia** (70,102)

In 2005, the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital (AAFH) opened its first regional fistula repair hospital, the 44-bed Bahir Dar Hamlin Fistula Hospital (BDHFH), in the Amhara Region. To reach more women with fistula, 3 of the 179 health centres in the Amhara Region were identified to become pre-repair centres for the BDHFH. Centres are staffed by fistula mentors, who help identify potential fistula repair patients, screen women for fistula repair, provide rehabilitation and relevant pre-surgery treatment to patients (to enhance their psychological readiness and improve their health status), and support reintegration after surgery. Fistula mentors meet clients in the health centre waiting areas and conduct health education sessions on a wide variety of topics.

Once a woman reaches a pre-repair centre, she receives a package of essential services, including a physical examination to determine the cause of her incontinence. Women diagnosed with fistula of more than three months duration are referred to BDHFH for surgical repair. Women who have had fistula fewer than three months are catheterized, evaluated, and treated for incidental problems, discharged, and then scheduled to return for re-evaluation after the three-month period has elapsed; if necessary, the women are referred for surgery.

All women are counseled about what caused the fistula and what to do to prevent it from occurring again, family planning, HIV, and sexual relations after surgery. They are also counseled that they may not be cured with the first surgery. Patients generally stay at the centre for 5–14 days, depending on the degree of rehabilitation required to improve their readiness for surgery, as well as on the availability of a surgeon and a bed at BDHFH. Women are then transferred to BDHFH for repair and generally remain for 2–7 days prior to surgery and for two weeks after surgery. The BDHFH nursing staff report that women who have had care at the centre arrive at the hospital cleaner, educated about the procedures, healthier, and more psychologically prepared for surgery. Former patients who serve as nurse-aides also provide valuable psychological support.

When ready for discharge, the patient returns to the pre-repair centre for post-repair care (lasting from one day to one week). The patient is again counseled on family planning, HIV, future pregnancies. She is advised to wait two years before becoming pregnant again, to get early antenatal care, to deliver at a hospital, and the need to abstain from sex for three months. There is also provision of literacy training to the women, whilst they are recuperating from surgery. As most can't read or write they are provided with portable audio players to provide them instruction on safe motherhood and what they need to do to be ambassadors for safe motherhood in their villages.

A patient card is given to all women on discharge, indicating the outcome of her surgery. She is transported back to her community, where she is encouraged to become an advocate for fistula prevention and care. The mentor will visit her monthly for six months, then quarterly, to assess her physical status and social reintegration. The centre organizes transportation back to BDHFH for a routine six-month post-surgery check-up. As the centre is in a rural area, much closer to where the people live, postoperative follow-up is more likely to be achieved.

About two thirds of women come back for follow-up and have a structured questionnaire administered. This covers things specific to the surgery and the outcomes thereof, but also includes questions about whether they have regained normality in their life at home –with questions related to social interaction, working ability, marital status, sexual intercourse, menstruation and subsequent pregnancies.

A ten-point Likert scale is used to assess the overall impact of fistula repair on quality of life; women are asked to grade impact on a scale of: as much worse, worse, slightly worse, a little worse, no different, a little improved, slightly improved, moderately improved, greatly improved and completely cured. Results show that several have started to go to school in their villages after the introduction to education that they received as part of the programme.

Before the operation, almost all were not working, but after the operation, 68% were back at work. If they weren't, it was largely because they weren't completely dry, or were waiting for permission from the hospital to return to work. Before the operation, only 15% were attending the market, social gatherings, church or mosque, increasing to 78.8% after, but only if completely cured. There have been some remarriages, but not many. If they were cured, 41% had resumed sexual relations, falling to just 21% if they still had some degree of incontinence, even if the fistula was closed. On a scale of 1to10, rating the impact the fistula repair had on improving their quality of life, the vast majority scored 8-10 (i.e., at least improved and maximum – completely improved).

When patients become pregnant again, they are encouraged to return to the hospital and wait for a safe (caesarean) delivery –currently thought to be the safest mode of delivery following fistula repair. The pregnant ladies in the ward, and those who have delivered, come with their babies to the education classes and have group discussions with the fistula patients about the possibilities of coming back for their next pregnancy and how to ensure they get a live child. The hospital has had nearly 200 deliveries over the last few years and there have been no fistula recurrences. During the same time span, nearly 40 women have returned after trying to have their babies back in their villages. All the women lost the babies and all had a repeat fistula.

In summary between July 2006 and September 2009, a total of 811 women were screened for fistula at the three pre-repair units and the same patterns have recurred. If they are cured (i.e. dry), they return back to their normal lives, if they are not, then they have problems.

# 6.4.7 Trampled Rose (85)

The Trampled Rose Centre is a non-governmental, non-profit organization that was established in June 2005 to support women with obstetric fistula. It started as a help for the Hamlin Fistula Hospital but they believed their training gives the women "unrealistic hope for the future" so the centre now works independently with the help of the local regions who love the program. The centre functions by using key informants with proper knowledge of areas where early marriage is rampant to identify and locate women with fistula. They are then provided with free vehicle transportation to the centre where they are provided with all the available pre-treatment psychosocial therapies before being admitted for medical treatment to an assigned private hospital.

Once the fistula is treated, the women are relocated back to the centre and offered income-generating skills training and rehabilitation programs. Trampled Rose focuses on literacy and math skills. The women are quickly encouraged to learn how to read 180 words on their first week with the centre so they are quickly encouraged. They then learn at least three sellable skills depending upon the area they are from (the women themselves choose what they want to learn.) The centre's goal is literacy and a business plan they can implement when they leave. To date, 87 women have graduated from the program. The follow-up has been weak but the centre has learned some hard lessons and is writing the follow-up into the next project.

The program comprises three very intense months and the centre can handle 40 women in each group. It started with a year-long program but after that much time, the women did not want to return home (the Ethiopian government strongly prefers they return home). The centre works with the Amhara Development Association to find women in the worst cases. Presently the centre is facilitating interest-free microloans to the treated and rehabilitated patients so that they can become economically independent and reintegrate more successfully back into the community as productive citizens.

Specifically the program targets incurable women but the centre also helps those that have been cured but have trouble living on their own because the community is not as welcoming as may have been expected. The centre also provides surgeries if it comes across women who have been labelled incurable but actually have a chance to be cured. The number one graduate from their last group was a woman who had been leaking for 13 years after her last surgery. She is now cured, literate (second grade level is the goal) and is starting a business selling sambusa and taking in ironing for her village.

# 6.5 Challenges and Considerations in Social Reintegration

Certain aspects of the interventions used in social reintegration may unwittingly cause social disintegration rather than reintegration by inadvertently exacerbating the situation of the woman, despite best intentions.

# 6.5.1 **Incurable women and unsuccessful operations**

The term "fistula survivor" is commonly used. However, during the national or international strategies of how to end fistula, the true fistula survivors are usually forgotten (103). The incurable women whose fistulas are too complex to repair are the women who really survive the effects of fistula. The challenges they face are easily gauged from the numerous reports and studies looking at women's experiences of having fistula (5,6,7,11-17,50-53,66). Their permanent incontinence, and the odour and discomfort it produces cause social outcasts. The stigma and shame lead to self-isolation in their homes and being banned from social activities, such as jobs or socially mandated roles such as mother and wife. They may then face an escalation of community mistreatment after unsuccessful repair attempts.

Without being cured, they commonly spend the remaining years of their lives in shame and isolation, literally waiting to die. In the true definition of the word, they survive, but they need a lot of support to rebuild their lives. This is a challenge, as many see reintegration as returning women to their communities, which often is not easy to achieve with these women, due to the medical, logistical, ethical and social challenges that are posed (1,31,41,93). So where do they go? What happens to them? What services do they need?

Some recommend some form of a urinary diversion operation. However, while it would seem logical that with a diversion, they may be better off, there is little objective evidence on which to base decisions on the practicality of performing urinary diversion, as all the operations have implications for social reintegration (104,105).

The ileal conduit, for instance, involves wearing a urostomy bag for life. Women may be completely dry but because bags may be difficult to obtain in a developing-country setting and can be only be obtained from the hospital, women cannot return to their homes in remote areas. In Addis, this problem has been partly overcome by providing a separate village not far from the hospital where they can live. However, "whether they are entirely happy with this situation is an open question." (106) Now that a number of outreach centres have been set up in and around Addis, it may be possible for some patients to return home and obtain supplies of bags locally (70,102).

In the Mitrofanoff procedure, self-catheterization is needed. Although women with such an operation can have a good quality of life, there is a significant incidence of problems with stenosis and difficult catheterization which can be disastrous if the woman is away from skilled help. Some women may prefer to continue to leak, rather than having to be dependent on a medical facility for the rest of their lives. For instance, in one study a woman had urinary retention and despite being dry with continuing intermittent catheterization, claimed that she had been better off being continually incontinent with her VVF, rather than self-catheterizing but being dry (54).

More commonly the Mainz II pouch, where urine is diverted into the large intestine, is used as it is said to make the woman dry by day and often at night (107). However, while the quality of life may be good, there is risk of morbidity such as ureteral stenosis, increased risk of secondary malignancy, and chronic pyelonephritis leading to long-term renal failure. The latter being the cause of 2 deaths in a series of 37 women offered diversion in East Africa (108). As a result, women may be unable to reintegrate into their communities as they have to live close to the hospital to ensure that they receive adequate follow-up to detect any short- and long-term complications which may arise.

This is difficult to achieve for the significant number of women with fistula, especially those from the rural areas; many do not attend. In addition, as the woman has to pass urine though the rectum for the rest of her life this may not be socially acceptable in some communities and seen merely as moving the fistula to another part of the body. The end result being that the woman may be even more stigmatized in the local culture than the original injury (109)! One woman described being offered a diversion as "now I will be like the chicken – urinating and shitting from the same place!" (103)

These issues require that women be counselled extensively before they are offered any form of irreversible diversion which may be acceptable to the surgeon but not the woman, especially if it impedes her social reintegration (106). Moreover, it seems there are usually no specific or standardized criteria to decide who to offer diversion – decisions being based on experience (108). It also needs to be clear that the woman is truly inoperable and that she understands the implication of what having the operation will do to her social well-being. Some women prefer to remain incontinent once they are fully informed, especially once they are aware of the importance of follow-up and what impact not returning can have on their long-term health (103).

Incurable cases are said to be the ones most in need of intensified physical, psychological and vocational capacity building to enhance their return to their community and help them become economically stable (1,29,41,101,103,110). To help with this, the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital, in 2000, created the Desta Mender "self-help" village, in recognition that not all women will be able to reintegrate themselves into the communities they came from. In the village, there is provision of long-term accommodation for around 50 long-term residents.

Reintegration and rehabilitation are through training activities such as poultry care, hospitality and farming, where women can grow vegetables and care for livestock. The farm is an integral part of the rehabilitation process, encouraging women to engage in productive activities and thereby regain their sense of self-worth. In addition, most of the women there attend school and are educated in microbusiness (e.g. selling their produce at the local markets). Some women have established small, successful businesses that have enabled them to move out of Desta Mender to nearby towns and return to receive medical care or visit friends.

In addition, the opening of several mini-hospitals in rural areas means that some women can now move to live closer to family and visit a mini-hospital for medical supplies and checkups. This way, the hospital seeks to help even the most severely injured women to "become citizens of the world again" and where possible, living independently as close as possible to their own community (111).

# CASE: Fistula Foundation Nigeria–Reintegrating the women with an incurable fistula <sup>(23,110)</sup>

Fistula Foundation Nigeria (FFNIG) is an NGO based in Kano Northern Nigeria with expertise in social reintegration activities and advocacy. Founded by Musa Isa who has worked since 1987 with women with fistula, FFNIG complements the existing medical and surgical work being done in Northern Nigeria by Professor Kees Waaldijk and his team in various hospitals, by providing women with fistula the necessary psychological and other support required to take the steps to return to their communities.

Women who present to the various hospitals, and the Kwalli rehabilitation centre, are clerked in and counselled to identify their needs, such as psychosocial counselling, rehabilitation services, and empowerment training by vocational skills acquisition (sewing, soap making, agriculture etc). For most, the only thing they request, in order to return home, is surgical intervention which is arranged as soon as possible. Continuous daily counselling also identifies those left in a bad social situation such as divorce, and rejection, or suffering from psychiatric conditions because of their fistula status. The scope of its reintegration activities also extends to community mobilization and behaviour change communication activities to prevent further cases from developing.

Central to these activities is the training of women with obstetric fistula, to become community educators so that they may educate the community on the causes of obstetric fistula, to reduce stigmatization and all forms of isolation from family and the community, and mobilize the community, especially the men and community leaders to seek surgical care and reintegration for their women. There is also extensive community outreach with tracing of relatives, escorting the women back home and facilitated reunification. In most cases, these women are reintegrated with their communities. In other cases, especially where repairs are not completely effective, they need to develop new community systems to cope with the problem.

The Fistula Foundation Nigeria is unique, in that it specifically targets and helps women that are incurable, and has built up specialist expertise in reintegrating these women back into their own communities. It has an up-to-date record of irreparable women in Kano, Katsina, Zaria and Abakaliki states.

To investigate the correlation and impact of an incurable obstetric fistula on a woman's psychosocial well-being, a sub-audit was done of 182 of the 582 women on its database in the state of Kano. The ages ranged from 17 to 68 years, with most of them primiparous (76%). Women had been leaking anywhere from nine months to 48 years and had presented for multiple repairs in bid to cure their incontinence. Because of their leaking, their families and communities viewed them as disabled and defective, which often resulted in divorce. (**Table 5**)

The data also suggest the need to look at what makes a woman incurable, as what is deemed impossible to repair in one surgeon's hands may not be so in another. And the wrong label of incurability exposes women to the risk of invasive procedures such as urinary diversion which may serve to disintegrate rather than reintegrate as stated above. In this series two women who were given a diagnosis of incurability were operated on by a master fistula surgeon and subsequently made continent. However, they still needed intensive reintegration work due to the length of time that they were stigmatized for (5 and 12 years, respectively).

Many women were found to have had an incurable fistula for years and this was been found to be a function of health providers' unwillingness to definitively tell them of their incurable status. This may be partly because some feel that perhaps the women maybe incurable in their hands but not in others. There were reports of women who were told they were incurable only to be cured after many years by skilled master surgeons. Others because there is no formal definition of what makes a woman incurable. As a result many women live in or around the hospital surroundings in the hope that they may one day meet a cure, exposing them to the risks of multiple repair attempts and the law of diminishing returns in achieving a successful repair (63). The length of time they then spend away from their communities poses a real challenge to their reintegration and even to their psychological status. Some were desperate when the irreparable nature of their condition became apparent with over 50% (118) of the women diagnosed with depression. One woman was severely depressed because her mother, who also had an incurable fistula, had died from it. She, along with four others, were in psychiatric institutions.

In some cases, women are reintegrated with their communities and back into their homes with facilitation by the FFNIG. This was found to be easier if they had previous living children – 11 out of 15 women with living children still living with their husbands. In addition, the few women who were educated from primary school level and above (4 women) were also living at home. In most cases however, women needed to develop new community systems to cope with the problem and chief among these were training in income-generating skills.

Since 2002, 136 irreparable fistula women have been trained in intensive skills acquisitions in different trades, with the aid of grants from the Irish Government and Australian High Commission in 2010. In addition, 200 cured women have been given skills acquisition materials after completing an intensive two-week training. A total of 78 obstetric fistula women who were divorced have reconciled with their husbands after counselling and visits to their home communities. Eighteen fistula women who had psychiatric problems are doing well after being taken to receive care at the local psychiatric hospital although four are still currently in hospital.

Another new initiative called the Jika pad (Jika means 'to soak' in the local language Hausa) has been developed by Dr. Esegbona to help women live and socialize despite being incontinent. Based on work with the incurable women in the FFNIG network, as well as on questioning as part of the audit, the biggest challenge facing most women was how to keep themselves dry so that they could undertake social activities. All incontinent women were using self-made pads from rags ("rugs"), towels and wrappers which they wrapped/rolled into a bundle, and placed between their legs and held in place with knickers or a plastic sheet. Pad changes ranged from 4 times (23 women) to 10-12 times (112 women) per day. The worst problem with the pads for most women was the smell. Close to 90% (175 women) cited having to spend more than 40% of their daily income and 1-2 hours a day on washing the pads in order to have enough for the following day, and to be able to remove the smell from them. Substances like bleach were used daily to help with this problem but this was cited to cause rashes and infections on their skins and thighs (155 women) because it hardened the rags; making them scratchy when they walked.

Another way to cope with the leakage was to drink less so that they will urinate less often (132). Controlling the urine was worse at night because the urge to urinate came more frequently, and the leak would rush to the woman's back (98 women), causing rashes.

The reusable Jika pad is made of 3 layers – a bottom waterproof layer topped by an absorbent antibacterial non-odour retaining core. The top layer is a soft material that wicks the moisture away from the woman's skin so that she feels dry and less prone to rashes. Work is underway to supply these reusable pads to all women with an incurable fistula in the developing world, and to use them as a meaningful tool in reintegration by teaching incurable women how to produce and market them not just as an incontinence product to other women with fistula waiting surgery, but also as menstrual pads.

The Jika pad



Women in Delta Survie Reintegration centre, Mali with Jika pads



Parity	Nil One Two Three Four Five Six	155 10 7 5 3 1 1
Duration of fistula	1-5 years 6-10 years 11– 20 years 21-40 years > 41 years	17 39 96 25 5
Number of attempts at repair	Two attempts Three attempts Four attempts Five Attempts 6-8 attempts 14 attempts	58 54 42 17 10 1
Marital status	Divorced Married Remarried Separated	166 10 3 3
Residence	Living in hospital/surroundings Living alone Living at home Living with parents	131 33 17 1
Source of support	Aggressive begging Remarried Food selling Empowered by FFN Nanny Selling second hand clothes Civil Servant Parents Knitting Clinical support worker Housemaid Petty trading In psychiatric hospital	133 2 17 3 10 2 2 1 2 2 3 4 1
Reasons given for psychological disturbance	Incontinence Bahanya Thinking about the cause Stigma/rejection by family "Doctors don't tell diagnosis" No more help	141 98 67 171 45 158

# **TABLE 5** The Socio-demographics of 182 Women with an Incurable Fistula in Northern Nigeria

# 6.5.2 Family planning

The fistula patient is frequently cited as young women or adolescent girls who have developed fistula during the first pregnancy and have had their sexual health needs and basic health rights transcended (6).6 As such, it has been suggested that family planning be put in place as part of a reintegration package to help avoid the health effects of early childbearing until the woman is fully healed or to stop childbearing altogether if they so desire (1).

However, care should be taken not to push family planning to the extent that disintegration from her community occurs, as she may not desire family planning if her only pregnancy resulted in the fistula and a stillborn child, and her best hope of being accepted is to bear children again. Studies showing that an overwhelming majority of women are in their childbearing years and have experienced a stillbirth (up to 98% in some surveys) usually in their first pregnancy and then may experience secondary sub-fertility (54,65,59). Such childlessness has a major social impact in societies where a woman's status is largely determined by her reproductive capacity (18). In many African communities, a childless woman is unable to attain adult status, affecting their confidence, dignity and mental well-being (3). As such, for most rural women, sex and childbearing is a means of social survival (4). It is reasonable to expect therefore, that an overwhelming proportion of women will want to get pregnant soon, since many studies show that family life is the most important factor for attaining social status.

One study for instance, found that many women experienced the fistula as a direct assault on their ability to fulfill social expectations of them as women, wives and mothers (55). In another, 32% of the women stated that they desired more children (66). It is also relevant that in the same study, none of the women, with three or more children before developing a fistula, were divorced by their husbands. Studies have also shown that childlessness is one of the major reasons for divorce and that women are blamed for being childless in most cases. This is in line with another study where to be married was the wish for all, especially if they were childless, as with marriage children will come reduction in mockery and rejection and confirmation of their social status (50). In another in which midwives administered structured questionnaires to samples of women living with fistula or with fistula repaired, almost half of the 82 women studied wanted another baby in the future; 48% of them within the next two years (53). Moreover, women in Mozambique spoke of great pressure to become pregnant again after surgical treatment (6). Even with an incurable fistula, a woman still wants more children-11 women in one study conceived again, even whilst still leaking, in a bid to stay married (110). In another report, a 32-year-old woman who had lived with an irreparable urinary fistula for 15 years, after being told about the medical complexities of her condition, proclaimed that her first concern was whether she could get pregnant (105).

On the other hand, family planning may have a role since many patients suffer from fistula recurrences. For instance, during the UNFPA fistula fortnight in Nigeria, close to 50% of the women treated were repeat cases (101). Women express concern about conceiving again because of fears the condition might reoccur (50). Additionally, it has been noted that the policies and programs addressing fistula need to expand beyond the widely held assumption that fistula predominantly affects very young women on their first pregnancy. As studies have shown how fistula can affect women who have had "normal" deliveries before (14). One study was conducted to understand the dimensions of fistula and its related social vulnerability through the experiences and views of girls and women living with fistula. The study found that it affects girls and women, not just during the first pregnancy but in later pregnancies as well; with fistula observed in about half of the women in their second or higher pregnancy (11). The median age at which women in the study developed a fistula was 23 years old and fewer than half of the women were 19 or younger when the fistula occurred. Similar findings have been found elsewhere, such as in a retrospective cross-sectional study comparing the characteristics of 259 women with obstetric fistula (80). In this study, the median age at marriage (18 years) and fistula development (22 years) was older than usually found. In addition, though 49.0% were primiparous, 27.6% had delivered four or more children. It has been noted however, that many of these multiparous women may have no live children in some studies, due to a poor obstetric history consisting of several infant and child deaths culminating in a stillbirth and a fistula (69,110).

Therefore, family planning needs to be considered carefully, and counselling becomes very important to understand what the woman's needs and desires are. It has been made implicit in several reports that the wishes of women–a return to fertility as desired and a safe future delivery as required –are paramount in determining the success of the woman's reintegration (30,42). Especially as what constitutes family planning is not just contraceptive management but also involves fertility preservation, and management of future pregnancies (112). Current efforts, such as that by the Fistula Care Project, emphasize counselling of the individual treated woman from two perspectives: to enable women and couples to delay first births to help prevent fistula, and to help women and couples achieve a successful pregnancy post-repair by allowing the woman time to heal (113).

# 6.5.3 **Follow-up**

In order to determine the extent to which a woman treated for fistula has been reintegrated back into social life, the importance of follow-up at the community level has been stressed (93,101). However, follow-up has been indicated as a real challenge (1), as many programmes labelled as reintegration are actually reinsertion programs as defined in other fields (39), given their short-term nature and focus ranging from a few weeks to months following repair. However, this is generally inadequate to draw conclusions about things which aid her reintegration, such as continence and changes in her social situation, such as marriage and fertility rates and psychological recovery (80). Even the follow-up of patients after fistula surgery and support to their reintegration in the community has not been sufficiently addressed by the Campaign to End Fistula (37).

Follow-up is usually hampered by several things, including the fact that the taboos surrounding fistula make it very difficult for many girls and women, healed or not, to return home and for follow-up information to be gathered (1). Then there is the fact women usually live in rural remote areas far from the centres treating them (4). As such, women may not practically be able to travel the hundreds of kilometres for a check-up, as transport is often difficult and the associated costs mitigate against return to hospital. In recognition of this, several satellite centres have been opened in the rural areas where women live, like the Bahardir Hospital in Northern Ethiopia, so that postoperative follow-up is more likely to be achieved (54). The hospital also provides reimbursement of transport costs and

additional expenses which may also act as further incentive. Nevertheless, it should be recognized that their follow-up rate is only 62%, and it is women with residual symptoms at the time of discharge that are twice as likely to attend for follow-up as those free from symptoms.

The advantage of having a follow-up as a key component of a social reintegration strategy is that it enables several things. Firstly, it enables monitoring and evaluation of centres to elucidate the determinants and correlates of success and failure, including the strategies women use to reintegrate. These will help one to understand the impact of any strategy so that subsequent improvements and adjustments may be carried out to programmatic design (6,88,109,112). This also ensures that meaningful patient-oriented indicators are gathered to determine the success of reintegration rather than just the organizationally focused ones (Table 1) (e.g. the number of organizations providing reintegration services) (101). Some reintegration programmes that have follow-up as a key component like DIMOL and FORWARD have established monitoring and evaluation systems designed to follow women with fistula who are repaired. Assisting with her reintegration and checking health, reproductive, demographic, and socioeconomic status on a three- to six-month basis for at least a year. This helps circumvent the situation where women fail to come for follow-up appointments due to poverty and distance. This allows them understand the issues women face when returning to their communities so that they can learn lessons that better prepare other women for reintegration. The system also helps identify those women who were not successfully repaired so that they can receive targeted help.

Then there is the fact that though the wealth of evidence points to the surgical repair being the biggest factor in ensuring successful reintegration happens, how strong this evidence is, is hampered by inadequate long-term postoperative evaluations. A holistic reintegration programme with adequate follow-up confers the advantage of making clinical research more robust. Studies have noted their limitations in defining the long-term success of surgical operations due to missing data for many variables in the clinical database (80,114). Much of what is available have been acquired from informal studies, case reports, and on-the-ground experience, gained in the few days and weeks after repair rather than from well-designed clinical studies.

Follow-up as part of a reintegration package enables one to draw conclusions about specific questions, such as the evaluation of specific repair techniques, the obstetric outcomes in patients who become pregnant after previous fistula surgery, and an understanding of persistent incontinence after successful fistula closure (57,81). Of course, long-term follow-up is needed to assess the risk of diversion surgery (104-106,108,109). This will then provide a continuous quality improvement with the goal of optimizing the care delivered to women (112,115). There are of course resource implications (human and financial) of such follow-up for a repair facility. Many are now recognizing the importance of partnering with NGOs and civil society organizations to track down women and ensure that women and girls treated for fistula are linked with much-needed social support services.

## 6.5.4 **Resources and capacity**

A comprehensive package of reintegration with physical, psychosocial and economic support and then subsequent follow-up does not come cheap. Some of the reintegration programmes, thought to be good examples, such as the Bangladesh programme, raises fears about sustainability or replicability because of the expense. Although it was noted it could help guide less costly community-based models (37). For instance, the programme can host 30 women but some stay for long periods due to delays waiting for surgery and for medical pre-operative tests, all of which add to the cost of services. In FORWARD, the cost of the reintegration approach is \$2,300 for a 10 months' stay at the centre, an additional \$340 is needed for 12 months of follow- up and reintegration (29). However, it was felt that with adjustments, it could have the potential for replication both in a facility-based and in a community-based context.

The sheer number of fistula cases also means that to offer a full package of physical, psychological and socioeconomic interventions to every woman may be prohibitive. Demand for services maybe exceeding the program's capacity, as seen in Guinea, with space at the waiting home limited and needing to be expanded (100). Furthermore, centres that offer fistula repair carry an enormous case load and struggle to meet the overwhelming demand for even just clinical care. As such they may not have the time or be well-equipped to gather information from women on their psychosocial needs as this may place too great a burden on the staff in the facility and compromise regular surgical and/or medical care (6). Sustainability is also a challenge, because to provide reintegration services requires thought about strengthening capacity and introducing training to ensure that, over time, staff have the ability to provide services, like counseling, regularly. Clearly the issue is beyond the carrying capacity of the repair facility/hospital and for this reason, it has been suggested that implementation of reintegration efforts be done by creating linkages between repair centres and existing NGOs or organizations already working with women or in poverty reduction (101). Such linkages will facilitate the collection and reporting of information on treated women that have returned to the community.

Another way forward is that as has been suggested with traumatic fistulas (116), a Minimum Initial Service Package, or the MISP is used. The MISP is not just about kits of equipment and supplies but a coordinated set of activities executed by trained staff to respond to the reproductive health needs of populations in the early phase of a refugee situation. Similarly, with adjustments there could be a MISP developed for fistula. This could take the form of counselling as the bare minimum to understand women's needs in the reintegration process, with more tailored interventions being given to women coping with chronic incontinence and ostracized for a long time, or the incurable woman.
### 6.5.5 Who to reintegrate

" In all too many cases, ... discussion of social development is ... phrased in terms of integrating those with nothing into the mainstream, as though the groups defined as excluded are surviving in a virtual vacuum..." (39)

It has been acknowledged that there may be ethical dilemmas in providing materials or financial support to individual women with fistula in poor communities rather than as part of a community approach (39,42). Though there is no denying that for many, their social vulnerabilities are rooted in poverty, illiteracy and gender discrimination which may occur alone or in combination, they generally have this in common with all women within their often marginalized communities. As such, just targeting them with help can create significant tensions in their community. Instead of producing the intended reintegration, the gifts or cash provided can create struggle over resources which can affect family and community acceptance as observed in other fields (39). Linking up with poverty-reduction programmes may be a better way forward, by creating linkages with existing NGOs that provide community-level programs (29,101).

The challenges of reintegration into the same social regimes has also been highlighted (49) as one should not assume that treated women will wish to return to their community of origin even if healed because of long-standing stigma and ostracization (44). In addition, though some women may be desperate to return to their communities and re-establish their original life, they may feel the best survival option is to stay close to the hospital. In recognition of this, places like the AAFH have established satellite mini-fistula hospitals across the different regions of the country to provide immediate health services to returning patients who choose to reintegrate back into their village (49). Thus, it has been said that the outcome of reintegration should be stated as "reintegration into social life" without defining a specific community (101).

Another important consideration is that though community advocacy and sensitization may alleviate the stigma and taboos surrounding the causes and consequences of fistula, women may not want it known that they have had a fistula, even if cured, preferring to slip quietly back into their previous lives. Perhaps because people may not believe they have been healed (2). "The woman said that some people ridiculed her by likening a bladder to a gourd and saying "a cloth can be mended but not a gourd." As a result of this, Dimol uses the low-entry technique, having learnt from experience that women do not want it known where they have been (10). It also follows then that women may not want to publicize that they have had a fistula and advocate about community awareness.

## 6.6 Conclusions

The social reintegration of women with fistula represents a crucial process for their return into their families and communities. However, what reintegration actually means and what interventions are appropriate are best based on an understanding of the concrete needs identified by the individual woman. As women, whilst sharing a number of common experiences, they differ in their varying need for family and social support, livelihood and income generation. It is not always the case that they are abandoned by their husbands or are cut off from family, friends and daily activities, and live a life of isolation and destitution. And what an individual woman requires to return home is relative to her situational context, such as the length of time she has lived with the fistula before it is repaired. The frequent lag of time between surgery and reintegration has negative consequences for social reintegration, as women frequently remain away from their marital homes and continue to be perceived as outcasts. It also depends on to what extent her fistula repair was successful and thus, her level of continence, her ability to have sexual relations and her fertility.

Often getting her repaired as soon as possible so that she is continent is what a woman wants and is sufficient to enable her to reintegrate back into her community, though little information is available on how they achieved this. However, some women may require a triangulation of interventions, supporting health, economic independence and nullifying the psychosocial consequences of stigma that may serve to keep women isolated even once their physical condition has improved. Providing such a holistic package is resource-dependent and perhaps defining a minimum package of services, including counselling, will help to identify women in need of more targeted comprehensive interventions. Especially women who are not healed, despite surgical efforts, those who have no children, and those who have lived with fistula for a long period of time.

The importance of dedicated fistula repair centres to aid women's reintegration fulfills several aims including – providing a place for repair, a dedicated space for the women to recuperate and develop peer support, and the time to introduce her to desired reintegration services. However, often reintegration is beyond the carrying capacity of the repair centre and therefore linkages with other appropriate support agencies and NGOs, especially at the community level, may help. Such community participation goes a long way to breaking down myths that prevent reintegration. In addition, the work of CFAs to provide community-level education and peer support is a very effective method to reduce fistula occurrence and recurrence as they can educate, advise and act as role models to other women.

Many of these key issues emphasize the importance of follow-up of the post-surgical improvement in the quality of life of girls and women who have returned home. However, this is a challenge due to the expense and logistics of getting specialized staff. Evaluation of reintegration programmes are mostly confined to short-term retrospective assessments of lessons learned and best practices. There is a need for evidence about programmes that improve long-term reintegration, including the determinants and correlates of success and failure of interventions including surgery and how reintegration is linked to improving women's and communities' understanding of women's health issues. This will bring us closer to ensuring that those who are affected by fistula have the best possible chance of rebuilding their lives. Hopefully large studies such as that by John Hopkins will start to shed light on these and other questions.

## 6.7 **Recommendations**

All recommendations are based on articles with level of evidence 3 or 4. Hence all recommendations are Grade C or D.

- Social reintegration should be seen as the process by which women with obstetric fistula are helped to overcome physical, psychological, and socioeconomic challenges, freely identified by themselves. In order that their level of social functioning in communities and social networks of their choosing is enhanced, such that the risk that they will present with another fistula is minimized. (C)
- 2. Social reintegration should be seen as a series of interventions, regardless of who performs them, that focuses on making the woman part of her social fabric again, and commences from the time leaking of urine becomes manifest. (D)
- 3. The aim of social reintegration should be to break the fistula recurrence/occurrence cycle, in which the woman's physical state is inextricably connected to her mental state and her socio-economic situation. (D)
- 4. Early successful surgical repair or catheter management is likely to be the only thing needed for social reintegration if it is performed as soon as possible by a skilled surgeon, and preferably within three months of developing the fistula. As this is likely to limit the length of time she is seen as abnormal by her family or community and thus perceived as an outcast. (C)
- 5. If possible, the choice should be available for women to recuperate in a designated space, within the repair facility or nearby, rather than going home and encountering the risk of behaviours that may make it likely that a recurrence of fistula occurs, due to an exacerbating physical event such as early sexual intercourse or heavy work. Also, peer counselling is more likely to be available in this space. (D)
- 6. Surgeons should consider social reintegration not just a social tool, but also as a means of ensuring that adequate follow-up of the postsurgical improvement in quality of life is done and reported on. At a minimum, there should be a review of individually defined success of surgery and the outcomes thereof, including continence and return to fertility and/or sexual life, as desired by the woman. (D)
- 7. Culturally appropriate pre- and postoperative counselling should be incorporated into services for repair of obstetric fistula to assess the woman's knowledge about her fistula condition and its cause, what to expect in terms of treatment and recovery, and how to care for herself following repair. As this has the potential to improve the physical and mental well-being of women and can help minimize behaviours that may make it likely that a recurrence of their fistula occurs. (D)
- 8. Appropriate counselling messages about the risk factors and causes associated with fistula should be targeted at family members (including husbands) and the community, as this can help to overcome the stigma, discrimination and misconceptions surrounding the condition and enhance her community inclusion, and be an opportunity for system change so that the woman does not present with another fistula in the future. (D)

- 9. Counselling should be seen as an opportunity for health providers to understand the socioeconomic, psychological and physical experiences that are faced by girls and women living with fistula, before and after surgery, so that they may give meaningful help. This will also help to generate knowledge on social reintegration processes and will help programmes consider a broader range of outcomes for women living with fistula. (D)
- 10. Consideration should be given to reintegration assistance such as education and life skills, and encouragement of private initiative through vocational skills development and microcredit support. As long as this is freely chosen it will not keep her unduly away from her community and will help her regain or improve her previous economic status and enhance her self-sufficiency and community inclusion. (D)
- 11. Vocational skills training should be given with the aim of providing women with alternative ways to generate income, without jeopardizing her recuperation, by teaching the woman a trade which is economically viable within her community.
- 12. Whenever possible, institutional reintegration services should be integrated into existing community activities or programmes directed to empowering women (e.g. education, skills training, and income generation). (D)
- 13. Reintegration programmes should consider developing criteria determining whom to support with socioeconomic interventions as funds may be limited and fistula consequences can vary dramatically by country and region. They should also be careful not to increase the burden of stigma and therefore inadvertently impede reintegration. Of particular concern should be women who are still incontinent, those who are deemed incurable, those who have no children and those whom have lived with fistula for a long period of time. (D)
- 14. Programs should consider the potential ethical dilemmas in reintegration such as providing targeted financial support or highvalue goods to women with fistula in poor communities other than as part of a community approach. (D)
- 15. Community involvement can be scaled up by the use of motivational mobilizers in the form of women who are successfully reintegrated into their communities as this can contribute to community mobilization movements for safe motherhood, fistula case mapping, and referrals for treatment. Women should have a choice as to whether to be involved in such advocacy activities. (D)
- 16. Monitoring and evaluation should be an integral part of all reintegration programmes, to collect correlates of success and failure, and help understand sociocultural backgrounds, so that a context-specific approach can be used to design and deliver cost-effective, feasible reintegration programmes. (D)

## 6.8 References

- 1. Bringing care closer: treating fistula through surgical outreach services. A guide for programme managers. UNFPA. May 2009. [Internet] Available from: http://www.fistulanetwork.org/FistulaNetwork/?option=com\_content&task=fistula&id=27
- 2. Brief 4. Mending Lives and Recovering Livelihoods: Repair of Obstetric Fistula and Reintegration. Women's Dignity Project and EngenderHealth, 2006.
- Otoo-Oyortey N, Gexahegn-King K. Obstetric Fistula: The need for rehabilitation after repairs. Submitted for debate at the UK Parliamentary "Hearings in to Maternal Morbidity" UK. All Party Parliamentary Group on Population, Development and Reproductive Health December 8-9, 2008.
- Tafesse B, Muleta M, Woldemichael A, Aytenfesu H. Obstetric fistula and its physical, social and psychological dimension: The etiopian scenario. Acta Urológic. 2006; 23(4):25-31.
- 5. "I Am Not Dead, But I Am Not Living." Barriers to Fistula Prevention and Treatment in Kenya. Human Rights Watch July 2010. [Internet] Available from: http://www.hrw.org/reports/2010/07/15/i-am-not-dead-i-am-not-living
- 6. Living Testimony: Obstetric Fistula and Inequities in Maternal Health. (2007) United Nations Population Fund, Family Care International. [Internet] Available from: http://www.who.int/pmnch/topics/maternal/livingtestimony/en/index.html
- 7. Ghai chatou AK. Taking care of fistula patient's social reintegration. Presentation at International Fistula Ethics Meeting, Duke University, Durham, NC, Feb 2007. csmeh. mc.duke.edu/pdf/Ghaichatou.pdf
- Muleta M, Hamlin EC, Fantahun M, Kennedy RC, Tafesse B. Health and social problems encountered by treated and untreated obstetric fistula patients in rural Ethiopia. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2008;30(1):44-50.
- 9. Goh J. Vesico-vaginal fistula: more than a hole in the bladder. Aust Continence J. 2000;6(3):20–21.
- Report: Making motherhood safer by addressing obstetric fistula (OF). (2006) Johannesburg, South Africa 23-26 October. UNFPA, WHO, Government of South Africa. [Internet] Available from: http://www.endfistula.org/webdav/.../endfistula/.../south\_africa\_ october2005.pdf
- 11. Risk and resilience: Obstetric Fistula in Tanzania. Women's Dignity Project and EngenderHealth, November 2006. . [Internet] Available from: http://www.engenderhealth.org/files/pubs/maternal-health/Risk-and-Resilience-Obstetric-Fistula-in-Tanzania. pdf
- 12. Alio AP, Merrell L, Roxburgh K, Clayton HB, Marty PJ, Bomboka L, Traoré S, Salihu HM. The psychosocial impact of vesico-vaginal fistula in Niger. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2011;284(2):371-8.
- Ahmed S, Holtz SA. Social and economic consequences of obstetric fistula: life changed forever? Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007; 99 Suppl 1:S10-5.
- Sharing the Burden: Ugandan Women Speak About Obstetric Fistula. Women's Dignity Project and EngenderHealth, November 2007. [Internet] Available from: http://www.engenderhealth.org/files/pubs/localized/uganda/Sharing-the-Burden-Ugandan-Women-Speak-About-Obstetric-Fistula.pdf
- 15. Faskin GJ. Vesico-vaginal fistula and psycho-social wellbeing of women in Nigeria. (2007) MSc. Linköpings Universitet. Department of Medicine and Health Sciences. [Internet] Available from: http://liu.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2:17921
- Muleta M. Obstetric Fistulae: a retrospective study of 1210 Cases at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital.J Obstet Gynaecol. 1997; 17(1):68-70.
- 17. Roush KM. Social implications of obstetric fistula: an integrative review. J Midwifery Women's Health 2009;54(2): e21-33.
- 18. Murphy M. Social consequences of vesico-vaginal fistula in northern Nigeria. J Biosoc Sci 1981;13(2):139-50.
- 19. Wall L. Dead mothers and injured wives: The social context of maternal morbidity and mortality among the Hausa of Northern Nigeria. Stud Fam Plann 1988;29(4):341-59.
- Muleta M. Socio-demographic profile and obstetric experience of fistula patients managed at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital. Ethiop Med J 2004;42(1):9-16.

- 21. Kabir M, Iliyasu Z, Abubakar IS, Umar UI. Medico-social problems of patients with vesicovaginal fistula in Murtala Mohammed Specialist Hospital, Kano. Annals of African Medicine 2003; 2:54–7.
- 22. Ojanuga OD, Ekwempu CC. An investigation of socio- medical risk factors associated with vaginal fistula in northern Nigeria. Women Health 1999;28(3):103-16.
- 23. Mohammed R. Social reintegration is about an holistic approach. (Personal communication, October 5, 2010).
- Goh JTW, Krause HG. Chapter 9: Complications. In: Female Genital Tract Fistula. Brisbane: University of Queensland Press; 2004: p100–107
- Barot Sneha. Preempting the Need to Repair: Toward a Comprehensive U.S. Policy on Obstetric Fistula. Guttmacher Policy Review 2010; 13 (3):18–22. [Internet] Available from: http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/gpr/13/3/gpr130318.pdf
- Nielsen HS, Lindberg L, Nygaard U, Aytenfisu H, Johnston OL, Sørensen B, Rudnicki M, Crangle M, Lawson R, Duffy S. A community-based long-term follow up of women undergoing obstetric fistula repair in rural Ethiopia. BJOG 2009; 116(9):1258-64.
- 27. Williams G. The Addis Ababa fistula hospital: an holistic approach to the management of patients with vesicovaginal fistulae. Surgeon 2007; 5(1):54-7.
- 28. Goh JTW, Sloane KM, Krause HG, et al. Mental health screening in women with genital tract fistulae. BJOG 2005; 112:1328–30.
- 29. Mohammad RH. A community program for women's health and development: implications for the long-term care of women with fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007; 99 Suppl 1:S137-42.
- UNFPA. The Maternal Health Thematic Fund Annual Report 2009: Campaign to End Fistula. [Internet] Available from: http:// europe.unfpa.org/public/lang/en/europe\_pubs/pid/7622> [Accessed 4 Nov 2005].
- Ruminjo J. (Obstetric Fistula and the Challenge to Maternal Health Care Systems. IPPF Medical Bulletin 2007; 41 (4). [Internet] Available from: http://www.ippf.org/NR/rdonlyres/ADCFBC7C-9D8C-4F80-A736-20A95D6A4A0E/0/41\_04\_dec07.pdf > [Accessed 4 Nov 2005].
- 32. Ramsey K. How should social reintegration be defined? FistulaNetwork.org Open forum, June 5, 2008. [Internet] Available from: http://www.fistulanetwork.org/FistulaNetwork/?option=com\_content&task=forum&id=508> [Accessed 23 September 2010].
- 33. UNFPA. The Campaign to End Fistula 2007 Annual Report. [Internet] Available from: http://www.endfistula.com/publications. htm
- 34. Ojanuga D. Social work practice with childbirth-injured women in Nigeria. Health Soc Work 1994; 19 (2):120 -4.
- 35. Patton QM. Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc; 2002 p. 23
- Esegbona G, Isa M. Evaluating the role of the surgeon in social reintegration. A Questionnaire Survey. 3rd International Society
  of Obstetric Fistula Surgeons (ISOFS) Conference, Senegal, December 7 -9, 2010.
- Thematic Evaluation of National Programmes and UNFPA Experience in the Campaign to End Fistula . Assessment of national programmes. VOLUME II: HERA & ICRH / Final synthesis report / March 2010. [Internet] Available from: http://www.endfistula. org/UNFPA\_Fistula\_Evaluation\_VOL\_II.pdf.
- United nations Research Institute for Social Development. Social Integration: Approaches and Issues. UNRISD Briefing Paper No. 1 World Summit for Social Development. March 1994. Available from: http://www.unrisd.org/unrisd/website/document.nsf/%2 8httpPublications%29/510920DA18B35A6880256B65004C6A7B?OpenDocument
- Annan J, Patel AC. Critical Issues and Lessons in Social Reintegration: Balancing Justice, Psychological Well Being, and Community Reconciliation. Congreso Internacional de Desarme, Republica de Colombia 2009. Available from: http://www. cartagenaddr.org/literature\_press/ART\_21.pdf
- 40. Farkas M. (1996) Recovery, rehabilitation, reintegration: words vs meaning. WAPR Bulletin 8(4):6-8.
- 41. Isa M. (2010) What is in social reintegration? (Personal communication, Fistula Foundation Network, Nigeria, November 3, 2010).
- 42. Meeting Report: International Obstetric Fistula Working Group. 2006 October 11-13; Geneva, Switzerland.
- 43. Campaign to End Fistula The Year in Review Annual Report 2008. [Internet] Available from: http://www.unfpa.org/webdav/ site/global/shared/documents/publications/2009/fistula\_annual\_report\_2008.pdf (accessed March 24, 2010)

- 44. Lewis G, DeBernis L. Obstetric Fistula: Guiding Principles for Clinical Management and Programme Development. Geneva: WHO; 2006. [Internet] Available from: http://www.who.int/making\_pregnancy\_safer/publications/obstetric\_fistula.pdf
- 45. Fistula partners Meeting. Accra, Ghana. April 15-17, 2008. Engenderhealth. [Internet] Available from: http://www.fistulacare. org/pages/resources/Accra-Partners.php
- 46. Waaldijk K. The Immediate Management of Fresh Obstetric Fistulas. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004; 191(3):795-9.
- 47. Sen A. Why Health Equity? Health economics 2002;11(8):659-666.
- Nussbaum M. "Women's Bodies: Violence, Security, Capabilities" Journal of Human Development: Alternatives Economics in Action 2005;6(2):167-184.
- 49. Fenta TA. From Trauma to Rehabilitation and Reintegration: Experiences of Women Facing the Challenges of Obstetric Fistula in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. MSc Thesis 2010. International Institute of Social Studies, The Netherlands.
- 50. Blum LS, Yemweni A, Manianga C, et al. (2011) Project AXxes study report. Living with fistula: An examination of the social and cultural consequences and careseeking behavior in DR Congo. [Internet] Available from: http://www.fistulacare.org/drc-ofcp/wp-content/uploads/shared/Project-AXxes-Study-report-on-Fistula\_january-2011-english.pdf
- 51. Goitom M. (2008) Voices of Women: The Experiences of Women Survivors with Obstetric Fistula in Ethiopia. MSc. University of Calgary.
- 52. Nathan LM, Rochat CH, Grigorescue B, Banks E. Obstetric fistulae in West Africa: patient perspectives. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009;200(5):e40-2.
- 53. Warren C, Mwangi A. Obstetric Fistula: Can Community Midwives Make a Difference? Findings from four districts in Kenya. Population Council. [Internet] Available from: http://www.popcouncil.org/pdfs/Kenya\_ObstetricFistula.pdf
- 54. Browning A, Menber B. Women with obstetric fistula in Ethiopia: a 6-month follow up after surgical treatment. BJOG 2008;115:1564–1569.
- Pope R, Bangser M, Harris Requejo J. (2011) Restoring dignity: Social reintegration after obstetric fistula repair in Ukerewe, Tanzania. Glob Public Health 2011; 4:1-15.
- Bangser M, Bumodoka B, and Berege Z. A Comprehensive Approach to Vesico-Vaginal Fistula: A Project in Mwanza, Tanzania. In: M Berer & S Ravindran (Eds.), Safe Mother Initiatives: Critical Issues. London: Blackwell Science Ltd for Reproductive Health Matters; 1999.
- 57. Raassen T, Verdaasdonk E, Vierhout M. Prospective results after first-time surgery for obstetric fistulas in East African women. Int Urogynecol J. 2008;19:73–79.
- Wall L, Karshima L, Kirschner C, Arrowsmith S. The obstetric vesicovaginal fistula: Characteristics of 899 patients from Jos, Nigeria. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 2004;190:1011 -9.
- Girma Y. (2008) Obstetric Fistula in the Lives of Women: The Case of Fistula Patients Under Treatment at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital. A MSc Thesis. Addis Ababa University School of Graduate Studies.
- 60. O'Connell C. Obstetric Fistula in Mali. ISP Collection. Paper 68. 2008. [Internet] Available from: http://digitalcollections.sit.edu/ isp\_collection/68
- 61. Kelly J. Vesicovaginal fistulae. Br J Urol. 1979;51:208-10.
- 62. Hilton P, Ward A. Epidemiological and surgical aspects of urogenital fistulae: a review of 25 years' experience in southeast Nigeria. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct 1998;9(4):189–194.
- 63. Elkins TE. Surgery for the obstetric vesicovaginal fistula: A review of 100 operations in 82 patients. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1992; 170:1108–1120.
- 64. Coetzee T, Lithgow DM. Obstetric fistulae of the urinary tract. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1966;73:837–844.
- 65. Arrowsmith E, Hamlin CE, Wall LL. Obstructed labour injury complex: obstetric fistula formation and the multifaceted morbidity of maternal birth trauma in the developing world. Obstet Gynecol Surv 1996;51(9):568-74.
- 66. Yeakey MP, Chipeta E, Taulo F, Tsui AO. The lived experience of Malawian women with obstetric fistula. Cult Health Sex 2009;11(5):499-513.

- 67. Gutman RE, Dodson JL, Mostwin JL. Complications of treatment of obstetric fistula in the developing world: Gynatresia, urinary incontinence, and urinary diversion. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007; 99(1):S57-64.
- 68. Evoh NJ, Akinla O. Reproductive performance after the repair of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulae. Ann Clin Res. 1978;10(6):303-6.
- 69. Yarsabo A. Esegbona G. Waaldijk K (Unpublished). The reproductive outcomes of repaired obstetric fistula women. Zaria, Nigeria 2010.
- 70. Browning A. Social reintegration (Personal communication, September 27, 2010).
- 71. Ms. Traore Salamatou. NGO DIMOLs experience of the social rehabilitation of women victims of fistula. [Internet] niger.unfpa. org/docs/.../Réintégration%20sociale%20FVF0%20DIMOL.ppt
- 72. Browning A, Fentahun W, Goh J. The impact of surgical treatment on the mental health of women with obstetric fistula. BJOG 2007;114:1439–1441.
- Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Briggs ND, Lassey A. Urinary incontinence in the developing world: the obstetric fistula. Proceedings
  of the Second International Consultation on Urinary Incontinence, Paris, July 1–3, 2001. Committee on Urinary Incontinence
  in Developing World. [Internet] Available from: http://worldwidefistulafund.org/older-folders-050506/0LD-031606/chap12.pdf.
  Accessed November 3, 2010.
- 74. Hassan MA, Ekle BA. Vesicovaginal fistula: do the patients know the cause? Ann Afr Med. 2009;8(2):122-6.
- 75. Turan JM, Johnson K, Polan ML. Experiences of women seeking medical care for obstetric fistula in Eritrea: implications for prevention, treatment, and social reintegration. Glob Public Health 2007;2(1):64-77.
- 76. Mead S, Hilton D, Curtis L. Peer support: a theoretical perspective. Psychiatr Rehabil J. 2001; 25(2):134-41.
- 77. United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) and EngenderHealth. Obstetric fistula needsassessment report: Findings from nine African countries. [Report]. New York: United Nations Population Fund and EngenderHealth; 2003. [Internet] Available from: http://www.unfpa.org/upload/libpubfile/186filenamefistula-needsassessment.pdf
- 78. Report of fistula counseling experts' meeting. 2005. ACQUIRE Project/ Engenderhealth. March 29 30th 2005.
- 79. Johnson KA, Turan JM, Hailemariam L, Mengsteab E, Jena D, Polan ML. The role of counseling for obstetric fistula patients: lessons learned from Eritrea. Patient Educ Couns. 2010;80(2):262-5
- Holme A, Breen M, MacArthur C. Obstetric fistulae: a study of women managed at the Monze Mission Hospital, Zambia. BJOG 2007;114:1010–1017.
- 81. Waaldijk K. (2011) National VVF project Nigeria. Evaluation report XXVII. www.isofs.org
- 82. Fistula Pre-Repair Center Model in the Amhara Region of Ethiopia. EngenderHealth November 2009
- 83. Hancock B, Constantine G. Early breakdown of Fistula repair after discharge. Is it really a problem? Submitted to the International Journal of Obstetric Trauma. In press 2011.
- 84. Sankare I. The Delta Survie Skills training approach. (Personal communication email July 27, 2011).
- 85. Trampled Rose. Skills training for women with fistula. (Personal communication email, Trampled Rose, July 27, 2011).
- 86. Franca E. New Jobs and Livelihoods Get Fistula Survivors on their Feet. February 11, 2011. UNFPA [Internet] Available from: http://www.unfpa.org/public/home/news/pid/7251).
- 87. Ms. Salamatou Traore, DIMOL. Experiences of DIMOL in Niger. Report of the Africa Regional Fistula Meeting Accra, Ghana. June 29 July 1, 2004.
- Donnay F, Ramsey K. Eliminating obstetric fistula: Progress in partnerships. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics 2006; 94, 254—261.
- 89. Sambo MN. Report of evaluation of prevention, treatment and rehabilitation of Obstetric Fistula in Northern Nigeria Project (Kankara and Nasarawa LGA's). Department of Community Medicine. Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria, August 2008. Submitted to UNFPA Nigeria. nigeria.unfpa.org/pdf/evfistporjnn.pdf)
- 90. National workshop on the harmonization process of socio-economic reintegration of women with obstetric fistula. Niamey, from 28 to 30 November 2008. The National Network to End Fistula in Niger (REF).
- 91. Esegbona G. (2010). Thinking inside the box. (Unpublished)

- Ndiaye SM, Quick L, Sanda O, Niandou S. The value of community participation in disease surveillance: a case study from Niger. Health Promot. Int 2003; 18 (2):89-98.
- UNFPA Report on the Regional Conference on Obstetric Fistula and Maternal Health. Nouakchott, Mauritania. December 10-13, 2007.
- Cissoko M. Responsable de l'Unité SR, United Nations Population Fund. Bamako Mali Republic. (Personal communication email, July 28, 2011).
- 95. Mohammed R. Experiences of FORWARD in Nigeria. Report of the Africa Regional Fistula Meeting Accra, Ghana. June 29 July 1, 2004.
- Canadian International Development Agency. (2009) Dignity, compassion and a trade. [Internet] Available from: http://www. acdi-cida.gc.ca/acdi-cida/acdi-cida.nsf/eng/ANN-1223115410-MTW> [Accessed 23 July 2010]
- Sankare I. Contribution to the development of a mechanism for autonomous social for women with fistula in the region of Mopti. Proceedings of the meeting making motherhood safer by addressing obstetric fistula. Johannesburg, South Africa. October 23 – 26, 2005.
- 98. Sankaré I. Delta Survie's experience in Mali. Report of the Africa Regional Fistula Meeting Accra, Ghana. June 29 July 1, 2004.
- 99. Akhter S. The Bangladesh Reintegration Programme. (Personal communication email, May 17, 2011).
- EngenderHealth. Beyond repair: Involving communities in fistula prevention and reintegration--experience from Kissidougou, Guinea. September 2010. [Internet] Available from: http://www.fistulacare.org/pages/resources/publications/technical-briefs. php
- 101. Meeting Report: Developing a results framework for the Campaign Monitoring & Evaluation Working Group Campaign to End Fistula. April 21 22, 2005. Niamey, Niger.
- 102. Fistula Pre-Repair Center Model in the Amhara Region of Ethiopia. EngenderHealth November 2009. [Internet] Available from: http://www.fistulacare.org/pages/resources/publications/technical-briefs.php
- 103. Esegbona G (2010). The true fistula survivors incurable women with obstetric fistula. (Personal communication letter. October 4, 2009).
- 104. Arrowsmith SD. Urinary diversion in the vesico-vaginal fistula patient: general considerations regarding feasibility, safety, and follow-up. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007; 99Suppl 1:S65-8.
- Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Hancock BD. Ethical aspects of urinary diversion for women with irreparable obstetric fistulas in developing countries. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19(7):1027-30.
- Hancock B, Browning A. Chapter 10. Management of the inoperable case. In: Practical Obstetric Fistula Surgery. Royal Society of Medicine Press: London;2009. ISBN-13:978-1853157660
- Alemu MH. Mainz II pouch: continent urinary diversion, for bladder extrophy epispadia complex and irreparable VVF: a 5-year comprehensive retrospective analysis. Ethiop Med J. 2010;48:57–62.
- Morgan MA, Polan ML, Melecot HH, et al. Experience with a low-pressure colonic pouch (Mainz II) urinary diversion for irreparable vesicovaginal fistula and bladder extrophy in East Africa. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2009;20(10):1163-8.
- 109. De Ridder D, Baldani GH, Browning A, et al. Fistulas in the developing world. In: Abrams P, Cardozo L, Khoury S, Wein A, editors. Incontinence, 4th ed. Paris: Health Publications Ltd. UK; 2009. p. 1419–1458. [Internet] Available from: http://www.icsoffice. org/Publications/ICI\_4/files-book/comite-18.pdf
- 110. Musa I, Esegbona G. An audit of 182 incurable cases in Northern Nigeria. 2010. (Unpublished)
- 111. Hamlin Fistula Relief and Aid Fund. Available from: http://www.hamlinfistula.org.au/hospital/longtermcare.html
- 112. Ethical considerations for performing gynecologic surgery in low- resource settings abroad. Committee Opinion No. 466. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Obstet Gynecol. 2010;116:793–9.
- 113. Fistula Care Project Annual Report October 2008 to September 2009. February 1, 2010. [Internet] Available from: http:// www.fistulacare.org/pages/pdf/Annual\_Reports/FC%20Annual%20Report%200ct08-Sep%2009%20Final%20Exec%20 Summary%20CORRECTED%20ver%2022010.pdf

- 114. Kirschner C, Yost K, Du H, *et al.* Obstetric fistula: the ECWA Evangel VVF Center surgical experience from Jos, Nigeria. Int Urogynecol J. 2010;21:1525–1533.
- 115. Kelly J, Winter HR. Reflections on the knowledge base for obstetric fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007; 99(suppl 1): S21-4.
- 116. Doughty P. Responding to Consequences of Sexual Violence: Traumatic Gynecologic Fistula. [Internet] Available from: http:// protection.unsudanig.org/data/child/sexual\_abuse/Doughty,%20Traumatic%20Gynacological%20Fistula,%20nd.doc. Accessed: January 6, 2011.



# Advancing Urology Worldwide



### www.siu-urology.org

SIU Central Office | 1155 University Street, Suite 1155, Montréal, Québec, Canada H3B 3A7 Telephone: +1 514 875 5665 Fax: +1 514 875 0205 Email: central.office@ siu-urology.org

## The Société Internationale d'Urologie

The Société Internationale d'Urologie is the world's only truly international professional organization serving the global urological community. Founded in Paris in 1907, the SIU now serves its members from its Central Office in Montreal, Canada.

SIU members represent the full spectrum of clinicians and investigators from all subspecialties that come together to diagnose, treat and support patients with urological disease.

The Society's mission is to enable urologists in all nations, through international cooperation in education and research, to apply the highest standards of urological care to their patients. The SIU is unique in its international scope and its commitment to effecting positive and sustainable change in nations across the world.



The SIU promotes its mission objectives through annual world congresses, training scholarships, equipment donation and maintenance in training centres, donation of teaching materials, and support of the International Consultation on Urological Diseases (ICUD).

Previous ICUD Consultations have addressed the following topics: Urogenital Trauma (2002), Bladder Cancer (2004), Congenital Genital Anomalies (2006), Stone Disease (2007), Penile Cancer (2008, Testicular Cancer (2009), Vesicovaginal Fistula (2010), Urethral Strictures (2010), Prostate Cancer (2011) and Male Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms (2012). Future Consultations include Congenital Anomalies in Children and Upper Tract Transitional Cell Carcinoma (both 2013).

The SIU continues to support its guest lecturer series in conjunction with national urological associations who are interested in hosting an SIU lecture. *Urology* (the "Gold Journal") is the official journal of the SIU.

#### Why Join the SIU?

The Société Internationale d'Urologie is an international democratic body whose first objective is to promote cooperation, education and exchange among urologists of all nations and cultures.

Joining the SIU raises funds for Society activities, heightens awareness of the important work that the Society undertakes in the interest of patient health and welfare, particularly in underserved countries, and provides a truly international forum for specialists active in this area.

Application for membership must be supported by each country's National Section. Active members of each National Section elect a National Delegate and Deputy Delegate to liaise with the Society and to represent them at the National Delegates' Meeting held during each SIU Congress.

All SIU members have a voice in this inclusive organization, which is committees to building increasingly far-reaching educational and endowment activities.

SIU members benefit from the following:

- A subscription to Urology, the "Gold Journal" (international non-member price: \$494 US)
- At least 20% off non-member registration fees at SIU congresses. With the annual cost of membership only \$150 US, you actually offest the cost of membership when you attend our next Congress.
- Online access to the SIU members-only section to view the international member directory, access exclusive video streaming of live surgeries as they happen, network with international members and training centers, and pay dues online.
- Online access to ICUD Consultation publications
- Quarterly SIU Newsletter
- Peer recognition of belonging to an internationally-respected society
- Annual membership fees are \$150, however, developing countries receive a discount on annual dues. Trainee members are not required to pay unless they wish to receive Urology, in which case a nominal fee is charged.

Please contact central.office@siu-urology.org or visit the website for more details: www.siu-urology.org



### OBSTETRIC FISTULA IN THE DEVELOPING WORLD

It is globally accepted that for each maternal death, 20 women experience serious complications related to pregnancy. Obstetric fistula secondary to obstructed and prolonged labour is one of the most devastating maternal morbidities. Anecdotal reports suggest that about 80% of fistula patients live in sub-Saharan Africa. The holistic approach toward elimination of obstetric fistula includes prevention, repair of existing fistula cases, and social reintegration.

The first SIU-ICUD International Consultation on Vesicovaginal Fistula (VVF) was held in Marrakech, Morocco in 2010. This consultation gathered world experts to address key issues of VVF as regards epidemiology, prevention, treatment, complications, and social reintegration.

"Obstetric Fistula in the Developing World" presents the conclusions from this consultation. Produced by recognized fistula experts, this book offers comprehensive insights on the effect of VVF on women in the developing world, and provides a detailed report on its epidemiology, prevention, unmet needs, as well as its management. Through consensus recommendations by six committees of international experts, this book represents a milestone in the documentation of the evidence around the key issues of VVF. By comprehensively reviewing the scientific literature, and assessing its quality, the Consultation has laid the foundations for future clinical and research work, aimed at reversing the terrible tide of this condition.

The SIU, together with everyone involved in producing this book, hopes that readers will find this a valuable resource–an opportunity for fistula surgeons and fistula care providers worldwide to access evidence-based information on VVF that will benefit patients suffering from fistula.

© 2012 Société Internationale d'Urologie

For information and orders: SIU Central Office 1155 University Street Suite 1155 Montréal (QC) Canada H3B 3A7

T: +1 514 875-5665 F: +1 514 875-0205 E-mail: communications@siu-urology.org Website: www.siu-urology.org

